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Part |

Item 1. Business

INTRODUCTION
Cincinnati Financial Corporation (CFC or the company) is an Ohio corporation formed in 1968. Through its subsidiaries, CFC has been

conducting insurance operations since 1950, marketing commercial, personal and life insurance. The company reports results in four
segments:

e Commercial lines property casualty insurance

Personal lines property casualty insurance
* Life insurance
* Investments

The commercial lines and personal lines property casualty insurance segments combined to generate 80.8 percent of the company’s revenues
in 2004. Revenues, income before income taxes, and identifiable assets for these segments are included in Item 8, Note 17 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 89. The company’s segments are defined based on the financial information used internally to
evaluate performance and determine the allocation of assets.

CFC owns 100 percent of its three subsidiaries: The Cincinnati Insurance Company, CFC Investment Company and CinFin Capital
Management Company. The Cincinnati Insurance Company owns 100 percent of its three subsidiaries: The Cincinnati Casualty Company, The
Cincinnati Indemnity Company and The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company.

The Cincinnati Insurance Company, founded in 1950, leads the property casualty group known as The Cincinnati Insurance Companies. The
Cincinnati Casualty Company and The Cincinnati Indemnity Company round out the property casualty insurance group, providing flexibility in
pricing and underwriting while ceding substantially all of their business to The Cincinnati Insurance Company. The Cincinnati Life Insurance
Company primarily markets life insurance and annuities. CFC Investment Company complements the insurance subsidiaries with leasing and
financing services. CinFin Capital Management Company provides asset management services to institutions, corporations and high net worth
individuals.

CFC'’s headquarters is located in Fairfield, Ohio. At December 31, 2004, the company had 3,884 headquarters and field associates. The
company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) are available, free of charge, on the company’s Web site,
www.cinfin.com, as soon as possible after they have been filed with the SEC. Referenced Web sites, including the company’s Web site, are not
incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Unless otherwise noted, estimated industry data are referenced from materials presented on a statutory basis by A.M. Best Co., a leading
insurance industry statistical, analytical and financial strength rating organization. Statutory data for the company is labeled as such; all other
company data is presented on a GAAP basis.

PROPERTY CASUALTY |NSURANCE OPERATIONS
Introduction

The company actively markets commercial insurance policies in 31 states through a select group of 986 independent insurance agencies as of
December 31, 2004. It actively markets all of its personal lines insurance policies in 22 of those states.

In 2004, nine states with at least $100 million in commercial and personal lines agency earned premium generated approximately 69 percent of
total property casualty premiums. In these states, agency earned premiums grew 9.2 percent, or $176 million. Ohio, where the company had
187 independent agencies at year-end 2004, accounted for 23.7 percent of total earned premiums. In the 22 states with less than $100 million
in agency earned premium, agency earned premiums grew 15.0 percent, or $119 million, in 2004.

Competitive Environment

There are approximately 3,100 property casualty insurance companies in the United States operating independently or in groups and no single
company or group is dominant. Property casualty insurers can distribute their products through independent insurance agents, who sell the
products of many insurers, or captive agents, who sell the products of only one insurance company. Companies that use captive agents, as
well as companies selling directly to consumers through the mail, Internet or telephone solicitations, are called direct writers.

The company is committed to the independent agent distribution system, recognizing that locally based independent agencies have
relationships in their communities that lead to profitable business. The company’s field associates provide service and accountability to the
agencies, living in the communities they serve and working from offices in their homes, providing 24/7 availability. The company differentiates
itself by providing superior claims service and field
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underwriting, through locally based associates serving the needs of agents and policyholders; by offering competitive products, rates and
compensation; and by maintaining high financial strength ratings.

In 2003, the most recent period for which data is available, Cincinnati Insurance was the No. 1 or No. 2 carrier in more than 70 percent of its
agencies based on premium volume or number of policies. For commercial lines, the company views its competition as the companies that
distribute through independent agents. For personal lines, policyholders are more likely to investigate insurance options both through
independent agents and through personal research with captive agents or direct writers. The 986 independent agencies through which the
company markets its commercial lines products normally represent four to 12 insurance carriers, including both national and regional carriers,
some of which may be mutual companies. Management generally views regional carriers as more challenging competition because they often
are familiar with the local market and focus on differentiating themselves through personal relationships with agencies.

Independent Agent Marketplace

Agencies chosen by the company demonstrate the same commitments that distinguish the company in the marketplace: doing business person
to person; offering broad, value-added services; maintaining sound balance sheets and managing their agencies professionally. In 2003, the
most recent year industry data is available, on average, Cincinnati’s agencies were larger than the industry average, with approximately

35 percent estimated to have more than $2 million in revenues. According to data from a specialized consulting service to independent agents,
in 2000, approximately 22 percent of the 20,066 U.S. independent agents with more than $250,000 in revenues had more than $2 million in
revenues. The consulting service projects continued consolidation in the agency marketplace, estimating that by 2010, the number of agencies
with more than $250,000 in revenues will decline to approximately 11,700, of which approximately 40 percent will have more than $2 million in
revenues. The company believes that its agencies will continue to be leading agencies.

In 2004, property casualty agencies representing the company averaged approximately $3.1 million in agency earned premiums for the
company compared with approximately $2.9 million in 2003 and $2.6 million in 2002. Agencies that have represented the company for less
than five years averaged slightly less than $1 million in agency earned premium for the company in 2004. Established agencies that have
represented the company five years or more averaged approximately $3.4 million in agency earned premium for the company in 2004. No
single agency accounted for more than 1.1 percent of the company’s total agency earned premiums in 2004.

Growth Strategies

In addition to growth of its agencies, the premium increases reflected efforts to improve customer service through the creation of smaller
marketing territories, permitting local field marketing representatives to devote more time to each independent agency. At year-end 2004, the
company had 92 property casualty field territories, up from 87 at the end of 2003 and 83 at the end of 2002. During 2005, the company plans to
subdivide and staff at least eight additional territories, which would bring the total number of field territories to 100. As part of this program, the
company plans to create a Delaware/Maryland territory in mid-2005. The planned Delaware/Maryland territory represents both the subdivision
of the current Maryland territory and the company’s entry into Delaware, its first new state since 2000.

During 2004, the company selectively appointed 48 new agencies within existing marketing territories. The company plans to add 100 new
agencies in 2005 and 2006. New appointments were made in 21 of the 31 states in which the company actively markets insurance. Care is
taken when selecting and appointing new agencies to minimize market disruption for existing agencies. Of the 48 new agencies, 31 will market
the company’s full complement of property casualty insurance and 17 will market commercial lines only. An additional three agencies were
appointed in 2004 to market the company’s surety bond products, bringing its total of surety-only independent agencies to nine. These nine
agencies are not included in the 986 property casualty agency total.

The company believes that it can continue to grow by taking actions intended to maintain or increase its penetration within its agencies and
through the selective appointment of additional agencies. Other than Delaware, the company does not expect to enter any new states in the
near future.

Competitive Position
The company’s competitive position reflects:

« Field marketing staff who provide local decision-making authority. They are responsible for selecting new independent agencies as well as
underwriting and pricing new commercial business. Because of their local presence, they are aware of local market conditions and are
familiar with the risks for which they make these decisions. They round out their efforts by coordinating field teams of specialized company
representatives and promoting all of the company’s products within the agencies they serve.

» Risk-specific decisions made about both new business and renewals. On a case-by-case basis, the company selects risks it can cover on
acceptable terms and at adequate prices rather than underwriting solely by geographic location or business class. For new commercial lines
business, this case-by-case underwriting is coordinated by the local field marketing representatives and relies on their knowledge and
agents’ knowledge of the people and
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businesses in their communities. Policy renewals are coordinated by headquarters underwriters who are assigned to specific agencies and
consult with local field staff, as needed.

The company seeks to be a consistent, predictable and reasonable carrier that agencies can rely on to serve their communities.

« Commitment to products and services needed to serve agency clients — the policyholders. The company’s commercial products are
structured to allow many coverages to be combined in a single package with a single expiration date. The company’s commercial lines
segment offers three-year policy terms for most insurance packages, a key competitive strategy. Although the company offers three-year
terms, premiums for some coverages within those packages are adjustable at anniversary for the subsequent annual period, and policies
may be cancelled at any time at the discretion of the policyholder. The package approach brings policyholders convenience, discounts and a
reduced risk of coverage gaps or disputes. At the same time, it increases account retention and saves time and expense.

 Superior claims service. Agencies generally have authority to pay first-party claims immediately up to $2,500. Locally based field claims
representatives, who work from their homes, are assigned to specific agencies. They generally respond within 24 hours of receiving an
agency'’s claim report. The company believes the higher level of service provided by field claims representatives familiar with an agency and
its policyholders provides it with a competitive advantage.

» Improved service to and communication with agencies through an expanding portfolio of software. The company expects to continue to
strengthen its relationships with agencies through the introduction and use of technology that is designed to bring agencies greater
efficiencies and to permit associates to spend more time with people and less with paper. Certain technology project implementation phases
were rescheduled to the first half of 2005, rather than the fourth quarter of 2004, because of testing of control systems as required by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. These short-term schedule changes are not expected to significantly affect project completion timelines.

Technology initiatives completed or ongoing include:

°  CinciLink™, the company’s established Web site for agencies, enables agencies to access the company’s new Web-based systems
and obtain information. The Web site includes content to make it easier for agencies to place business with the company, such as
online policy loss information, software updates and a property casualty electronic coverage forms library. At the beginning of 2005, the
Learning Center was added to CinciLink. It gives agency staff access to online courses on the company’s products and services and
desktop computing.

° CMS™, anew claims file management system, initially was deployed in late 2003. Field claims associates in all states are using CMS
to process all newly reported claims. Planned upgrades for 2005 include agency access to enter information on agency-issued claims
checks and agency claims reporting via CMS.

In 2004, WIinCPP™ an online rate quoting system for commercial package, commercial auto and workers compensation policies,
expanded to 18 states and now is available for agencies writing approximately 90 percent of the company’s total property casualty
premiums. WinCPP was rolled out to two additional states in early 2005. Businessowner policy quoting capabilities were made
available to one state in late 2004. Roll out into additional states is planned for 2005. A businessowners policy combines property,
liability and business interruption coverages for small businesses.

°  Training for Diamond, the new personal lines processing system, was completed for agents in Alabama, Indiana, Michigan and Ohio in
2004. The single-entry policy processing system streamlines policy issue, improves cash flow by reducing processing time and offers
direct billing. Training for agents in Florida, Georgia, lllinois, Kentucky, Minnesota, Missouri, Tennessee and Wisconsin is scheduled for
2005. During the fourth quarter of 2004, Diamond was used to process approximately $70 million in written premiums for Alabama,
Kansas, Indiana, Michigan and Ohio agencies, up from $45 million in the third quarter of 2004 and $12 million in the second quarter of
2004. The company continues to enhance Diamond.

I-View, a commercial lines policy imaging and workflow system, was introduced in areas of the commercial lines underwriting
department in mid-2004. I-View is expected to be available to all commercial lines underwriters by year-end 2005. This system’s online
policy viewing capability is expected to enhance efficiency not only for commercial lines, but for other departments, including claims.
The company believes this functionality should speed the delivery and booking of policies as well as help expedite the claims
settlement process.

For 2005, development and delivery of a full-featured commercial lines policy processing system is the company’s primary business-
technology objective. A commercial lines policy processing system will make it easier and more efficient for agencies to issue and
administer commercial lines policies with the company. The immediate goal is to deliver a full version of the system for businessowners
policies to one or more of the company’s high volume states by the end of 2005. During 2004, the company delivered a prototype to a
small group of Ohio agencies for testing. Responses were positive and additional development phases are in process.
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°  CinciBond™, a new automated system to process license and permit surety bonds, was delivered to a small group of Ohio agencies
for testing in late 2004. CinciBond enables agents to issue and print bonds at their office. Responses were positive and delivery to the
remaining Ohio agencies and those in several additional states is anticipated during late 2005.

In all cases, the objective is to enhance the level of personal service that the company delivers by automating office functions.

 Full-spectrum of products to enhance relationships with agencies — The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company, CFC Investment Company and
CinFin Capital Management complement the property casualty operations by providing products and services that attract and retain high-
quality independent insurance agencies.

°  Cincinnati Life seeks to round out and protect accounts in the property casualty agency and to improve account persistency. At the
same time, the life operation looks to increase diversification, revenues and profitability for both the agency and the company. This
strategy enhances the already strong relationship built by the combination of the property casualty and life companies. Cincinnati Life
seeks to become the life insurance carrier of choice for the independent agencies that work with the property casualty operations by
providing competitive products, responsive underwriting, high quality service and reasonable commissions.

°  CFC Investment Company offers equipment and vehicle leases and loans for independent insurance agencies, their commercial
clients and other businesses. It also provides commercial real estate loans to agencies to help them operate and expand their
businesses.

°  CinFin Capital Management markets asset management services to agents and their customers, as well as other institutions,
corporations and individuals.

* Programs to support agency growth. These include education programs for agents and staff and financing for buildings and equipment. In
2004, the insurance subsidiaries augmented ongoing training programs with a number of special events, including seminars held around the
country to encourage cross-serving policyholders by expanding awareness of the company’s broad portfolio of products among producing
agents. Headquarters programs and agent schools are well attended and differentiate the company from its peers.

» Superior financial strength ratings. Insurance companies are rated on their financial strength and claims-paying ability, providing consumers
with comparative information. The company historically has been awarded high financial strength ratings that distinguish it from other carriers
(see Financial Strength Ratings, Page 7). Among other factors, independent ratings organizations focus on items such as results of
operations, capital resources and minimum policyholders’ surplus requirements as well as qualitative analysis. While management believes
its financial position will continue to be strong, the independent rating agencies could change their criteria or the company’s ratings based on
their ongoing reviews.

« Consistently high rankings in surveys of insurance companies. In a 2004 study, Ward Group again hamed Cincinnati Insurance to its annual
lists of the top 50 property casualty and life/health insurers in America. Insurers and groups qualify based on financial safety, consistency and
performance over the past five years. Cincinnati is one of only eight property casualty insurers that have qualified for the list in each of its
14 years and one of only 10 property casualty insurers for which the life insurance affiliate also qualified.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ (NAIC) Online Consumer Information Sources measures the company’s low
complaint ratio (www.naic.org) at 0.32 versus the national median of 1.00 for 2003, the most recent year for which data is available. NAIC
members head state departments of insurance.

Loss and Loss Expense Reserves

When claims are made by or against policyholders, any amounts that the company’s property casualty operations pay or expect to pay to the
claimant are termed losses. The costs of investigating, resolving and processing these claims are termed loss expenses. The consolidated
financial statements include property casualty loss and loss expense reserves that estimate the costs of paying claims incurred through
December 31 of each year. The reserves include estimates for claims that have been reported and estimates for claims that have been
incurred but not yet reported, along with estimates of loss expenses associated with processing and settling those claims. The various
estimates are developed based on individual claim evaluations and statistical projections. Loss reserves are reduced by the estimated amount
of salvage and subrogation.

While the company believes that reported reserves are sufficient for all unpaid loss and loss expense obligations, the estimation process
involves uncertainty by its very nature. The estimates are continually reviewed, and as facts regarding individual claims develop and new
information becomes known, the reserve is adjusted as necessary. Adjustments due to loss development for prior years are reflected in the
calendar year in which they are identified. Iltem 7, Property Casualty Loss and Loss Expense Reserves, Page 25, includes more information
about the process used to analyze potential losses and establish reserves.

The anticipated effect of inflation is implicitly considered when estimating reserves for loss and loss expenses. While anticipated cost increases
due to inflation are considered in estimating the ultimate claim costs, the increase in
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average severity of claims is caused by a number of factors that vary with the individual type of policy. Average severity projections are based
on historical trends adjusted for anticipated changes in underwriting standards, policy provisions and general economic trends. These trends
are monitored based on actual development. The company does not discount any of its property casualty loss and loss expense reserves.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the company’s reserve for losses and loss expenses at December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, is presented in Item 8, Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 82. The reconciliation of the December 31, 2003, reserve
balance to net incurred losses one year later recognizes approximately $196 million in redundant reserves. The redundancy was partially due
to the 2004 release of $32 million in Ohio uninsured motorist/underinsured motorist reserves as discussed in Iltem 7, Property Casualty
Reserve Levels, Page 55.

Development of Loss and Loss Expenses

Calendar year ended December 31,
(In_millions) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

A. Originally reported reserves for
Gross of reinsurance $ 1,510 $ 1,690 $ 1824 $1889 $ 1978 $ 2,093 $ 2,401 $ 2,865 $3,150 $3,386 $3,514
Reinsurance
recoverable 78 109 122 112 138 161 219 513 542 541 537

Net of reinsurance $1432 $1581 $1702 $1,777 $ 1840 $ 1932 $ 2,182 $ 2,352 $2,608 $2,845 $2,977

B. Cumulative net paid as of:

One year later $ 368 $ 395 $ 453 $ 499 $ 522 $ 591 $ 697 $ 758 $ 799 $ 817
Two years later 578 630 732 761 853 943 1,116 1,194 1,235

Three years later 709 801 884 965 1,067 1,195 1,378 1,455

Four years later 802 881 992 1,075 1,207 1,327 1,526

Five years later 847 946 1,049 1,152 1,283 1,412

Six years later 885 977 1,093 1,205 1,333

Seven years later 902 1,009 1,123 1,239

Eight years later 926 1,031 1,146

Nine years later 943 1,045

Ten years later 953

C. Net reserves re-estimated as of:

One year later $1306 $1429 $1582 $1623 $ 1,724 $ 1912 $ 2,120 $ 2,307 $2,528 $2,649
Two years later 1,220 1,380 1,470 1,551 1,728 1,833 2,083 2,263 2,377
Three years later 1,214 1,279 1,405 1,520 1,636 1,802 2,052 2,178
Four years later 1,131 1,236 1,380 1,465 1,615 1,771 2,010
Five years later 1,106 1,227 1,326 1,466 1,608 1,757
Six years later 1,091 1,189 1,333 1,463 1,602
Seven years later 1,060 1,205 1,333 1,460
Eight years later 1,091 1,210 1,332
Nine years later 1,095 1,208
Ten years later 1,097
D. Cumulative net redundancy as of:
One year later $ 126 $ 152 $ 120 $ 154 $ 116 $ 20 $ 62 $ 45 $ 80 $ 196
Two years later 212 201 232 226 112 99 99 89 231
Three years later 218 302 297 257 204 130 130 174
Four years later 301 345 322 312 225 161 172
Five years later 326 354 376 311 232 175
Six years later 341 392 369 314 238
Seven years later 372 376 369 317
Eight years later 341 371 370
Nine years later 337 373
Ten years later 335

Net liability re-estimated—

latest $1097 $1208 $1332 $1460 $ 1602 $ 1,757 $ 2,010 $ 2,178 $2,377 $2,649
Re-estimated recoverable

—latest 176 180 172 182 209 216 243 504 542 532
Gross liability re-estimated

—latest $1273 $1388 $1504 $1642 $ 1,811 $ 1973 $ 2,253 $ 2,682 $2,919 $3,181

Cumulative gross
redundancy $ 237 $ 302 $ 320 $ 247 $ 167 $ 120 $ 148 $ 183 $ 231 $ 205

Differences between the property casualty reserves reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America — GAAP) and those same reserves reported in the annual statements
(filed with state insurance departments in accordance with statutory accounting practices — SAP), relate principally to the reporting of
reinsurance recoverables, which are recognized as receivables for GAAP and as an offset to reserves for SAP.

The table above shows the development of the estimated reserves for loss and loss expenses for the years prior to 2004:

« Section A shows the total property casualty loss and loss expense reserves recorded at the balance sheet date for each of the indicated



calendar years on a gross and net basis. Those reserves represent the estimated amount of loss and loss expenses for claims arising in all
prior years that are unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses that have been incurred but not yet reported to the company.

« Section B shows the cumulative net amount paid with respect to the previously recorded reserve as of the end of each succeeding year. For
example, as of December 31, 2004, the company paid $953 million of loss and loss
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expenses in calendar years 1995 through 2004, for losses that occurred in accident years 1994 and prior. As a result, an estimated
$144 million of losses remain unpaid as of year-end 2004 (net re-estimated reserves of $1.097 billion less cumulative paid loss and loss
expenses of $953 million).

« Section C shows the re-estimated amount of the previously reported reserves based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year.
The estimate is increased or decreased as more information becomes known about the frequency and severity of claims.

« Section D, cumulative net redundancy, represents the aggregate change in the estimates for all years subsequent to the year the reserves
were initially established. For example, reserves established at December 31, 1994, had developed a $335 million redundancy over
10 years, net of reinsurance, which has been reflected in income over the 10 years. The effects on income in 2004, 2003 and 2002 of
changes in estimates of the reserves for loss and loss expenses for all accident years are shown in the reconciliation above.

In evaluating this information, it should be noted that each amount includes the effects of all changes in amounts for prior periods. For example,
payments or reserve adjustments related to losses settled in 2004 but incurred in 1998 will be included in the cumulative deficiency or
redundancy amount for 1999 and each subsequent year. In addition this table presents calendar year data, not accident or policy year
development data, which readers may be more accustomed to analyzing. Conditions and trends that have affected development of the reserve
in the past may not necessarily occur in the future. Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies
based on this data.

Reinsurance

The company has property and casualty working reinsurance treaties for 2004 through reinsurance companies that have written its treaties for
more than 15 years. The strong relationships the company has with these reinsurers has allowed the company to negotiate what it considers to
be favorable terms and conditions during a difficult time in the market cycle. To add further diversification to the reinsurance program, Partner
Reinsurance Company of the U.S. was added to the property per risk and casualty per occurrence treaties effective January 1, 2005, joining
American Re-Insurance Company, GE Insurance Solutions and Swiss Reinsurance America Corporation. The property casualty working
treaties align the company with what it considers to be four of the most financially sound reinsurance companies in the world. The company
also secures property catastrophe coverage and catastrophic casualty protection.

The 2005 property and casualty reinsurance program encompasses five primary components:

« Property per risk treaty — The primary purpose of the property treaty is to provide excess limits capacity up to $25 million, supplying adequate
capacity for the majority of the risks the company writes. The ceded premium is estimated to be $31 million for 2005, compared with
$27 million in 2004 and $25 million in 2003. In 2005, the company is retaining the first $3 million of each loss. Losses between $3 million and
$25 million are reinsured at 100 percent. The $3 million base retention is new for 2005. For the past several years, the company retained
$2 million with 40 percent co-participation for the next $3 million of loss. Losses in excess of $3 million were reinsured at 100 percent up to
$25 million in 2004 and 2003.

« Casualty per occurrence treaty — The casualty treaty provides the company with excess capacity up to $25 million. Similar to the property
treaty, this provides sufficient capacity to write the vast majority of casualty accounts the company insures. The ceded premium is estimated
to be $66 million in 2005, compared with $61 million in 2004 and $55 million in 2003. In 2005, the company is retaining the first $2 million of
each casualty loss, and 60 percent of the next $2 million of loss. This structure is identical to 2004 and 2003. Losses in excess of $4 million
are reinsured at 100 percent up to $25 million.

» Casualty fourth excess treaty — The company also purchases a casualty reinsurance treaty that provides an additional $25 million in
protection for certain casualty losses. This treaty, along with the casualty per occurrence treaty, provides a total of $50 million of protection for
workers compensation losses, extra-contractual liability coverage and clash coverage, which is used when there is a single occurrence
involving multiple policyholders of The Cincinnati Insurance Companies or multiple coverages for one insured. The ceded premium is
estimated to be $2 million in 2005 up only slightly from 2004 and 2003.

< Casualty fifth excess treaty — Effective March 1, 2005, the company purchased a new fifth excess treaty, which provides an additional
$20 million in casualty loss coverage. Similar to the casualty fourth excess, the fifth excess treaty provides catastrophic coverage for workers
compensation, extra-contractual liability coverage and clash coverage losses. The ceded premium is estimated to be $1 million for 2005.

» Property catastrophe treaty — To protect against catastrophic events such as wind and hail, hurricanes or earthquakes, the company
purchases property catastrophe reinsurance, with a limit up to $500 million. For the 2005 treaty, ceded premiums are estimated to be
$30 million, up from $27 million in 2004, excluding the reinstatement premium, and $21 million in 2003. The premium increase for 2005 is
partially due to the increase in the limit to $500 million effective April 1, 2004, from $400 million, to keep limits in line with increases in
exposures due to company growth. The company will retain the first $25 million of losses arising out of a single
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event and will retain 40 percent of losses from $25 million to $45 million, down from 43 percent in 2004. The company retains 5 percent of all
losses in excess of $45 million, up to $500 million.

Individual risks with insured values in excess of $25 million as identified in the policy are handled through a different reinsurance mechanism.
Property coverage for individual risks with insured values between $25 million and $50 million are reinsured under an automatic facultative
treaty. For those risks with property values exceeding $50 million, the company negotiates the purchase of facultative coverage on an individual
certificate basis. For casualty coverage on individual risks with limits exceeding $25 million, facultative reinsurance coverage is placed on an
individual certificate basis.

Responding to the challenges presented by terrorism has become a very important issue for the insurance industry over the last three years.
Terrorism coverage at various levels has been secured in all of the company’s reinsurance agreements. The broadest coverage for this peril is
found in the property and casualty working treaties, which provide coverage for commercial and personal risks. The company’s property
catastrophe treaty provides coverage for personal risks and the majority of its reinsurers provide limited coverage for commercial risks with total
insured values of $10 million or less. For insured values between $10 million and $25 million, there also may be coverage in the property
working treaty.

Reinsurance protection for the company’s surety business is covered under separate treaties with many of the same reinsurers that write the
property casualty working treaties.

The estimated incremental cost increase of $13 million for the 2005 property casualty working reinsurance agreements is primarily due to the
growth in the company’s premium base. The company believes it has the financial ability to absorb losses at the current retention levels, and
the 2005 reinsurance agreements are a means of balancing reinsurance costs with what it considers to be an acceptable level of risk.
Reinsurance does not relieve the company of its obligation to pay covered claims. The financial strength of the company’s reinsurers is
important because the company'’s ability to recover losses under one of the reinsurance agreements depends on the financial viability of the
reinsurer.

Reinsurance protection for the company’s life insurance business is covered under separate treaties with many of the same reinsurers that
write the property casualty working treaties. In 2005, the company modified its reinsurance protection for the life insurance business due to
changes in the marketplace during 2004 that affected the cost and availability of reinsurance for term life insurance. Previously, the company
retained 20 percent of each term policy, not to exceed $500,000, and ceded the balance of mortality risk and policy reserve. Under the new
program, the company will continue to retain no more than a $500,000 exposure, ceding the balance using excess over retention mortality
coverage, but will retain the policy reserve. Retaining the policy reserve has no direct impact on GAAP results. Because of the conservative
nature of statutory reserving principles, retaining the policy reserve does have a negative impact on statutory income. The company currently is
researching alternative reinsurance solutions to moderate the effect on statutory income of retaining the policy reserve for new term business.
Management believes it will be able to structure this portion of the reinsurance program to provide the life insurance company with the ability to
continue to grow in the term life insurance marketplace while appropriately managing risk, at a cost that allows the company to achieve its profit
targets.

Financial Strength Ratings

Cincinnati Financial is awarded credit (debt) ratings (see Item 7, Long- and Short-term Debt, Page 60, for a discussion of the company’s credit
ratings), and its insurance subsidiaries are awarded insurer financial strength ratings. The following summarizes the insurer financial strength
ratings as of March 4, 2005. Insurer financial strength ratings assess an insurer’s ability to meet its financial obligations to policyholders and do
not necessarily address matters that may be important to shareholders.

Property Casualty Life Insurance

Insurance Subsidiaries Subsidiary
A.M. Best A++ A+
Fitch Ratings AA AA
Moody’s Investors Service Aa3 —
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services AA- AA-

(See Life Insurance Segment, Page 12, for a discussion of life insurance subsidiary ratings.)

* In March 2004, A.M. Best affirmed its top A++ (Superior) financial strength ratings and stable outlook for the company’s property casualty
group and subsidiaries. Less than 2 percent of the approximately 1,090 insurer groups A.M. Best reviews annually qualify for the A++ rating.
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A.M. Best cited the company’s superior risk-based capitalization, favorable operating results, long-standing independent agency distribution
strategy and the stability created by its favorable loss reserve development and conservative accident-year reserving practices. A.M. Best
said these strengths are somewhat offset by the group’s common stock leverage, catastrophe leverage and payout of stockholder dividends.
Going forward, A.M. Best stated that it expects the group to maintain superior risk-adjusted capitalization as favorable operating margins
generate growth in statutory surplus while both common stock and catastrophe leverage are reduced.

« In March 2004 and again in October 2004, Fitch Ratings affirmed its AA (Very Strong) financial strength ratings and stable outlook for the
company'’s property casualty subsidiaries. Fitch cited the strong financial condition, operating profitability and above-average growth of the
subsidiaries, as well as the group’s excellent financial flexibility and successful total return investment strategy.

The rating considers the group’s concentrated equity portfolio, geographic concentration, catastrophe exposure and its improving but
underperforming homeowners line of business. Fitch stated that it expects capitalization to remain strong, reflecting conservative loss
reserving and adequate catastrophe reinsurance protection.

« Following the company’s announcement of year-end 2004 results, Moody’s Investors Service commented that the company’s strong balance
sheet and conservative financial and operating leverage metrics continue to support the property casualty subsidiaries’ Aa3 ratings. Moody’s
considers that the company’s equity exposure, along with its potential liabilities, presents increased volatility risk to capital and surplus.

Moody’s noted that the company is well positioned to continue to produce underwriting profits over the near term on its commercial lines
business, as pricing levels are still adequate. On the personal lines side, Moody'’s cited signs of improvement largely due to good results in
the company’s private passenger auto business line and the company'’s efforts to implement corrective underwriting actions in its
homeowners business line.

¢ In June 2004 and again in September 2004, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services affirmed its AA- (Very Strong) ratings of the property
casualty subsidiaries and its negative outlook. The ratings are based on the company’s strong, competitive business position, high business
persistency, extremely strong capitalization and high degree of financial flexibility. Standard & Poor’s outlook considers the company’s
underperformance in its homeowners’ business, aggressive investment strategies and slow, deliberate response to changing markets.

Standard & Poor’s stated that it expects that the company should continue to perform well in its largest business segment, commercial lines,
while lagging peers in personal lines profitability over the near term. Although progress could be tempered by the sizeable equity position,
adverse regulatory or judicial decisions or catastrophes, Standard & Poor’s expects capitalization and growth will remain extremely strong, as
new agency appointments and territory subdivisions partially offset possible weakening in industry pricing.

Management believes that its superior insurer financial strength ratings are clear, competitive advantages in the segment of the insurance
marketplace that the company’s agents serve. The company’s financial strength supports the consistent, predictable performance that its
policyholders, agents, associates and shareholders have always expected and received, and it must be able to withstand significant
challenges. The most important way management seeks to ensure that the company remains consistent and predictable is to align agents’
interests with those of the company, giving agents outstanding service and compensation to earn their best business.

While the potential for volatility exists due to the company’s catastrophe exposures, investment philosophy and bias towards incremental
change, the ratings agencies consistently have asserted that the company has built appropriate financial strength and flexibility to manage that
volatility and seek higher long-term returns for shareholders. Management remains committed to strategies that emphasize long-term stability
instead of quickly reacting to changes in market conditions to obtain short-term benefits. For example, the company maintains strong insurance
company statutory-basis surplus, a solid reinsurance program, sound reserving practices and low interest rate risk, as well as low debt and
strong capital at the parent-company level.

In 2004, the board of directors and management established parameters around the property casualty company’s strong statutory surplus
position that led to some short-term actions. The new parameters allow the company to remain consistent with its long-term underwriting and
equity investing strategies while responding to risk factors that are studied carefully by the ratings agencies.

In the second quarter of 2004, the company:

« Changed the allocation of new property casualty portfolio investments to reduce the ratio of common stock to statutory surplus. The property
casualty portfolio maintained that ratio below 100 percent throughout the 1990s. The ratio was 103.5 percent at year-end 2004 compared
with 114.7 percent at year-end 2003 after moving as high as 120.5 percent after Codification was adopted in 2000 (see Regulation, Page 15,
for information regarding Codification of Statutory Accounting Practices). The company anticipates allocating cash flow available for
investment to fixed-income securities through mid-2005 (see Item 7, Investment Portfolio, Page 53, for additional information regarding
portfolio allocation).

« Sold or reduced common stock positions in the property casualty portfolio that the investment committee of the board of directors believed no
longer met the company’s investment parameters (see ltem 7, Investments Results
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Of Operations, Page 47, for a discussion of equity securities sold during 2004). The $356 million sold was equivalent to less than 5 percent of
the consolidated equity portfolio. The proceeds were reinvested in fixed income and convertible securities. The equity sales were a primary
reason for the company’s high realized gains in 2004.

« Added another $100 million layer to the property casualty reinsurance program, raising the limit to $500 million, effective April 1, 2004 (see
Reinsurance, Page 6, for additional information regarding the company’s reinsurance programs).

« Began changing homeowner policy earthquake deductibles to 10 percent from 5 percent.

These property casualty actions did not signal a change in the company’s overall investment philosophy. The company remains fully committed
to a long-term equity focus that management believes is the key to the company’s long-term growth and stability (see Investments Segment,
Page 13, for a discussion of the company’s investment strategy). The company currently intends to continue to invest for income and growth,
focusing on a total-return strategy supported by investments in dividend-paying companies. Over the longer term, the company anticipates
continuing to invest in equity securities to help achieve its portfolio objectives. However, the company believes that recent short-term actions to
enhance the property casualty statutory surplus quality should support the predictability viewed by rating agencies as one of the company’s
primary strengths, and by agents as a competitive advantage.

ComMERcIAL LiINEs PrRoPERTY CASUALTY INSURANCE SEGMENT

The commercial lines property casualty insurance segment contributed $2.126 billion in net earned premiums to the company’s total revenues
and $338 million to income before income taxes in 2004. Commercial lines net earned premiums grew 11.4 percent in 2004, 10.8 percent in
2003 and 18.6 percent in 2002.

The company markets its full complement of commercial products in all 986 property casualty independent agencies and all 31 states in which
it markets property casualty insurance. The company’s emphasis is on providing products that agents can market to small- to mid-size
businesses in their communities. The company monitors agency earned premium, which is earned premium before reinsurance, on a by-state
basis to evaluate its performance on a geographic basis. In 2004, lllinois, Indiana, Michigan, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania and Virginia,
each with at least $100 million in commercial lines agency earned premium, generated 59.3 percent of commercial lines premiums compared
with 60.4 percent in the prior year. In these states, agency earned premiums grew 10.0 percent, or $120 million, in 2004 compared with

11.9 percent, or $127 million, in 2003. Ohio, where the company has 187 independent agencies, accounted for 18.7 percent of commercial
lines earned premiums, versus 19.4 percent in 2003. In the remaining 24 states, agency earned premiums grew 15.2 percent and 17.7 percent,
or $119 million and $118 million, in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Commercial Lines Agency Earned Premiums by State

Years ended December 31,

Percent Percent 2004-2003 2003-2002

(In millions) 2004 of total 2003 of total Change % Change %
Ohio $ 415 18.7 $ 384 194 8.1 11.8
Illinois 234 10.5 217 10.9 7.7 9.8
Pennsylvania 162 7.3 141 7.1 14.4 16.1
Indiana 160 7.2 149 7.5 6.8 10.9
Michigan 130 5.8 117 5.9 11.3 13.4
North Carolina 112 5.0 97 4.9 15.9 11.8
Virginia 107 4.8 95 4.7 13.5 10.5
Wisconsin 90 4.1 81 4.1 11.1 13.1
lowa 77 34 68 3.4 12.4 14.5
Other states 738 33.2 637 32.1 16.0 18.6
Total $ 2,225 100.0 $ 1,986 100.0 12.0 14.1

From 2001 into 2003, the commercial lines marketplace implemented continued rate increases in reaction to concerns about the economy,
reserve shortfalls and rising loss severity, exacerbated by the events of September 11, 2001. Also in response to rising loss severity, during that
period, some competitors announced decisions to exit geographic markets or specific lines of business; others instituted across-the-board price
increases. Industry analysts believed the market was experiencing a renewed awareness of underwriting discipline. By late 2003, industry
actions had begun to ease many of these concerns.

From late-2003 through the end of 2004, competition has increased in the commercial lines marketplace, particularly to attract quality new
business. In the company’s experience, the level of competition varies market-by-market, by line of business and by size of account. In most
markets where the company competes, the company believes that disciplined underwriting generally remains the norm. In the company’s
opinion, carriers are modifying prices rather than changing policy terms and conditions.
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As competition in the commercial markets has increased, the company has maintained its pricing discipline for both renewal and new business.
While the company’s independent agents reported only modest pressure on renewal pricing at the end of 2004, they communicated that
winning new business would require more pricing flexibility and careful risk selection. The company intends to remain a stable market for its
agencies’ best business, and management believes that the company’s case-by-case approach gives it a clear advantage. The company’s field
marketing associates and its independent agents work together to select risks and respond appropriately to local pricing trends. Historically,
they have proven capable of balancing risk and price to achieve growth in new business over the longer term.

Looking ahead, management believes that opportunities to obtain new business and increase policy count will come from its strong
relationships with independent agencies, subdivision of territories to enhance service and appointment of new agencies over the next several
years. Offsetting new appointments will be continued consolidation within the independent agency marketplace and terminations of certain of
its agency relationships.

Staying abreast of evolving market conditions is a critical function, accomplished in both an informal and a formal manner. Informally, the field
marketing representatives are in constant receipt of market intelligence from the agencies with which they work. Formally, the commercial lines
product management group completes periodic market surveys to obtain competitive intelligence. This market information helps to determine
the top competitors by line of business or specialty program and also determines market strengths and weaknesses for the company. The
analysis encompasses pricing, breadth of coverage and underwriting/eligibility issues. In addition to reviewing the company’s competitive
position, the product management group performs underwriting audits to assess profitability initiatives. Further, the company’s research and
development department analyzes opportunities and develops new products, new coverage options and improvements to existing insurance
products.

The company’s standard approach is to write three-year policies, and it considers this a competitive advantage in the commercial lines market.
Although the company offers three-year terms, premiums for some coverages within those policies are adjustable at anniversary for the
subsequent annual period, and policies may be cancelled at any time at the discretion of the policyholder. While writing three-year policies
would appear to restrict opportunities to quickly adjust pricing, contract terms provide that the rates for automobile, workers compensation,
professional liability and most umbrella liability coverages within multi-year packages may be changed at each of the policy’s annual
anniversaries for the next one-year period. The annual rate adjustments could incorporate rate changes approved by state insurance regulatory
authorities between the date the policy was written and its annual anniversary date, as well as changes in risk exposures and premium credits
or debits relating to loss experience, competition and other underwriting judgment factors. Management estimates that approximately

75 percent of 2004 commercial premium was written on a one-year policy term or was subject to annual rating adjustments.

In the company’s experience, multi-year packages can be marketed at rates that may be slightly higher than annual package rates. By reducing
annual administrative efforts, multi-year policies reduce the company’s and agency’s expenses and the incentive for the policyholder to shop for
a new policy every year. Management believes that the advantages of three-year policies in terms of policyholder convenience, account
retention and reduced administrative costs outweigh the potential disadvantage of these policies, even in periods of rising rates.

Management believes that its three-year commercial policies are somewhat less price sensitive for quality-conscious insurance buyers who are
typical customers of the company’s independent agents. For three years, or even over relationships that last decades, those policyholders have
experienced the company’s personal claims service, benefited from the company’s coverage packages and relied on the company’s high
financial strength ratings. Customized insurance programs on a three-year term complement the relationships these policyholders have with
their agents and with the company. They may be less inclined to shop their accounts annually.

In 2003, the company resumed writing three-year policies for contractor risks in most states because of these advantages. In 2002, the
company temporarily wrote one-year policies for contractor risks while awaiting state regulatory approval for two significant coverage changes
in the company’s general liability and umbrella coverage forms. The changes brought the company’s policy forms in line with industry practices
by capping the amount payable during a policy period (usually 12 months) for certain types of liability claims and by clarifying how a policy
responds once the insured learns that injury or damage has occurred during a prior policy period. Looking ahead, the company expects that
these changes will help the company better manage liability losses and remain a viable market for agents to place coverage for well-managed,
reputable contractors. Underwriters carefully monitor new and renewal contractor business, continuing to write one-year policies when
competitive or underwriting issues make three-year policies impractical.

Four business lines — commercial multi-peril, workers compensation, commercial automobile and other liability — account for approximately
90 percent of commercial lines earned premiums.

« Commercial multi-peril provides a combination of property and liability coverage. Property insurance covers damages such as those caused
by fire, wind, hail, water, theft, vandalism and business interruption resulting from a covered loss. Liability coverage insures businesses
against third-party liability from accidents occurring on their premises or arising out of their operations, such as injuries sustained from
products sold.
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» Workers compensation covers employers for specified benefits payable under state or federal law for workplace injuries to employees.

« Commercial auto covers businesses for liability to others for both bodily injury and property damage, medical payments to insureds and
occupants of their vehicles, physical damage to an insured’s own vehicle from collision and various other perils, and damages caused by
uninsured motorists..

« Other liability includes commercial umbrella, commercial general liability and most executive risk policies, which cover liability exposures
including bodily injury, directors and officers and employment practices, property damage arising from products sold and general business
operations.

The remainder of commercial lines earned premiums was derived from a variety of other types of insurance products the company offers to
commercial customers, including fiduciary and surety bonds and machinery and equipment policies.

PersoNAL Lines ProPERTY CASUALTY INSURANCE SEGMENT

The personal lines property casualty insurance segment contributed $793 million in net earned premiums to the company’s total revenues and
a $40 million loss before income taxes in 2004. Personal lines net earned premiums grew 6.4 percent in 2004, 11.2 percent in 2003 and
8.2 percent in 2002.

The company actively markets its personal lines products in 22 of the 31 states in which it markets commercial lines insurance and selected
products within certain agencies in the nine remaining states. In 2004, Alabama, Georgia, lllinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Michigan and Ohio, each
with $35 million or more in personal lines agency earned premium, generated 76.2 percent of personal lines premiums, compared with

76.9 percent in 2003. In these states, agency earned premiums grew 6.4 percent, or $37 million, in 2004, versus 8.6 percent, or $46 million, in
the prior year. Ohio, where the company has 182 independent agencies writing personal lines products, accounted for 37.6 percent of 2004
personal lines agency earned premiums compared with 38.2 percent in 2003. In the remaining 21 states, agency earned premiums grew

10.7 percent and 16.2 percent, or $19 million and $24 million, in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Personal Lines Agency Earned Premiums by State

Years ended December 31,

Percent Percent 2004-2003 2003-2002

(In millions) 2004 of total 2003 of total Change % Change %
Ohio $ 306 37.6 $ 290 38.2 5.7 6.7
Indiana 76 9.3 74 9.8 2.7 6.0
Illinois 60 7.4 56 7.3 7.7 11.2
Georgia 59 7.3 56 7.4 5.9 55
Michigan 45 5.5 39 5.2 14.9 30.9
Alabama 39 4.7 37 49 2.9 5.8
Kentucky 36 4.4 31 4.1 13.3 14.0
Wisconsin 28 34 25 3.4 8.2 12.4
Florida 25 3.0 24 3.1 4.7 11.3
Other states 141 17.4 125 16.6 12.3 18.0
Total $ 815 100.0 $ 757 100.0 7.4 10.2

Since 2000, the company has observed that the personal lines marketplace has focused on underwriting discipline rather than market share.
The result has been an industry-wide improvement in profitability, augmented by favorable loss frequency and severity trends. Overall, rates for
both personal auto and homeowner insurance have risen in conjunction with stricter enforcement of underwriting guidelines. Despite the record
level of industry-wide catastrophe losses in 2004, competition began to increase during the year in the personal lines marketplace, with industry
analysts observing a plateau in year-over-year rate filings.

The company markets homeowners and personal automobile insurance products through 706 of its 986 independent agencies. The 280
agencies that do not market the full complement of personal lines products either are located in states in which the company does not actively
market these products or the company has determined, in conjunction with agency management, that the company’s personal lines products
are not appropriate for their agencies at this time. Personal automobile accounted for 56.8 percent and homeowners accounted for

32.6 percent of personal lines net earned premium in 2004.

« Personal automobile covers liability to others for both bodily injury and property damage, medical payments to insureds and occupants of
their vehicle, physical damage to an insured’s own vehicle from collision and various other perils, and damages caused by uninsured
motorists.. In addition, many states require policies to provide first-party personal injury protection, frequently referred to as no-fault
coverage.
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* Homeowners covers losses to dwellings and contents from a wide variety of perils, as well as liability arising out of personal activities both on
and off the covered premises. The company also offers coverage for condominium unit owners and renters.

The remainder of personal lines earned premium was derived from a variety of other types of insurance products the company offers to
individuals such as dwelling fire, inland marine, personal umbrella liability and watercraft coverages.

Lire INSURANCE SEGMENT

The life insurance segment contributed $104 million of the company’s total revenues and a $2 million gain before income taxes in 2004. See
Item 7, Life Insurance, Page 45, for additional information regarding life insurance segment profitability.

The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company’s mission complements that of the overall company: to provide products and services that attract and
retain high quality independent insurance agencies. The company primarily focuses on life products that produce revenue growth through a
steady stream of premiums.

Cincinnati Life seeks to round out and protect accounts in the property casualty agency and to improve account persistency. At the same time,
the life operation looks to increase diversification, revenues and profitability for both the agency and the company. This strategy enhances the
already strong relationship built by the combination of the property casualty and life companies.

Cincinnati Life seeks to become the life insurance carrier of choice for the independent agencies that work with the property casualty
operations by providing competitive products, responsive underwriting, high quality service and reasonable commissions. At year-end 2004,
approximately 89 percent of the company’s 986 property casualty agencies offered Cincinnati Life’s products to their policyholders. The life
company also seeks to develop life business from other independent life insurance agencies in a manner that does not conflict or compete with
the property casualty agencies.

Four lines of business — term insurance, whole life insurance, universal life insurance and worksite products — account for approximately
85 percent of the life insurance segment’s revenues:

« Term insurance — policies under which the benefit is payable only if the insured dies during a specified period of time or term; no benefit is
payable if the insured survives to the end of the term. While premiums are fixed, they must be paid as scheduled. The proposed insured is
evaluated using normal underwriting standards.

« Whole life insurance — policies that provide life insurance for the entire lifetime of the insured; the death benefit is guaranteed never to
decrease and premiums are guaranteed never to increase. While premiums are fixed, they must be paid as scheduled. These policies
provide specified cash values that are available to withdrawing policyholders. The proposed insured is evaluated using normal underwriting
standards.

« Universal life insurance — long-duration life insurance policies. Contract premiums are neither fixed nor guaranteed; however, the contract
does specify a minimum interest crediting rate and a maximum cost of insurance charge and expense charge. Premiums are not fixed and
may be varied by the contract owner. The cash values available to withdrawing policyholders are not guaranteed and depend on the amount
and timing of actual premium payments and the amount of actual contract assessments. The proposed insured is evaluated using normal
underwriting standards.

« Worksite products — term insurance, whole life insurance, universal life and disability insurance offered to employees through their employer.
Premiums are collected by the employer using payroll deduction. Polices are issued using a simplified underwriting approach and for smaller
face amounts than similar regularly underwritten policies. Worksite insurance products provide the company’s property casualty agency force
with excellent cross serving opportunities for both commercial and personal accounts. Agents find that offering worksite marketing to
employees of their commercial accounts provides a benefit to the employees at low cost to the employer.

In addition, Cincinnati Life markets:

« Disability income insurance — provides monthly benefits to offset the loss of income when the insured person is unable to work due to
accident or illness.

» Deferred annuities — provide regular income payments that commence after the end of a specified period or when the annuitant attains a
specified age. During the deferral period, any payments made under the contract accumulate at the crediting rate declared by the company
but not less than a contract-specified guaranteed minimum interest rate of 3 percent to 4 percent. A deferred annuity may be surrendered
during the deferral period for a cash value equal to the accumulated payments plus interest less the surrender charge, if any.

« Immediate annuities — provide some combination of regular income and lump sum payments in exchange for a single premium. Most of the
immediate annuities written by the life insurance segment are purchased by the company’s property casualty companies to settle casualty
claims.

Cincinnati Life is a financially strong and stable life insurance company. Cincinnati Life’s statutory adjusted risk-based surplus increased
10.7 percent to $491 million at December 31, 2004, from $443 million a year earlier. Statutory
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adjusted risk-based surplus as a percentage of liabilities, a key measure of life insurance company capital strength, were 38.3 percent at year-
end 2004 compared with an estimated industry average ratio of 10.5 percent. The higher the ratio, the stronger an insurer’s security for
policyholders and its capacity to support business growth . A.M. Best — A+ (Superior), Fitch Ratings — AA (Very Strong) and Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Services — AA- (Very Strong, negative outlook) maintained their ratings for Cincinnati Life in 2004.

INVESTMENTS SEGMENT

The investment segment contributed $583 million of the company’s total revenues in 2004, primarily from net investment income and realized
investment gains and losses from investment portfolios managed for the holding company and each of the operating subsidiaries. Primarily
from investment income, it contributed $537 million of income before income taxes, or 67.2 percent of total income before income taxes.

While the company seeks to generate an underwriting profit in its property casualty and life segments, the investment segment historically has
provided the primary source of profits and contributed to the company’s financial strength, driving long-term growth in shareholders’ equity and
book value.

Under the direction of the investment committee of the board of directors, the company’s analysts and portfolio managers seek to balance
current investment income opportunities and long-term appreciation so that current cash flows from both insurance and investment operations
can be compounded to achieve above-average long-term total return.

While focused on long-term total return, the company maintains liquidity to meet both its immediate and long-range insurance obligations with
the purchase and maintenance of medium-risk fixed-maturity and equity securities. Historically, approximately 65 percent to 70 percent of
available cash has been invested in fixed-income securities with the remaining 30 percent to 35 percent invested in equity and equity-linked
securities.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, convertible securities are included in fixed-maturities or equity securities, based on the
characteristics of the underlying security (bond or preferred stock). When monitoring and evaluating investment operations results, the
company broadly categorizes investments as fixed-income securities, which includes investment-grade corporate bonds, high-yield corporate
bonds and tax-exempt municipal bonds; and equity and equity-linked securities, which includes common and preferred stocks and all
convertible securities.

At year-end 2004 and 2003, these five classes of assets accounted for the following:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003

(Dollars in millions) Book value Market value Book value Market value
Investment-grade corporate bonds $ 2,540 $ 2,669 $ 1,873 $ 2,011
High-yield corporate bonds 324 355 505 537
Tax-exempt municipal bonds 1,622 1,694 1,181 1,258
Common stocks 1,918 7,466 2,174 8,160
Convertible securities 395 455 423 483

Total $ 6,799 $ 12,639 $ 6,156 $ 12,449

Fixed-income Securities

By maintaining a well diversified fixed-income portfolio, the company attempts to reduce overall credit risk. The company invests new money in
the bond market on a continuous basis, targeting what management believes to be optimal risk-adjusted after-tax yields. Risk, in this context,
includes both credit and interest rate risk. Management does not make concerted efforts to alter duration on a portfolio basis in response to
anticipated movements in interest rates. By continually investing in the bond market, the company builds a broad, diversified portfolio that
management believes mitigates the impact of adverse economic factors. In recent years, the company has taken into account the trend toward
a flatter corporate yield curve and an overall decline in credit quality by purchasing higher-quality corporate bonds with shorter maturities as
well as tax-exempt municipal bonds and U.S. agency paper. The company’s focus on long-term total return may result in variability in the levels
of realized and unrealized investment gains or losses from one period to the next.

With the exception of U.S. agency paper, no individual fixed-income issuer’s securities accounted for more than 0.6 percent of the fixed-income
portfolio at December 31, 2004. For the insurance companies’ portfolios, strong emphasis is placed on purchasing current income-producing
securities.

« Investment-grade corporate bonds have a Moody's rating at or above Baa 3 or a Standard & Poor’s rating at or above BBB-. The company
seeks to balance current income with potential changes in market value as well as changes in credit risk when determining whether or not to
hold these securities to maturity.

» High-yield corporate bonds have a Moody'’s rating below Baa 3 or a Standard & Poor’s rating below BBB-. The company’s strong capital
position provides the flexibility to invest in these securities in addition to investment-grade corporate bonds. While such investments tend to
have higher yields, they are inherently more risky, as their
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ratings indicate, with a higher potential for default by the issuer. Historically, they have contributed positively to investment income and, in
general, are less sensitive to interest rate fluctuations. Similar to investment-grade bonds, the company seeks to balance current income with
potential changes in market value as well as changes in credit risk when determining whether or not to hold these securities to maturity. This
security class is closely monitored for selective buying opportunities, but more importantly for changes in the market that may negatively
affect existing holdings. See Iltem 7A, Unrealized Investment Gains and Losses, Page 66, for further discussion.

« Tax-exempt municipal bonds are exempt from federal taxes, a feature the company continues to find attractive. However, the company
invests in a blend of tax-exempt and taxable fixed-maturity securities because of alternative minimum tax effects. The company traditionally
has purchased municipal bonds focusing on essential services, such as schools, sewer, water or others. While no single municipal issuer
accounted for more than 1.4 percent of the tax-exempt municipal bond portfolio at December 31, 2004, concentrations within individual states
can be high. Holdings in five states — lllinois, Indiana, Ohio, Texas and Washington — accounted for 61.0 percent of the municipal bond
portfolio at year-end 2004.

Equity and Equity-linked Securities

The company’s equity and equity-linked securities portfolio includes a core group of common stocks that the company can monitor closely to
gain an in-depth understanding of their organization and industry. It also includes a broader group of smaller positions in common and preferred
stocks and convertible securities, which can be a source of trading flexibility and other risk management advantages. The company’s portfolio
of equity investments had an average dividend yield-to-cost of 11.5 percent at December 31, 2004.

« Common stocks — At December 31, 2004, 35.8 percent of the common stock holdings (measured by market value) were held at the parent
company level. Common stock investments generally are securities with annual dividend yields of 1.5 percent to 3.0 percent and histories of
dividend increases. Other criteria include increasing sales and earnings, proven management and a favorable outlook.

Common Stock Holdings

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2004

Earned Earned
Actual Fair Percent of dividend dividend to
(Dollars in millions) cost value fair value income fair value
Fifth Third Bancorp $ 283 $ 3,443 46.1% $ 95 2.8%
ALLTEL Corporation 119 774 10.4 20 25
ExxonMobil Corporation 133 459 6.2 10 2.1
National City Corporation 171 368 4.9 15 4.0
The Procter & Gamble Company 94 308 4.1 5 1.8
PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 62 270 3.6 9 3.5
Wyeth 57 184 25 5 2.6
U.S. Bancorp 109 176 2.4 5 3.1
FirstMerit Corporation 54 152 2.0 6 3.7
Wells Fargo & Company 66 137 1.8 4 2.9
Sky Financial Group, Inc. 91 134 1.8 4 3.0
Alliance Capital Management Holding L.P. 53 133 1.8 4 2.8
Johnson & Johnson 101 132 1.8 2 1.7
Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. 62 129 1.7 6 4.6
All other common stock holdings 463 666 8.9 26 3.9
Total $ 1,918 $ 7,465 100.0% $ 216 29

When investing in common stock, management seeks to identify companies in which it can accumulate more than 5 percent of their
outstanding shares. There also is a core group of common stocks in which the company holds a market value of at least $100 million. At
year-end 2004, there were 14 holdings in that core group, including three of the four investments where the company held more than

5 percent of their outstanding shares. While this emphasis on a small group of equities and long-term investment horizon has resulted in
significant concentrations within the portfolio, the company has followed this buy-and-hold strategy for many years, resulting in significant
accumulated unrealized appreciation within the equity portfolio. At year-end 2004, the largest industry concentrations within these large
common equity holdings were the financials sector at 65.9 percent of total market value and the healthcare sector at 5.7 percent of total
market value. (See Item 7, Investment Results of Operations, Page 47, for a discussion of equity securities sold during 2004.)

« Convertible securities — For more than 30 years, the company has invested in convertible bonds and convertible preferred stocks. These
securities are the primary trading vehicle in the portfolio. Management believes the conversion features enhance the overall values of these
securities and does not believe that investments in convertible securities pose any significant risk to the company or its portfolio due to their
characteristics. As a class, convertible securities tend to be less sensitive to interest rate changes than fixed-rate securities and less sensitive
to market conditions than common stocks.

Additional information regarding the composition of investments is included in Item 8, Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page
80.
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REGuLATION

State Regulation

The business of insurance primarily is regulated by state law. Although the company’s insurance subsidiaries are domiciled in Ohio and
primarily subject to Ohio insurance laws and regulations, the company also is subject to state regulatory authorities of all states in which it
writes insurance. The state laws and regulations that have the most significant effect on the company’s insurance operations and financial
reporting are discussed below.

Insurance Holding Company Regulation — The company’s subsidiaries primarily engage in the property casualty insurance business and
secondarily in the life insurance business, both subject to regulation as an insurance holding company system by the State of Ohio, the
domiciliary state of the company and its insurance subsidiaries. Such regulation requires that each insurance company in the system
register with the department of insurance of its state of domicile and annually furnish financial and other information about the operations
of the individual companies within the holding company system. All transactions within a holding company affecting insurers must be fair
and equitable. Notice to the insurance commissioner is required prior to the consummation of transactions affecting the ownership or
control of an insurer and prior to certain material transactions between an insurer and any person or entity in its holding company. In
addition, some of those transactions cannot be consummated without the commissioner’s prior approval.

Subsidiary Dividends — The dividend-paying capacity of the company’s insurance subsidiary is regulated by the laws of Ohio, the
domiciliary state. The insurance subsidiary must provide a 10-day advance informational notice to the Ohio insurance department prior to
payment of any dividend or distribution to its shareholders. Ordinary dividends must be paid from earned surplus, which is the amount of
unassigned funds set forth in the insurance subsidiary’s most recent statutory financial statement.

Prior approval by the Ohio Department of Insurance is required before the payment of an extraordinary dividend to shareholders. See
Item 8, Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 83, for information concerning dividends paid by its insurance subsidiary in
2004.

Insurance Operations — The company’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to licensing and supervision by departments of insurance in
the states in which they do business. The nature and extent of such regulations vary, but generally have their source in statutes that
delegate regulatory, supervisory and administrative powers to state insurance departments. Such regulations, supervision and
administration of the insurance subsidiaries include, among others, the standards of solvency which must be met and maintained; the
licensing of insurers and their agents; the nature and limitations on investments; deposits of securities for the benefit of policyholders;
regulation of policy forms and premium rates; periodic examination of the affairs of insurance companies; annual and other reports
required to be filed on the financial condition of insurers or for other purposes; requirements regarding reserves for unearned premiums,
losses and other matters; the nature of and limitations on dividends to policyholders and shareholders; the nature and extent of required
participation in insurance guaranty funds; and the involuntary assumption of hard-to-place or high-risk insurance business, primarily
workers compensation insurance.

Loss ratio trends in property casualty insurance operations may be improved by actions such as changing the amounts or kinds of
coverages provided by policies, providing loss prevention and risk management services, increasing premium rates, purchasing
reinsurance or combining these and other actions. The ability of the insurance subsidiaries to respond to emerging adverse underwriting
trends may be delayed, from time to time, by the effects of laws that require prior approval by insurance regulatory authorities of changes
in policy forms and premium rates or that restrict the ability to cancel or non-renew insurance policies.

Insurance Guaranty Association Assessments — Each state has insurance guaranty association laws under which the associations may
assess life and property casualty insurers doing business in the state for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to
policyholders and claimants. Typically, states assess each member insurer in an amount related to the insurer’s proportionate share of
business written by all member insurers in the state. Assessments to the company’s insurance subsidiaries were $2 million, net of
refunds, in both 2004 and 2003. The company cannot predict the amount and timing of any future assessments on its insurance
subsidiaries under these laws.

Shared Market and Joint Underwriting Plans — State insurance regulation requires insurers to participate in assigned risk plans,
reinsurance facilities and joint underwriting associations, which are mechanisms that generally provide applicants with various basic
insurance coverages when they are not available in voluntary markets. Such mechanisms are most commonly instituted for automobile
and workers compensation insurance, but many states also mandate participation in FAIR Plans or Windstorm Plans, which provide basic
property coverages. Participation is based upon the amount of a company’s voluntary market share in a particular state for the classes of
insurance involved. Underwriting results related to these organizations, which tend to be adverse to the company, have been immaterial
to the company or its results of operations.
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. Statutory Accounting — For public reporting, insurance companies prepare financial statements in accordance with GAAP. However,
certain data also must be calculated according to statutory accounting rules as defined in the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners’ (NAIC) Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual.

While not a substitute for any GAAP measure of performance, statutory data frequently is used by industry analysts and other recognized
reporting sources to facilitate comparisons of the performance of insurance companies. When appropriate, the company uses statutory
data to analyze trends or make comparisons to industry performance. Unless otherwise noted, estimated industry data is referenced from
materials presented on a statutory basis by A.M. Best, a leading insurance industry statistical, analytical and financial strength rating
organization. Statutory data for the company is labeled as such; all other company data is presented on a GAAP basis.

The NAIC adopted the Codification of Statutory Accounting Principles (Codification) in March 1998. Codification, which standardizes
regulatory accounting and reporting to state insurance regulators, became effective January 1, 2001. Codification how is incorporated into
the NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual. Additionally, prior to 2001, the company’s property casualty insurance
subsidiaries recognized written premiums as they were billed throughout the policy period, which was a previously acceptable method.
Beginning on January 1, 2001, the subsidiaries began recognizing written premiums on an annualized basis at the effective date of the
policy as required by Codification. This method of recognizing written premiums had no effect on earned premiums or other GAAP
measures.

. Insurance Reserves — State insurance laws require that property casualty insurance subsidiaries analyze the adequacy of reserves
annually. The company'’s outside actuaries must submit an opinion that reserves are adequate for policy claims-paying obligations and
related expenses.

. Risk-Based Capital Requirements — The NAIC's risk-based capital (RBC) requirements for property casualty and life insurers serve as
an early warning tool for the NAIC and the state regulators to identify companies that may be undercapitalized and may merit further
regulatory action. The ratio of a company’s actual policyholders’ surplus to its minimum capital requirement determines whether any state
regulatory action is required. At December 31, 2004, the company’s lead insurance subsidiary and each of its subsidiaries had more than
sufficient capital to meet the RBC minimum requirements and had excess capacity beyond these requirements to write additional
premiums.

. Industry Sales Practices — Recently, the Attorney General of the State of New York brought a suit against participants in the insurance
industry alleging certain illegal actions by an insurance brokerage firm. The company does not do business with the parties involved in the
suit, does not use broker contracts in its business, is not involved in the suit at all and does not believe that its business practices are of
the same nature as those the suit alleged to have occurred. On January 30, 2005, the Attorney General of the State of New York entered
into a settlement agreement with certain participants, pursuant to which the brokerage agreed to pay into a fund to reimburse clients and
take other actions, in full satisfaction of all liability to the Attorney General of the State of New York. Additionally, New York and other
regulators have initiated other investigations within the insurance and insurance brokerage industry involving practices relating to
compensation and other arrangements between brokers and insurers and their dealings with their clients and insureds. Management
cannot be certain of what the ultimate effects might be on the insurance industry as a whole, and thus on the company’s business, of any
increased regulatory oversight resulting from the suit or the other regulatory investigations.

Insurance departments in Ohio and other states are sending letters of inquiry and other requests to multiple insurance companies and
other industry members, to survey industry sales practices. The company’s insurance subsidiaries have received information requests
from the Department of Insurance in Ohio and other states beginning November 1, 2004. A letter received by The Cincinnati Life
Insurance Company from the Ohio Department of Insurance is similar to a NAIC model letter of inquiry, which contains questions and
document production requests relating to arrangements and transactions with insurance producers. The company anticipates receiving
additional inquiries from other states in which its markets insurance through licensed and appointed independent insurance agents. The
company intends to fully cooperate with the state insurance departments.

In December 2004, the NAIC adopted model legislation that includes new insurance producer compensation disclosure requirements.
The model provides that producers who represent companies and do not receive compensation from the insured would have a duty to
disclose that relationship in certain limited circumstances. It is uncertain whether this model legislation or any other legislation or
regulation will be adopted in any of the jurisdictions in which the company operates. The NAIC further directed its task force on broker
activities to consider developing additional model legislation, potentially addressing whether producer responsibility rises to the fiduciary
level and whether there must be disclosure of all quotes received by a broker and of any agent-owned reinsurance arrangements.
Management cannot be certain how such legislation or regulation, if proposed and adopted in any jurisdictions, might indirectly affect the
company'’s results of operations or financial condition.
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Federal Regulation

Although the federal government and its regulatory agencies generally do not directly regulate the business of insurance, federal initiatives
often have an impact. Some of the current and proposed federal measures that may significantly affect the company’s business are discussed
below.

. The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (TRIA) — TRIA was signed into law on November 26, 2002 and provides a temporary federal
backstop for losses related to the writing of the terrorism peril in property casualty insurance policies. TRIA currently is scheduled to
expire December 31, 2005. Under regulations promulgated under this statute, insurers are required to offer terrorism coverage for certain
lines of property casualty insurance, including property, commercial multi-peril, fire, ocean marine, inland marine, liability, commercial
auto, aircraft, surety and workers compensation. In the event of a terrorism event defined by TRIA, the federal government will reimburse
terrorism claim payments subject to the insurer’s deductible. The deductible is calculated as a percentage of premiums written for the
preceding calendar year. The company’s deductible was $199 million in 2004 (10 percent of 2003 subject premiums) and $136 million in
2003 (10 percent of 2002 subject premiums). For 2005, the deductible will be $328 million (15 percent of 2004 subject premiums).

. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) — The company’s life insurance subsidiary protects consumer health
information pursuant to regulations promulgated under HIPAA. Regulations effective April 14, 2003, require health care providers such as
doctors and hospitals, as well as health and long-term care insurers and health care clearinghouses, to institute physical and procedural
safeguards to protect the health records of patients and insureds. Effective October 16, 2003, additional regulations require health plans
to electronically transmit and receive standardized healthcare information. These rules and regulations should minimally affect the
company as its health insurance writings are limited to its self-funded health plan for company associates and a small number of run-off
medical and hospital expense insurance policies. The company does not actively market health, medical and hospital expense insurance
policies.

. Office on Foreign Asset Control (OFAC) — Subject to an Executive Order signed on September 24, 2001, intended to thwart financing of
terrorists and sponsors of terrorism, the company, and financial institutions generally, were required to block and report transactions and
attempted transactions between the company and persons and organizations named in a list published by OFAC. The company currently
uses a combination of software, third-party vendor and manual searches to accomplish its transaction blocking and reporting activities.

. Investment Company Act of 1940 — On June 28, 2004, the company submitted an application to the SEC seeking exemptive relief under
the Investment Company Act of 1940. As of the filing date of this Form 10-K, the request for an exemptive order is still pending with the
staff of the SEC. On August 26, 2004, the company announced that Cincinnati Financial Corporation transferred approximately
31.8 million shares of Fifth Third Bancorp common stock to The Cincinnati Insurance Company to address its status under the Investment
Company Act. The 31.8 million shares had a market value of $1.600 billion on August 26, 2004. The transfer was authorized by Cincinnati
Financial's board of directors on August 13, 2004, and approved by the Ohio Department of Insurance on August 24, 2004. After the
contribution, the ratio of investment securities held at the holding company level was 36.3 percent of total holding-company-only assets at
December 31, 2004.

As previously reported, as a result of a review made in June 2004, the company determined there was some uncertainty regarding the
status of the Cincinnati Financial Corporation holding company under the Investment Company Act of 1940. On June 28, 2004, Cincinnati
Financial Corporation filed an application with the SEC formally requesting an exemption for the holding company under Section 3(b)(2) of
the Investment Company Act, which permits the SEC to exempt entities primarily engaged in business other than that of investing,
reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities. Cincinnati Financial Corporation alternatively has asked the SEC for relief pursuant to
Section 6(c) of the Investment Company Act that would exempt it from all the provisions of the Act because doing so is necessary or
appropriate in the public interest consistent with the protection of investors and consistent with the purposes intended by the Investment
Company Act. The company simultaneously contacted the SEC’s Division of Investment Management to discuss the status of Cincinnati
Financial Corporation under the Investment Company Act.

Management strongly believes the holding company is, and has been, outside the intended scope of the Investment Company Act
because the company is, and has been, primarily engaged in the business of property casualty and life insurance through its subsidiaries.
Several tests and enumerated exemptions determine whether a company meets the definition of an investment company under the
Investment Company Act. One test states that a company is an investment company if it owns investment securities with a value greater
than 40 percent of its total assets (excluding assets of its subsidiaries).

Registered investment companies are not permitted to operate their business in the manner in which Cincinnati Financial is operated, nor
are registered investment companies permitted to have many of the relationships that the parent company has with its affiliated
companies. If it were to be determined that the parent company was an unregistered investment company before the asset transfer,
Cincinnati Financial may be unable to enforce contracts with third parties, and third parties could seek to obtain rescission of transactions
with Cincinnati
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Financial undertaken during the period that it was an unregistered investment company, subject to equitable considerations set forth in
the Investment Company Act. As a result, it could be determined that holders of Cincinnati Financial's $420 million aggregate principal
amount of 6.9% Senior Debentures due 2028 have a right to rescind such indebtedness, thereby requiring Cincinnati Financial to
immediately repay such amounts. Cincinnati Financial may be unable to refinance such obligations on acceptable terms. However,
Cincinnati Financial currently has available sufficient assets to fund such repayment and believes that its assets are adequate to meet its
short- and long-term obligations.

To avoid regulation under the Investment Company Act in the future, the company’s operations are, to an extent, limited by the constraint
that investment securities held at the holding company level remain below the 40 percent threshold described above. These
considerations could require the company to dispose of otherwise desirable investment securities under undesirable conditions or
otherwise avoid economically advantageous transactions. Although management intends to manage assets to stay below the 40 percent
threshold (unless the SEC grants the company’s request for an exemptive order), events beyond the company’s control, including
significant appreciation in the market value of certain investment securities, could result in the company breaching the 40 percent
threshold. While management believes that even in such circumstances the company would not be an investment company because it is
primarily engaged in the business of insurance through its subsidiaries, the SEC, among others, could disagree with this position. If it
were established that the company is an unregistered investment company, there would be a risk, among the other material adverse
consequences described above, that the parent company could become subject to monetary penalties or injunctive relief, or both, in an
action brought by the SEC.

. Investment Advisers Act of 1940 — One of the company’s subsidiaries, CinFin Capital Management Company, operates an investment
advisory business and is therefore subject to regulation by the SEC as a registered investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940. This law imposes certain annual reporting, record keeping, client disclosure and compliance obligations on CinFin Capital
Management.

Item 2. Properties

Cincinnati Financial Corporation owns its headquarters building located on 100 acres of land in Fairfield, Ohio. This building contains
approximately 800,000 total square feet. John J. & Thomas R. Schiff & Co. Inc., a related party, occupies approximately 6,750 square feet
(1 percent). The property, including land, is carried in the financial statements at $76 million as of December 31, 2004, and is classified as
property and equipment, net, for company use.

CFC Investment Company owns the Fairfield Executive Center, which is located on the northwest corner of its headquarters property in
Fairfield, Ohio. This is a four-story office building containing approximately 96,000 square feet. CFC and its subsidiaries occupy approximately
90 percent of the building and unaffiliated tenants occupy approximately 10 percent. The property is carried in the financial statements at

$7 million as of December 31, 2004, and is classified as property and equipment, net, for company use.

The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company owns a four-story office building in the Tri-County area of Cincinnati, Ohio. It contains approximately
102,000 rentable square feet. An unaffiliated tenant currently leases 100 percent of the building through December 31, 2005. At this time, the
company has not been informed that the tenant intends to vacate the property and the tenant has until August 2005 to notify the company of
their intent. This property is carried in the financial statements at $3 million as of December 31, 2004, and is classified as other invested assets.

In 2004, the company decided to undertake a building expansion at its headquarters location in Fairfield, Ohio. Preparation for construction of
an underground garage and third office tower began in January 2005. The new tower will contain more than 690,000 total square feet, including

the garage. It will rise seven stories above three underground parking levels with 700 parking spaces. The construction has an estimated
completion date of September 2008. The company believes this expansion will accommodate its business needs for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries is involved in any material litigation other than ordinary, routine litigation incidental to the nature
of its business.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders of Cincinnati Financial during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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Part I

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Cincinnati Financial Corporation had approximately 11,850 shareholders of record as of December 31, 2004. Many of the company’s
independent agent representatives and most of the 3,884 associates of its subsidiaries own the company’s common stock. Common shares
are traded under the symbol CINF on the Nasdaq National Market. The common stock prices and dividend data below reflect the 5 percent
stock dividend paid June 15, 2004; per share data has not been adjusted for the 5 percent stock dividend to be paid on April 26, 2005.

(Source:Nasdaq National Market) 2004 2003

Quarter 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th
High $43.69 $43.87 $43.79 $45.70 $37.57 $37.49 $39.73 $39.91
Low 38.87 39.80 39.33 38.40 31.50 33.43 34.86 37.77
Period-end close 41.38 43.52 41.22 44.26 33.40 35.28 38.10 39.76
Cash dividends declared 0.262 0.275 0.275 0.275 0.238 0.238 0.238 0.238

CFC's ability to pay cash dividends may depend on the ability of its insurance subsidiary to pay dividends to the parent company. See Item 8,
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 83, for discussion of dividend restrictions at the insurance company subsidiaries.

Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans appears in the Proxy Statement under “Equity
Compensation Plan Information.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. Additional information with respect to
options under the company'’s equity compensation plans is available in Item 8, Note 8 and Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
Pages 83 and 88.

The board of directors has authorized a share repurchase program (see Item 7, Cash Flow, Page 51, for additional information on the
program). In 2004, repurchases were made as follows (amounts unadjusted for stock dividends):

Total number of

shares purchased as Maximum number of
part of publicly shares that may yet be
Total number of Average price announced plans or purchased under the

Month shares purchased paid per share programs plans or programs
January 1 -31, 2004 0 $ 0.00 0 5,277,777
February 1-29, 2004 104,100 43.63 104,100 5,173,677
March 1-31, 2004 145,900 42.75 145,900 5,027,777
April 1-30, 2004 0 0.00 0 5,027,777
May 1-31, 2004 25,000 40.99 25,000 5,002,777
June 1-30, 2004 0 0.00 0 5,002,777
July 1-31, 2004 7,000 40.00 7,000 4,995,777
August 1-31, 2004 289,800 39.83 289,800 4,705,977
September 1-30, 2004 0 0.00 0 4,705,977
October 1-31, 2004 0 0.00 0 4,705,977
November 1-30, 2004 1,000,000 43.02 1,000,000 3,705,977
December 1-31, 2004 0 0.00 0 3,705,977

a) The current repurchase program was announced on February 6, 1999, replacing a program approved in 1996 and updated in 1998.
b) The share amount approved for repurchase in 1999 was 17 million shares.

C) The repurchase program has no expiration date.

d) No repurchase program has expired during the period covered by the above table.

e) A program approved in 1996 and updated in 1998 was terminated prior to expiration when the board approved the current program in
February 1999. There have been no programs for which the issuer has not intended to make further purchases.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

(In millions except per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001
Income Statement Data
Earned premiums $ 3,020 $ 2,748 $ 2,478 $ 2,152
Investment income, net of expenses 492 465 445 421
Gross realized investment gains and losses 91 (41) (94) (25)
Total revenues 3,614 3,181 2,843 2,561
Net income 584 374 238 193
Net income per common share:
Basic 3.47 2.22 1.40 1.15
Diluted 3.44 2.20 1.39 1.13
Cash dividends per common share:
Declared 1.09 0.95 0.85 0.80
Paid 1.07 1/2 0.93 0.84 0.78
Shares outstanding
Weighted average, diluted 170 170 171 171
Balance Sheet Data
Invested assets $12,677 $12,485 $11,226 $11,534
Deferred policy acquisition costs 400 372 343 286
Total assets 16,107 15,509 14,122 13,964
Loss and loss expense reserves 3,549 3,415 3,176 2,887
Life policy reserves 1,194 1,025 917 724
Long-term debt 791 420 420 426
Shareholders’ equity 6,249 6,204 5,598 5,998
Book value per share 37.38 36.85 33.00 35.30
Property Casualty Insurance Operations
Earned premiums $ 2,919 $ 2,653 $ 2,391 $ 2,073
Unearned premiums 1,537 1,444 1,317 1,060
Loss and loss expense reserves 3,514 3,386 3,150 2,894
Investment income, net of expenses 289 245 234 223
Loss ratio 49.8% 56.1% 61.5% 66.6%
Loss expense ratio 10.3 11.6 11.4 10.1
Expense ratio 29.7 27.0 26.8 28.2
Combined ratio 89.8% 94.7% 99.7% 104.9%

Per share data adjusted to reflect all stock splits and dividends prior to December 31, 2004.

ONE-TIME CHARGES OR ADJUSTMENTS!

2003 — As the result of a settlement negotiated with a vendor, pretax results included the recovery of $23 million of the $39 million one-time,

pretax charge incurred in 2000.

2000 — The company recorded a one-time charge of $39 million, pretax, to write down previously capitalized costs related to the development

of software to process property casualty policies.

2000 — The company earned $5 million in interest in the first quarter from a $303 million single-premium bank-owned life insurance

(BOLI) policy booked at the end of 1999 that was segregated as a Separate Account effective April 1, 2000. Investment income and realized
investment gains and losses from separate accounts generally accrue directly to the contract holder and, therefore, are not included in the

company'’s consolidated financials.
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2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
$ 1,907 $ 1732 $ 1613 $ 1516 $ 1,423 $ 1314 $ 1,219
415 387 368 349 327 300 263
) 0 65 69 48 31 20
2,331 2,128 2,054 1,942 1,809 1,656 1,513
118 255 242 299 224 227 201
0.70 1.47 1.38 1.72 1.27 1.30 1.15
0.70 1.44 1.34 1.69 1.23 1.25 1.11
0.72 0.65 0.58 0.52 0.46 0.41 0.37
0.70 0.63 0.57 0.51 0.45 0.40 0.36
172 177 181 179 182 182 181
$ 11,276 $ 10,156 $ 10,296 $ 8,778 $ 6,340 $ 5525 $ 4,203
259 226 143 135 128 120 110
13,274 11,795 11,484 9,867 7,397 6,439 5,037
2,473 2,154 2,055 1,937 1,881 1,744 1,552
641 885 536 482 440 403 370
449 456 472 58 80 80 80
5,995 5,421 5,621 4,717 3,163 2,658 1,940
35.49 31.87 32.11 27.00 18.05 15.05 11.08
$ 1,828 $ 1,658 $ 1543 $ 1,454 $ 1,367 $ 1,263 $ 1,170
920 835 458 442 424 407 378
2,416 2,093 1,979 1,889 1,824 1,691 1,510
223 208 204 199 190 180 162
71.1% 61.6% 65.4% 58.3% 61.6% 57.6% 63.3%
11.3 10.0 9.3 10.1 13.8 14.7 9.8
30.4 28.6 29.6 30.0 28.2 27.8 27.8
112.8% 100.2% 104.3% 98.4% 103.6% 100.1% 100.9%
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Topics addressed in Iltem 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Item 7A,
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, include:
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis is to provide an understanding of Cincinnati Financial Corporation’s

(CFC) consolidated results of operations and financial position. It begins with an overview of the company and its outlook, a safe harbor
statement that covers factors that could cause results to differ from those anticipated by management and details on the company’s critical
accounting policies and estimates. It should be read in conjunction with Iltem 6, Selected Financial Data, Pages 20 and 21, and the
Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes, beginning on Page 72. Per share amounts have been adjusted for the 5 percent stock
dividend paid June 15, 2004; per share data has not been adjusted for the 5 percent stock dividend to be paid on April 26, 2005.

Unless otherwise noted, estimated industry data are referenced from materials presented on a statutory basis by A.M. Best, a leading
insurance industry statistical, analytical and financial strength rating organization. Statutory data for the company is labeled as such; all other
company data is presented on a GAAP basis.

Executive Summary

Cincinnati Financial Corporation is the parent company of the nation’s 25th largest property casualty insurer, based on statutory net written
premium volume through the first nine months of 2004. The company marketed property casualty insurance products through a select group of
986 independent insurance agencies in 31 states at year-end 2004.

The company is built on a foundation of personal relationships with these local independent insurance agents. These agents have an informed,
front line perspective that benefits policyholders as well as the company, helping to create profitability and value for shareholders. Local-
resident field marketing and other associates live in the communities they serve, working from offices in their homes and providing 24/7
availability. They are assigned directly to agencies, where they are able to provide prompt and personal service, gain firsthand knowledge and
be effective decision makers for the company. The company differentiates itself by its commitment to: providing exceptional claims service and
field underwriting through locally based associates serving the needs of agents and policyholders; offering competitive products, rates and
compensation; and maintaining excellent financial strength ratings. Headquarters associates, including approximately 600 underwriters, are
assigned to specific agencies and provide important support to the field staff and agencies.

In addition to property casualty insurance products, the company offers life insurance, leasing and asset management services to help attract
and retain high quality independent insurance agencies. This strategy helps diversify revenues and profitability for both the agency and the
company and enhances the already strong relationship built by the property casualty operations.

Among the various factors that influence the consolidated results of operations and financial position of the company, management considers
its relationships with independent agencies to be the most significant. To continue to achieve its performance targets, the company must
maintain its strong relationships with the select group of agencies with which it does business, write a significant portion of each agency’s
business and attract new agencies. The company seeks to be an indispensable partner in each agency’s success. The company measures its
accomplishment of this objective based on being the largest or second largest carrier in each agency, either by dollars of premium or number of
policies written, depending on the agency’s mix of business.

The company’s strong surplus and asset positions provide security for policyholders while allowing for a successful, equity-centered investment
strategy.

By consistently applying long-term strategies rather than taking short-term actions, the company seeks to build shareholder value by:

< Achieving above industry average growth in property casualty statutory net written premiums and maintaining industry-leading profitability by
leveraging its regional franchise and proven agency-centered business strategy.

» Pursuing a total return investment strategy that generates both strong investment income growth and capital appreciation.

¢ Maintaining financial strength by keeping the ratio of debt to capital low and purchasing reinsurance to protect investment flexibility.

« Increasing the total return to shareholders through a combination of higher earnings per share, growth in book value and increasing
dividends. The board of directors is committed to steadily increasing cash dividends and periodically authorizing stock dividends and splits.
The board has increased the indicated annual dividend rate for 45 consecutive years, a record the company believes is matched by only 11
other publicly traded corporations.

In 2004, the company reported record results, as described in detail in the results of operations. Statutory net written premium growth outpaced
the estimated industry average while the combined ratio, a common measure of profitability
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for property casualty insurers, was significantly better than the estimated industry average. The growth rate of investment income reached its
highest level in four years and book value reached a new record, as growth in net income more than offset market fluctuations in the equity
portfolio. The company’s financial position continued to strengthen with assets at a record level.

The company currently is pursuing a number of strategies to help it achieve its performance objectives over the next several years:

« Increasing business with existing agencies by continuing to provide personal service.

« Improving ease of doing business and communication with agencies through an expanding portfolio of technology solutions. The company
expects to continue to strengthen its relationships with agencies through the introduction and use of technology that is designed to bring
agencies greater efficiencies and permit associates to spend more time with people and less with paper.

« Subdividing field marketing territories to further increase the company’s representative’s presence in, and their ability to serve, each agency.

< Appointing additional agencies in markets where the company has identified a need for insurance products and services and an opportunity
to capture a greater market share.

* Resume equity investing. The company remains fully committed to an equity investment focus that management believes is a key to the
company'’s long-term growth and stability. The company will continue to invest for income and growth, focusing on a total return strategy
supported by investments in dividend-paying companies.

In 2005, management believes the company will achieve statutory net written premium growth in the mid-single digits and a GAAP combined
ratio of 91 percent (equivalent to approximately 91 percent on a statutory basis). A.M. Best estimates that 2005 net written premiums industry-
wide may rise by 1 percent and that the 2005 industry statutory combined ratio may be approximately 97.3 percent.

Currently, management anticipates pretax investment income growth in 2005 in the range of 5 percent to 6 percent. The investment portfolio is
positioned for long-term capital appreciation. Equity and equity-linked securities make up 34.0 percent of the portfolio based on book value and
62.7 percent based on market value at year-end 2004.

Management expects that the impact of these anticipated strong operating results will be tempered in 2005 by the adoption of option expensing
and slightly higher interest expense on long-term debt, which increased modestly with the November 2004 issue of $375 million aggregate
principal amount of senior notes due 2034. The company will adopt Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (R), “Share-
Based Payment,” which calls for stock option expense to be included as a component of net income, in the third quarter of 2005. Pro forma
option expense as disclosed in Item 8, Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 76, would have reduced earnings per share by 7
cents in both 2004 and 2003 and 8 cents in 2002.

Safe Harbor Statement

This is a “Safe Harbor” statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Certain forward-looking statements contained

herein involve potential risks and uncertainties. The company’s future results could differ materially from those discussed. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to:

» Unusually high levels of catastrophe losses due to changes in weather patterns, environmental events, terrorism incidents or other causes
« Ability to obtain adequate reinsurance on acceptable terms, amount of reinsurance purchased and financial strength of reinsurers
« Increased frequency and/or severity of claims

< Events or conditions that could weaken or harm the company’s relationships with its independent agencies and hamper opportunities to add
new agencies, resulting in limitations on the company’s opportunities for growth, such as:

°  Downgrade of the company'’s financial strength ratings,
°  Concerns that doing business with the company is too difficult or

Perceptions that the company’s level of service, particularly claims service, is no longer a distinguishing characteristic in the
marketplace

« Insurance regulatory actions, legislation or court decisions or legal actions that increase expenses or place us at a disadvantage in the
marketplace

« Delays in the development, implementation, performance and benefits of technology projects and enhancements
 Inaccurate estimates or assumptions used for critical accounting estimates, including loss reserves
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« Events that reduce the company'’s ability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
in the future

« Recession or other economic conditions or regulatory, accounting or tax changes resulting in lower demand for insurance products

» Sustained decline in overall stock market values negatively affecting the company’s equity portfolio, in particular a sustained decline in the
market value of Fifth Third Bancorp shares, a significant equity holding

« Events that lead to a significant decline in the market value of a particular security and impairment of the asset
« Prolonged low interest rate environment or other factors that limit the company’s ability to generate growth in investment income
« Adverse outcomes from litigation or administrative proceedings

« Effect on the insurance industry as a whole, and thus on the company’s business, of the suit brought by the Attorney General of the State of
New York against participants in the insurance industry, as well as any increased regulatory oversight that might result from the suit

« Limited flexibility in conducting investment activities if the restrictions imposed by the Investment Company Act of 1940 were to become
applicable to the parent company

Further, the company’s insurance businesses are subject to the effects of changing social, economic and regulatory environments. Public and
regulatory initiatives have included efforts to adversely influence and restrict premium rates, restrict the ability to cancel policies, impose
underwriting standards and expand overall regulation. The company also is subject to public and regulatory initiatives that can affect the market
value for its common stock, such as recent measures affecting corporate financial reporting and governance. The ultimate changes and
eventual effects, if any, of these initiatives are uncertain.

Readers are cautioned that the company undertakes no obligation to review or update the forward-looking statements included herein.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Cincinnati Financial Corporation’s financial statements are prepared using GAAP. These principles require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates.

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements are discussed in Item 8, Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, Page 76. In conjunction with that discussion, material implications of uncertainties associated with the methods,
assumptions and estimates underlying the company’s critical accounting policies are discussed below. The audit committee of the board of
directors reviews the annual financial statements with management and the independent registered public accounting firm. These discussions
cover the quality of earnings, review of reserves and accruals, reconsideration of the suitability of accounting principles, review of highly
judgmental areas including critical accounting policies, audit adjustments and such other inquiries as may be appropriate.

PRroPERTY CASUALTY INSURANCE Loss AND Loss EXPENSE RESERVES

Overview

The most significant estimates relate to the company'’s reserves for property casualty loss and loss expenses. Management believes that the
stability of the company’s business makes its historical data the most important source for establishing adequate reserve levels.

Management bases reserve estimates on company experience and information from internal analyses, obtaining additional information from
consulting outside actuaries. When reviewing reserves, management analyzes historical data and estimates the effect of various loss
development factors. Management believes that the following represent the primary risks to its ability to estimate loss reserves accurately:

» Court decisions that result in unanticipated coverage expansions on past and existing policies

< Changes in medical inflation and mortality rates that affect workers compensation claims

e Changes in claim cost trends, including the effects of general economic and tort cost inflation, not reflected in the historical data used to
estimate loss reserves

« Changes in reinsurance coverage, not reflected in reserving data, that affect the company’s net payments and net case reserves
« Payment and reporting pattern changes attributable to the implementation of a new claims management system
« Reporting pattern changes attributable to changes in case reserving practices, particularly with respect to umbrella claims
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» Absence of cost-effective methods for assessing asbestos and environmental claim liabilities accurately (see Property Casualty Reserve
Levels, Asbestos and Environmental Reserves, Page 56, for discussion of related reserve levels and trends)

Any of these factors can cause the company’s ultimate loss experience to be better or worse than reserves held, and the difference could be
material. To the extent that reserves are inadequate and strengthened, the amount of such increase is treated as a charge in the period that the
deficiency is recognized, raising the loss and loss expense ratio and reducing earnings. To the extent that reserves are redundant and
released, the amount of the release is a credit in the period that the redundancy is recognized, reducing the loss and loss expense ratio and
increasing earnings.

A reserve change of $29 million has a 1 percentage-point effect on the loss and loss expense ratio, based on 2004 earned premiums. Each
1 percentage point change in the loss and loss expense ratio has a $19 million effect on income and an 11 cent per share effect on net income
per share, based on 2004 earned premiums.

Establishing Reserves

Reserves are established for the total of unpaid loss and loss expenses, including estimates for claims that have been reported, estimates for
claims that have been incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) and estimates of loss expenses associated with processing and settling those
claims. Reserves are determined for the various lines of business. Loss reserves are reduced by salvage and subrogation reserves.

Management establishes case reserves for claims that have been reported within the parameters of coverage provided in the policy. Individual
case reserves greater than $35,000 established by field claims representatives are reviewed by experienced headquarters claims supervisors
while case reserves greater than $100,000 are reviewed by headquarters claims managers. The estimates reflect informed judgment and
experience of the company’s claims associates based on general insurance reserving practices and their experience with the company. Case
reserves are reviewed on a 90-day cycle, or more frequently if specific circumstances require, based on events such as the status of ongoing
negotiations.

In 2001, the company began to establish higher initial case reserves on serious liability claims to reflect recent experience indicating the
likelihood that juries would ignore significant liability issues in cases involving seriously injured claimants.

To establish IBNR reserves on an annual basis, management uses a variety of tools, including actuarial and statistical methods. These may
include but are not limited to:

¢ The Case Incurred Development Method
e The Paid Development Method
« The Bornhuetter-Ferguson Method

Supplemental statistical information is compiled and reviewed to aid in the application of the actuarial methods. The supplemental data also is
used to evaluate the reasonableness of estimates derived from the actuarial methods. This information includes:

Industry loss frequency and severity and premium trends

» Past, present and anticipated product pricing

Anticipated premium growth
e Other quantifiable trends
* Projected ultimate loss ratios

Management conducts its thorough evaluation of the adequacy of reserves as of the end of the third quarter of each year. As a result, the most
significant refinements in reserves historically have been implemented in the fourth quarter. Less detailed, periodic reviews of reserve
adequacy are made at the other quarter ends. A loss review committee, including internal actuaries and representatives from management of
multiple operating departments, is responsible for the quarterly review process.

The internal actuaries provide a point estimate to summarize their analysis. At year-end 2004 and 2003, IBNR reserves differed from the
internal actuarial point estimate by less than 1 percent of the company’s loss and loss expense reserve.

Adjusting Reserves

While the company believes that reported reserves provide for all unpaid loss and loss expense obligations, the estimation processes involve a
number of variables and assumptions. Management believes this uncertainty is mitigated by the historical stability of the company’s book of
business and by its periodic reviews of estimates. As loss experience develops and new information becomes known, the reserve is reviewed
and adjusted as appropriate. In this process, the company monitors trends in the industry, relevant court cases, legislative activity and other
current events in an effort to ascertain new or additional exposures to loss. If management determines that reserves established in prior years
were not sufficient or were excessive, the change is reflected in current-year results.
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Outside Actuarial Review

As part of its internal processes, management utilizes an outside actuary to provide management with an opinion regarding an acceptable
range for adequate statutory reserves based on generally accepted actuarial guidelines.

Historically, the company has established adequate reserves that have fallen in the upper half of the outside actuary’s range. This approach
has resulted in recognition of reserve redundancies (see Item 1, Property Casualty Loss and Loss Expense Reserves, Development of Loss
and Loss Expenses, Page 5, for a 10-year history of reserve development). Modestly redundant reserves support the company’s business
strategy to retain high financial strength ratings and remain a market for agencies’ business in all market conditions.

The outside actuaries conduct a thorough evaluation of the adequacy of reserves as of the end of the third quarter of each year and conduct a
supplemental review of full-year data at year-end.

HicHLy UNCERTAIN EXPOSURES

In the normal course of its business, the company may provide coverage for exposures for which estimates of losses are highly uncertain. Most
significant are catastrophic events. Due to the nature of these events, management is unable to predict precisely the frequency or potential cost
of catastrophe occurrences. However, in an effort to control such losses, the company foregoes marketing property casualty insurance in
California, reviews aggregate exposures to huge disasters and monitors its exposure in certain coastal regions. The company has catastrophe
exposure to:

* Hurricanes in the gulf and southeastern coastal regions

< Earthquakes in the New Madrid fault zone, which lies within the central Mississippi valley, extending from northeast Arkansas through
southeast Missouri, western Tennessee and western Kentucky to southern lllinois and southern Indiana

« Tornado, wind and hail in the Midwest, Southeast and mid-Atlantic regions

The company uses the Risk Management Solutions and Applied Insurance Research models to evaluate exposures to a once-in-250-year
event in determining appropriate reinsurance coverage programs. Reinsurance mitigates the risk of these highly uncertain exposures and limits
the maximum net loss that can arise from large risks or risks concentrated in areas of exposure. In conjunction with these activities, the
company also continues to explore and analyze credible scientific evidence, including the impact of global climate change, which may affect its
exposure under insurance policies. Management'’s decisions regarding the appropriate level of property casualty risk retention are affected by
various factors, including changes in the company’s underwriting practices, capacity to retain risks and reinsurance market conditions. See
Item 1, Reinsurance, Page 6, for a discussion of the company’s 2005 reinsurance treaties.

ASSET IMPAIRMENT

Fixed-income and equity investments are the company’s largest assets. Certain estimates and assumptions made by management relative to
investment portfolio assets are critical. The company’s asset impairment committee continually monitors investments and all other assets for
signs of other-than-temporary and/or permanent impairment. Among other signs, the committee monitors significant decreases in the market
value of the assets, changes in legal factors or in the business climate, an accumulation of costs in excess of the amount originally expected to
acquire or construct an asset, uncollectability of all other assets, or other factors such as bankruptcy, deterioration of creditworthiness, failure to
pay interest or dividends or signs indicating that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The application of the company’s impairment policy resulted in other-than-temporary impairment charges and write-offs of investments that
reduced the company’s income before income taxes by $6 million, $80 million and $98 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Other-than-temporary impairment in the value of securities is defined by the company as declines in valuation that meet specific criteria
established in the asset impairment policy. Such declines often occur in conjunction with events taking place in the overall economy and
market, combined with events specific to the industry or operations of the issuing corporation. These specific criteria include a declining trend in
market value, the extent of the market value decline and the length of time the value of the security has been depressed, as well as subjective
measures such as pending events and issuer liquidity. Generally, these declines in valuation are greater than might be anticipated when viewed
in the context of overall economic and market conditions. See Investment Portfolio, Page 53, for information regarding valuation of the invested
assets.

Impairment charges are recorded for other-than-temporary declines in value, if, in the asset impairment committee’s judgment, there is little
expectation that the value will be recouped in the foreseeable future. The impairment policy defines a security as distressed when it is trading
below 70 percent of book value or has a Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s credit rating below B3/B-. Distressed securities are monitored as
potentially impaired. The security may be written down in the event of a declining market value for four consecutive quarters with quarter-end
market value below 50 percent of book value, or when a security’s market value is 50 percent below book value for three consecutive quarters.
A sudden and severe drop in market value that does not otherwise meet the above criteria is reviewed for possible immediate impairment.
Notwithstanding the above, the company’s portfolio managers constantly
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monitor the status of their assigned portfolios for indications of potential problems or issues that may be possible impairment issues. If an
impairment indicator is noted, the portfolio managers even more closely scrutinize the security.

When evaluating other-than-temporary impairments, the committee considers the company’s ability to retain a security for a period adequate to
recover a significant percentage of cost. Because of the company’s investment philosophy and strong capitalization, it can hold securities that
have the potential to recover value until their scheduled redemption, when they might otherwise be deemed impaired. Investment assets that
have already been impaired are evaluated based on their adjusted book value and further written down, if deemed appropriate. The decision to
sell or write down an asset with impairment indications reflects, at least in part, management’s opinion that the security no longer meets the
company'’s investment expectations. See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, Unrealized Investment Gains
and Losses, Page 66, for detailed information regarding securities trading in a continuous loss position at December 31, 2004. Other-than-
temporary declines in the fair value of investments are recognized in net income as realized losses at the time when facts and circumstances
indicate such write-downs are warranted.

Permanent impairment charges (write-offs) are defined as those for which management believes there is little potential for future recovery, for
example, following the bankruptcy of the issuing corporation. These permanent declines in the fair value of investments are written off at the
time when facts and circumstances indicate such write-downs are warranted, and they are reflected in realized losses.

Other-than-temporary and permanent impairments are distinct from the ordinary fluctuations seen in the value of a security when considered in
the context of overall economic and market conditions. Securities considered to have a temporary decline would be expected to recover their
market value, which may be at maturity, or are fixed-income securities that the company intends to hold until maturity. Under the same
accounting treatment as market value gains, temporary declines (changes in the fair value of these securities) are reflected on the company’s
balance sheet in other comprehensive income, net of tax, and have no impact on reported net income.

LiFe INsurRaNCE PoLicy RESERVES

Reserves for traditional life insurance policies are based on expected expenses, mortality, withdrawal rates and investment yields, including a
provision for adverse deviation. Once these assumptions are established, they generally are maintained throughout the lives of the contracts.
Expected mortality is derived primarily from industry experience. Withdrawal rates are based on company and industry experience, while
investment yield is based on company experience and the economic conditions then in effect.

Reserves for the company’s universal life, deferred annuity and investment contracts are equal to the cumulative account balances, which
include premium deposits plus credited interest less charges and withdrawals.

EwmpLovEe BENEFIT PLAN

The company has a defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees. Contributions and pension costs are developed from
annual actuarial valuations. These valuations involve key assumptions including discount rates and expected return on plan assets, which are
updated each year. Any adjustments to these assumptions are based on considerations of current market conditions. Therefore, changes in the
related pension costs or credits may occur in the future due to changes in assumptions.

The key assumptions used in developing the 2004 net pension expense were a 6.0 percent discount rate, an 8.0 percent expected return on
plan assets and rates of compensation increases ranging from 5 percent to 7 percent, depending on the age of the employee. The 8.0 percent
return on plan assets assumption is based on the fact that substantially all of the investments held by the pension plan are common stocks that
pay annual dividends. Management believes this rate is representative of the expected long-term rate of return on these assets. These
assumptions were consistent with the prior year except that the discount rate was reduced by one half of one percent due to current market
conditions. In 2004, the net pension expense was $9 million. In 2005, the company expects a net pension expense of $12 million, primarily as a
result of a 0.5 percent reduction in the discount rate and increased service costs.

Holding all other assumptions constant, a one half of one percent increase or decrease in the discount rate would have increased or decreased
the company’s 2004 net income before income taxes by $1 million. Likewise, a one half of one percent increase or decrease in the expected
return on plan assets would have increased or decreased 2004 income before income taxes by $1 million.

In addition, the fair value of the plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation by $16 million at December 31, 2004, and by
$21 million at December 31, 2003. The fair value of the plan assets was less than the projected plan benefit obligation by $41 million at
December 31, 2004, and by $29 million at December 31, 2003. Market conditions and interest rates significantly affect future assets and
liabilities of the pension plan. The company expects to contribute approximately $10 million to its pension plan in 2005.
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DerFerreD AcquisiTion CosTs

The company establishes a deferred asset for costs that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring property casualty and life business.
These costs are principally agent commissions, premium taxes and certain underwriting costs, which are deferred and amortized into income
as premiums are earned. Deferred acquisition costs have grown in line with the growth in premiums. Underlying assumptions are updated
periodically to reflect actual experience. Changes in the amounts or timing of estimated future profits could result in adjustments to the
accumulated amortization of these costs.

For property casualty policies, deferred costs are amortized over the terms of the policies. For life policies, acquisition costs are amortized into
income either over the premium-paying period of the policies or the life of the policy, depending on the policy type.

ConTINGENT ComMISSION ACCRUAL

Another significant estimate relates to the company’s accrual for contingent (profit-sharing) commissions. Management bases the contingent
commission accrual estimates on property casualty underwriting results and on supplemental property casualty information. Contingent
commissions are paid to agencies using a formula that takes into account overall agency profitability and other factors, such as prompt monthly
payment of amounts due to the company. Due to the complexity of the calculation and the variety of factors that can affect contingent
commissions for an individual agency, the amount accrued can differ from the actual contingent commissions paid. The contingent commission
accrual of $104 million in 2004 contributed 3.5 percentage points to the property casualty combined ratio. If commissions paid were to vary
from that amount by 5 percent, it would affect 2005 net income by $3 million, or 2 cents per share, and the combined ratio by approximately
0.2 percentage points.

SEPARATE ACCOUNTS

The company issues life contracts, referred to as bank-owned life insurance policies (BOLI). Based on the specific contract provisions, the
assets and liabilities for some BOLIs are legally segregated and recorded as assets and liabilities of the separate accounts. Other BOLIs are
included in the general account. For separate account BOLIs, minimum investment returns and account values are guaranteed by the company
and also include death benefits to beneficiaries of the contract holders.

Separate account assets are carried at fair value. Separate account liabilities primarily represent the contract holders’ claims to the related
assets and also are carried at the fair value of the assets. Generally, investment income and realized investment gains and losses of the
separate accounts accrue directly to the contract holders and, therefore, are not included in the company’s Consolidated Statements of
Income. However, each separate account contract includes a negotiated realized gain and loss sharing arrangement with the company. This
share is transferred from the separate account to the company’s general account and is recognized as revenue or expense. In the event that
the asset value of contract holders’ accounts is projected below the value guaranteed by the company, a liability is established through a
charge to the company’s earnings.

In the company’s most significant separate account written in 1999, realized gains and losses are retained in the separate account and are
deferred and amortized to the contract holder over a five-year period, subject to certain limitations. Upon termination or maturity of this separate
account contract, any unamortized deferred gains and/or losses will revert to the general account. In the event this separate account holder
were to exchange the contract for the policy of another carrier, there would be a surrender charge equal to 10 percent of the contract’s account
value during the first five years. Beginning in year six, the surrender charge decreases 2 percent a year to 0 percent in year 11. At

December 31, 2004, net unamortized realized losses amounted to $1 million. In accordance with this separate account agreement, the
investment assets must meet certain criteria established by the regulatory authorities to whose jurisdiction the group contract holder is subject.
Therefore, sales of investments may be mandated to maintain compliance with these regulations, possibly requiring gains or losses to be
recorded, and charged to the general account. Potentially, losses could be material; however, unrealized losses at December 31, 2004, in the
separate account portfolio were less than $1 million.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Item 8, Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 76, for information regarding recent accounting pronouncements.
Management has determined that recent accounting pronouncements have not had nor are they expected to have any material impact on the
company'’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123(R), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. Among other items, SFAS No. 123(R) eliminates the use of APB Opinion
No. 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting and requires companies to recognize the cost of associate services received in exchange
for awards of equity instruments, based on the grant date fair value of those awards, in the financial statements. The effective date of SFAS
No. 123(R) is the first reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005, which is the third quarter of 2005 for the company, although early
adoption is allowed.
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SFAS No. 123(R) permits companies to adopt its requirements using either a modified prospective or a modified retrospective method. Under
the modified prospective method, the compensation cost is recognized in the financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on
the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after that date, and based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123
for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123(R). Under the modified retrospective method, the requirements are
the same as under the modified prospective method, but this method also permits companies to restate financial statements of previous
periods based on pro forma disclosures made is accordance with SFAS No. 123. The company currently utilizes a standard option-pricing
model (binomial option-pricing model) to measure the fair value of stock options granted to associates. While SFAS No. 123(R) permits
companies to continue to use such a model, the standard also permits the use of a lattice model. The company has not yet determined which
model it will use to measure the fair value of associate stock options upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

The company currently expects to adopt SFAS 123(R) effective July 1, 2005; however, the company has not yet determined which of the
adoption methods it will use. Subject to a complete review of the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R), based on stock options granted to
associates through January 2005, the company expects the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on July 1, 2005, will reduce both third quarter and
fourth quarter 2005 net income per share by approximately 2 cents per share.

In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force in Issue 03-1,
“The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments and Its Applications to Certain Investments” (EITF 03-1). The EITF reached a consensus
on an other-than-temporary impairment model for debt and equity securities accounted for under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and cost method investments. The basic model developed to evaluate whether an investment
within the scope of Issue 03-1 is other-than-temporarily impaired involves a three-step process including: determining whether an investment is
impaired (fair value less amortized cost); evaluating whether the impairment is other-than-temporary; and requiring recognition of an
impairment equal to the difference between the investment’s cost and fair value.

In September 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) No. EITF Issue 03-1-1, “Effective Date of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF Issue No. 03-
01.” This FSP delayed the effective date of the measurement and recognition guidance contained in paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1 and, as of
February 25, 2005, the FASB had not yet issued guidance on the adoption or effective date of FSP No. EITF Issue 03-1-1. The amount of any
other-than-temporary impairment that may need to be recognized in the future will be dependent on market conditions and management’s
intent and ability to hold any such impaired securities.
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REesuLTs orF OPERATIONS

Overview — Cincinnati Financial Corporation Consolidated Three-year Highlights

(Dollars in millions except per share data) 2004-2003 2003-2002
2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %

Revenues $ 3,614 $ 3,181 $ 2,843 13.6 11.9

Net income 584 374 238 56.0 57.0

Per share data (diluted):

Net income $ 344 $ 220 $ 1.39 56.4 57.5

Book value $ 37.38 $ 36.85 $ 33.00 14 11.7

Return on equity 9.4% 6.3% 4.1%

Return on equity based on comprehensive income 4.6% 13.8% (4.0%)

The consolidated results of operations reflect the operating results of each of the company’s four segments along with parent company and
other non-insurance activities. The four segments are:

« Commercial lines property casualty insurance

Personal lines property casualty insurance
* Life insurance
 Investments operations

Highlights of the consolidated results for the past three years include:

Revenues — Revenue growth accelerated over the three-year period on strong property casualty performance, continued growth in investment
income and realized gains in 2004 versus realized losses in 2003 and 2002. Earned premium growth slowed over the three years as
commercial lines pricing increases continued, but at a lower rate, and personal lines premium growth slowed, primarily due to lower new
business levels. The company’s emphasis on common stock holdings with an increasing flow of dividend payments has led to continued growth
of investment income. In addition, the company allocated virtually 100 percent of new investment dollars to fixed-income securities during most
of 2004, adding to investment income growth.

Net income — Net income rose 56.0 percent in 2004 and 57.0 percent in 2003. In each of the past three years, the company’s total benefits and
expenses have grown less rapidly than revenues, as management’s strategies to improve profitability have taken effect. Strong property
casualty underwriting profit in 2004 and 2003 led to a higher effective tax rate.

Book value — Book value was $37.38 at year-end 2004 up slightly from year-end 2003 as higher net income was offset by lower unrealized
investment gains.

Comprehensive income — Accumulated other comprehensive income, which includes the accumulated unrealized gains on investments,
declined by $297 million in 2004, gained $441 million in 2003 and declined $470 million in 2002. See Item 1, Investments Segment, Page 13,
for additional information on the investment portfolio and see Shareholders’ Equity, Page 62, for information on unrealized gains and losses.
Return on equity improved for the third consecutive year while return on equity based on comprehensive income was 4.6 percent in 2004
compared with 13.8 percent in 2003 and negative 4.0 percent in 2002.

Other considerations — When evaluating ongoing business operations, management takes the following into consideration:

» Realized investment gains and losses — A significant factor in the growth rate of net income in any year can be realized investment gains and
losses. Management believes it is important to carefully consider the impact of these gains and losses on net income when evaluating the
company'’s primary business areas: property casualty insurance and life insurance. Management believes the level of realized investment
gains and losses for any particular period, while it may be material, may obscure the performance of ongoing underlying business operations
in that period. While realized investment gains and losses are integral to the company’s insurance operations over the long term, the
determination to recognize gains or losses in any period may be subject to management’s discretion and is independent of the insurance
underwriting process. Moreover, under applicable accounting requirements, gains and losses can be recognized from certain changes in
market values of securities without actual realization.

In the three-year period, the after-tax impact of realized investment gains and losses was to raise net income by $60 million, or 36 cents per
share, in 2004. Realized investment gains and losses reduced net income by $27 million, or 16 cents, in 2003, and by $62 million, or 36
cents, in 2002. The company reported net realized investment gains in 2004 primarily because of the sale of equity securities. Net realized
investment losses were lower in 2003 than 2002 as other-than-temporary impairment charges declined due to the economic and market
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recovery and as net gains on the sale of securities rose to a higher level (see Investment Results of Operations, Page 47, for additional
information on net realized investment gains and losses, including the equity securities sold during 2004).

« Software recovery — In 2003, the company recovered $23 million pretax from a settlement negotiated with a vendor. The recovery added
$15 million, or 9 cents per share, to net income. The negotiated settlement related to the $39 million one-time, pretax charge incurred in 2000
to write off previously capitalized software development costs.

¢ Uninsured motorist/underinsured motorist (UM/UIM) reserve release— Following the Ohio Supreme Court’s late 2003 decision to limit its 1999
Scott-Pontzer v. Liberty Mutual decision, the company released $38 million pretax of previously established UM/UIM reserves, adding
$25 million, or 15 cents per share, to net income in 2003.

In 2004, the company reviewed outstanding UM/UIM claims for which litigation was pending. Those claims represented approximately
$37 million in previously established case reserves. During the first quarter of 2004, the company filed motions for dismissal in various
jurisdictions for specific claims and released an additional $32 million in related case reserves. The reserve releases in 2004 added

$21 million, or 12 cents per share, to net income. Following the release of those reserves, the company stopped separately reporting on
UM/UIM-related reserve actions. See Property Casualty Reserve Levels, Page 55, for additional information regarding UM/UIM reserves.

« Option expense — Pro forma option expense as disclosed in a Item 8, Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 76, would have
reduced earnings per share by 7 cents in both 2004 and 2003 and 8 cents in 2002.

« Effects of inflation — Management does not believe that inflation has had a material effect on consolidated results of operations, except to the
extent that inflation may affect interest rates and claim costs.

Outlook

Over the long term, management’s objective is to achieve steady growth while performing as an industry profitability leader. Based on its
outlook for the insurance and investment markets and its progress in implementing operating strategies, management has established certain
performance targets for 2005:

« Property casualty written premium growth in the mid-single digits. The company’s outlook is based on comments from various agencies and
production results, market intelligence from the company’s field marketing representatives and account retention trends, as well as staffing of
new marketing territories and plans for new agency appointments.

« Combined ratio for the property casualty insurance operations in the range of 91 percent, assuming catastrophe losses are a more normal
3.5 percentage points on the combined ratio. Management anticipates that the commercial lines combined ratio will be in the range of
90 percent and the personal lines combined ratio will be in the range of 95 percent, marking a return to profitability for this segment. The
consolidated target also assumes that favorable loss reserve development will be in line with historical levels.

< Investment income growth of 5 percent to 6 percent pretax due in part to the investment of a greater percentage of available cash flow in
fixed-income securities during most of 2004 and the first half of 2005.

Management expects the impact of these anticipated strong operating results will be tempered in 2005 by the adoption of option expensing and
slightly higher interest expense on long-term debt, which increased modestly with the November 2004 issue of $375 million aggregate principal
amount of senior notes due 2034. The company will adopt SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” which calls for stock option expense to
be included as a component of net income, in the third quarter of 2005. Pro forma option expense as disclosed in Item 8, Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 76, would have reduced earnings per share by 7 cents in both 2004 and 2003 and 8 cents in 2002.

A series of winter storms across the Midwest and Northeast during January 2005 caused approximately $5 million in catastrophe losses for
policyholders. As previously announced, management estimates that first-quarter 2005 results will include an initial reserve of $22 million, net
of reinsurance, for a single large loss in January that was insufficiently covered through its facultative reinsurance programs. Management’s
performance targets for 2005 take these events into account.

Due to hurricane activity during 2004, management anticipates that there will be assessments for windpools in Florida and other states. The
company has received only preliminary information on these potential assessments and at this time believes the potential impact of any
assessment would be immaterial.

Factors supporting management’s outlook for 2005 are discussed in the Results of Operations for each of the four business segments.
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Segment Results of Operations

As described in Item 8, Note 17 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 89, management measures profit or loss for its property
casualty and life segments based upon underwriting results. Insurance underwriting results (profit or loss) represent net earned premium less
loss and loss expenses and underwriting expenses on a pretax basis. Management also measures aspects of the performance of its
commercial lines and personal lines segments on a combined property casualty insurance operations basis. Underwriting results and segment
pretax operating income are not a substitute for net income determined in accordance with GAAP.

For the combined property casualty insurance operations as well as the commercial lines and personal lines segments, statutory accounting
data and ratios are key performance indicators that are used by management to assess business trends and to make comparisons to industry
results, since GAAP-based industry data generally is not readily available. Statutory accounting data and ratios also are key performance
indicators for The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company, the life insurance subsidiary.

Investments held by the parent company and the related investment portfolios for the property casualty and life insurance subsidiaries are
managed and reported as the investments segment, separate from the underwriting businesses. Net investment income and net realized
investment gains and losses for the company’s investment portfolios are discussed in the investments segment discussion.

The following sections review results of operations for the combined property casualty insurance operations and, separately, for each of the
company'’s four reportable segments (see Commercial Lines Results of Operations, Page 35, Personal Lines Results of Operations, Page 40,
Life Insurance Results of Operations, Page 45, and Investments Results of Operations, Page 47).

Property Casualty Insurance Operations

OvVERVIEW — THREE-YEAR HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in millions) 2004-2003 2003-2002
2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Earned premiums $ 2,919 $ 2,653 $ 2,391 10.0 10.9
Loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes 1,605 1,700 1,658 (5.6) 2.6
Catastrophe loss and loss expenses 148 97 87 53.4 10.9
Commission expenses 583 507 442 15.0 14.5
Underwriting expenses 274 194 190 40.6 1.0
Policyholder dividends 11 15 6 (25.0) 164.0
Underwriting profit $ 298 $ 140 $ 8 113.3 1,816.5
Combined ratio:
Loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes 55.0% 64.1% 69.3%
Catastrophe loss and loss expenses 5.1 3.6 3.6
Loss and loss expenses 60.1% 67.7% 72.9%
Commission expenses 20.0 19.1 185
Underwriting expenses 9.4 7.3 8.1
Policyholder dividends 0.3 0.6 0.2
Combined ratio 89.8% 94.7% 99.7%

Within the property casualty insurance market, the company offers both commercial and personal policies through a network of independent
agencies. Highlights of the performance for the combined property casualty insurance operations included:

« Earned premiums — Over the past three years, strong insurance industry pricing and its relationships with independent agencies have
permitted the company to obtain adequate premiums on new and renewal business. The rate of increase for commercial lines earned
premiums slowed over the three-year period, reflecting changing market conditions, while the rate of increase for personal lines earned
premium reflected higher rates offset by declining new business activity. To restore affected layers of property catastrophe reinsurance
programs, the company incurred $11 million in reinsurance reinstatement premiums in 2004, reducing net earned premium growth by
0.4 percentage points.

The growth in earned premium reflected the competitive characteristics discussed in Item 1, Property Casualty Insurance Operations, Page
1, including a case-by-case approach to new business and account renewals. While insisting on adequate premiums for covered exposures,
the company continues to do business the way it always has; on the local level, focusing on each relationship separately. Commercial lines
pricing remained flexible to respond to each risk in cooperation with local agents, who are in a position to know their market and their
business. The company believes that this approach results in more high-quality accounts over the long term, further solidifies its relationships
with independent agencies and establishes a basis for continued growth.
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The company has been more aggressively identifying and measuring exposures to match coverage amounts and premiums to the risk.
Where this matching is not possible, accounts are not being renewed unless there are mitigating factors. Agents tell the company they agree
on the need to carefully select risks and assure pricing adequacy. They appreciate the time the company’s associates invest in creating
solutions for their clients while protecting profitability, whether that means working on an individual case or developing modified policy terms
and conditions that preserve flexibility, choice and other sales advantages.

Growth also has reflected the efforts to improve customer service through the creation of smaller marketing territories, permitting local field
marketing representatives to devote more time to each independent agency. The average net earned premium per territory rose 4.7 percent
in 2004 to $33 million, 7.8 percent in 2003 to $32 million and 5.0 percent to $29 million in 2002.

The company’s success has been built on frontline decision-making. The company expects to continue to strengthen its relationships with
agencies with technology that brings agencies greater efficiencies while permitting associates to spend more time with people and less with
paper.

Management considers statutory net written premium growth to be a key performance indicator, since it can be used to compare the
company'’s growth to industry performance, allowing the company to evaluate the success of its strategies. The estimated industry growth
rate was 4.8 percent, 9.5 percent and 14.7 percent in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The company’s statutory net written premiums rose
6.5 percent in 2004. The company’s 2004 statutory net written premium growth rate was reduced by 0.4 percentage points due to the
reinsurance reinstatement premium. The company’s statutory net written premiums on an adjusted basis rose 11.7 percent in 2003 and

14.0 percent in 2002. The company’s 2003 and 2002 statutory net written premium growth rates were adjusted for the effect of a refinement
adopted in 2002 of the company’s estimation process for matching written premiums to policy effective dates.

« Underwriting results and combined ratio — For the third consecutive year, combined property casualty underwriting performance improved on
a year-over-year basis as the result of growth in premiums, in particular more adequate premium per policy, and the benefits of other
underwriting efforts.

The improvement in the combined ratio was largely driven by a lower loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes. Premium growth
has been the most significant factor in the improvement in the loss and loss expense ratio. The 2004 ratio also benefited from higher than
normal savings due to favorable loss reserve development from prior accident years as well as UM/UIM reserve releases. The 2003 ratio
benefited from UM/UIM reserve releases. Other factors are covered in the commercial lines and personal lines segment discussions below.
The loss and loss expense ratio improvement was offset by:

o Higher catastrophe loss ratio in 2004. Total catastrophe losses, net of reinsurance, were $148 million for 2004 compared with
$97 million in 2003 and $87 million in 2002. The catastrophe losses contributed 5.1 percentage points to the property casualty
combined ratio in 2004 compared with 3.6 percentage points in 2003 and 2002.

0 Increase in the commission expense ratio. Commission expense rose more rapidly than premiums primarily because of the company’s
profit-sharing commission program. Profit-sharing, or contingent, commissions are calculated on the profitability of an agency’s
aggregate book of business, taking into account longer-term profit, with a percentage for prompt payment of premiums and other
criteria. In 2004, profit sharing commission expense contributed 3.5 percentage points, reflecting the substantial growth in the
underwriting profit to $298 million. In 2003, profit sharing commission expense contributed 2.2 percentage points, reflecting the 2003
underwriting profit of $117 million before the software recovery. In 2002, these commissions contributed 0.9 percentage points to the
combined ratio, as the company incurred a small underwriting profit.

0 Increase in the underwriting expense ratio. Underwriting expenses have risen more rapidly than premiums due to higher salary
expense, largely due to increases in underwriting department staffing, and higher technology-related costs. The software recovery
reduced the 2003 underwriting expense ratio by 0.8 percentage points.

On a statutory basis, the 2004 property casualty combined ratio was 89.4 percent, including a 1.1 percentage-point benefit from the UM/UIM
reserve release. The 2003 property casualty statutory combined ratio of 95.0 percent before the software recovery, included a 1.4
percentage-point benefit from the UM/UIM reserve release, and compared with 99.6 percent in 2002, before the effect of Codification. The
industry average statutory combined ratios are estimated at 97.6 percent, 100.1 percent and 107.4 percent for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The favorable comparison of this key performance indicator to industry trends highlights the success of the company’s
strategies.

The discussion of the commercial lines and personal lines segments provides additional detail regarding these strategies and trends.

2004 10-K Page 34




Table of Contents

Commercial Lines Results of Operations
OVERVIEW — THREE-YEAR HIGHLIGHTS

Performance highlights for the commercial lines segment include:

« Earned premiums — The primary source of growth in the past three years has been higher pricing on new and renewal commercial business
and insurance-to-value initiatives, more than offsetting the company’s deliberate decisions not to write or renew certain business and the loss
of some smaller accounts due to competition. The reinsurance reinstatement premiums allocated to commercial lines reduced net earned
premium growth for 2004 by 0.3 percentage points. During this three-year period, the company has experienced little growth in overall
commercial lines policy counts. This has reflected the company’s re-underwriting of the existing book of business and its insistence on
obtaining adequate premium for the covered risks.

« Profitability — Since 2002, improvement in commercial lines profitability has primarily been driven by more adequate premiums per policy as
well as underwriting actions taken. Results for 2004 also benefited from higher than normal savings due to favorable loss reserve
development from prior accident years, including the benefit of the UM/UIM reserve release, which reduced the ratio by 1.5 percentage
points (see Property Casualty Reserve Levels, Commercial Lines Segment Reserves, Page 56, for information regarding loss reserve
development for the commercial lines segment). The 2003 combined ratio included the benefits of the UM/UIM reserve release and the
software recovery, which reduced the ratio by 2.0 percentage points and 0.8 percentage points, respectively.

GROWTH

In the seven states in which the company had at least $100 million in commercial lines agency direct earned premiums in 2004, premiums were
$1.320 billion in 2004. In these states, premiums grew 10.0 percent in 2004. In the remaining 24 states, agency direct earned premiums were
$905 million in 2004. In these states, premiums rose 15.2 percent in 2004. The stronger growth rate in the smaller states reflected the
opportunities available to the company in less penetrated markets.

Management considers new business measures to be a key indicator of the success of its competitive strategies. Locally based field marketing
representatives lead the new business effort, working with agencies to underwrite and price business using personal and direct knowledge of
the risk and competitive environment. In 2004, commercial lines new business premiums written directly by agencies rose 5.2 percent to a
record $282 million due to strong new business trends in the first half of the year. In 2003, commercial new business premiums rose

6.8 percent to $268 million. In 2002, new business premiums rose 14.4 percent to $251 million. The lower 2004 and 2003 growth rates
reflected the company’s pricing discipline. The growth rate in 2004 also reflected the slowing of premium increases industrywide.

Commercial Lines Results

2004-2003 2003-2002
(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Earned premiums $ 2,126 $ 1,908 $ 1,721 114 10.8
Loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes 1,083 1,176 1,170 (7.9) 0.5
Catastrophe loss and loss expenses 71 42 40 68.9 6.6
Commission expenses 423 361 315 17.1 14.6
Underwriting expenses 200 147 131 36.8 10.3
Policyholder dividends 11 15 6 (25.0) 164.0
Underwriting profit $ 338 $ 167 $ 59 102.3 184.5
Combined ratio:
Loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes 50.9% 61.6% 68.0%
Catastrophe loss and loss expenses 3.4 2.2 2.3
Loss and loss expenses 54.3% 63.8% 70.3%
Commission expenses 19.9 18.9 18.3
Underwriting expenses 9.4 7.7 7.7
Policyholder dividends 0.5 0.8 0.3
Combined ratio 84.1% 91.2% 96.6%

PROFITABILITY

In addition to seeking more adequate premium per exposure over the past three years, the company has focused on longer-term efforts to
enhance profitability. These have included identifying the exposures the company has for each risk and making sure it offers appropriate
coverages, terms and conditions and limits of insurance. The company continues to develop new underwriting guidelines, to re-underwrite
books of business with selected agencies and to update policy terms and conditions, where necessary. In addition, the company continues to
leverage its strong local presence. Field marketing representatives have met with every agency to reaffirm agreements on the extent of
frontline
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renewal underwriting to be performed by local agencies. Loss control, machinery and equipment and field claims representatives have been
conducting on-site inspections. Field claims representatives prepare full risk reports on every account reporting a loss above $100,000 or on
any risk of concern. Multi-departmental task forces have implemented programs to address concerns for specific areas such as contractor and
commercial auto risks. These actions have helped to address rising loss severity.

The significant components of expenses for the commercial lines segment are described below.
Loss and Loss Expenses (excluding catastrophe losses)

Loss and loss expenses include both net paid losses and reserve additions for unpaid losses as well as the associated loss expenses. As a
result of the underwriting actions noted above, which have led to higher premiums on a relatively stable level of exposure, loss and loss
expenses excluding catastrophes declined over the three-year period. A primary reason for the improvement in the ratio between 2004 and
2003 was higher than normal savings due to favorable loss reserve development from prior accident years (see Property Casualty Reserve
Levels, Commercial Lines Segment Reserves, Page 56, for information regarding loss reserve development for the commercial lines segment).
The favorable development was largely due to the claims department’s initiative, begun in 2001, to establish higher initial case reserves on
liability claims in the period when the claim is reported. UM/UIM reserve releases contributed 1.5 percentage points to the loss and loss
expense ratio in 2004 and 2.0 percentage points in 2003.

Management monitors incurred losses by size of loss, business line, risk category, geographic region, agency, field marketing territory and
duration of policyholder relationship, addressing concentrations or trends as needed. Analysis indicated no significant concentrations beyond
that seen in higher loss ratios for certain business lines, which management believes it has addressed. Management also measures new
losses and case reserve adjustments greater than $250,000 to track frequency and severity. New losses greater than $1 million, new losses
between $250,000 and $1 million and case reserve increases greater than $250,000, declined as a percentage of earned premiums in each of
the past three years.

Commercial Lines Losses by Size

2004-2003 2003-2002

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Losses $1 million or more $ 80 $ 89 $ 90 (9.5) (0.9)
Losses $250 thousand to $1 million 103 117 123 (11.9) (4.9)
Development and case reserve increases of $250 thousand or more 133 121 121 9.9 (0.4)
Other losses 536 608 622 (11.8) (2.3)

Total losses incurred excluding catastrophe losses $ 852 $ 935 $ 956 (8.8) (2.3)
Catastrophe losses 71 42 40 68.9 6.6

Total losses $ 923 $ 977 $ 996 (5.4) (1.9)
As a percent of earned premiums:
Losses $1 million or more 3.8% 4.6% 5.2%
Losses $250 thousand to $1 million 4.9 6.2 7.2
Development and case reserve increases of $250 thousand or more 6.2 6.3 7.0
Other losses 25.2 31.9 36.1

Loss ratio excluding catastrophe losses 40.1% 49.0% 55.5%
Catastrophe loss ratio 3.3 2.2 2.3

Total loss ratio 43.4% 51.2% 57.8%
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Catastrophe Loss and Loss Expenses

Commercial lines catastrophe losses, net of reinsurance and before taxes, were $71 million in 2004 compared with $42 million in 2003 and
$40 million in 2002. The following table shows losses incurred, net of reinsurance, and subsequent development, for catastrophe losses in

each of the past three years.

(Dollars in millions, net of reinsurance)

Incurred in calendar year ended December 31,

Occurance year Cause of loss Region 2004 2003 2002
2004
May Wind, hail Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 1
May Wind, hail Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 11
July Wind, hail Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 7
August Hurricane Charley South 16
September Hurricane Frances South 4
September Hurricane Jeanne South, Mid-Atlantic 4
Hurrican Ivan South, Midwest, Mid- 21
September Atlantic
Wind, ice snow, Midwest 5
December freezing
Others 3
Total 72
2003
April Wind, hail Midwest (2) 5
May Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 17
July Wind, hail Midwest 2 2
July Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 6
September Wind Mid-Atlantic 0 5
November Wind Midwest, Mid-Atlantic (1) 5
Others 0 (2)
Total (1) 39
2002
March Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 5
April Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 2
April Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 0 16
June Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 3
September Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 6
November Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 1 5
Others 0 2 3
Total 0 3 40
Calendar year total 71 42 40

Commission Expenses

Commission expense as a percent of earned premium rose by 1.0 percentage points in 2004 and 0.6 percentage points in 2003 as contingent

(profit-based) commissions increased because of strong recent results. The company relies on its independent agencies as frontline

underwriters who know the businesses and individuals in their communities.

Underwriting Expenses

Non-commission expenses rose to 9.4 percent of earned premium in 2004 from 7.7 percent in 2003 and 2002. The increase in 2004 reflected
higher salary expense and technology-related costs partially offset by continued refinements in the company’s cost allocation processes
between commercial lines and personal lines. In 2003 the ratio of underwriting expenses to earned premiums was reduced by 0.8 percentage
points due to the software recovery.

Policyholder Dividends

Policyholder dividend expense was 0.5 percent of earned premium in 2004 compared with 0.8 percent in 2003 and 0.3 percent in 2002.
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LINE oF BUSINESS ANALYSIS

(Dollars in millions) 2004-2003 2003-2002
Calendar year 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Commercial multi-peril:
Earned premium $ 751 $ 673 $ 607 11.6 10.9
Loss and loss expenses incurred 469 442 422 6.1 4.7
Loss and loss expenses ratio 62.4% 65.6% 69.5%
Loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes 54.9 59.9 63.5
Workers compensation:
Earned premium $ 313 $ 293 $ 294 6.8 (0.5)
Loss and loss expenses incurred 251 235 235 6.6 0.1
Loss and loss expenses ratio 80.3% 80.5% 80.0%
Loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes 80.3 80.5 80.0
Commercial auto:
Earned premium $ 450 $ 419 $ 383 7.4 9.3
Loss and loss expenses incurred 236 240 259 (1.8) (7.2)
Loss and loss expenses ratio 52.4% 57.3% 67.5%
Loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes 52.1 56.5 66.7
Other liability:
Earned premium $ 402 $ 342 $ 276 17.6 24.1
Loss and loss expenses incurred 116 183 214 (36.8) (14.5)
Loss and loss expenses ratio 28.8% 53.6% 77.8%
Loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes 28.8 53.6 77.8
Accident year 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Loss and loss expenses incurred:
Commercial multi-peril $ 465 $ 434 $ 417 $ 411 $ 398
Workers compensation 236 218 228 227 202
Commercial auto 283 266 252 243 241
Other liability 247 225 162 124 130
Loss and loss expenses incurred ratio:
Commercial multi-peril 61.9% 64.4% 68.7% 76.7% 85.9%
Workers compensation 75.4 74.3 775 90.0 97.1
Commercial auto 62.9 63.5 65.8 76.0 90.9
Other liability 61.3 65.9 58.8 57.4 63.3

In total the commercial multi-peril, workers compensation, commercial auto and other liability lines of business accounted for 90.1 percent of
total commercial lines earned premium compared with 90.5 percent in 2003 and 90.5 percent in 2002. Approximately 95 percent of the
company’s commercial lines premiums are written as packages, providing accounts with coverages from more than one business line. The
company believes that its commercial lines area is best measured and evaluated on a segment basis. For reference, however, the table above
and discussion below summarizes growth and profitability trends separately for each of the four primary business lines.

The accident year loss data provides current estimates of accident year incurred loss and loss expenses for the past five years. Accident year
data shows the year in which loss events occurred, regardless of when the losses are actually reported, booked or paid.

Over the past three years, results for the business lines within the commercial lines segment have reflected the company’s emphasis on
underwriting and obtaining adequate pricing for the covered risk, as discussed above. Additional detail regarding reserve development is
provided in Property Casualty Reserve Levels, Commercial Lines Segment Reserves, Page 56.

Commercial Multi-peril

The company wrote a higher than normal number of one-year policies in 2002 pending regulatory approval for changes in policy terms and
conditions (see Item 1, Commercial Lines Segment, Page 9, for a discussion of one- and three-year policies). In addition to industrywide
slowing in premium growth, this decision decelerated the 2003 growth rate for the company’s commercial multi-peril business line as some
liability coverages previously written in premium discounted packages were moved to non-discounted policies in 2003. Many non-discounted
policies are included in the company’s other liability line of business.

The loss and loss expense ratio declined steadily over the three-year period. Commercial multi-peril is the company’s single largest business
line, and management believes this business line’s loss data are the best indicators of the success of the growth and underwriting actions that
have been implemented in the past three years. The 2004 calendar year ratio improved even though catastrophe losses were slightly higher
than 2003 and $4 million in
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liability reserve strengthening in 2004 offset the improvement by 0.6 percentage points. Higher general liability base rates were effective in
most states during 2003. This contributed to further improvement in the loss and loss expense ratio in 2004 and 2003. Reserve strengthening
increased the ratio by 2.0 percentage points in 2003 and 1.0 percentage points in 2002.

Workers Compensation

Conditions within the workers compensation market remained stable in 2004 after improving between 1999 and 2003 as market pricing rose in
most states, albeit offset by continued rising trends in loss severity. As indicated by the rapid rise in premium volume of state pools for workers
compensation, many carriers chose to exit significant portions of this line of business. While the company remains highly selective about the
risks covered, workers compensation is available as part of package policies for commercial lines policyholders, maintaining the company’s
competitive position in selected states. Workers compensation has a lower commission ratio and higher breakeven point than the other
commercial business lines.

Growth in 2004 was primarily due to higher rates. In 2003 and 2002 the company chose not to renew selected policies where it believed the
aggregate terrorism exposure risk was excessive. Any new or renewal policy covering 200 or more employees at any one location received
added scrutiny as the company sought to manage risk aggregation. On the basis of new business premiums written directly by agents, new
workers compensation premiums increased 18.8 percent in 2004 and 5.9 percent in 2003 after declining 17.4 percent in 2002. Total workers
compensation earned premiums were unchanged between 2003 and 2002 as rate increases offset a decline in policy count due to the re-
underwriting effort.

The workers compensation loss and loss expense ratio has been steady for three years. Overall pricing increases for new and renewed risks
and underwriting actions have helped stabilize the accident year loss ratio in the mid-70 percent range for the most recent three years
compared with the higher level of 2000 and 2001. The loss and loss expense ratio reflected $16 million in reserve strengthening in 2004,
primarily due to medical cost trends, $13 million in 2003 and $9 million in 2002.

Commercial Auto

Commercial auto premium growth trends reflected the factors influencing overall commercial lines performance, with the primary driver being
price increases. Commercial auto, one of the commercial lines coverage areas for which the company prices coverage on an annual basis,
frequently is one of the first lines to experience pricing pressure because it often represents the largest portion of insurance costs for
commercial policyholders.

In the past several years, the company accelerated efforts to improve commercial auto underwriting and rate levels, making certain that vehicle
use was properly classified. As a result of those actions and moderating industry-wide severity and frequency trends, the loss and loss expense
ratio for commercial auto improved in each of the past three years. Further, new and revised underwriting guidelines are being used to assure
accurate classification and pricing. The UM/UIM reserve releases had their most substantial impact on the commercial auto line, lowering the
2004 loss and loss expense ratio by 4.6 percentage points and the 2003 loss and loss expense ratio by 6.9 percentage points. Including the
UM/UIM reserve releases in 2004 and 2003, the 2004 ratio benefited 10.5 percentage points from higher than normal savings due to favorable
loss reserve development from prior accident years, the 2003 ratio benefited by 8.8 percentage points and the 2002 ratio benefited by

4.0 percentage points.

Other Liability

Earned premium growth for the other liability line (commercial umbrella, commercial general liability and most executive risk policies) continued
at a higher pace in 2004 because of the number of policies written in non-discounted programs and the continuing rise in liability pricing. The
other liability policy count has been stable as growth in the number of non-discounted policies has offset declines in other areas, in part due to
a change that allowed umbrella coverages to be endorsed to a primary policy rather than be written separately.

Director and officer coverage accounted for approximately 13 percent of other liability premium in 2004 and approximately 12 percent in 2003.
Director and officer policies are offered primarily to non-profit organizations, reducing the risk associated with this line of business. As of
December 31, 2004, only four in-force director and officer policies were for Fortune 500 companies. Forty-two were for publicly traded
companies (excluding banks and savings and loans) and 70 were for banks and savings and loans with more than $500 million in assets.

In large part because this business line includes umbrella coverages, the calendar year loss and loss expense ratio tends to fluctuate
dramatically on a year-over-year basis. The improvement in the 2004 calendar year loss and loss expense ratio was driven by 2000 through
2003 accident year loss and loss expense ratios 6.5 to 14.7 percentage points below their year-ago levels.

The 2004 ratio benefited by 32.5 percentage points due to higher than normal savings due to favorable loss reserve development from prior
accident years, including 2.0 percentage points from UM/UIM reserve releases. The 2003 ratio benefited by 23.0 percentage points due to
favorable development, including 2.6 percentage points due to UM/UIM reserve releases. The 2002 ratio benefited by 8.8 percentage points
from favorable development.
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CommEerciAL Lines OutLook

Industry experts currently anticipate industry-wide commercial lines written premiums will decline approximately 1 percent in 2005. The
company anticipates commercial lines insurance market trends will reflect accelerated competition in 2005 with pressure on pricing from the
industry’s increasing surplus and improving profitability. During the second half of 2004, agents indicated that renewal price increases were
running in the low single digits, with variations by geographic region, class of business and size of account. Aggressive pricing is occurring
more frequently for higher quality and for larger accounts although disciplined underwriting appears to be the norm. The company will continue
to market its products to a broad range of business classes, price its products adequately and take a package approach. The company intends
to maintain its underwriting selectively and to manage carefully its rate levels as well as maintain its programs that seek to accurately match
exposures with appropriate premium. The creation of new marketing territories and appointment of new agencies over the next several years
also could contribute to commercial lines growth. As a result of these factors, management presently anticipates 2005 commercial lines written
premium growth in the mid-single digits compared with 7.6 percent in 2004.

The company believes it can continue to be a preferred market for its agencies and the types of Main Street businesses they serve by
evaluating each risk individually and making decisions regarding rates, the use of three-year policies and other policy terms on a case-by-case
basis, even in lines and classes of business that are under competitive pressure. This should allow the company to maintain the positive
underlying improvements in profitability that have occurred over the past several years, but management does not believe favorable reserve
development will contribute as much in 2005 as it did in 2004. As a result, management currently is estimating a 2005 commercial lines
combined ratio in the range of 90 percent compared with 84.1 percent in 2004.

Personal Lines Results of Operations
OVERVIEW — THREE-YEAR HIGHLIGHTS

Performance highlights for the personal lines segment include:

< Earned premiums — The primary source of growth in the past three years was rate increases to address premium inadequacy. Rate
increases on new and renewal business have offset a decline in policy count in each year. The reinsurance reinstatement premiums
allocated to personal lines reduced net earned premium growth for 2004 by 0.8 percentage points.

« Combined ratio — Over the past three years, the combined ratio has reflected an improving loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophe
losses. In 2004, the improvement in the loss and loss expense ratio was offset by higher catastrophe losses and rising commission and
underwriting expenses over the entire period. In 2003, the improvement also reflected a 2.4 percentage-point decline in the underwriting
expense ratio, of which 1.1 percentage-points were due to the software cost recovery.

GROWTH

Personal lines is an important component of the company’s overall relationship with many of its agencies and an important component of
agency relationships with their clients.

In the seven states in which the company wrote $35 million or more in personal lines agency direct earned premiums in 2004, premiums were
$621 million in 2004. In these states, premiums grew 6.4 percent in 2004. In the 15 states with less than $35 million in premiums in 2004,
agency direct earned premiums grew more rapidly, rising 10.7 percent in 2004 to $194 million. Similar to commercial lines, the stronger growth
in the smaller states reflected the opportunities available to the company in less penetrated markets.

Personal lines new business premiums written directly by agencies declined 19.9 percent to $48 million in 2004 and 9.3 percent to $60 million
in 2003 from a 2002 high of $67 million. The decline in new business in 2004 and 2003 reflected the company’s emphasis on underwriting
personal lines and factors specific to the personal auto and homeowner business lines, as discussed below. In addition, agencies may be
placing less new business with the company until the introduction of Diamond, the new personal lines policy processing system, in their state.
Further, the company now understands that the agency learning curve for Diamond may be steeper than anticipated, potentially reducing
agency attention to new business efforts in the initial months after the system is introduced in their state.
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Personal Lines Results

2004-2003 2003-2002
(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Earned premiums $ 793 $ 745 $ 670 6.4 11.2
Loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes 522 524 488 (0.4) 7.7
Catastrophe loss and loss expenses 77 55 47 41.4 14.5
Commission expenses 160 146 127 9.7 14.3
Underwriting expenses 74 47 59 52.1 (19.4)
Underwriting loss $  (40) $ (@7 $ (51 45.8 (47.1)
Combined ratio:
Loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes 65.9% 70.3% 72.6%
Catastrophe loss and loss expenses 9.7 7.3 7.1
Loss and loss expenses 75.6% 77.6% 79.7%
Commission expenses 20.1 19.5 19.0
Underwriting expenses 9.3 6.5 8.9
Policyholder dividends 0.0 0.0 0.0
Combined ratio 105.0% 103.6% 107.6%
PROFITABILITY

Efforts to improve personal lines profitability have focused on the personal auto and homeowner business lines as discussed below. The
significant components of expenses for the personal lines segment are described below.

Loss and Loss Expenses (excluding catastrophe losses)

Loss and loss expenses include both net paid losses and reserve additions for unpaid losses as well as the associated loss expenses. For
personal lines, loss and loss expenses excluding catastrophes were $522 million in 2004 compared with $524 million in 2003 and $487 million
in 2002. Loss and loss expenses for personal lines have reflected the industrywide rise in loss severity over the past several years due to
escalating medical costs and home values offset by the benefits of underwriting actions and changes in policy terms and conditions. In addition,
the loss and loss expense ratio benefited from higher than normal savings due to favorable loss reserve development from prior accident years
(see Property Casualty Reserve Levels, Personal Lines Segment Reserves, Page 58, for information regarding loss reserve development for
the personal lines segment).

Management monitors incurred losses by size of loss, business line, risk category, geographic region, agency, field marketing territory and
duration of policyholder relationship, addressing concentrations or trends as needed. Analysis indicated no significant concentrations beyond
that seen in higher loss ratios for certain business lines, which management believes it has addressed. Management also measures new
losses and case reserve adjustments greater than $250,000 to track frequency and severity. For personal lines, losses greater than $1 million
and losses between $250,000 and $1 million have stabilized as a percentage of earned premiums. Case reserve increases greater than
$250,000 rose as a percentage of earned premiums in 2004 after declining in 2003. Management remains focused on establishing adequate
case reserves at the time a claim is reported.

Personal Lines Losses by Size

2004-2003 2003-2002
(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Losses $1 million or more $ 17 $ 15 $ 15 14.6 1.4
Losses $250 thousand to $1 million 43 41 35 4.9 15.8
Development and case reserve increases of $250 thousand or more 21 11 20 83.7 (43.5)
Other losses 371 391 359 (5.2) 9.0

Total losses incurred excluding catastrophe losses $ 452 $ 458 $ 429 (1.4) 6.9
Catastrophe losses 77 55 47 41.4 14.6

Total losses $ 529 $ 513 $ 476 3.1 7.7

As a percent of earned premiums:

Losses $1 million or more 2.2% 2.0% 2.2%
Losses $250 thousand to $1 million 5.4 55 5.2
Development and case reserve increases of $250 thousand or more 2.6 15 3.0
Other losses 46.8 52.5 53.5
Loss ratio excluding catastrophe losses 57.0% 61.5% 63.9%
Catastrophe loss ratio 9.7 7.3 7.1
Total loss ratio 66.7% 68.8% 71.0%
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Catastrophe Loss and Loss Expenses

Personal lines catastrophe losses, net of reinsurance and before taxes, were $77 million in 2004 compared with $55 million in 2003 and
$47 million in 2002. The following table shows losses incurred, net of reinsurance, and subsequent development, for catastrophe losses in
each of the past three years.

(Dollars in millions, net of reinsurance) Incurred in calendar year ended December 31,
Occurance year Cause of loss Region 2004 2003 2002
2004
May wind, hail Midwest, Mid-Atlantic $ 9
May Wind, hail Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 20
July Wind, hail Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 5
August Hurricane Charley South 10
September Hurricane Frances South 7
September Hurricane Jeanne South, Mid-Atlantic 2
September Hurrican lvan South, Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 18
December Wind, ice snow, freezing Midwest 8
Others 2
Total 81
2003
April Wind, hail Midwest (2) $ 31
May Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 17
July Wind, hail Midwest 1) 5
July Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 1
September Wind Mid-Atlantic (2) 4
November Wind Midwest, Mid-Atlantic 0 2
Others 0 2
Total (4) 62
2002 and
prior
March Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 $ 6
April Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 4
April Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 0 11
June Wind, hail Midwest 0 0 2
September Wind, hail Midwest 0 1) 2
November Wind, hail South, Midwest 0 1) 11
Others 0 5) 11
Total 0 (7) 47
Calendar year total $ 77 $ 55 $ 47

Commission Expenses

Commission expense as a percent of earned premium rose by 0.6 percentage points in 2004 and 0.5 percentage points in 2003 as total
contingent (profit-based) commissions rose.

Underwriting Expenses

Over the three-year period, non-commission expenses fluctuated as a percent of earned premiums, but rose to a three-year high of 9.3 percent
in 2004 due to higher salary expense and high technology-related costs. In 2003 the ratio of underwriting expenses to earned premiums was
reduced by 1.1 percentage points due to the software recovery. The fluctuation in the expense ratio was partially due to continued refinements
in the company’s cost allocation processes between commercial lines and personal lines.
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Line oF BusiNness ANALYSIS

(Dollars in millions) 2004-2003 2003-2002
Calendar year 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Personal auto:
Earned premium $ 451 $ 428 $ 389 5.4 9.8
Loss and loss expenses incurred 298 304 263 (2.2) 155
Loss and loss expenses ratio 66.1% 71.1% 67.6%
Loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes 65.1 70.1 66.7
Homeowner:
Earned premium $ 259 $ 239 $ 210 8.2 14.0
Loss and loss expenses incurred 249 222 207 12.2 7.1
Loss and loss expenses ratio 96.1% 92.7% 98.6%
Loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophes 69.3 72.8 78.3
Accident year 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Loss and loss expenses incurred:
Personal auto $ 297 $ 304 $ 201 $ 263 $ 258
Homeowner 254 229 207 194 176
Loss and loss expenses incurred ratio:
Personal auto 65.9% 71.2% 74.8% 72.8% 74.1%
Homeowner 98.3 95.8 98.8 101.8 98.0

The personal auto and homeowner business lines together accounted for 89.5 percent, 89.5 percent and 89.4 percent of total personal lines
earned premiums in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The company’s intent is to write personal auto and homeowners coverages in personal
lines packages. As a result, management believes that personal lines is best measured and evaluated on a segment basis. For reference,
however, the table above and discussion below summarizes growth and profitability trends for the personal auto and homeowner business
lines. Information regarding reserve development is provided in Property Casualty Reserve Levels, Personal Lines Segment Reserves, Page
58.

The accident year loss data provides current estimates of accident year incurred loss and loss expenses for the past five years. Accident year
data shows the year in which loss events occurred, regardless of when the losses are actually reported, booked or paid.

Personal Auto

Earned premiums for personal auto grew 5.4 percent, 9.8 percent and 7.9 percent in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The growth was driven
by the effect of rate increases beginning in late 2002. During 2004, rate increases in the range of 1.6 percent to 10.0 percent became effective
in 21 states. Once rate changes become effective, they are applied to new business and to existing policies as they come up for renewal.
Management believes the company’s personal auto rates generally remain competitive.

Over the last three years, the benefits of personal auto re-underwriting programs and higher pricing have generally served to offset rising loss
severity. For selected agencies, the programs reviewed and strengthened underwriting standards, required motor vehicle reports for many
insured drivers and developed strategies to increase the company’s penetration of the agency’s personal lines business. The loss and loss
expense ratio for personal auto improved to 66.1 percent in 2004 from 71.1 percent in 2003 and 67.6 percent in 2002. The 2002 ratio included
a 5.0 percentage-point benefit from the salvage and subrogation reserve.

Homeowner

Earned premiums for homeowners grew 8.2 percent, 14.0 percent and 10.0 percent in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, primarily because of
rate increases that began to take effect in 2002. The loss and loss expense ratio excluding catastrophe losses for the homeowner line declined
to 69.3 percent in 2004 from 72.8 percent in 2003 and 78.3 percent in 2002 due to the company’s program to improve homeowner profitability.
Catastrophe losses contributed 26.8 percentage points, 19.9 percentage points and 20.3 percentage points to the homeowner loss and loss
expense ratio in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Management continues to seek to improve homeowner results so that this line achieves
profitability in 2006. For this measurement, management is presuming commission and underwriting expenses would contribute approximately
29 percentage points to a homeowner combined ratio. The target also assumes that premium growth will lead to catastrophe losses as a
percent of homeowner earned premium in the range of 17 percent. However, over the past three years, catastrophe losses have been
approximately 22 percent on the same basis.

In mid-2004, the company began modifying its policy terms to change homeowner policy earthquake deductibles to 10 percent from 5 percent
in selected Midwestern states, reducing the company’s exposure to a single significant
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catastrophic event. See Item 1, Financial Strength Ratings, Page 7, for discussion of the company’s strategy to support the financial strength
ratings of its property casualty insurance operations.

The three most significant actions taken since 2003 to improve profitability for the homeowner line are summarized below. Management
believes that the homeowner line will be profitable in 2006. However, it will take into 2007 for the full benefit of these actions to be reflected in
homeowner results.

« Rate changes — In 2004, rate increases in the range of 3.0 percent to 25.8 percent became effective in 22 states. In four of the company’s
six largest homeowner states, 2004 increases were in the 8 percent to 18 percent range. Once rate changes become effective, they are
applied to new business and to existing policies as they come up for renewal. In 2003, 23 rate increases were effective in 21 of the 25 states
in which the company writes homeowners policies.

« Changes in policy terms and conditions — The company has identified specific coverages for updating to increase its control over risk and
pricing, including capping replacement cost coverage for most policies and changing the water damage coverages. These changes began to
go into effect over the past 24 months as policies have renewed and new business has been written. By the end of 2005, virtually all of the
company’s homeowner policies will have the new terms and conditions.

» Shift to one-year policies — In conjunction with the deployment of Diamond, the personal lines policy processing system, the company has
begun to write homeowner policies on a one-year term instead of a three-year term. One-year policies allow the company to modify rates,
terms and conditions more promptly, when necessary. The company has moved to one-year homeowner policies in Alabama, Florida,
Georgia, lllinois, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Michigan, Nebraska, Ohio and Wisconsin. The company plans for homeowner policies written in
other states to shift to a one-year term in advance of the Diamond deployment for each specific state. At the end of 2004, management
estimates that approximately 27 percent of homeowner policies now have been written on a one-year term.

The benefits of changes in rates and policy terms and conditions has been deferred because the company traditionally has written
homeowner business on a three-year policy term and approximately one-third of policies come up for renewal each year. For example, in
Ohio, which accounted for 32.0 percent of the company’s 2004 total homeowner earned premiums, typical 2005 homeowner renewal policies
are experiencing approximately a 40 percent increase in total premium. The increase demonstrates the cumulative effect of rate changes,
insured value and policy changes that were effected by the company over the policyholders’ most recent three-year term.

PersonaL Lines OuTtLook

In the personal lines marketplace, the company believes agents select Cincinnati for their value-oriented clients who seek to balance value and
price and are attracted by Cincinnati’s superior claims service and the benefits of the company’s package approach. However, management is
maintaining modest expectations for the personal lines area and anticipates mid-single digit written premium growth in 2005. Industry experts
currently anticipate industry-wide personal lines written premiums will rise approximately 4.5 percent in 2005.

Six factors are contributing to management’s growth expectations:

« Timing — The company implemented homeowner rate increases in its larger states in late 2003 and early 2004. As a result, the impact of
these rate changes will accumulate into 2007, because approximately one-third of the three-year policies written before late 2003 come up
for renewal each year.

» Rate levels — The company continues to work with its agents to refine the current rate structure to bring homeowner profitability in line with
personal auto results and establish prices that attract agencies’ quality accounts. Management believes homeowner rate increases instituted
in the past 24 months generally established pricing above the mid-point of market rates. As a result, current rates in some areas may be at a
level that diminishes a differentiating factor for more price-sensitive consumers. In addition, the rate of increase for policies renewing for the
first time in three years can be significant, as discussed above, even if the result is a competitive price. In a number of its field territories,
management believes rates may be too high and it continues to evaluate independent agent market intelligence for potential refinements to
the rate structure.

» Policy characteristics — In keeping with industry practices and as noted above, the company’s homeowner policies now include specific
charges for optional coverages previously included at no charge, such as water damage coverage. This change can be an advantage for
policyholders because it allows them to select the amount of coverage to meet their needs. However, this change also may have diminished
a differentiating factor for the company’s products in the marketplace.

< Underwriting — Personal lines underwriters are focusing on insurance-to-value initiatives to verify that policyholders are buying the correct
level of coverage for the value of the insured risk. In addition, the company is carefully maintaining its underwriting standards to help achieve
the return to profitability.

< Diamond introduction — The transition to the Diamond system of agencies writing in total almost 60 percent of personal lines volume is a
significant accomplishment. However, the company now understands that the agency
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learning curve for Diamond may be steeper than anticipated, potentially reducing agency attention to new business efforts. Longer-term,
management believes this program could have a substantial positive benefit on premium growth as the technology presents solutions sought
by independent agencies.

Management believes the new system will ultimately make it easier for agents to place personal auto, homeowners and other personal lines
business with the company, while greatly increasing policy-issuance and policy-renewal efficiency and providing direct-bill capabilities.
Agents using Diamond chose direct bill for 39 percent of the policies and headquarters policy printing for 72 percent of the policies in 2004,
options that generally were not available on the company’s previous system.

« New agencies — The appointment of new agencies over the next several years also should contribute to personal lines growth.

These factors may affect the personal lines growth rate, however, management believes that they will allow the company to improve the
profitability of its homeowner line of business while maintaining personal auto profitability. While primarily focusing on longer-term targets for
the homeowner line because of the existing base of three-year policies, management believes the overall personal lines combined ratio will be
in the range of 95 percent for 2005 as the company continues to work through the renewal policy cycle and assuming catastrophe losses within
normal parameters.

Life Insurance Results of Operations
OVERVIEW — THREE-YEAR HIGHLIGHTS

Performance highlights for the life insurance segment include:

* Revenues — Revenue growth has accelerated over the past three years as the company increased life policy face amounts in force to
$44.921 billion at year-end 2004 from $38.492 billion at year-end 2003 and $32.486 billion at year-end 2002.

« Profitability — The life insurance segment reports a small GAAP-based segment profit because investment income is included in investment
segment results, except investment income credited to contract holders (interest assumed in life insurance policy reserve calculations).
Results improved in 2004 and 2003 because operating expenses remained level and mortality experience remained within pricing guidelines
as premiums continued to rise.

At the same time, management recognizes that assets under management, capital appreciation and investment income are integral to
evaluation of the success of the life insurance segment because of the long duration of life products. For that reason, management also
evaluates GAAP data including results for investment activities on life insurance-related assets for The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company
subsidiary, which comprises the life insurance segment. Looking at a key performance indicator for Cincinnati Life, GAAP net income grew
74.1 percent in 2004 to $38 million compared with 25.8 percent in 2003 to $22 million. The life insurance portfolio had pretax realized
investment gains of $9 million in 2004 compared with $10 million and $11 million of pretax realized investment losses in 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

GRoOWTH

Cincinnati Life offers whole, term and universal life products, fixed annuities and disability income products. Revenues in 2004 were derived
principally from:

* Premiums from traditional products, principally term insurance, which contributed 71.7 percent
« Fee income from interest-sensitive products, principally universal life insurance, which contributed 25.4 percent
« Separate account investment management fee income, which contributed 2.9 percent

The company'’s life insurance subsidiary reported 2004 statutory written life premium of $118 million, which included the sale of two general
account BOLI policies totaling $10 million, compared with $102 million in 2003, which included no BOLI sales. Statutory written premiums have
been reclassified to exclude annuity deposits not involving life contingencies, which are not recognized as written premium under statutory
rules. Annuity sales were $71 million in 2004 compared with $37 million in 2003 and $85 million in 2002. The growth in 2004 annuity sales was
attributable to attractive fixed rates and guaranteed income features.

In 2004, the company’s life insurance segment experienced a 3.5 percent rise in applications submitted and a 10.7 percent increase in face
amount issued due to continued strong sales of term insurance marketed through the company’s property casualty agency force. Management
believes market pressures are mitigated for the life insurance company because of its association with the property casualty operations, its
leverage of the property casualty agency franchise and its careful selection of independent agencies. Within this marketplace, Cincinnati Life is
able to be competitive and attracts its share of business from the property casualty agencies with which the company has strong relationships.
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Over the past several years, the life insurance company has worked to introduce a portfolio of new and enhanced products, primarily under the
LifeHorizons name. For example, during 2003, the company introduced a new guaranteed whole life policy and a non-cancelable rider for its
disability income product.

In 2004, Cincinnati Life continued to enhance the LifeHorizons portfolio of products to meet changing needs of both consumers and agencies.
Product development centers on mortality-oriented products combined with contract guarantees. Distribution expansion into western and
northeastern states is a high priority. Management has added a life field marketing representative for the western states and plans to add a
representative for the northeastern states in 2005. During 2004, Cincinnati Life added a disability income product to its worksite marketing
portfolio.

Life Insurance Results

2004-2003 2003-2002

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Earned premiums $ 101 $ 95 $ 87 5.5 9.2
Separate account investment management fees 3 2 0 31.9 445.2
Total revenues 104 97 87 6.1 11.3
Contract holders benefits incurred 95 91 83 35 10.1
Investment interest credited to contract holders (46) (43) (36) (5.7) (19.0)
Expenses incurred 53 52 52 0.2 (0.7)
Total expenses 102 100 99 0.9 1.1

Life insurance segment profit (loss) $ 2 $ 3) $ (12 147.5 71.8

PRroFITABILITY

Life segment expenses consist principally of:

« Insurance benefits paid and reserve increases, related to traditional life and interest-sensitive products, which accounted for 64.3 percent of
2004 expenses

« Commissions, general and other business expenses, net of deferred acquisition costs, accounted for 35.7 percent of 2004 expenses

Segment profitability depends largely on premium levels, the adequacy of product pricing, underwriting skill and operating efficiencies. Life
segment results include only investment interest credited to contract holders (interest assumed in life insurance policy reserve calculations).
The remaining investment income is reported in the investment segment results. The life investment portfolio is managed to earn target
spreads between earned investment rates on general account assets and rates credited to policyholders. Management considers the amount
of assets under management and investment income for the life investment portfolio as key performance indicators for the life insurance
segment.

The life insurance company seeks to maintain a competitive advantage with respect to benefits paid and reserve increases by consistently
achieving better than average claims experience due to skilled underwriting. Commissions paid by the life insurance operation are on par with
industry averages. During the past three years, the company has invested in imaging and workflow technology. As a result, the efficiency of
application processing has improved significantly. During this period, submitted applications have increased at an annualized rate of
approximately 6 percent, while staff involved with the underwriting and policy issue has declined 5 percent. This has been accomplished while
maintaining the company’s service standards.

Acquisition costs, which vary with and are primarily related to the production of new business, are deferred and recorded as an asset. The
company generally limits the expenses capitalized to the lower of the expense assumptions used in pricing or the actual deferrable costs. The
deferred acquisition cost is amortized into income in proportion to different measures depending on the policy type. The company regularly
reviews and, as appropriate, changes (unlocks) the assumptions used to calculate deferred acquisition costs for universal life contracts. The
2004 unlocking pertained primarily to assumptions regarding asset defaults and mortality. 2004 unlocking assumptions reduced deferred
acquisition cost amortization by $4 million and deferred revenue amortization by $1 million.

Lire Insurance OutLook

As the life insurance company seeks to increase penetration of the property casualty agencies, management’s objective is to increase
premiums and maintain expenses. Management continues to emphasize the cross-serving opportunities afforded by worksite marketing life
insurance products. In 2005, management is exploring additional programs to simplify the worksite marketing sales process for independent
property casualty agencies, including enroliment software. Term insurance is the company’s largest life insurance product line. Changes in the
marketplace during 2004 have affected the cost and availability of reinsurance for term life insurance for 2005. The company currently is
researching alternative reinsurance solutions to help fund the statutory reserve strain on new term business. Management believes it will be
able to structure a reinsurance program that provides the life insurance company with the ability to continue to grow in the term life insurance
marketplace while appropriately managing risk, at a cost that allows the company to achieve its profit targets.
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Investments Results of Operations
OVERVIEW — THREE-YEAR HIGHLIGHTS

The investment segment contributes investment income and realized gains and losses to results of operations. Investments provide the
company'’s primary source of pretax and after-tax profits.

 Investment income - Pretax investment income reached a new record of $492 million in 2004, rising 5.7 percent from the prior record in 2003.
Growth in investment income over the past two years has been driven by strong cash flow for new investments, higher interest income from
the growing fixed-income portfolio and increased dividend income from the common stock portfolio.

» Realized gains and losses - The company reported realized gains in 2004 compared with realized losses in 2003 and 2002. Realized losses
were substantially lower in 2003 than 2002 as fewer other-than-temporary impairment charges were recorded due to the economic and
market recovery.

INVESTMENT INCOME

The advantages of strong cash flow in the past three years have been somewhat offset by the challenge of investing in a low interest rate
environment. The allocation of new investment dollars to fixed-income securities during most of 2004 added to investment income growth.
Overall, common stock dividends contributed 48.6 percent of pretax investment income in 2004 compared with 48.8 percent in 2003 and
46.9 percent in 2002. In 2004, 33 of the 51 common stock holdings in the portfolio raised their indicated dividend payout, as did 29 of 51 in
2003 and 28 of the 46 in 2002. The 2004 increases should add approximately $15 million to investment income on an annualized basis. Fifth
Third, the company’s largest equity holding, contributed 58.8 percent of the increase and 39.9 percent of total dividend income in 2004.

Investment Results

2004-2003 2003-2002
(In millions) 2004 2003 2002 Change % Change %
Investment income:
Interest $ 252 $ 235 $ 233 7.2 0.9
Dividends 239 227 209 5.0 9.1
Other 6 8 8 (23.0) (0.2)
Investment expenses (5) (5) (5) (13.0) 5.9
Total net investment income 492 465 445 5.6 4.7
Investment interest credited to contract holders (46) (43) (36) (5.7) (19.0)
Net realized investment gains and losses:
Other-than-temporary impairment charges (6) (80) (98) 92.0 17.7
Realized investment gains and losses 87 30 8 189.9 299.2
Change in valuation of embedded derivatives 10 9 (4) 7.9 362.0
Net realized investment gains (losses) 91 (41) (94) 321.7 56.3
Investment operations income $ 537 $ 381 $ 315 40.6 21.2

NET REALIZED INVESTMENT GAINS AND LOSSES

Over the past three years, net realized investment gains and losses have been made up of other-than-temporary impairment charges, realized
investment gains and losses on the sale of securities and changes in the valuation of embedded derivatives within certain convertible
securities. These three areas are discussed below:

Other-than-temporary Impairment Charges

In 2004, the company recorded $6 million in write-downs of investments that management deemed had experienced an other-than-temporary
decline in market value versus $80 million in 2003 and $98 million in 2002. See Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, Asset Impairment,
Page 27, for factors considered by management. These other-than-temporary impairment charges represented 0.1 percent, 0.6 percent and
0.9 percent of total invested assets at year-end 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Also included in other-than-temporary impairments are
unrealized losses of holdings that the company has identified for sale but not yet completed a transaction.

Other-than-temporary impairment charges declined significantly in 2004 due to prior impairments in the portfolio and an improvement in the
general financial climate. During the three-year period, almost 90 percent of the write-downs of securities that management deemed had
experienced other-than-temporary declines in market value occurred during 2002 and the first half of 2003. During that earlier period, lingering
weakness in the economy affected market values. Of the $80 million in other-than-temporary write-downs in 2003, $69 million occurred in the
first six months of the year.

The write-down of two airline-related tax-exempt municipal bonds totaling $5 million accounted for the majority of other-than-temporary
impairment charges in 2004. The majority of the write-downs in 2003 related to 31 high-yield corporate bonds written down $39 million and 10
convertible securities written down $26 million. Unlike 2002, the market value declines in 2003 were related to company-specific events rather
than industry issues.
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The impairment of $5 million of airline-related bonds in 2004 was a marked reduction from the prior two years, primarily because of the
stabilization or improvement in the market value of previously impaired bonds and the disposition of airline-related securities in previous years.
Over the past three years, other-than-temporary impairments of airline-related bonds as well as sales of securities reduced the company’s
exposure to this industry to approximately $36 million at year-end 2004, down from $140 million at year-end 2001. The company did not write
down any utility/merchant energy/trading securities in 2004 due to a healthier credit climate and the previous disposal of securities. In 2002 and
2003, valuations throughout that industry were affected by mismanagement of trading operations and accounting irregularities regarding the
booking of revenues and the valuation of trading contracts. The company did not write down any healthcare securities in 2004. The 2003
healthcare impairment charges related primarily to the sudden default by Healthsouth Corporation and subsequent fraud charges. These
securities have since recovered and all coupon payments have been made.

Other-than temporary impairment charges from the investment portfolio by asset class (see Item 1, Investments Segment, Page 13, for a
description of the five asset classes) are summarized below:

Years ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Investment-grade corporate bonds:
Number of securities impaired 0 1 0
% to total owned 0% 0% 0%
Impairment amount $ 0 $ 1) $ 0
New book value 0 0 0
% to total owned 0% 0% 0%

High-yield corporate bonds:

Number of securities impaired 1 31 24
% to total owned 1% 16% 10%
Impairment amount $ 0 $ (39 $  (77)
New book value 2 13 37
% to total owned 1% 3% 5%
Tax-exempt municipal bonds:
Number of securities impaired 2 5 2
% to total owned 0% 1% 0%
Impairment amount $ (5) $ (6) $ (5)
New book value 9 3 1
% to total owned 1% 0% 0%
Common stocks:
Number of securities impaired 1 2 0
% to total owned 2% 4% 0%
Impairment amount $ (1) $ (8) $ 0
New book value 0 5 0
% to total owned 0% 0% 0%
Convertible securities:
Number of securities impaired 0 10 4
% to total owned 0% 11% 4%
Impairment amount $ 0 $ (26) $ (16)
New book value 0 23 11
% to total owned 0% 6% 2%
Total:
Number of securities impaired 4 49 30
% to total owned 0% 3% 4%
Impairment amount $ (6) $ (80) $ (98)
New book value 11 44 49
% to total owned 0% 1% 1%
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Other-than temporary impairment charges from the investment portfolio by industry are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Airline $ (5) $ (18 $ (28
Utility/merchant energy/trading 0 (30) (14)
Healthcare 0 (20) 0
Automotive 0 (2) (112)
Cable 0 0 (12)
Telecommunication 0 0 (16)
Retail 0 0 )
Other (1) (21) (14)
Total $ (6) $ (80) $ (98)

Realized Investment Gains and Losses

In 2004, the company recorded $87 million in net realized investment gains, primarily due to the sale of equity holdings, compared with

$30 million in 2003 and $8 million in 2002. The company buys and sells securities on an ongoing basis to help achieve its portfolio objectives.
Although the company prefers to hold fixed-income securities until maturity, a decision to sell reflects management’s perception of a change in
the underlying fundamentals of the security and preference to allocate those funds to investments that more closely meet the established
parameters for long-term stability and growth. Management’s opinion that a security fundamentally no longer meets the company’s investment
expectations may reflect a loss of confidence in the issuer’s management, a change in underlying risk factors (such as political risk, regulatory
risk, sector risk or credit risk), or a recovery from a previously impaired value. In 2004 and 2003, the company sold fixed-income securities that
it deemed to have limited upside potential.

During 2004, the company sold $356 million in equity holdings as part of a program to support the financial strength ratings of its property
casualty insurance operations (see Item 1, Financial Strength Ratings, Page 7, for discussion of this program). Holdings to be sold were
selected primarily based on the investment committee and management’s belief that these securities would have a lower dividend growth rate
over the next several years when compared with other holdings in the portfolio. Management also considered the potential tax effect of any
unrealized gains. Partial sales of holdings that were over $100 million in assets at year-end 2003 contributed $311 million. As a result, the
company now has 14 holdings over $100 million compared with 15 a year ago. Sales of smaller holdings that the company often uses as
trading vehicles or had already targeted for sale contributed the remainder of the $356 million. The company also realized $21 million in gains
from the sale of previously impaired securities.

Change in the Valuation of Embedded Derivatives

In 2004, the company recorded $10 million in fair value increases compared with $9 million in fair value increases in 2003 and $4 million in fair
value declines in 2002 due to the application of SFAS No. 133, which requires measurement of the fluctuations in the value of the embedded
derivative features in selected convertible securities. See Item 8, Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 76, for details on the
accounting for convertible security embedded options.

INnvESTMENTS OUTLOOK

Management believes that it will achieve pretax investment income growth of 5 percent to 6 percent in 2005 as a result of the anticipated
growth in dividend income, the potential rise in interest rates, strong cash flow from insurance operations and the higher-than-normal allocation
of new cash flow to fixed-income securities. While management does not forecast realized investment gains and losses, it believes that
impairment charges in 2005 will be minimal. Every security in the portfolio was trading at or above 75 percent of book value at December 31,
2004. Management believes impairments should be limited to securities marked to market because they have been identified for sale, or those
where issuer-specific events cause sharp declines in market value with little or no warning.

The company’s asset impairment committee continues to monitor the investment portfolio. The company also is awaiting the Financial
Accounting Standard Board'’s final decision regarding EITF 03-1 (see Item 8, Note 1, Recent Accounting Pronouncements, Page 79). Until that
decision is announced, the company is unable to estimate the impact of adoption of the standard on its recognition of other-than-temporary
impairment losses. The company’s current asset impairment policy is discussed in Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, Asset
Impairment, Page 27. The company believes that the committee’s ongoing reviews help to minimize the effect of changes in interest rates that
may negatively change the value of the company’s holdings.
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Other

Other income of the insurance subsidiaries, parent company operations and non-investment operations of CFC Investment Company and
CinFin Capital Management Company resulted in $8 million in revenues in 2004 compared with $7 million in 2003 and $14 million in 2002.
Losses before income taxes of $37 million in 2004, $38 million and $32 million recorded in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, were primarily
due to interest expense from debt of the parent company.

Taxes

Income tax expense was $216 million in 2004 compared with $106 million in 2003 and $41 million in 2002. The effective tax rate for 2004 was
27.0 percent compared with 22.0 percent in 2003 and 14.8 percent in 2002. In addition to a rise in underwriting profits, the higher tax rate
reflected the higher level of capital gains, which are taxed at a 35 percent rate, compared with capital losses in 2003.

The company pursues a strategy of investing some portion of cash flow in tax-advantaged fixed maturities and equity securities to minimize its
overall tax liability and maximize after-tax earnings. See Item 8, Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 84, for detail
regarding the company'’s effective income tax rate.
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Liouipity AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Flow
OVERVIEW

Liquidity is a measure of the company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the short- and long-term cash requirements of business
obligations.

The parent company’s cash requirements include general operating expenses, interest payments on its long- and short-term debt, dividends to
shareholders and common stock repurchases. The parent company’s primary means of meeting its liquidity requirements are dividends and
borrowings from its insurance subsidiary and investment income from its investment portfolio. The company’s access to the capital markets and
short-term bank borrowing also provide other potential sources of liquidity.

The property casualty and life insurance operations’ short-term cash needs primarily consist of paying insurance loss and loss expenses as
well as ongoing operating expenses and payments of dividends to the parent company. Historically, those needs have been met through
underwriting cash flow and investment income. Although the company has never sold investments to pay claims, the sale of investments would
provide an additional source of liquidity, if required. After satisfying short-term cash requirements, excess cash flows from underwriting are
invested in fixed-income and equity securities in the insurance subsidiaries, leading to the potential for increases in future investment income
and realized gains.

As described in Item 1, Regulations, Page 15, and Item 8, Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 83, dividends paid to the
parent company by its insurance subsidiary are restricted by Ohio regulatory requirements. Further, management intends for all insurance
subsidiaries to maintain their superior financial strength ratings, which may constrain their dividend-paying capacity. In 2004, 2003 and 2002,
the company'’s insurance subsidiary declared ordinary dividends of $175 million, $50 million and $100 million, respectively, to the parent
company. The subsidiary can pay up to $588 million in ordinary dividends to the parent company in 2005 without approval from the Ohio
Department of Insurance.

CasH FrLows From OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating activities are conducted primarily by the property casualty and life insurance companies. Underwriting generates positive cash flows
because cash from premium payments generally is received in advance of cash payments required to settle claims. The increase in the
positive cash flow from operating activities generated in each of the past three years resulted from the improvement in the results of operations
discussed above.

The following table summarizes cash flow of the insurance subsidiary (direct method):

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Premiums collected $ 3,055 $ 2,771 $ 2,511
Loss and loss expenses paid 1,543 1,540 1,357
Commissions and other underwriting expenses paid 881 759 713
Insurance subsidiary cash flow from underwriting 631 472 441
Investment income received 362 332 316
Insurance subsidiary operating cash flow $ 993 $ 804 $ 757

Premiums collected have risen over the past three years because of growth in written premiums. Paid losses and related loss expenses
accounted for approximately 84 percent, 82 percent and 74 percent of property casualty and life insurance losses and policyholder benefits
incurred in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

CasH FrLows From INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Excess cash flows from underwriting, investment and other corporate activities are invested in fixed-income and equity securities on an
ongoing basis to help achieve the company’s portfolio objectives. See Item 1, Investments Segment, Page 13, for a discussion of the
company'’s investment strategy, portfolio allocation and quality.

Disposition of investments occurs for a number of reasons (See Iltem 8, Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Page 75):

e Sales of fixed maturities investments. Although the company prefers to hold fixed-income securities until maturity, a decision to sell or to
reduce a holding reflects management’s perception of a change in the underlying fundamentals of the security and preference to allocate
those funds to investments that more closely meet the established parameters for long-term stability and growth. In 2004 and 2003, sales
of fixed-income securities rose as the company sold securities that it deemed to have limited upside potential.

2004 10-K Page 51




Table of Contents

Call or maturity of fixed maturity investments. Calls of U.S. agency paper in 2004 and 2003 were the primary reason for the increase in
calls and maturities of fixed maturity investments. The company has purchased U.S. agency paper with higher coupons and shorter call
protection features.

Sales of equity securities investments. Sales of equity securities rose in 2004 due to the sale of $356 million in equity holdings (see
Investments Results of Operations, Page 47, for a discussion of equity sales in 2004).

Purchases of investments reflected the company’s historical portfolio allocation strategy through the first quarter of 2004:

Purchases of fixed maturities investments. Purchases of fixed-income securities rose significantly in 2004 as the company allocated a
higher percentage of new investment dollars to fixed-income investments in the second half of the year and used proceeds from the call of
U.S. agency paper to purchase new fixed-income investments (see Item 1, Financial Strength Ratings, Page 7, and Item 1, Investments
Segment, Page 13, for discussion of the investment strategy and portfolio allocation.).

Purchases of equity securities investments. Due to the allocation of a higher percentage of new investment dollars to fixed-income
investments, equity securities purchases in 2004 were below the level of 2003 and 2002. Management anticipates resuming equity
securities investments in 2005 to help achieve its portfolio objectives.

CasH FLows FrRom FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows from financing activities generally reflect parent company actions:

Dividends to shareholders — Over the past 10 years, the company has paid an average of 43 percent of net income as dividends, with the
remaining 57 percent available to reinvest for future growth and for share repurchases. The ability of the company to continue paying cash
dividends is subject to factors the board of directors may deem relevant.

In February 2005, the board of directors authorized a 10.9 percent increase in the regular quarterly cash dividend to an indicated annual
rate of $1.22 per share and also authorized a 5 percent stock dividend payable April 26, 2005. The board indicated that it intended to
maintain the new quarterly cash dividend on the higher number of shares outstanding following the stock dividend, resulting in a

15.0 percent increase in the total indicated annual rate.

In January 2004, the board of directors authorized a 10.0 percent increase in the regular quarterly cash dividend to an indicated annual
rate of $1.10 per share and also authorized a 5 percent stock dividend payable June 15, 2004, maintaining the increased quarterly cash
dividend on the new shares. This resulted in a 16.1 percent increase in the total indicated annual rate. In 2003, the indicated annual rate
rose 10.8 percent.

Common stock repurchase - The Cincinnati Financial board believes that stock repurchases can help fulfill the company’s commitment to
enhancing shareholder value. Consequently, the company’s board has authorized the repurchase of outstanding shares.

Common stock repurchases for treasury have continued at a steady pace over the last several years and occur when management
believes that stock prices on the open market are favorable for such repurchases. At a minimum, the company would expect the
repurchase to offset dilution of option exercises. In 2004, the company repurchased 1,571,800 shares at a total cost of $66 million (see
Item 5, Market for the Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Page 19 for
information regarding the repurchase activity). Shares repurchased under the current board authorization total 13.3 million, at a total cost to
the company of $481 million. At December 31, 2004, 3.7 million shares remained authorized for repurchase. Share repurchase amounts
are not adjusted for stock dividends.

Senior notes — On November 1, 2004, the company issued $375 million aggregate principal amount of 6.125% senior notes due 2034,
generating net proceeds of $368 million. The company used $183 million of the proceeds to pay off two short-term lines of credit. The
remaining proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes and to finance the construction beginning in 2005 of an estimated
$100 million office building and parking garage to be situated at the headquarters located in Fairfield.

Assets

OVERVIEW

At December 31, 2004, the investment portfolio made up 78.5 percent of total assets compared with 80.3 percent at December 31, 2003. At
December 31, 2004, the remainder consisted primarily of other invested assets (0.2 percent), premium receivables (6.9 percent), reinsurance
receivables (4.2 percent), deferred acquisition costs (2.5 percent) and separate accounts (3.0 percent). These percentages have remained
relatively constant over the last few years.
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Total assets increased 3.9 percent, or $598 million, to $16.107 billion at year-end 2004. The increase primarily reflected:
*  $215 million increase in cash due to strong cash flow in 2004.
« $190 million increase in investment portfolio assets as discussed below.

*  $59 million increase in premiums receivables and $28 million increase in deferred policy acquisition costs due to the higher premium
volume.

«  $57 million increase in reinsurance recoverables primarily due to business growth and record catastrophe losses in 2004. As discussed
under Item 1, Reinsurance, Page 6, the company’s working reinsurance treaties are with highly rated and financially strong reinsurers and
the company has experienced no collection or aging problems with the property casualty or life reinsurance receivables. See USAIG Pool
Participation, Page 54, for a discussion of that reinsurance recoverable.

« $14 million increase in separate accounts primarily due to market appreciation of assets held and reinvestment of income as discussed in
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, Separate Accounts, Page 29.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
The market value of the company’s investment portfolio was $12.639 billion and $12.449 billion at year-end 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Insurance regulatory and statutory requirements designed to protect policyholders from investment risk influence the company’s investment
decisions on an individual insurance company basis. Cash generated from insurance operations is invested almost entirely in five classes of
assets evaluated for yield and risk prior to purchase (see Item 1, Investments Segment, Page 13, for a discussion of the five classes of assets).
In 2004, the company temporarily changed the allocation of new property casualty portfolio investments to reduce the ratio of common stock to
statutory surplus. The property casualty portfolio maintained that ratio below 100 percent throughout the 1990s (see Item 1, Financial Strength
Ratings, Page 7, for additional information). The ratio of common stock to statutory surplus for the property casualty insurance group portfolio
was 103.5 percent at year-end 2004 compared with 114.7 percent at year-end 2003.

On August 26, 2004, the company announced it transferred approximately 31.8 million shares of Fifth Third common stock to The Cincinnati
Insurance Company, Cincinnati Financial Corporation’s insurance subsidiary, from the parent company. This action was related to the June 28,
2004, application to the SEC seeking exemptive relief under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (see Item 1, Regulation, Page 15, for more
detail regarding the holding company’s status under the Investment Company Act). The transfer was authorized by Cincinnati Financial's board
of directors on August 13, 2004, and approved by the Ohio Department of Insurance on August 24, 2004.

While the transfer raised The Cincinnati Insurance Company’s surplus, the action was not a means to accelerate growth or strengthen loss
reserves. Rather, it allowed the company to retain the financial flexibility that continues to support its high financial strength ratings. At
December 31, 2004, statutory surplus for the property casualty insurance group was $4.191 billion compared with $2.783 billion at
December 31, 2003.

Management anticipates continuing the temporary allocation of nearly 100 percent of cash flow available for investment to fixed-income and
convertible security purchases until mid-2005. Over the longer term, the company anticipates continuing to invest in equity securities to help
achieve its portfolio objectives.

The company’s portfolio investments are primarily in publicly traded fixed-income and equity and equity-linked securities, classified as available
for sale in the accompanying financial statements. Valuations of all of the company’s investments are based on either listed prices or data
provided by FT Interactive Data, an outside resource that supplies global securities pricing. Changes in the fair value of these securities, based
on the listed prices or information from FT Interactive Data, are reported on the company’s balance sheet in other comprehensive income, net
of tax. Fixed maturities (fixed-income bonds and notes) and equity and equity-linked securities (common and preferred stocks) are classified as
available for sale and recorded at fair value in the financial statements.

At December 31, 2004, the company’s portfolio of fixed-income securities had a weighted average yield-to-book of 5.8 percent, a weighted
average maturity of 9.4 years and a weighted average modified duration to maturity of 6.9 years. At December 31, 2003, the company’s
portfolio of fixed-income securities had a weighted average yield-to-book value of 6.6 percent, a weighted average maturity of 9.5 years and a
weighted average modified duration to maturity of 6.7 years. The decline in the yield-to-book was due to lower prevailing interest rates as well
as the company’s’ focus on tax-exempt municipal bonds, which have a lower gross yield. The average maturity of the fixed-income portfolio
declined slightly because of the company'’s focus on the intermediate portion of the yield curve and the purchase of approximately $100 million
in short-term bonds to fund estimated construction payments for the headquarters expansion.

The average duration to maturity increased slightly as lower coupon levels offset shorter maturities (see Iltem 1, Investments Segment, Page
13, for additional discussion of the fixed-income portfolio). Modified duration can be defined as the average maturity of all bond payments,
where each payment is weighted by its value. In the fixed-income
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market, duration is used to measure the sensitivity of an asset price to movements in yields. See Item 8, Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Page 80, for additional information regarding the maturity of the company’s fixed-income portfolio.

Over the past several years, the company has invested a higher portion of available funds in U.S. agency paper and insured municipal bonds,
resulting in a significant rise in the percentage of the portfolio rated A and above based on fair value (market value). The majority of non-rated
securities are tax-exempt municipal bonds from smaller municipalities that chose not to pursue a credit rating. Credit ratings as of

December 31, 2004 and 2003, for the company’s fixed income portfolio were:

2003
Fair Percent Fair Percent
(Dollars in millions) value to total value to total
Moody’s Ratings
Aaa, Aa, A $ 3,101 60.3% 2,007 47.4%
Baa 1,069 20.8 1,028 24.3
Ba 363 7.1 411 9.7
B 125 24 224 5.3
Caa 23 0.5 68 1.6
Ca 11 0.2 19 0.4
C 0 0.0 2 0.1
Non-rated 449 8.7 473 11.2
Total $ 5,141 100.0% 4,232 100.0%
Standard & Poor’s Ratings
AAA, AA, A $ 2,865 55.7% 1,935 45.7%
BBB 1,095 21.3 1,084 25.6
BB 340 6.6 391 9.2
B 154 3.0 232 55
CCC 5 0.1 59 1.4
CcC 11 0.2 3 0.1
D 4 0.1 7 0.2
Non-rated 667 13.0 521 12.3
Total $ 5,141 100.0% 4,232 100.0%

Similar to the equity portfolio, the fixed-income portfolio is concentrated in the financials sector, including banks, brokerage, finance and
investment and insurance companies. Management leverages its familiarity with this sector in its fixed-income portfolio. The financials sector
represented 15.7 percent and 16.1 percent, respectively, of book value and market value of the overall fixed-income portfolio at December 31,
2004, compared with 16.7 percent and 17.1 percent of book value and market value at December 31, 2003. Approximately 85.3 percent of the
market value of financials sector holdings were investment-grade corporate bonds at year-end 2004 compared with 82.2 percent at year-end

2003. No other industry accounts for more than 10 percent of the fixed-income portfolio.

USAIG PooL PARTICIPATION

At December 31, 2004, $260 million, or 38.2 percent, of total reinsurance receivables, compared with $324 million, or 52.3 percent, at

December 31, 2003, related to the company’s participation in USAIG, a joint underwriting association of individual insurance companies that
collectively function as a worldwide insurance market for all types of aviation and aerospace accounts. The reinsurance receivable primarily
relates to September 11, 2001, events. The decline in 2004 was due to a partial reduction in those loss reserves.

Due to the company’s participation in USAIG for policy years 2001 and prior, The Cincinnati Insurance Company was named as the designated
insurer for American Airlines’ policy year 2000 business. Reinsurance recoverables resulting from all American Airlines accidents during that
year were recorded on The Cincinnati Insurance Companies’ 2001 financial statements. Management expects to recover 100 percent of the
reinsurance recoverables associated with the USAIG participation although it is impossible to estimate the timeframe for recovery due to the
complex nature of aviation and aerospace insurance. More than 99 percent of the reinsurance recoverables associated with USAIG are backed

by securities on deposit. The company no longer participates in new business generated by USAIG and its members.

Liabilities

OVERVIEW

At December 31, 2004, insurance reserves were 48.1 percent of total liabilities compared with 47.7 percent at December 31, 2003. At
December 31, 2004, the remainder of liabilities consisted primarily of unearned premiums (15.6 percent), deferred income tax (18.6 percent)

and long- and short-term debt (8.0 percent).
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Total liabilities increased 5.9 percent, or $553 million, to $9.858 billion at December 31, 2004 from $9.305 billion at December 31, 2003. The
increase primarily reflected:

*  $303 million increase in insurance reserves as discussed below. The company does not discount its property casualty reserves.
¢ $93 million increase in unearned premiums due to higher premium volume.
*  $371 million increase in long-term debt as discussed below.

Offsetting the increases were a $183 million decline in notes payable and a $115 million decline in deferred income tax liability, primarily
reflecting lower unrealized gains in the investment portfolio.

ProrerTY CASUALTY RESERVE LEVELS

At year-end 2004, the total reserve balance, net of reinsurance, was $2.977 billion, compared with $2.845 billion at year-end 2003 and

$2.608 billion at year-end 2002 (see Item 8, Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Page 82, for a reconciliation of property casualty
reserve balances with the loss and loss expense liability on the balance sheet). The reserves reflected in the financial statements are
management’s most accurate estimation.

The outside actuary’s range for adequate statutory reserves, net of reinsurance, was $2.794 billion to $3.032 billion for 2004; $2.696 billion to
$2.906 billion for 2003; and $2.492 billion to $2.674 billion for 2002. The assumptions used to establish the recommended ranges were
consistent with the actuary’s practices. Historically, the company has established reserves in the upper half of the actuary’s range, as discussed
in Critical Accounting Policies, Loss and Loss Expense Reserves, Page 25.

In addition to management’s conclusions regarding adequate reserve levels, other factors that have affected reserve levels over the past three
years included:

* Increases in coverage in force in selected business lines
* New business

< Higher initial case reserves on liability claims

¢ Judicial decisions and mass tort claims

e Loss cost inflation in selected lines

The types of coverages the company offers and the risk levels retained have a direct influence on the development of claims. Specifically,
claims that develop quickly and have lower risk retention levels generally are more predictable.

As discussed in Commercial Lines Segment Reserves, Page 56, management’s decision to re-underwrite the commercial lines book of
business beginning in 2000, including non-renewing certain policyholders due to risk levels, and increasing rates to better reflect exposure
levels, has already resulted in improved profitability. Management believes the program is leading to a lower risk profile for the overall
commercial lines segment, which should contribute to favorable loss reserve trends.

As discussed in Personal Lines Segment Reserves, Page 58, management is seeking to improve its personal lines segment performance, in
particular the homeowner business line, partially by reducing risk exposure through changes in policy terms and conditions. Management does
not expect its actions in personal lines to have a material impact on loss reserve trends, largely due to the relatively short-tail nature of
homeowner claims.

In 2003 and 2004, $70 million in reserves were released following the November 2003 Ohio Supreme Court’s limiting of its 1999 Scott-Pontzer
v. Liberty Mutual decision. The reserve releases were primarily made in the commercial auto and other liability business lines. As background,
the Ohio Supreme Court’s 1999 decision in Scott-Pontzer greatly increased the exposure on commercial auto insurance policies. That ruling
extended Ohio businesses’ uninsured motorist/underinsured motorist coverage in force over the preceding 15 years to their employees when
they were not working and to the employees’ resident family members. It contributed to changes in policy wording for UM/UIM coverage.
Additionally, the same court’s 2000 decision in Linko v. Indemnity effectively caused insurers to extend UM/UIM coverage, at the newly
increased level of exposure, to every auto insurance policy in Ohio at no additional premium. The two court rulings affected all auto insurers in
the state. Between 1999 and December 2003, the company had established case and IBNR reserves for past UM/UIM losses on the basis of
the 1999 and 2000 decisions. In the November 2003 decision to limit the Scott-Pontzer decision, the court ruled that an employer’s commercial
automobile insurance policy only covers injured employees and only when the accident happens in the course and scope of their employment.

Following the fourth-quarter 2003 reserve review, reserve levels were modified to reflect management’s assessment that mold claims behaved
similar to asbestos and environmental claims, and reserves for these claims should be estimated using similar methods. These changes have
been seen predominately in the commercial multi-peril business line. Management expects that mold exclusions added to the company’s
commercial policies beginning in 2003 will mitigate this issue after 2006.
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Further, beginning in 2003, reserve levels reflected the need to establish higher expense reserves because of the rise in litigation costs due to
larger and more complex claims. These changes have been seen predominately in commercial multi-peril and other liability business lines.

Beginning in 2002, management’s conclusions regarding reserve levels for all business lines reflected refinement of the manner in which the
value of future salvage and subrogation for claims already incurred were estimated.

Also in 2002, management increased IBNR reserves because of higher than expected paid and/or reported development in workers
compensation, commercial multi-peril and other liability business lines for accident years 1999 through 2001.

Asbestos and Environmental Reserves

Management believes that the company’s asbestos and environment reserves, including mold reserves, are adequate at this time and that
these coverage areas are immaterial to the company'’s financial position due to the types of accounts the company has insured in the past.

Loss and loss expenses incurred for all asbestos and environmental claims were $41 million, or 2.4 percent of total loss and loss expenses in
2004, compared with $28 million, or 1.6 percent, in 2003, and $37 million, or 2.2 percent, in 2002. The increase in 2004 was primarily due to
mold claims.

Net reserves for all asbestos and environmental claims were increased to $135 million in 2004 compared with $105 million in 2003 and
$88 million in 2002. Net reserves for all asbestos and environmental claims were 4.5 percent, 3.7 percent and 3.4 percent of total reserves, in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Commercial accounts generally were written by the company after the development of coverage forms that exclude asbestos cleanup costs.
The company believes its exposure to risks associated with past production and/or installation of asbestos materials is minimal because the
company was primarily a personal lines company when most of the asbestos exposure occurred. The commercial coverage the company did
offer was predominantly related to local-market construction activity rather than asbestos manufacturing. Further, over the past three years, to
limit its exposure to mold and other environmental risks going forward, the company has revised policy terms where permitted by state
regulation.

Commercial Lines Segment Reserves

For the business lines in the commercial lines insurance segment, the following table shows the breakout of gross reserves among case, IBNR
and loss expense reserves:

Loss reserves Loss Total
Case IBNR expense gross Percent
(In_millions) reserves reserves reserves reserves of total
At December 31, 2004
Commercial multi-peril $ 465 $ 123 $ 227 $ 815 27.0%
Workers compensation 258 278 75 611 20.3
Commercial auto 254 58 64 376 12.5
Other liability 288 377 111 776 25.7
All other lines of business 289 19 130 438 14.5
Total $ 1,554 $ 855 $ 607 $ 3,016 100.0%
At December 31, 2003
Commercial multi-peril $ 419 $ 82 $ 204 $ 705 24.0%
Workers compensation 240 255 68 563 19.2
Commercial auto 260 66 59 385 13.1
Other liability 284 382 108 774 26.4
All other lines of business 356 13 137 506 17.3
Total $ 1,559 $ 798 $ 576 $ 2,933 100.0%

As a result of underwriting actions taken since 2000 and a generally favorable insurance marketplace, the commercial lines segment has been
able to obtain higher premium per exposure. As a result, profitability has improved due to higher revenue on stable loss and loss expenses.
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The following table provides the amounts of net reserve changes made over the past three years by commercial line of business and accident

year:

Commercial Workers Commercial Other
(Dollars in millions) multi-peril compensation auto liability
As of December 31, 2004
Accident year:
2003 $ (5) $ 5 $ 11 36
2002 2 (1) 10 41
2001 5 (6) 4 27
2000 4 3) 4 13
1999 0 (2) 7 2
1998 1 1) 3 0
1997 and prior (11) (7) 8 12
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (4) $ (15) $ a7 131
Reserves as originally estimated $ 691 $ 514 $ 381 635
Reserves re-estimated as of December 31, 2004 695 529 334 504
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (4) $ (15) $ 47 131
Impact on loss and loss expense ratio (0.6%) (4.9%) 10.5% 32.5%
As of December 31, 2003
Accident year:
2002 $ (3) $ (1) $ 11 36
2001 2 (©)] 2 15
2000 (20) 2 7 5
1999 5 1) 11 6
1998 2 0 2 3
1997 2 1) 1 5
1996 and prior 3 (5) 3 9
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (13) $ (13) $ 37 79
Reserves as originally estimated $ 609 $ 477 $ 383 580
Reserves re-estimated as of December 31, 2003 622 490 346 501
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (13) $ (13) $ 37 79
Impact on loss and loss expense ratio (2.0%) (4.3%) 8.8% 23.0%
As of December 31, 2002
Accident year:
2001 $ (20) $ (20) $ 13 15
2000 (6) 1) 2 9
1999 1) 0 0 3
1998 8 @) @) 10
1997 0 2 @) 2
1996 3 0 1 1
1995 and prior 0 1 1 (16)
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (6) $ 9 $ 15 24
Reserves as originally estimated $ 542 $ 435 $ 373 486
Reserves re-estimated as of December 31, 2002 548 444 358 462
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (6) $ 9) $ 15 24
Impact on loss and loss expense ratio (1.0%) (3.1%) 4.0% 8.8%

The overall favorable development recorded in the commercial lines reserves illustrates the potential for revisions inherent in estimating
reserves, especially in long-tail lines such as other liability. With the exception of the UM/UIM reserve releases and other significant changes in

assumptions discussed above, commercial lines reserve development over the past three years was consistent with:
e Theinitiative, begun in 2001, to establish higher initial case reserves on liability claims in the period in which the claim is reported.

« Higher than expected medical inflation affecting the workers compensation line

*  Settlements that differed from the established case reserves

« Changes in case reserves based on new information for specific claims or classes of claims
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« Differences in the timing of actual settlements compared with the payout patterns assumed in the accident year IBNR reductions

Personal Lines Segment Reserves

For the business lines in the personal lines insurance segment, the following table shows the breakout of gross reserves among case, IBNR

and loss expense reserves:

Loss reserves Loss Total
Case IBNR expense gross Percent
(In millions) reserves reserves reserves reserves of total
At December 31, 2004
Personal auto $ 181 $ 15 $ 35 $ 231 46.4%
Homeowners 81 21 23 125 25.1
All other lines of business 57 73 12 142 28.5
Total $ 319 $ 109 $ 70 $ 498 100.0%
At December 31, 2003
Personal auto $ 175 $ 16 $ 33 $ 224 49.6%
Homeowners 65 13 16 94 20.7
All other lines of business 48 75 12 135 29.7
Total $ 288 $ 104 $ 61 $ 453 100.0%

The personal lines segment continues to implement rate increases in an effort to restore profitability. Over the past three years, higher-than-

normal catastrophe losses have contributed to the personal lines loss and loss expenses.
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The following table provides the amounts of net reserve changes made over the past three years by personal line of business and accident

year:

Personal
(Dollars in millions) auto Homeowners
As of December 31, 2004
Accident year:
2003 $ 9) $ (]
2002 1) 1
2001 3 4
2000 3 1
1999 1 0
1998 1 0
1997 and prior 1 0
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (1) $ 6
Reserves as originally estimated $ 224 $ 89
Reserves re-estimated as of December 31, 2004 225 83
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (1) $ 6
Impact on loss and loss expense ratio (0.02)% 2.2%
As of December 31, 2003
Accident year:
2002 $ (8) $ 2
2001 (4) 5
2000 0 0
1999 2 1
1998 0 0
1997 1 0
1996 and prior 0 0
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (9 $ 8
Reserves as originally estimated $ 201 $ 96
Reserves re-estimated as of December 31, 2003 210 88
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ (9) $ 8
Impact on loss and loss expense ratio (2.1)% 3.1%
As of December 31, 2002
Accident year:
2001 $ 11 $ (D)
2000 ) 2
1999 3 0
1998 4 1
1997 1 0
1996 0 0
1995 and prior 1 0
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ 19 $ 2
Reserves as originally estimated $ 210 $ 81
Reserves re-estimated as of December 31, 2002 191 79
Redundancy/(deficiency) $ 19 $ 2
Impact on loss and loss expense ratio 5.0% 1.1%

The overall favorable development recorded in the personal lines segment reserves illustrates the potential for revisions inherent in estimating

reserves. Personal lines reserve development over the past three years was consistent with:
« Settlements that differed from the established case reserves

« Changes in case reserves based on new information for specific claims or classes of claims

- Differences in the timing of actual settlements compared with the payout patterns assumed in the accident year IBNR reductions

Life Insurance Segment Reserves

The company regularly reviews its life insurance business to ensure that any deferred acquisition cost associated with the business is
recoverable and that its actuarial liabilities (life insurance segment reserves) make sufficient provision for future benefits and related expenses.

In 2004, deferred acquisition costs were written-off and reserves were
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restated for certain second-to-die policies following a period of losses in this line. In calculating the revised liabilities, the assumed investment
yield was reduced to reflect current economic conditions and the termination rate was adjusted in line with actual experience and reinsurance
ceded was calculated directly for each life insurance product, rather than averaging reinsurance costs over several product areas.

LonG- AND SHORT-TERM DEBT
At December 31, 2004, long-term debt was $791 million compared with $420 million at December 31, 2003.

The company issued $375 million aggregate principal amount of 6.125% senior notes due 2034 on November 1, 2004. The $368 million net
proceeds from the offering:

e Paid off $183 million in short-term debt. A portion of the short-term debt was paid prior to the senior note offering using funds borrowed
from the property casualty subsidiary. Proceeds from the offering were used to pay-off that inter-company loan in addition to paying off the
outstanding balance on the lines of credit.

« Wil finance the construction of an estimated $100 million office building and parking garage to be situated at the headquarters located in
Fairfield beginning in 2005, as announced in August 2004.

« Are available for general corporate purposes.

The company currently is working to commence an exchange offer with respect to the 6.125% senior notes issued in 2004 under the
registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the offering of these notes. Management believes it will meet the timetable for
completion of the exchange offer specified in the registration rights agreement. The interest rate of the notes will increase if the company does
not comply with certain obligations under the registration rights agreement.

In addition, the company has $420 million aggregate principal amount of 6.9% senior debentures due 2028. Neither note is encumbered by
rating triggers. The company has minimized its reliance on debt financing although it utilizes lines of credit to fund short-term cash needs.

As of March 4, 2005, the company’s senior debt was rated aa- by A.M. Best Co., A+ by Fitch Ratings, A2 by Moody'’s Investors Services and A
by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services. During 2004, A.M. Best and Standard & Poor’s changed their credit ratings for the senior debt due to
their firms’ respective notching strategies. Notching is a rating organization standard that places an insurer’s credit rating generally two or three
levels below its insurer financial strength rating (see Item 1, Financial Strength Ratings, Page 7, for discussion of the company’s insurer
financial strength ratings). Notching recognizes that in the event of financial problems, obligations to policyholders would be paid before
obligations to creditors. A.M. Best and Standard & Poor’s moved the senior debt credit ratings closer to their standard notching, although
Standard & Poor’'s commented that CFC'’s rating still was one level higher than is typical because of “the large pool of marketable securities at
the holding company.”

During 2004, the company paid-off $183 million of short-term debt. At year-end 2004, the company had one line of credit totaling $75 million
with no outstanding balance. There are no financial covenants on the line of credit.

During 2004, the company terminated an interest-rate swap entered into by CFC Investment Company in 2001 as a cash hedge of variable
interest payments for certain variable-rate debt obligations ($31 million notional amount) to better match fixed rate lease assets with liabilities
having a fixed financing rate. Under this interest-rate swap contract, the company agreed to pay a fixed rate of interest for a seven-year period.
The contract was considered to be a hedge against changes in the amount of future cash flows associated with the related interest payments.
When the company paid-off the underlying debt, it terminated this agreement at a cost of $2 million, net of tax.

Interest expense on the company’s short- and long-term debt was $38 million (pretax), or 14 cents per share (after tax), in 2004, which
excludes interest expense on inter-company debt. Assuming the company had issued the 6.125% senior notes on January 1, 2004, and used
the proceeds as indicated, management estimates interest expense would have been $52 million (pretax), or 20 cents per share (after tax), in
2004.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
The company had no off-balance sheet arrangements (defined for purposes of applicable SEC rules) at year-end 2004.
Liquidity and Capital Resources Outlook

Management anticipates investing approximately $15 million in key technology initiatives in 2005, primarily for its claims management and
commercial lines policy processing systems (see Item 1, Property Casualty Insurance Operations, Page 1, for discussion of the technology
initiatives underway). Capitalized development costs related to key technology initiatives totaled $14 million in 2004. These activities are
conducted at management’s discretion and no material contractual obligations exist for activities planned as part of these projects. In addition,
material commitments for computer hardware and software, including maintenance contracts on hardware and other known obligations, are
expected to require approximately $13 million over the next five years.

The construction of an office building and parking garage to be situated at the headquarters located in Fairfield is expected to require
approximately $100 million over a four-year period. On January 6, 2005, the company entered into a cost-plus contract with Messer
Construction Co. for design-build services in connection with the project. The company
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currently is working with Messer on design modifications that will be used to determine the final project cost. Construction preparation began in
the first quarter of 2005 with completion estimated by September 2008.

At December 31, 2004, the company estimated its future contractual obligations as follows:

Payment due by period

Within Years Years More than
(In_millions) 1 year 2-3 4-5 5 years Total
Contractual obligations:
Net property casualty loss and loss expense reserves $ 1,013 $ 1,077 $ 428 $ 459 $ 2,977
Net life loss expense reserves 7 0 0 0 7
Headquarters building expansion 21 53 26 0 100
Computer hardware and software 7 5 1 1 14
Annuitization obligations 23 74 50 36 183
Long-term debt 0 0 0 795 795
Interest on long-term debt 52 104 104 1,099 1,359
Other invested assets 2 4 1 0 7
Total $ 1,125 $ 1,317 $ 610 $ 2,390 $ 5,442

Estimated material commitments for net property casualty loss and loss expense reserves represented approximately 55 percent of the
estimated contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004. The company directs its staff to settle claims and pay losses as quickly as practical
and made $1.621 billion in net claim payments during 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the company had net property casualty reserves of
$2.977 billion, reflecting $1.522 billion in unpaid amounts on reported claims (case reserves), $634 million in loss expense reserves and

$821 million in estimates of IBNR claims. The specific amounts and timing of obligations related to case reserves and related loss expenses
are not set contractually. The amounts and timing of obligations for IBNR claims and related loss expenses are unknown.

Nonetheless, based on cumulative property casualty claims paid over the last ten years, the company anticipates that approximately 34 percent
of property casualty reserves will be paid within one year, an additional 36 percent between one and three years, 14 percent between three and
five years, and 16 percent in more than five years. While management believes that historical performance of loss payment patterns is a
reasonable source for projecting future claims payments, there is inherent uncertainty in this estimate of contractual obligations.

The historic pattern of using premium receipts for the payment of loss and loss expenses has enabled the company to extend slightly the
maturities of the investment portfolio beyond the estimated settlement date of the loss reserves. The effective duration to maturity of the
company'’s fixed-income portfolio was 6.9 years at December 31, 2004. By contrast, at December 31, 2004, the duration of the company’s loss
and loss expense reserves was 3.0 years and the duration of all liabilities was 2.7 years. Management believes this difference in duration does
not affect the company’s ability to meet its current obligations because cash flow from operations is sufficient to meet these obligations. In
addition, the company’s investment strategy has led to substantial unrealized gains from holdings in equity securities. These equity holdings
could be liquidated to meet higher than anticipated loss and loss expenses.

Management believes that the insurance subsidiaries maintain sufficient liquidity to pay claims and operating expenses, as well as meet
commitments in the event of unforeseen circumstances such as catastrophe losses, reinsurer insolvencies, changes in the timing of claims
payments, increases in claims severity, reserve deficiencies or inadequate premium rates. Management believes catastrophic events are the
most likely cause of an unexpected rise in claims severity or frequency.

Management believes the effect on future liquidity of these items may be offset by:

* Reinsurance — The company’s property catastrophe reinsurance program mitigates the liquidity risk of an unexpected rise in claims
severity or frequency due to a catastrophic event. The company’s current catastrophe reinsurance treaties provide coverage for gross
losses up to $500 million (see Item 1, Reinsurance, Page 6, for a summary of the company’s reinsurance agreements). Under the terms of
the catastrophe reinsurance treaties, the company retains the first $25 million in losses, 40 percent of the next $20 million in losses and
5 percent of losses from $45 million to $500 million, resulting in a maximum cash outlay of $56 million for gross losses up to $500 million.
The company’s reinsurance treaties are with highly rated firms with which the company has done business for a number of years.
Reinsurance does not relieve the company of its obligation to pay covered claims. The financial strength of the company’s reinsurers is
important because the company’s ability to recover for losses under one of the reinsurance agreements depends on the financial viability of
the reinsurer.

*  Financial strength — As discussed above, the company anticipates that approximately 34 percent of property casualty insurance reserves
will be paid within one year, an additional 36 percent between one and three years, 14 percent between three and five years, and
16 percent in more than five years. These timings are based on cumulative property casualty claims paid over the last 10 years. While
management believes that historical

2004 10-K Page 61




Table of Contents

performance of loss payment patterns is a reasonable source for projecting future claims payments, there is inherent uncertainty in this
estimate of contractual obligations. Management believes that it could meet its obligations under a significant and unexpected change in
the timing of these payments because of the liquidity of the company’s invested assets, strong financial position and access to lines of
credit.

« Financial resources — On August 26, 2004, the company announced that Cincinnati Financial Corporation transferred approximately 31.8
million shares of Fifth Third common stock to The Cincinnati Insurance Company, the property casualty insurance subsidiary. This action
was related to the company’s June 28, 2004, application to the SEC seeking exemptive relief under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
The transfer was authorized by Cincinnati Financial’s board of directors on August 13, 2004, and approved by the Ohio Department of
Insurance on August 24, 2004.

The asset transfer resolved the holding company’s current status under the Investment Company Act. See Item 1, Regulation, Page 15, for
discussion of the risks associated with the application for exemptive relief.

If it were to be determined that the company was an unregistered investment company before the asset transfer, Cincinnati Financial could
be unable to enforce contracts undertaken with third parties during the period that it was an unregistered investment company. Third
parties could seek to rescind transactions undertaken with Cincinnati Financial during that period. As a result, it could be determined that
holders of Cincinnati Financial’s $420 million aggregate principal amount of 6.9% Senior Debentures due 2028 have a right to rescind such
indebtedness, thereby requiring Cincinnati Financial to immediately repay such amounts. However, equitable considerations set forth in the
Investment Company Act could support the company’s right to enforce contracts and could limit or prevent third-parties’ ability to rescind a
transaction. However, Cincinnati Financial currently has available sufficient assets or could access the capital markets to fund such
repayment and believes that its assets are adequate to meet its short- and long-term obligations. In the event the company chose to
access the capital markets, current market conditions would dictate the rate on new debt, which could be higher than the 6.9 percent
currently paid on the debt.

Shareholders’ Equity
OVERVIEW
Total shareholders’ equity was 38.8 percent and 40.0 percent of total assets at year-end 2004 and 2003, respectively.

As a long-term investor, the company has followed a buy-and-hold strategy for more than 40 years. A significant amount of unrealized
appreciation on equity investments has been generated as a result of this policy. Unrealized appreciation on equity investments, before
deferred income taxes, was $5.553 billion and $6.001 billion at year-end 2004 and 2003, respectively. On an after-tax basis, it constituted
57.8 percent of total shareholders’ equity at year-end 2004.

Unrealized gains in the investment portfolio (accumulated other comprehensive income) from long-term appreciation and investment of cash
flows have resulted in year-end 2004 shareholders’ equity of $6.249 billion. Investments at the parent company give management flexibility to
support its capitalization policies for the subsidiaries, improve the ability of the insurance companies to write additional premiums and maintain
high ratings.

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Common stock, paid-in-capital less treasury stock $ 405 $ 134 $ 183
Retained earnings 2,057 1,986 1,772
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,787 4,084 3,643
Total $ 6,249 $ 6,204 $ 5,598

CoMPREHENSIVE INCOME

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the company had realized investment gains before taxes of $147 million,

$81 million and $58 million offset by realized investment losses of $56 million, $122 million and $152 million, respectively. At December 31,
2004, unrealized investment gains before taxes totaled $5.857 billion and unrealized investment losses in the investment portfolio amounted to
$17 million. The unrealized appreciation was primarily due to the company’s holdings in Fifth Third (Nasdaq:FITB) and Alltel Corporation
(NYSE:AT) common stock.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

INTRODUCTION

Market risk is the potential for a decrease in securities value resulting from broad yet uncontrollable forces such as: inflation, economic growth,
interest rates, world political conditions or other widespread unpredictable events. It is comprised of many individual risks that, when combined,
create a macroeconomic impact. The company accepts and manages risks in the investment portfolio as part of the means of achieving
portfolio objectives. Some of the risks are:

« Political — the potential for a decrease in market value due to the real or perceived impact of governmental policies or conditions
« Regulatory — the potential for a decrease in market value due to the impact of legislative proposals or changes in laws or regulations
« Economic — the potential for a decrease in value due to changes in general economic factors (recession, inflation, deflation, etc.)

« Revaluation — the potential for a decrease in market value due to a change in relative value (change in market multiple) of the market
brought on by general economic factors

« Interest-rate — the potential for a decrease in market value of a security or portfolio due to its sensitivity to changes (increases or
decreases) in the general level of interest rates

Company-specific risk is the potential for a particular issuer to experience a decline in valuation due to the impact of sector or market risk on
the holding or because of issues specific to the firm:

« Fraud — the potential for a negative impact on an issuer’s performance due to actual or alleged illegal or improper activity of individuals it
employs

«  Credit — the potential for deterioration in an issuer’s financial profile due to specific company issues, problems it faces in the course of its
operations or industry-related issues

« Default — the possibility that an issuer will not make a required payment (interest payment or return of principal) on its debt. Generally this
occurs after its financial profile has deteriorated (credit risk) and it no longer has the means to make its payments

The investment committee of the board of directors monitors the investment risk management process primarily through its executive oversight
of investment activities. The company takes an active approach to managing market and other investment risks, including the accountabilities
and controls over these activities. Actively managing these market risks is integral to the company’s operations and could require a change in
the character of future investments purchased or sold or require a shift in the existing asset portfolios to manage exposure to market risk within
acceptable ranges. The approach is applied daily by the company’s portfolio managers and analysts to each of the five asset classes in which
the company invests.

Sector risk is the potential for a negative impact on a particular industry due to its sensitivity to factors that make up market risk. Market risk
affects general supply/demand factors for an industry and will affect companies within that industry to varying degrees.

Risks associated with the five asset classes described in Item 1, Investments Segment, Page 13, can be summarized as follows

(H — high, A — average, L — low):

Investment-grade High-yield Tax-exempt Common Convertible

corporate bonds corporate bonds municipal bonds stocks securities
Political A A H A A
Regulatory A A A A A
Economic A H A H H
Revaluation A H A H A
Interest rate H A H A A
Fraud A A L A A
Credit A H L A A
Default L H L A A

FIXED-INCOME SECURITIES

For investment-grade corporate bonds, the inverse relationship between interest rates and bond prices leads to falling bond values during
periods of increasing interest rates. Although the potential for a worsening financial condition, and ultimately default, does exist with
investment-grade corporate bonds, their higher-quality financial profiles make credit risk less of a concern than for lower-quality investments.
The company addresses this risk by consistently investing
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within a particular maturity range, which has, over the years, provided the portfolio with a laddered maturity schedule, which management
believes is less subject to large swings in value due to interest rate changes. While a single maturity range may see values drop due to general
interest rate levels, other maturity ranges will be less affected by those changes. Additionally, purchases are spread across a wide spectrum of
industries and companies, diversifying the company’s holdings and minimizing the impact of specific industries or companies with greater
sensitivities to interest rate fluctuations.

The primary risk related to high-yield corporate bonds is credit risk or the potential for a deteriorating financial structure. A weak financial profile
can lead to rating downgrades from the credit rating agencies, which can put further downward pressure on bond prices. Interest rate risk is
less of a factor with high-yield corporate bonds, as valuation is related more directly to underlying operating performance than to general
interest rates. This puts more emphasis on the financial results achieved by the issuer rather than general economic trends or statistics within
the marketplace. The company addresses this concern by analyzing issuer- and industry-specific financial results and by closely monitoring
holdings within this asset class.

The primary risks related to tax-exempt bonds are interest rate risk and geo-political risk associated with the specific economic environment
within the political boundaries of the issuing municipal entity. The company addresses these concerns by focusing on municipalities’ general-
obligation debt and on essential-service bonds. Essential-service bonds derive a revenue stream from the services provided by the
municipality, which are vital to the people living in the area (schools, water service, sewer service, etc.). Another risk related to tax-exempt
bonds is regulatory risk or the potential for legislative changes that would negate the benefit of owning tax-exempt bonds. The company
monitors regulatory activity for situations that may negatively affect current holdings and its ongoing strategy for investing in these securities.

The final, less significant risk is a small exposure to credit risk for a portion of the tax-exempt portfolio that has support from corporate entities.
Examples are bonds insured by corporate bond insurers or bonds with interest payments made by a corporate entity through a municipal
conduit/authority. While decisions regarding these investments primarily consider the underlying municipal situation, the existence of third-party
insurance reduces risk in the event of default. In circumstances in which the municipality is unable to meet its obligations, risk would be
increased if the insuring entity were experiencing financial duress. Because of the company’s diverse exposure and selection of higher-rated
entities with strong financial profiles, the company does not believe this is a material concern.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

Because of the company’s strong surplus, long-term investment horizon and its ability to hold most fixed-income investments until maturity,
management believes the company is well positioned if interest rates were to rise. A higher rate environment would provide the opportunity to
invest cash flow in higher-yielding securities, while reducing the likelihood of calls of the higher-yielding U.S. agency paper purchased over the
past year. While higher interest rates would be expected to continue to increase the number of fixed-income holdings trading below 100 percent
of book value, management believes lower fixed-income security values due solely to interest rate changes would not signal a decline in credit
quality.

The company is using a dynamic financial planning model developed during 2002 to further incorporate analytical tools in assessing market
risks. Management believes the model is improving the company’s ability to measure the impact on bond values resulting from changes in
interest rates. Improved measurement of the impact of interest rate changes should allow for improved matching of the company’s assets and
liabilities.

The company measures modified duration to both the call date and maturity. The table below summarizes modified duration and shows the
effect of hypothetical changes in interest rates on the market value of the fixed-income portfolio under both modified duration scenarios:

Market value Modified duration to maturity Modified duration to call
of fixed 100 basis 100 basis 100 basis 100 basis
income bond point spread point spread point spread point spread
(In millions) portfolio decrease increase decrease increase
At December 31, 2004 $ 5,141 $ 5,516 $ 4,766 $ 5,397 $ 4,885
At December 31, 2003 $ 4,232 $ 4,553 $ 3,912 $ 4,458 $ 4,007

The duration to maturity of the company’s bond portfolio is currently 6.9 years and the duration to maturity of the redeemable preferred portfolio
is currently 8.9 years. A 100 basis-point movement in interest rates would result in an approximately 7.3 percent change in the market value of
the combined portfolios. Generally speaking, the higher a bond’s rating, the more directly correlated movements in its market value will be to
changes in the general level of interest rates. Therefore, the municipal bond portfolio is more likely to respond to a changing interest rate
scenario. The company’s U.S. agency paper portfolio, because it generally has very little call protection, has a low duration and would not be
expected to be as responsive to rate movements. Lower investment grade and high-yield corporate bond values are driven by credit spreads,
as well as their durations, in response to interest rate movements.
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In the dynamic financial planning model, the selected interest rate change of 100 basis points represents management's views of a shift in
rates that is quite possible over a one-year period. The rates modeled should not be considered a prediction of future events as interest rates
may be much more volatile in the future. The analysis is not intended to provide a precise forecast of the effect of changes in rates on the
company'’s results or financial condition, nor does it take into account any actions that might be taken to reduce exposure to such risks.

EoquiTy AND EQUITY-LINKED SECURITIES

Common stocks are subject to a variety of risk factors encompassed under the umbrella of market risk. General economic swings influence the
performance of the underlying industries and companies within those industries. A downturn in the economy will have a negative impact on an
equity portfolio. Industry- and company-specific risks have the potential to substantially affect the market value of the company’s equity
portfolio. The company addresses these risks by maintaining investments in a small group of holdings that management can analyze closely,
better understanding their business and the related risk factors.

At December 31, 2004, the company held 14 individual equity positions valued at approximately $100 million or above, see Item 1, Investments
Segment, Page 13, for additional details on these holdings. These equity positions accounted for approximately 91.5 percent of the unrealized
appreciation of the entire portfolio.

Management believes the company’s equity investment style — centered on companies that pay and increase dividends to shareholders —is an
appropriate long-term strategy. While the company’s long-term financial position would be affected by prolonged changes in the market
valuation of its investments, management believes the company’s strong surplus position and cash flow provide it with a cushion against short-
term fluctuations in valuation. The company believes that the continued payment of cash dividends by the issuers of the common equities held
by the company also should provide a floor to their valuation.

The company’s investments are heavily weighted toward the financials sector, which represented 65.9 percent of the total market value of the
common stock portfolio at December 31, 2004. Financials sector investments typically underperform the overall market during periods when
interest rates are expected to rise. Management historically has seen these types of short-term fluctuations in market value of its holdings as
potential buying opportunities but is cognizant that a prolonged downturn in this sector could create a long-term negative effect on the portfolio.

While past performance cannot guarantee future returns, over the longer term, the performance of the company’s equity portfolio has exceeded
that of the broader market, achieving a compound annual total return of 3.2 percent for the five years ended December 31, 2004, compared
with a compound annual decline of 2.3 percent for the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, a common benchmark of market performance. In 2004,
the equity portfolio underperformed the market, with a total return of a negative 1.9 percent, compared with the Standard & Poor’s 500’s return
of 10.9 percent, primarily because of market value fluctuations in its common stock holdings of Fifth Third.

The primary risk related to convertible securities is similar to other corporate fixed-income securities in terms of their sensitivity to interest rates,
credit risk and default risk. The better the financial condition of the underlying issuer, the lower the credit risk. However, the pricing of
convertible securities is more likely to be driven by the relationship of the underlying common stock price to the strike price of the embedded
option. If the underlying stock price is well below the strike price, the convertible security will trade more like a pure fixed-income instrument
and be more interest rate sensitive. However, as the underlying stock approaches the option strike price, the convertible will be less interest
rate sensitive and more responsive to movements in the stock.

Fifth Third Bancorp Holding

The company held 72.8 million shares of Fifth Third common stock at a cost of $283 million at December 31, 2004. The market value of the
company'’s Fifth Third position was $3.443 billion at year-end 2004, or 46.1 percent of the company’s total common equity portfolio, compared
with $4.301 billion, or 52.7 percent, at year-end 2003. The after-tax unrealized gain represented by the company’s Fifth Third position was
$2.054 billion, or 54.1 percent of the company’s total after-tax unrealized gains at year-end 2004, compared with $2.612 billion, or 63.8 percent,
at year-end 2003. The Fifth Third position represented $12.28 of the company'’s total book value of $37.38 per share at year-end 2004,
compared with $15.51 at year-end 2003. Every $1.00 change in the market price of Fifth Third’s common stock has approximately a 28 cent
impact on book value per share. A 20 percent ($9.46) change in the market price of Fifth Third’'s common stock, which was $47.30 at
December 31, 2004, would result in a $689 million change in assets and a $448 million change in after-tax unrealized gains. This would affect
shareholders’ equity by 7.2 percent and book value by $2.68 per share.

Fifth Third’s value over the past two years was affected by uncertainty surrounding a regulatory review that was concluded in early 2004. Fifth
Third continues to meet Cincinnati Financial's investing criteria. Cincinnati Financial management and the investment committee of the board of
directors review the Fifth Third holding on a continual basis.
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UNREALIZED INVESTMENT GAINS AND LOssEs

At December 31, 2004, unrealized investment gains before taxes totaled $5.857 billion and unrealized investment losses in the investment
portfolio amounted to $17 million.

Unrealized Investment Gains

The unrealized gains at year-end 2004 were primarily due to long-term gains from the company’s holdings in the common stock of Fifth Third
(Nasdaq: FITB) and Alltel Corporation (NYSE:AT). Reflecting the company’s long-term investment philosophy, of the 1,385 securities trading at
or above book value, 761, or 54.9 percent, have shown unrealized gains for more than 24 months.

Unrealized Investment Losses - Potential Other-than-temporary Impairments

The asset impairment policy evaluates significant decreases in the market value of the assets; changes in legal factors or in the business
climate; or other such factors indicating whether or not the carrying amount may be recoverable. A declining trend in market value, the extent of
the market value decline and the length of time in which the value has been depressed are objective measures that can be outweighed by
subjective measures such as impending events and issuer liquidity. Impairment is evaluated in the event of a declining market value for four
consecutive quarters with quarter-end market value below 50 percent of book value or a market value 50 percent below book value for three
consecutive quarters. In addition to applying the impairment policy, the status of the portfolio is constantly monitored by the company’s portfolio
managers for indications of potential problems or issues that may be possible impairment issues. If an impairment indicator is noted, the
portfolio managers even more closely scrutinize the security.

The number of securities trading below 100 percent of book value at December 31, 2004, was above the number at December 31, 2003. The
number of securities trading below 100 percent of book value can be expected to fluctuate as interest rates rise or fall. In addition, the portfolio
benefited from continued improvements in the credit quality of the bond portfolio, as rated by Standard & Poor’s and Moody'’s. Further, book
values for some securities have been revised due to impairment charges recognized during 2003 and 2002. During 2004, four securities were
written down as other-than-temporarily impaired.

A total of 208 holdings were trading below book value at December 31, 2004, representing 7.0 percent of invested assets and $17 million in
unrealized losses. Management deems the risk related to securities trading between 70 percent and 100 percent of book value to be relatively
minor and at least partially offset by the earned income potential of these investments.

» Two hundred of these holdings were trading between 90 percent and 100 percent of book value at December 31, 2004. The value of these
securities fluctuates primarily because of changes in interest rates. The market value of these 200 securities was $856 million at
December 31, 2004, and they accounted for $11 million in unrealized losses.

« Eight of these holdings were trading below 90 percent of book value at December 31, 2004. The market value of these holdings was
$27 million at December 31, 2004, and they accounted for the remaining $6 million in unrealized losses. These holdings are being monitored
for credit- and industry-related risk factors. Of these securities, three are airline-related.

Holdings trading below 70 percent of book value are monitored for potential other-than-temporary impairment. At December 31, 2004, no
holdings were trading below 70 percent of book value. At year-end 2003, two securities with a combined book value of $70 thousand were
trading below 70 percent of book value.

As discussed in Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates, Asset Impairment, Page 27, when evaluating other-than-temporary impairments,
management considers the company’s ability to retain a security for a period adequate to recover a substantial portion of its cost. Because of
the company’s investment philosophy and strong capitalization, it can hold securities until their scheduled redemption that might otherwise be
deemed impaired as management evaluates their potential for recovery based economic, industry or company factors.

While management does not forecast realized investment gains and losses, it believes that impairment charges in 2005 will be minimal. Every
security in the portfolio was trading at or above 75 percent of book value at December 31, 2004. Management believes impairments should be
limited to securities marked to market because they have been identified for sale, or those where issuer-specific events cause sharp declines in
market value with little or no warning.

2004 10-K Page 66




Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the portfolio by period of time:

(Dollars in millions)

6 Months or less

> 6 - 12 Months

> 12 - 24 Months

> 24 - 36 Months

Gross Gross Gross Gross
Number of  unrealized Number of  unrealized Number of unrealized Number of unrealized
issues gain/loss issues gain/loss issues gain/loss issues gain/loss
Investment-grade corporate bonds:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100%
of book value 34 0 31 (4) 3 (2) 0 0
Trading at 100% and above of
book value 112 8 9 1 56 14 274 111
Total 146 $ 8 40 $ 3) 59 $ 13 274 111
High-yield corporate bonds:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100%
of book value 3 0 1 0 5 (2) 3 0
Trading at 100% and above of
book value 26 3 7 1 57 21 31 7
Total 29 $ 3 8 $ 1 62 $ 19 34 7
Tax-exempt municipal bonds:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100%
of book value 73 (2) 32 (2) 5 (2) 3 0
Trading at 100% and above of
book value 224 8 30 2 37 7 407 59
Total 297 $ 7 62 $ 1 42 $ 6 410 59
Convertible securities:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100%
of book value 2 0 3 1) 1 0 3 1)
Trading at 100% and above of
book value 15 4 7 4 23 22 24 32
Total 17 $ 4 10 $ 3 24 $ 22 27 31
Common stocks:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100%
of book value 4 4) 1 0 1 (2) 0 0
Trading at 100% and above of
book value 6 1 1 6 14 56 25 5,490
Total 10 $ 3) 2 $ 6 15 $ 55 25 5,490
Summary:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 $ 0 0 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100%
of book value 116 5) 68 (6) 15 (5) 9 1)
Trading at 100% and above of
book value 383 24 54 14 187 120 761 5,699
Total 499 $ 19 122 $ 8 202 $ 115 770 5,698
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The following table summarizes the portfolio:

(Dollars in millions) Gross Gross
Number unrealized investment
of issues Book value Market value gain/loss income

At December 31, 2004

Investment-grade corporate bonds:

Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 68 478 474 4) 17
Trading at 100% and above of book value 451 2,062 2,196 134 110
Securities sold in current year — — — — 11
Total 519 $ 2,540 $ 2,670 $ 130 $ 138
High-yield corporate bonds:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 12 24 22 2) 2
Trading at 100% and above of book value 121 300 333 33 26
Securities sold in current year — — — — 12
Total 133 $ 324 $ 355 $ 31 $ 40
Tax-exempt municipal bonds:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 113 257 253 4) 4
Trading at 100% and above of book value 698 1,365 1,441 76 61
Securities sold in current year — — — — 3
Total 811 $ 1,622 $ 1,694 $ 72 $ 68
Convertible securities:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 9 58 56 2) 3
Trading at 100% and above of book value 69 337 399 62 21
Securities sold in current year — — — — 5
Total 78 $ 395 $ 455 $ 60 $ 29
Common stocks:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 6 83 78 (5) 6
Trading at 100% and above of book value 46 1,835 7,387 5,552 209
Securities sold in current year — — — — 1
Total 52 $ 1,918 $ 7,465 $ 5,547 $ 216
Portfolio summary:
Trading below 70% of book value 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 208 900 883 (17) 32
Trading at 100% and above of book value 1,385 5,899 11,756 5,857 427
Securities sold in current year — — — — 32

Total 1,593 $ 6,799 $ 12,639 $ 5,840 $ 491

At December 31, 2003

Portfolio summary:

Trading below 70% of book value 2 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Trading at 70% to less than 100% of book value 116 672 648 (24) 25
Trading at 100% and above of book value 1,286 5,484 11,801 6,317 402
Securities sold in current year — — — — 35
Total 1,404 $ 6,156 $ 12,449 $ 6,293 $ 462
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cincinnati Financial Corporation and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31,
2004, were prepared by management in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

The management of the company is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements, which are presented on an accrual
basis of accounting and include amounts based upon management’s best estimates and judgment. Other financial information in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K is consistent in all material respects with that in the financial statements. The accounting system and related internal
controls are designed to assure that the books and records reflect the transactions of the company in accordance with established policies and
procedures as implemented by qualified personnel.

The board of directors has established an audit committee composed of independent outside directors who are believed to be free from any
relationship that could interfere with the exercise of independent judgment as audit committee members.

The audit committee meets periodically with management, the independent registered public accounting firms and the internal auditors to make
inquiries as to the manner in which the responsibilities of each are being discharged and reports thereon to the board of directors. In addition,
the audit committee recommends to the board of directors the annual appointment of the independent registered public accounting firms with
whom the audit committee reviews the scope of the audit assignment, adequacy of internal controls and internal audit procedures.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cincinnati Financial Corporation and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2004, and their report is included herein. The auditors meet
with members of the audit committee of the board of directors to discuss the results of their examination and are afforded the opportunity to
present their opinions in the absence of management personnel with respect to the adequacy of internal controls and the quality of financial
reporting of the company.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL ConTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Cincinnati Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
controls, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company;

2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
GAAP and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the
directors of the company; and

3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention of overriding controls. Accordingly, even effective internal control can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control may vary over time.

The company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, as
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002. Management's assessment is based on the criteria established in the Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and was designed to
provide reasonable assurance that the company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. The
assessment led management to conclude that, as of December 31, 2004, the company'’s internal control over financial reporting is effective
based on those criteria.

The company’s independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, and the company’s management assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. This report appears below.

/S/ John J. Schiff, Jr.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/S/ Kenneth W. Stecher
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 4, 2005
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REePORT oF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PuBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Cincinnati Financial Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cincinnati Financial Corporation and subsidiaries (the company) as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a)2. We
also have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting report, that the company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria
established in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
The company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedules, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedules, an opinion on management’s assessment, and an opinion
on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. A company'’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
company as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion,
such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein. Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment that the company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Furthermore, in
our opinion, the company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

/S/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
March 4, 2005

2004 10-K Page 71




Table of Contents

CiNcINNATI FINanciaL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CoNsoLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Years ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions except per share data) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Investments
Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost: 2004—$4,854; 2003—$3,940) $ 5,141 $ 4,232
Equity securities, at fair value (cost: 2004—$1,945; 2003—$2,216) 7,498 8,217
Other invested assets 38 36
Cash 306 91
Investment income receivable 107 99
Finance receivable 95 81
Premiums receivable 1,119 1,060
Reinsurance receivable 680 623
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 15 13
Deferred policy acquisition costs 400 372
Property and equipment, net, for company use (accumulated depreciation: 2004—$206; 2003—$181) 156 153
Other assets 75 69
Separate accounts 477 463
Total assets $16,107 $15,509
LIABILITIES
Insurance reserves
Loss and loss expense reserves $ 3,549 $ 3,415
Life policy reserves 1,194 1,025
Unearned premiums 1,539 1,446
Other liabilities 474 404
Deferred income tax 1,834 1,949
Notes payable 0 183
6.125% senior notes due 2034 371 0
6.9% senior debentures due 2028 420 420
Separate accounts 477 463
Total liabilities 9,858 9,305

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, par value—$2 per share; authorized 200 million shares; issued: 2004—185 million shares, 2003

—176 million shares 370 352
Paid-in capital 618 306
Retained earnings 2,057 1,986
Accumulated other comprehensive income—unrealized gains on investments 3,787 4,084
Treasury stock at cost (2004—18 million shares, 2003—16 million shares) (583) (524)

Total shareholders’ equity 6,249 6,204

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $16,107 $15,509

Accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CincINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years ended December 31,

(In millions except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
REVENUES
Earned premiums
Property casualty $ 2,919 $ 2,653 $ 2,391
Life 101 95 87
Investment income, net of expenses 492 465 445
Realized investment gains and losses 91 (41) (94)
Other income 11 9 14
Total revenues 3,614 3,181 2,843
BENEFITS AND EXPENSES
Insurance losses and policyholder benefits 1,846 1,887 1,826
Commissions 615 536 472
Other operating expenses 260 204 202
Taxes, licenses and fees 75 67 80
Increase in deferred policy acquisition costs (30) (42) (57)
Interest expense 38 34 35
Other expenses 10 15 6
Total benefits and expenses 2,814 2,701 2,564
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 800 480 279
PROVISION (BENEFIT) FOR INCOME TAXES
Current 171 130 53
Deferred 45 (24) (12)
Total provision for income taxes 216 106 41
NET INCOME $ 584 $ 374 $ 238
PER COMMON SHARE
Net income—basic $ 347 $ 222 $ 140
Net income—diluted $ 3.4 $ 220 $ 1.39

Accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CincINNATI FINancIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EqQuiTy

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
COMMON STOCK — NUMBER OF SHARES
Beginning of year 160 162 162
5% stock dividend 8 0 0
Stock options exercised 0 0 1
Purchase of treasury shares (1) (2) (1)
End of year 167 160 162
COMMON STOCK
Beginning of year $ 352 $ 352 $ 350
5% stock dividend 18 0 0
Stock options exercised 0 0 1
Conversion of debentures 0 0 1
End of year 370 352 352
TREASURY STOCK
Beginning of year (524) (469) (427)
Purchase (66) (55) (42)
Reissued for stock options 7 0 0
End of year (583) (524) (469)
PAID-IN CAPITAL
Beginning of year 306 300 284
5% stock dividend 312 0 0
Stock loan 3) 0 0
Stock options exercised 3 6 11
Conversion of debentures 0 0 5
End of year 618 306 300
RETAINED EARNINGS
Beginning of year 1,986 1,772 1,678
Net income 584 374 238
5% stock dividend (330) 0 0
Dividends declared (183) (160) (144)
End of year 2,057 1,986 1,772
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Beginning of year 4,084 3,643 4,113
Change in other accumulated comprehensive income, net (297) 441 (470)
End of year 3,787 4,084 3,643
Total shareholders’ equity $ 6,249 $ 6,204 $ 5,598
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net income $ 584 $ 374 $ 238
Change in other accumulated comprehensive income, net (297) 441 (470)
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 287 $ 815 $ (232

Accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CincINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CoNsoLIDATED STATEMENTS oF CasH FLows

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 584 $ 374 $ 238
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 28 30 22
Realized (gains) losses on investments (92) 41 94
Negotiated settlement-software cost recovery 0 (23) 0
Interest credited to contract holders 24 23 21
Changes in:
Investment income receivable (8) 1) 4
Premiums and reinsurance receivable (118) 97) (274)
Deferred policy acquisition costs (30) (42) (57)
Other assets (13) 17 3
Loss and loss expense reserves 134 239 289
Life policy reserves 109 75 64
Unearned premiums 93 127 256
Other liabilities 83 14 62
Deferred income tax 45 (24) (12)
Current income tax (17) 63 (35)
Net cash provided by operating activities 823 816 667
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sale of fixed maturities investments 175 192 86
Call or maturity of fixed maturities investments 709 460 266
Sale of equity securities investments 536 217 109
Collection of finance receivables 32 25 24
Purchase of fixed maturities investments (1,834) (1,143) (651)
Purchase of equity securities investments (148) (335) (310)
Investment in property and equipment (33) (38) (27)
Investment in finance receivables (46) (33) (33)
Collection of negotiated settlement-software cost recovery 9 14 0
Investment in other invested assets (1) (1) (1)
Net cash used in investing activities (601) (642) (537)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from 6.125% senior notes 371 0 0
Debt issuance costs from 6.125% senior notes (4) 0 0
Payment of cash dividends to shareholders (177) (156) (142)
Purchasel/issuance of treasury shares (59) (55) (42)
Decrease in notes payable (183) 0 0
Proceeds from stock options exercised 3 6 10
Contract holder funds deposited 93 45 126
Contract holder funds withdrawn (51) (35) (18)
Net cash used in financing activities (7) (195) (66)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 215 (22) 64
Cash at beginning of year 91 112 48
Cash at end of year $ 306 $ 91 $ 112
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 34 $ 34 $ 35
Income taxes paid 188 65 87
Conversion of 5.5% senior debentures to common stock 0 0 6
Conversion of fixed maturity to equity security investments 23 51 39

Accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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NoTes To CoNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Cincinnati Financial Corporation (company) underwrites insurance through four insurance companies that market through a network of local
independent insurance agents. Insurance products include a broad range of business and personal policies, as well as life and disability
income insurance and annuities. In addition, the company provides finance/leasing and asset management services through its CFC
Investment Company and CinFin Capital Management Company subsidiaries.

BAsis oF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company and subsidiaries, each of which is wholly owned, and are presented
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

ProrPeRTY CASUALTY INSURANCE

Expenses incurred in the issuance of policies are deferred and amortized over the terms of the policies. These expenses vary with and
primarily relate to acquiring insurance business, principally agents’ commissions, premium taxes and certain underwriting costs. Anticipated
investment income is not considered in determining if a premium deficiency related to insurance contracts exists. Policy premiums are deferred
and earned on a pro rata basis over the terms of the policies. The portion of written premiums applicable to the unexpired terms of the policies
is recorded as unearned premiums. Loss and loss expense reserves are based on claims reported prior to the end of the year and estimates of
unreported claims net of estimates for salvage and subrogation reserves, based upon facts for each claim and the company’s experience with
similar claims. The establishment of appropriate reserves, including reserves for catastrophes, is an inherently uncertain process. Reserve
estimates are regularly reviewed and updated, using the most current information available. Any resulting adjustments are reflected in current
operations.

The Cincinnati Insurance Companies market property casualty insurance policies in 31 states. Nine states with at least $100 million in agency
earned premium in 2004 generated approximately 69 percent and 70 percent of total property casualty premiums in 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Ohio, where the company has 187 independent agencies, accounted for 23.7 percent and 24.6 percent of total earned premiums
in 2004 and 2003. Agencies in Georgia, lllinois, Indiana, Michigan, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Virginia and Wisconsin each contributed
between 4 percent and 10 percent of premium volume in 2004 and 2003. No single agency accounted for more than 1.1 percent of the
company’s total agency direct earned premiums.

LiFe INSURANCE

Traditional products require the policyholder to pay scheduled premiums over the life of the coverage. The company recognizes premiums
received on traditional products as revenue when due.

Limited-pay products require the policyholder to pay scheduled premiums up front on coverage that is provided for an extended period. Limited-
pay products include single-premium deferred annuities or life insurance policies with a limited premium-paying period. The company defers
the amount of premium in excess of the amount necessary to provide for all benefits and expenses and recognizes it over the life of the
coverage, using the gross profit method. Universal life products include those that allow policyholders to vary premiums at their discretion or
provide benefits or permit charges that are not fixed according to the terms of the policy. Premiums for universal life products are not
recognized as revenue when received. The company recognizes cost of insurance charges, administration charges and surrender charges as
revenue when earned using the gross profit method.

Reserves for traditional products are based on expected expenses, mortality, withdrawal rates and investment yields, including provision for
adverse deviation. Once these assumptions are established, they generally are maintained throughout the lives of the contracts. Expected
mortality is derived primarily from industry experience and withdrawal rates are based on company and industry experience, while investment
yield is based on company experience and the economic conditions then in effect.

Reserves for universal life products are equal to the cumulative account balances, which include premium deposits plus credited interest, less
charges such as mortality and administration, and withdrawals. Interest rates on approximately $612 million and $530 million of such reserves
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are periodically adjusted subject to economic conditions then in effect and subject to
contractually guaranteed minimum rates.

Expenses incurred in the issuance of traditional life insurance products, which include whole life and term life insurance contracts, are deferred
and amortized as premiums are earned. Expenses incurred in the issuance of interest-sensitive products are deferred and amortized using the
gross profit method, adjusted for emerging experience and expected trends.

2004 10-K Page 76




Table of Contents

AccipeENT HEALTH INSURANCE

Expenses incurred in the issuance of policies are deferred and amortized in level proportion to earned premiums over the contract term. Policy
premium income, unearned premiums and reserves for unpaid losses are accounted for in substantially the same manner as property casualty
insurance items discussed above.

LEeAsSe/FINANCE

CFC Investment Company provides auto and equipment direct financing (leases and loans) to commercial and individual clients. Generally,
lease contracts transfer ownership of the property to the lessees at the end of the lease terms and contain bargain purchase options. Income is
recognized over the financing term using the interest method. Identified initial direct costs associated with the origination of a lease or loan are
capitalized and amortized, using the interest method, over the life of the financing. These costs include, but are not limited to: finder fees,
broker fees, filing fees and the cost of credit reports.

AsseT MANAGEMENT

Billings are based on a fee structure calculated upon the market values of the assets at the end of the period. Revenues are recognized as fees
are earned. As of December 31, 2004, CinFin Capital had 60 institutional, corporate and individual clients and $827 million under management,
compared with 53 clients and $762 million at December 31, 2003.

REINSURANCE

In the normal course of business, the company seeks to reduce losses that may arise from catastrophes or other events that cause unfavorable
underwriting results by reinsuring certain levels of risk in various areas of exposure with other insurance companies and reinsurers.
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the company from any obligation to policyholders. Although the company historically has not experienced
uncollectible reinsurance recoverables, failure of reinsurers to honor their obligations could result in losses to the company. Amounts
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy.

The company also assumes some reinsurance from other insurance companies, reinsurers and involuntary state pools. Such assumed
reinsurance activity is recorded principally on the basis of reports received from the ceding companies.

INVESTMENTS

Fixed maturities (bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stocks) and equity securities (common and non-redeemable preferred stocks) are
classified as available for sale and are stated at fair values.

Unrealized gains and losses on investments, net of taxes, are included in shareholders’ equity in accumulated other comprehensive income.
Realized gains and losses on investments are recognized in net income on a specific identification basis.

Investment income consists primarily of interest and dividends. Interest is recognized on an accrual basis and dividends are recorded at the ex-
dividend date. The interest method is used for amortizing premiums and discounts on fixed-maturity securities.

Other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of investments are recognized in net income as realized investment losses at the time when
facts and circumstances indicate such write-downs are warranted.

DEerIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The company invests in certain financial instruments, such as convertible debt and convertible preferred stock, that contain embedded options.
The embedded options are valued and accounted for separately. The company also entered into an interest rate swap agreement as a cash
flow hedge during 2001 in order to lock in an interest rate related to certain of its variable rate debt obligations ($31 million notional amount).
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended, requires changes in the fair value of the company’s derivative financial instruments to be recognized periodically in income or
shareholders’ equity (as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income), respectively. During 2004, the interest rate swap was
terminated in connection with the repayment of the underlying debt obligation. Neither the adoption of SFAS No. 133 nor any subsequent
changes in fair values of these instruments have had a significant impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

FAIR VALUE DiscLOSURES

Fair values for investments in equity and fixed-maturity securities (including redeemable preferred stock and assets held in separate accounts)
are based on either quoted market prices or data provided by an outside resource that supplies global securities pricing.

The fair values for liabilities under investment-type insurance contracts (annuities) are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations,
based on interest rates currently being offered for similar contracts with maturities consistent with those remaining for the contracts being
valued. Fair values for short-term notes payable are estimated using interest rates currently available to the company. Fair values for long-term
debentures are based on the quoted market prices for such debentures.
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PRroPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. The company provides depreciation based on estimated useful
lives (ranging from three years to 39 1/2 years) using straight-line and accelerated methods. Depreciation expense recorded in 2004, 2003 and
2002 was $30 million, $31 million and $28 million, respectively. The company reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances, such as significant decreases in market values of assets, changes in legal factors or in the business climate, an
accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected to acquire or construct an asset, or other such factors indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The company capitalizes costs related to computer software developed internally during the application development stage of software
development projects. These costs generally consist of certain external, payroll and payroll-related costs. During 2000, the company wrote off
$39 million of previously capitalized costs related to the development of next-generation software to process property casualty policies. The
write-off was included in other operating expenses in 2000. Management conducted a review of the project, including an assessment by an
independent firm, and determined, after several deliverable dates were missed, that the project desigh would not perform as originally intended.
The decision required that the application software under development be abandoned and a new application purchased. As a result of a
settlement negotiated with a vendor, 2003 pretax results included the recovery of $23 million of the $39 million charge.

FepErRAL INCOME TAXES

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are computed using the tax rates in effect for the time when temporary differences in book and
taxable income are estimated to reverse. Deferred income taxes are recognized for numerous temporary differences between the company’s
taxable income and book-basis income and other changes in shareholders’ equity. Such temporary differences relate primarily to unrealized
gains on investments and differences in the recognition of deferred acquisition costs and insurance reserves. Deferred income taxes
associated with unrealized appreciation (except the amounts related to the effect of income tax rate changes) are charged to shareholders’
equity in accumulated other comprehensive income, and deferred taxes associated with other differences are charged to income.

SEPARATE ACCOUNTS

The company issues life contracts with guaranteed minimum returns, referred to as bank-owned life insurance policies (BOLIs). Based on the
specific contract provisions, the assets and liabilities for some BOLIs are legally segregated and recorded as assets and liabilities of the
separate accounts. Other BOLIs are included in the general account. For separate account BOLIs, minimum investment returns and account
values are guaranteed by the company and also include death benefits to beneficiaries of the contract holders.

The assets of the separate accounts are carried at fair value. Separate account liabilities primarily represent the contract holders’ claims to the
related assets and are carried at the fair value of the assets. In the event that the asset value of contract holders’ accounts is projected below
the value guaranteed by the company, a liability is established through a charge to the company’s earnings. Generally, investment income and
realized investment gains and losses of the separate accounts accrue directly to the contract holders and, therefore, are not included in the
company’s Consolidated Statements of Income; however, each separate account contract includes a negotiated realized gain and loss sharing
arrangement with the company. A percentage of each separate account’s realized gain and loss representing contract fees and assessments
accrues to the company and is transferred from the separate account to the company’s general account and is recognized as revenue or
expense. Revenues and expenses for the company related to the separate accounts also consist of contractual fees and mortality, surrender
and expense risk charges.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net income per common share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each of the respective years.
The calculation of net income per common share (diluted) assumes the exercise of stock options and the conversion of convertible senior
debentures, which were issued by the company in 1992 and redeemed through 2002. Shares and earnings per share have been adjusted to
reflect all stock splits and dividends prior to December 31, 2004, including the 5 percent stock dividend paid June 14, 2004.

Stock OPTIONS

The company has qualified and non-qualified stock option plans under which options are granted to employees at prices that are not less than
market price at the date of grant and that are exercisable over 10-year periods. The company applies Accounting Principles Board

(APB) Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting for these plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for the
stock option plans.
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Had compensation cost for the company’s stock option plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under
those plans consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the company’s net income and earnings
per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Net income Asreported $ 584 $ 374 $ 238
Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based
method for all awards, net of related tax effects 12 12 13
Pro forma $ 572 $ 362 $ 225
As
Net income per common share — basic reported $ 3.47 $ 222 $ 140
Pro forma 3.40 2.14 1.32
As
Net income per common share — diluted reported $ 344 $ 220 $ 1.39
Pro forma 3.37 2.13 1.31

In determining the pro forma amounts above, the fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using the binomial option-pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively: dividend yield of 2.40 percent,
2.40 percent and 2.52 percent; expected volatility of 25.65 percent, 26.03 percent and 25.90 percent; risk-free interest rates of 4.37 percent,
4.20 percent and 4.26 percent; and expected lives of 10 years for all years. Compensation expense in the pro forma disclosures is not
indicative of future amounts as options vest over several years and additional grants generally are made each year. Options granted under the
company'’s options plans vest over three years.

NEw AccounTing PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123(R), which
is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. Among other items, SFAS
No. 123(R) eliminates the use of APB Opinion No. 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting and requires companies to recognize the
cost of associate services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments, based on the grant date fair value of those awards, in the
financial statements. The effective date of SFAS No. 123(R) is the first reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005, which is the third quarter
of 2005 for calendar year companies, although early adoption is allowed.

SFAS No. 123(R) permits companies to adopt its requirements using either a modified prospective or a modified retrospective method. Under
the modified prospective method, the compensation cost is recognized in the financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on
the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after that date, and based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123
for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123(R). Under the modified retrospective method, the requirements are
the same as under the modified prospective method, but this method also permits companies to restate financial statements of previous
periods based on pro forma disclosures made in accordance with SFAS No. 123. The company currently utilizes a standard option-pricing
model (binomial option-pricing model) to measure the fair value of stock options granted to associates. While SFAS No. 123(R) permits
companies to continue to use such a model, the standard also permits the use of a lattice model. The company has not yet determined which
model it will use to measure the fair value of associate stock options upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

The company currently expects to adopt SFAS 123(R) effective July 1, 2005. However, the company has not yet determined which of the
adoption methods it will use. Subject to a complete review of the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R), based on stock options granted to
associates through January 2005, the company expects that the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on July 1, 2005, will reduce both third-quarter
and fourth-quarter 2005 net income per share by approximately 2 cents per share.

In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force in Issue 03-1,
“The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments and Its Applications to Certain Investments” (EITF 03-1). The EITF reached a consensus
on an other-than-temporary impairment model for debt and equity securities accounted for under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and cost method investments. The basic model developed to evaluate whether an investment
within the scope of Issue 03-1 is other-than-temporarily impaired involves a three-step process including: 1) determining whether an investment
is impaired (fair value less amortized cost); 2) evaluating whether the impairment is other-than-temporary and 3) requiring recognition of an
impairment equal to the difference between the investment’s cost and fair value. In September 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position

(FSP) No. EITF Issue 03-1-1, “Effective Date of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF Issue No. 03-01.” This FSP delays the effective date of the
measurement and recognition guidance contained in paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1 and, as of March 4, 2005, the FASB had not yet issued
guidance on the adoption or effective date of FSP No. EITF Issue 03-1-1. The amount of any other-than-temporary impairment that may need
to be
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recognized in the future will depend on market conditions and management’s intent and ability to hold any such impaired securities.

The Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the AICPA issued Statement of Position 03-1 “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance
Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts,” in July 2003 to be effective for the company in the
first quarter of 2004. This Statement of Position provides guidance for insurance companies for certain nontraditional long-duration contracts
(principally variable annuities with minimum death benefit guarantees) and for separate accounts. This statement had no effect on the
company'’s consolidated financial statements.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform with current-year classifications.

2. Investments

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Investment income summarized by investment category:
Interest on fixed maturities $ 252 $ 235 $ 233
Dividends on equity securities 239 227 209
Other investment income 6 7 8
Total 497 469 450
Less investment expenses 5 4 5
Total $ 492 $ 465 $ 445

Realized investment gains and losses summarized by investment category:
Fixed maturities:

Gross realized gains $ 36 $ 35 $ 12
Gross realized losses (20) (25) (24)
Other-than-temporary impairments (5) (73) (98)
Equity securities:
Gross realized gains 101 37 43
Gross realized losses (30) a7 (36)
Other-than-temporary impairments 1) ©) 0
Sale of building 0 0 3
Embedded derivatives 10 9 4)
Total $ 91 $ (41 $ (99
Change in unrealized investment gains and losses summarized by investment category:
Fixed maturities $ (6) $ 211 $ 72
Equity securities (448) 488 (789)
Adjustment to deferred acquisition costs and life policy reserves 3 (13) 0
Other (6) 9) (5)
Total $ (457) $ 677 $ (722)

The fair value of the conversion features embedded in convertible securities amounted to a gain of $10 million at December 31, 2004, and a
gain of $9 million at December 31, 2003.

At December 31, 2004, contractual maturity dates for investments in fixed-maturity securities were:

Amortized Fair % of Fair
(In millions) cost value value
Maturity dates occuring:
Less than one year $ 204 $ 216 4.2%
One year through five years 526 565 11.0
After five years through ten years 2,622 2,742 53.4
After ten years through twenty years 1,240 1,328 25.8
Over twenty years 262 290 5.6
Total $ 4,854 $ 5,141 100.0%

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities when there exists a right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment
penalties.

At December 31, 2004, investments with book value of $67 million and fair value of $72 million were on deposit with various states in
compliance with certain regulatory requirements.
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The following analyzes cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value for the company’s investments:

(In millions) Cost or Gross unrealized Fair
Years ended December 31, amortized cost gains losses Value
2004
Fixed maturities:
States, municipalities and political subdivisions $ 1,622 $ 75 $ 3 $ 1,694
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached 368 56 2 422
Public utilities 134 13 1 146
United States government and government agencies and authorities 1,076 4 4 1,076
All other corporate bonds 1,654 151 2 1,803
Total $ 4,854 $ 299 $ 12 $ 5,141
Equity securities $ 1,945 $ 5,558 $ 5 $ 7,498
2003
Fixed maturities:
States, municipalities and political subdivisions $ 1,181 $ 80 $ 3 $ 1,258
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached 380 48 3 425
Public utilities 141 12 1 152
United States government and government agencies and authorities 557 2 4 555
All other corporate bonds 1,681 170 9 1,842
Total $ 3,940 $ 312 $ 20 $ 4,232

Equity securities $ 2,216 $ 6,005 $ 4 $ 8,217

The following table provides the unrealized losses and fair values, by investment category and by length of time the individual securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position:

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(In_millions) value losses value losses value losses
2004:
Fixed maturities:
States, municipalities and political subdivisions $ 194 $ 2 $ 59 $ 1 $ 253 $ 3
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached 26 1 27 1 53 2
Public utilities 10 0 5 1 15 1
United States government and government agencies
and authorities 295 3 70 1 365 4
All other corporate bonds 101 1 14 1 115 2
Total $ 626 $ 7 $ 175 $ 5 $ 801 $ 12
Equity securities: 59 4 23 1 82 5
Total $ 685 $ 11 $ 198 $ 6 $ 883 $ 17
2003:
Fixed maturities:
States, municipalities and political subdivisions $ 21 $ 0 $ 33 $ 3 $ 54 $ 3
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached 1 0 49 3 50 3
Public utilities 13 0 10 1 23 1
United States government and government agencies
and authorities 320 4 0 0 320 4
All other corporate bonds 46 1 85 8 131 9
Total $ 401 $ 5 $ 177 $ 15 $ 578 $ 20
Equity securities: 4 0 72 4 76 4
Total $ 405 $ 5 $ 249 $ 19 $ 654 $ 24

At December 31, 2004, 23 fixed maturity investments with a total unrealized loss of $5 million and one equity securities with a total unrealized
loss of $1 million had been in that position for more than 12 months. All were trading between 70 percent to less than 100 percent of book
value. These assets presently do not meet the company’s other-than-temporary asset impairment criteria and will not be considered impaired
unless they meet such criteria in the future.

At December 31, 2003, 53 fixed maturity investments with a total unrealized loss of $15 million and five equity securities with a total unrealized
loss of $4 million had been in that position for more than 12 months. All were trading between 70 percent to less than 100 percent of book
value.

Investments in companies and industry sectors that exceed 10 percent of the company’s shareholders’ equity include:

2004 2003
(In_millions) Cost Fair value Cost Fair value
Securities:
Fifth Third Bancorp common stock $ 283 $ 3,443 $ 283 $ 4,301

ALLTEL Corporation common stock and fixed maturity $ 137 $ 79 $ 132 $ 627
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3. Deferred Acquisition Costs

Acquisition costs incurred and capitalized during 2004, 2003 and 2002 amounted to $657 million, $615 million and $576 million, respectively.
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs was $629 million in 2004, including a $3 million adjustment related to unrealized gains on
investments, $586 million, including a $13 million adjustment related to unrealized gains on investments, for 2003, and $519 million for 2002,
respectively.

4. Property Casualty Loss and Loss Expenses

Activity in the reserve for loss and loss expenses is summarized as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Net loss and loss expense reserves, January 1 $ 3,386 $ 3,150 $ 2,865
Less reinsurance receivable 541 542 513
Gross loss and loss expense reserves, January 1 2,845 2,608 2,352
Net incurred loss and loss expenses related to:
Current accident year 1,949 1,877 1,790
Prior accident years (196) (80) (45)
Total incurred 1,753 1,797 1,745
Net paid loss and loss expenses related to:
Current accident year 804 762 730
Prior accident years 817 799 759
Total paid 1,621 1,561 1,489
Net loss and loss expense reserves, December 31 2,977 2,845 2,608
Plus reinsurance receivable 537 541 542
Gross loss and loss expense reserves, December 31 $ 3,514 $ 3,386 $ 3,150

Management bases property casualty loss and loss expenses reserve estimates on company experience and information from internal
analyses, obtaining additional information from consulting outside actuaries. When reviewing reserves, management analyzes historical data
and estimates the effect of various loss development factors.

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the provision for loss and loss expenses decreased by $196 million,
$80 million and $45 million in calendar years 2004, 2003 and 2002. These decreases are due in part to the effects of settling reported
(case) and unreported (IBNR) reserves established in prior years for amounts less than expected.

Following the Ohio Supreme Court’s late 2003 decision to limit its 1999 Scott-Pontzer v. Liberty Mutual decision, the company released

$38 million pretax of previously established uninsured/under-insured motorist (UM/UIM) reserves in 2003. In 2004, the company reviewed
outstanding UM/UIM claims for which litigation was pending. Those claims represented approximately $37 million in previously established
case reserves. During the first quarter of 2004, the company filed motions for dismissal in various jurisdictions for specific claims and released
an additional $32 million in related case reserves. Following the release of those reserves, the company stopped separately reporting on
UM/UIM related reserve actions.

Total catastrophe losses, net of reinsurance, were $148 million for 2004 compared with $97 million in 2003 and $87 million in 2002. The
majority of catastrophe losses are incurred in the calendar year of the event.

The reserve for loss and loss expenses in the accompanying balance sheets also includes $35 million, $29 million and $26 million at
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, for certain life health losses.

5. Life Policy Reserves

Life policy reserves have been calculated using the account value basis for universal life and annuity policies and modifications of the 1975-80
select and ultimate table for traditional policies. Life policy reserves are summarized as follows:

December 31,

(In_millions) 2004 2003
Ordinary/traditional life $ 378 $ 306
Universal life 358 340
Annuities 435 360
Other 23 19
Total $ 1,194 $ 1,025

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the fair value associated with the annuities shown above approximated $477 million and $406 million,
respectively.
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6. Notes Payable

The company and subsidiaries had no compensating balance requirement on debt for either 2004 or 2003. The company had two lines of credit
with commercial banks amounting to $250 million in 2003, of which $183 million was in use at December 31, 2003. During 2004, the company
paid off these two lines of credit. Interest rates charged on borrowings during 2004 ranged from 1.53 percent to 6.19 percent, which resulted in
an average interest rate of 2.76 percent. The company had one line of credit with a commercial bank amounting to $75 million with no
outstanding balances at year-end 2004.

The company entered an interest-rate swap agreement during 2001 to hedge future cash flows (thereby obtaining a fixed interest rate) related
to certain variable rate debt obligations ($31 million notional amount), which would have expired in 2008. This agreement was terminated at a
cost of $2 million, net of tax, in the fourth quarter of 2004. The swap is reflected at fair value on the accompanying balance sheet at
December 31, 2003, and the $2 million unrealized loss, net of tax, at December 31, 2003, is a component of comprehensive income.

7. Senior Debt

The company issued $420 million aggregate principal amount of 6.9% senior debentures due 2028 in 1998. The company issued $375 million
aggregate principal amount of 6.125% senior notes due 2034 in 2004. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the fair value of the senior debt
approximated $843 million and $458 million, respectively.

8. Shareholders’ Equity and Dividend Restrictions

CFC's insurance subsidiary declared dividends to the company of $175 million in 2004, $50 million in 2003, and $100 million in 2002.
Dividends paid by insurance subsidiaries are restricted by regulatory requirements of the insurance subsidiaries’ domiciliary state. Generally,
the maximum dividend that may be paid without prior regulatory approval is limited to the greater of 10 percent of statutory surplus or

100 percent of statutory net income for the prior calendar year, up to the amount of statutory unassigned surplus as of the end of the prior
calendar year. Dividends exceeding these limitations may be paid only with approval of the insurance department of the subsidiary’s domiciliary
state. During 2005, the total dividends that may be paid to the company without regulatory approval will be approximately $588 million.

The company’s board of directors has authorized the repurchase of outstanding shares. The current repurchase program for 17 million shares
was announced on February 6, 1999, replacing a program approved in 1996 and updated in 1998. The company has purchased 13.3 million
shares at a cost of $481 million between February 6, 1999, and December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004, 3.7 million shares remain
authorized for repurchase at any time in the future.

As of December 31, 2004, 4 million shares of common stock were available for future stock option grants.

Declared cash dividends per share were $1.09, 95 cents and 85 cents for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

AccumuLATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The change in unrealized gains and losses on investments and derivatives included:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Unrealized holding investment gains and losses on securities and derivatives $ (369) $ 650 $ (816)
Reclassification adjustment:
Adjustment to deferred acquisition costs and life policy reserves 3 (13) 0
Net realized (gain) loss on investments and derivatives (91) 41 94
Income taxes on above 160 (237) 252
Total $ (297 $ 441 $ (470

Income taxes relate to each component above ratably.
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9. Reinsurance

Property casualty premium income in the accompanying statements of income includes approximately $32 million, $56 million and $60 million
of earned premiums on assumed business and is net of approximately $175 million, $211 million and $330 million of earned premiums on
ceded business for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Insurance losses and policyholder benefits in the accompanying statements of income are net of approximately $134 million, $103 million and
$95 million of reinsurance recoveries for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Property casualty premiums and losses consist of the following:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Direct written premiums $ 3,141 $ 2,949 $ 2,894
Assumed written premiums 33 44 68
Ceded written premiums (177) (178) (349)
Net written premiums $ 2,997 $ 2,815 $ 2,613
Direct earned premiums $ 3,062 $ 2,808 $ 2,661
Assumed earned premiums 32 56 60
Ceded earned premiums (175) (211) (330)
Net earned premiums $ 2,919 $ 2,653 $ 2,391
Direct loss and loss expenses incurred $ 1,870 $ 1,856 $ 1,803
Assumed loss and loss expenses incurred 17 44 37
Ceded loss and loss expenses incurred (134) (103) (95)
Net loss and loss expenses incurred $ 1,753 $ 1,797 $ 1,745

10. Federal Income Taxes

Significant components of the company’s net deferred tax liability are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(In_ millions) 2004 2003
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on investments and derivatives $ 2,033 $ 2,193
Deferred acquisition costs 129 119
Other 38 26
Total 2,200 2,338
Deferred tax assets:
Loss and loss expense reserves 180 186
Unearned premiums 107 100
Life policy reserves 28 27
Capital loss carryforward 19 32
Other 32 44
Total 366 389
Net deferred tax liability $ 1,834 1,949

The provision for federal income taxes is based upon a consolidated income tax return for the company and subsidiaries. As of December 31,
2004, the company has capital loss carry forwards of $56 million that expire in 2008 and 2009. Although realization is not assured,
management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized based on the assumption that certain levels of
income will be achieved.

The differences between the statutory federal rates and the company’s effective federal income tax rates are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Tax at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
Tax-exempt municipal bonds (2.5) (3.8) (6.4)
Dividend exclusion (5.7) (8.6) (13.3)
Other 0.2 (0.6) (0.5)
Effective rate 27.0% 22.0% 14.8%

Filed tax returns for calendar years 2000 through 2003 are currently open with the Internal Revenue Service. No provision was made as of
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, for federal income taxes on approximately $14 million of the life insurance subsidiary’s retained earnings,
since such taxes will become payable only to the extent that such retained earnings are distributed as dividends or exceed limitations
prescribed by tax laws. The company does not contemplate any such dividend. If, however, the entire $14 million of retained earnings becomes
taxable, at the current federal income tax rates, the tax would be approximately $5 million.
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11. Net Income Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed
based on the weighted average number of common and dilutive potential common shares outstanding. Shares and earnings per share have
been adjusted to reflect all stock splits and dividends prior to December 31, 2004.

For the company, dilutive potential common shares consist of outstanding stock options. The computations of basic and diluted earnings per
share are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions except share data) 2004 2003 2002

Numerator:
Net income—basic and diluted $ 584 $ 374 $ 238

Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 168,073,069 168,685,328 169,947,776
Effect of stock options 1,809,644 1,116,813 1,405,067
Adjusted weighted-average shares 169,882,713 169,802,141 171,352,843
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 3.47 $ 2.22 $ 1.40
Diluted $ 3.44 $ 2.20 $ 1.39

Options to purchase 0.3 million, 2 million and 1 million shares of common stock were outstanding during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, but
were not included in the computation of net income per common share (diluted) because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the
average market price of the common shares.

12. Pension Plan

The company and subsidiaries sponsor a defined contribution plan (401(k) savings plan) and a defined benefit pension plan covering
substantially all employees. The company does not contribute to the defined contribution plan. Benefits for the defined benefit plan are based
on years of credited service and compensation level. Contributions to the plan are based on the frozen entry age actuarial cost method.
Pension expense is composed of several components that are determined using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method and based on
certain actuarial assumptions.

The following table sets forth summarized information on the company’s defined benefit pension plan:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 167 $ 133
Service cost 11 9
Interest cost 10 9
Actuarial loss 14 19
Benefits paid (3) 3
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 199 $ 167
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 142 $ 117
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 138 $ 124
Actual return on plan assets 15 17
Employer contributions 8 0
Benefits paid (3) 3
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 158 $ 138

Funded status:

Funded status at end of year $ (41) $ (29
Unrecognized net actuarial gain 34 23
Unrecognized net transitional asset (1) (1)
Unrecognized prior service cost 7 8

(Accrued) prepaid pension cost $ (1) $ 1

The company uses a December 31 measurement date for its plans. The accumulated benefit obligation was $142 million and $117 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The fair value of the company’s stock comprised $27 million (17 percent of total plan assets) at
December 31, 2004, and $24 million (18 percent of total plan assets) at December 31, 2003.
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The company evaluates and updates pension plan assumptions annually as necessary. The discount rate assumptions for the benefit
obligation tracks with and yearly adjustments reflect changes in Moody’s Aa bond yields. The rate of compensation increase assumptions

reflect historical calendar year compensation increases.

The following summarizes the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation for the plan:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003
Discount rate 5.75% 6.00%
Rate of compensation increase 5-7 5-7

The components of the net periodic benefit cost are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $ 11 $ 9 $ 7
Interest cost 10 9 8
Expected return on plan assets (12) (13) (13)
Amortization of actuarial gain — (1) (2)

Net pension expense

$ 9 $ 4 $ 0

The company expects to contribute approximately $10 million to its pension plan in 2005.

The following summarizes the assumptions used to determine net expense for the plan:

Years ended December 31,

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

2004 2003 2002
6.00% 6.50% 7.00%
8.00 8.00 8.00

5-7 51/ 5-7

The company’s pension plan asset allocations by asset category are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003
Asset category:
Equity securities 91% 92%
Fixed maturities 7 7
Cash and cash equivalents 2 1
Total 100% 100%

The company’s target asset allocation of its pension plan for 2005 is 90 percent equity securities and 10 percent fixed maturities and cash.

The following benefit payments, which reflected expected future service as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

(In millions)
For the years ended December 31,

Pension
benefits

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Years 2010-2014

$

OO wo u1ul

~N =
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13. Statutory Accounting Information

Statutory accounting practices (SAP) prescribed or permitted for insurance companies by regulatory authorities differ in certain respects from
GAAP. The following table reconciles consolidated net income for the years ended December 31, and shareholders’ equity at December 31, as
reported herein in conformity with GAAP, with total statutory net income and capital and surplus as reported by the company’s insurance
subsidiaries and prepared in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Consolidated net income per GAAP $ 584 $ 374 $ 238
Adjustments:
Deferred policy acquisition costs (30) (42) (57)
Deferred income taxes 73 (13) 16
Income from derivatives (10) 9 4
Elimination of intercompany realized gain 88 0 0
Parent company and undistributed net income of non insurance subsidiaries (84) (67) (69)
Other 6 10 32
Insurance subsidiaries net income per SAP $ 627 $ 253 $ 164
Balances by major business type:
Property casualty insurance $ 599 $ 233 $ 147
Life insurance 28 20 17
Total $ 627 $ 253 $ 164
As of December 31,
(In millions) 2004 2003
Consolidated shareholders’ equity per GAAP $ 6,249 $ 6,204
Adjustments:
Deferred policy acquisition costs (400) (372)
Investments at fair value (272) (275)
Deferred income taxes 238 226
Parent company and undistributed net income of non-insurance subsidiaries (1,550) (2,946)
Reserves and non-admitted assets (11) (46)
Other (63) 11)
Insurance subsidiaries shareholders’ equity per SAP $ 4,191 $ 2,780
Balances by major business type:
Property casualty insurance $ 3,752 $ 2,384
Life insurance 439 396
Total $ 4,191 $ 2,780

14. Transactions with Affiliated Parties

The company paid certain officers and directors, or insurance agencies of which they are shareholders, commissions of approximately
$11 million, $19 million and $17 million on premium volume of approximately $76 million, $132 million and $113 million for 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

On November 15, 2004, Cincinnati Financial Corporation repurchased 1 million shares of Cincinnati Financial’s common stock from Robert C.
Schiff, Trustee, Robert C. Schiff Revocable Trust originally dated November 21, 2001. Robert C. Schiff is a founder of the company and retired
as director of Cincinnati Financial Corporation in November 2004. The stock was sold to Cincinnati Financial at an aggregate purchase price
equal to 99 percent of the product of (a) 1,000,000 multiplied by (b) $43.45, the last reported sale price per share of the common stock on the
Nasdaqg National Market at the close of trading on November 12, 2004.

15. Contingencies

Various litigation and claims against the company and its subsidiaries resulting from normal insurance and non-insurance activities are in
process and pending. Based upon a review of open matters with legal counsel, management believes that the outcomes of normal insurance
matters will not have a material effect upon the company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations and the outcomes of non-
insurance matters will be covered by external insurance coverage or will not have a material effect upon the company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

On June 28, 2004, Cincinnati Financial Corporation filed an application with the SEC formally requesting an exemption for the holding company
under Section 3(b)(2) of the Investment Company Act, which permits the SEC to exempt entities primarily engaged in business other than that
of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities.
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Cincinnati Financial Corporation alternatively has asked the SEC for relief pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Investment Company Act that would
exempt it from all the provisions of the Act because doing so is necessary or appropriate in the public interest consistent with the protection of
investors and consistent with the purposes intended by the Investment Company Act. The company simultaneously contacted the SEC'’s
Division of Investment Management to discuss the status of Cincinnati Financial Corporation under the Investment Company Act. The request
for an exemptive order is still pending with the staff of the SEC.

On August 26, 2004, the company announced that Cincinnati Financial Corporation transferred approximately 31.8 million shares of Fifth Third
Bancorp common stock to The Cincinnati Insurance Company to address its status under the Investment Company Act. The 31.8 million
shares had a market value of $1.600 billion on August 26, 2004. The transfer was authorized by Cincinnati Financial's board of directors on
August 13, 2004, and approved by the Ohio Department of Insurance on August 24, 2004. After the contribution, the ratio of investment
securities held at the holding company level was 36.3 percent of total holding-company-only assets at December 31, 2004.

Registered investment companies are not permitted to operate their business in the manner in which Cincinnati Financial is operated, nor are
registered investment companies permitted to have many of the relationships that the parent company has with its affiliated companies. If it
were to be determined that the parent company was an unregistered investment company before the transfer of equity securities in

August 2004, Cincinnati Financial may be unable to enforce contracts with third parties, and third parties could seek to obtain rescission of
transactions with Cincinnati Financial undertaken during the period that it was an unregistered investment company, subject to equitable
considerations set forth in the Investment Company Act. As a result, it could be determined that holders of Cincinnati Financial's $420 million
aggregate principal amount of 6.9% Senior Debentures due 2028 have a right to rescind such indebtedness, thereby requiring Cincinnati
Financial to immediately repay such amounts. Cincinnati Financial may be unable to refinance such obligations on acceptable terms as a result
of its potential status under the Investment Company Act. However, Cincinnati Financial currently has available sufficient assets to fund such
repayment and believes that its assets are adequate to meet its short- and long-term obligations.

16. Stock Options

See Note 1 for a general description of the company’s stock option plans. A summary of options information follows:

(Shares in thousands) Weighted-average
Years ended December 31, Shares exercise price
2004

Outstanding at beginning of year 8,372 $ 32.16
Granted/reinstated 1,370 40.75
Exercised (379) 25.22
Forfeited/revoked (129) 36.00
QOutstanding at end of year 9,234 33.65
Options exercisable at end of year 6,714 $ 32.03
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the year $ 11.74
2003

Outstanding at beginning of year 7,471 $ 31.46
Granted/reinstated 1,301 34.09
Exercised (281) 21.49
Forfeited/revoked (119) 34.43
Outstanding at end of year 8,372 32.16
Options exercisable at end of year 6,003 $ 31.05
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the year $ 10.31
2002

Outstanding at beginning of year 6,934 $ 20.81
Granted/reinstated 1,171 36.71
Exercised (512) 20.35
Forfeited/revoked (122) 34.54
Outstanding at end of year 7,471 31.46
Options exercisable at end of year 5,192 $ 30.02
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the year $ 11.98
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Options outstanding and exercisable consisted of the following at December 31, 2004:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted-average

remaining Weighted-average Weighted-average

Range of exercise prices Shares contractual life exercise price Shares exercise price
$15.03 to 19.52 678 1.25yrs $ 19.17 678 $ 19.17
$20.31t0 25.35 320 2.28 yrs 21.75 320 21.75
$27.98 to 32.85 2,389 4.39 yrs 30.57 2,389 30.57
$33.51 t0 36.76 3,565 7.02 yrs 35.04 2,380 35.12
$37.98 to 39.62 330 4.81 yrs 38.46 329 38.45
$40.00 to 43.20 1,952 7.16 yrs 41.07 618 41.78
Total 9,234 5.70 yrs $ 33.65 6,714  $ 32.03

17. Segment Information

The company operates primarily in two industries, property casualty insurance and life insurance. Company management regularly reviews four
reportable segments to make decisions about allocating resources and to assess performance:

< commercial lines property casualty insurance
» personal lines property casualty insurance

« life insurance

« investment operations

Operations of the parent company, CFC Investment Company and CinFin Capital Management Company (excluding investment activities) and
other income of the insurance subsidiaries are reported as Other.

Revenues are primarily from unaffiliated customers.

< Revenue for all three insurance segments is insurance premiums earned. Life insurance segment revenue also includes fees from separate
account investment management fees.

* Investment operations segment revenue is pretax net investment income plus realized investment gains and losses
» Other revenue is primarily finance/lease income

* Income (loss) before income taxes for each segment is based on the nature of that business area’s operations:

« Income before income taxes for the insurance segments is defined as underwriting income (loss).

o Commercial lines and personal lines insurance segments — underwriting income (loss) is premiums earned minus loss and loss
expenses incurred or policyholder benefits and underwriting expenses

o Life insurance segment — underwriting income (loss) is premiums earned and separate account investment management fees, less
contract holder benefits incurred and expenses incurred, plus investment interest credited to contract holders

* Income before income taxes for the investment operations segment is net investment income plus realized investment gains and losses for
all fixed maturity and equity security investments of the entire company, less interest credited to contract holders of the life insurance
segment.

» Loss before income taxes for the Other category is primarily due to interest expense from debt of the parent company and operating
expenses of the company’s headquarters.

Identifiable assets by segment are those assets used in the respective segment’s operations. Identifiable assets are not separately reported for
two reportable segments — commercial lines and personal lines of property casualty insurance — because company management does not use
this measure to analyze those segments. All fixed maturity and equity security investment assets, regardless of ownership, are included in the
investment operations segment.
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Segment information is summarized in the following table:

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Revenues:
Commercial lines insurance
Commercial multi-peril $ 751 $ 673 $ 607
Workers compensation 313 293 294
Commercial auto 450 419 383
Other liability 402 342 276
Other commercial lines 210 181 161
Total commercial lines insurance 2,126 1,908 1,721
Personal lines insurance
Personal auto 451 428 389
Homeowner 259 239 210
Other personal lines 83 78 71
Total personal lines insurance 793 745 670
Life insurance 104 97 87
Investment operations 583 424 351
Other 8 7 14
Total $ 3,614 $ 3,181 $ 2,843
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Insurance underwriting results:
Commercial lines insurance $ 338 $ 167 $ 59
Personal lines insurance (40) 27) (51)
Life insurance 2 3) (12)
Investment operations 537 381 315
Other (37) (38) (32)
Total $ 800 $ 480 $ 279
Identifiable assets:
Property casualty insurance $ 2,317 $ 2,101
Life insurance 837 694
Investment operations 12,746 12,548
Other 207 166
Total $ 16,107 $15,509
QUARTERLY SupPLEMENTARY DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:
Quarter
(Dollars in millions except per share data) 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Full year
2004
Revenues 870 923 $ 879 $ 942 $ 3,614
Income before income taxes 201 214 113 272 800
Net income 146 155 90 192 584
Net income per common share—basic .87 .92 .54 1.15 3.47
Net income per common share—diluted .86 91 .53 1.14 3.44
2003
Revenues 707 798 $ 836 $ 840 $ 3,181
Income before income taxes 65 107 137 171 480
Net income 57 84 104 130 374
Net income per common share—basic .33 .50 .62 77 2.22
Net income per common share—diluted .33 .50 .61 .76 2.20

Note: The sum of the quarterly reported amounts may not equal the full year as each is computed independently.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There were no disagreements with the independent registered public accounting firm on accounting and financial disclosure during the last two
fiscal years.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Cincinnati Financial Corporation’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As of December 31, 2004, an evaluation was performed
under the supervision, and with the participation, of management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation as of December 31,
2004, management concluded that the company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that the information required to be
disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified by SEC rules and forms. Additionally, there were no changes in the company’s internal control
over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2004, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management's responsibilities relating to establishing and maintaining effective disclosure controls and procedures include maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting that are designed to produce reliable financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. As disclosed in the Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, management assessed the company’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, in relation to
criteria for effective control over financial reporting as described in “Internal Control — Integral Framework,” issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management believes that its system of internal control
over financial reporting met those criteria and was effective as of December 31, 2004.

There have been no significant changes in the company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to December 31, 2004.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm are set forth in Item 8, Pages 70 and 71.

Item 9B. Other Information

None

Part Il

Pursuant to Paragraph G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K, portions of the information required by Part Il of Form 10-K are
incorporated by reference from the company’s Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the 2005 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

a) Information concerning directors and executive officers of the company appears in the Proxy Statement under “Security Ownership of
Principal Shareholders and Management” and “Information Regarding Nondirector Executive Officers” and “Information regarding Nominees
and Directors.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

b) Information concerning Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance appears in the Proxy Statement under “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

¢) Information concerning the “Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers,” applicable to those who have responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements and public disclosure of financial information for the company and its subsidiaries, including the company’s chief executive
officer, chief financial officer, chief investment officer and other officers performing similar functions or reporting directly to the identified officers,
appeared in the 2004 Proxy Statement as an Appendix and is available in the Investors section of the company’s Web site, www.cinfin.com.

d) Information regarding the company’s audit committee membership and its financial expert compliance appears in the Proxy Statement under
“Information Regarding the Board of Directors” and “Report of the Audit Committee.” These portions of the Proxy Statement are incorporated
herein by reference.

e) During the reporting period, there were no material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the
board of directors. Information regarding nominating committee processes appears in the Proxy Statement under “Information Regarding the
Board of Directors.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive compensation appears in the Proxy Statement under “Executive Compensation Summary.” This portion of the
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

a) Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management appears in the Proxy Statement under “Security
Ownership of Principal Shareholders and Management.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

b) Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans appears in the Proxy Statement under “Equity
Compensation Plan Information.” This portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. Additional information with respect to

options under the company’s equity compensation plans is available in Item 8, Note 8 and Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
Pages 83 and 88.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions appears in the Proxy Statement under “Certain Relationships and
Transactions” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.” These portions of the Proxy Statement are incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information concerning independent registered public accounting firm fees and services and audit committee pre-approval policies and
procedures appears in the Proxy Statement under “Report of the Audit Committee,” “Fees Billed by the Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” and “Services Provided by the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.” These portions of the Proxy Statement are
incorporated herein by reference.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a) Financial Statements — information contained in Part Il, Item 8 of this report, Pages 69-90
b) Exhibits — see Index of Exhibits, Page 105
c¢) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule | — Summary of Investments — Other than Investments in Related Parties, Page 93
Schedule Il — Condensed Financial Information of Registrant, Page 95
Schedule Il — Supplementary Insurance Information, Page 98
Schedule IV —Reinsurance, Page 100
Schedule V - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts, Page 101
Schedule VI — Supplementary Information Concerning Property Casualty Insurance Operations, Page 102
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ScHEDULE |
Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Summary of Investments - Other than Investments in Related Parties
December 31, 2004
(In millions) Type of investment Cost or amortized Fair value Balance sheet
Fixed maturities:
United States government and government agencies and authorities:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company $ 702 $ 702 $ 702
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 6 7 7
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 2 2 2
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 366 365 365
Total 1,076 1,076 1,076
States, municipalities and political subdivisions:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 1,522 1,589 1,589
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 74 76 76
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 21 22 22
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 5 7 7
Total 1,622 1,694 1,694
Public utilities:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 59 65 65
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 4 5 5
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 1 1 1
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 66 72 72
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 4 3 3
Total 134 146 146
Convertibles and bonds with warrants attached:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 297 336 336
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 10 13 13
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 2 3 3
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 52 61 61
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 7 9 9
Total 368 422 422
All other corporate bonds:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 846 919 919
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 34 38 38
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 19 20 20
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 622 688 688
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 133 138 138
Total 1,654 1,803 1,803
Total fixed maturities $ 4,854 $ 5141 $ 5,141
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ScHebuLE | (CoNTINUED)

Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Summary of Investments - Other than Investments in Related Parties

December 31, 2004

(In millions) Type of investment Cost or amortized Fair value Balance sheet
Equity securities:
Common stocks:
Public utilities:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company $ 121 $ 365 $ 365
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 5 13 13
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 15 78 78
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 82 522 522
Total 223 978 978
Banks, trust and insurance companies:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 417 2,648 2,648
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 16 91 91
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 0 0 0
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 56 176 176
CinFin Capital Management Company 1 1 1
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 431 1,872 1,872
Total 921 4,788 4,788
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 485 1,159 1,159
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 19 54 54
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 7 15 15
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 99 190 190
CinFin Capital Management Company 2 3 3
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 162 278 278
Total 774 1,699 1,699
Nonredeemable preferred stocks:
The Cincinnati Insurance Company 20 25 25
The Cincinnati Casualty Company 0 0 0
The Cincinnati Indemnity Company 0 0 0
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 0 0 0
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 7 8 8
Total 27 33 33
Total equity securities $ 1,945 $ 7,498 $ 7,498
Other invested assets:
Mortgage loans on real estate:
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company $ 1 XXXX $ 1
Real estate: XXXX
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 3 XXXX 3
Policy loans: XXXX
The Cincinnati Life Insurance Company 27 XXXX 27
Notes receivable: XXXX
Cincinnati Financial Corporation 7 XXXX 7
Total other invested assets $ 38 XXXX $ 38
Total investments $ 6,837 XXXX $ 12,677
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ScHepULE |l
Cincinnati Financial Corporation (parent company only)
Condensed Balance Sheets
Years ended December 31,
(In millions) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Cash $ 28 $ 6
Fixed maturities, at fair value 150 282
Equity securities, at fair value 2,680 4,553
Other invested assets 7 5
Investment income receivable 17 27
Equity in net assets of subsidiaries 4,732 3,287
Land, building and equipment 77 79
Prepaid federal income tax 21 0
Other assets 14 10
Due from subsidiaries 63 7
Total assets $ 7,789 $ 8,256
LIABILITIES
Notes payable $ 0 $ 152
Dividends declared but unpaid 46 40
Current federal income tax 0 9
Deferred federal income tax 688 1,308
6.9% senior debentures due 2028 420 420
6.125% senior notes due 2034 371 0
Other liabilities 15 10
Due to subsidiaries 0 113
Total liabilities 1,540 2,052
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock 370 352
Other shareholders’ equity 5,879 5,852
Total shareholders’ equity 6,249 6,204
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 7,789 $ 8,256

This condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in Part Il,
Item 8, Page 69.
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ScHebuLE |l (CoNTINUED)

Cincinnati Financial Corporation (parent company only)
Condensed Statements of Income

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
REVENUES
Dividends from subsidiaries $ 175 $ 50 $ 100
Investment income, net of expenses 110 131 126
Realized gains (losses) on investments 18 (23) (22)
Other revenue 9 7 10
Total revenues 312 165 215
EXPENSES
Interest expense 36 33 34
Depreciation expense 3 4 5
Other expenses 14 15 14
Total expenses 53 52 53
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND EARNINGS OF SUBSIDIARIES 259 113 162
Income tax provision (benefit) 3 Q) (2
NET INCOME BEFORE EARNINGS OF SUBSIDIARIES 256 114 164
Increase in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 328 260 74
NET INCOME $ 584 $ 374 $ 238

This condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in Part Il,
Item 8, Page 69.
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ScHebuLE |l (CoNTINUED)

Cincinnati Financial Corporation (parent company only)
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 584 374 $ 238
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3 4 5
Realized (gains) losses on investments (18) 23 21
Changes in:
Investment income receivable 10 1 (1)
Current federal income taxes (30) 2) 11
Deferred income taxes 20 (10) (22)
Other assets (2) (1) 3
Other liabilities 6 2 11
Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (328) (260) (74)
Net cash provided by operating activities 245 131 193
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sale of fixed-maturity investments 193 50 22
Maturity of fixed-maturity investments 50 71 47
Sale of equity security investments 36 8 11
Purchase of fixed-maturity investments (116) 47) (55)
Purchase of equity security investments (196) (33) (63)
Investment in buildings and equipment 1) Q) Q)
Net investment in other invested assets (1) 2 0
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (35) 50 (39)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from 6.125% senior notes 371 0 0
Debt issuance costs for 6.125% senior notes (4) 0 0
Decrease in notes payable (152) 0 0
Payment of cash dividends (177) (156) (142)
Purchase of treasury shares (66) (55) (42)
Treasury shares reissued for stock options 7 0 0
Proceeds from stock options exercised 3 6 10
Net transfers to subsidiaries (170) 28 10
Net cash used in financing activities (188) (177) (164)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 22 4 (20)
Cash at beginning of year 6 2 12
Cash at end of year 28 6 $ 2

This condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in Part Il,

Item 8, Page 69.
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ScHebpuLE I
Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Supplementary Insurance Information
Years ended December 31,
(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Deferred policy acquisition costs:
Commercial lines insurance $ 218 $ 207 $ 180
Personal lines insurance 88 80 74
Total property casualty insurance 306 287 254
Life insurance 94 85 89
Total $ 400 $ 372 $ 343
Future policy benefits, losses, claims and expense losses:
Commercial lines insurance $ 3,016 $ 2,933 $ 2,720
Personal lines insurance 498 453 430
Total property casualty insurance 3,514 3,386 3,150
Life insurance 1,213 1,040 929
Total (1) $ 4,727 $ 4,426 $ 4,079
Unearned premiums:
Commercial lines insurance $ 1,112 $ 1,037 $ 948
Personal lines insurance 425 407 369
Total property casualty insurance 1,537 1,444 1,317
Life insurance 2 2 2
Total (1) $ 1,539 $ 1,446 $ 1,319
Other policy claims and benefits payable:
Commercial lines insurance $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Personal lines insurance 0 0 0
Total property casualty insurance 0 0 0
Life insurance 15 14 14
Total (1) $ 15 $ 14 $ 14
Premium revenues:
Commercial lines insurance $ 2,126 $ 1,908 $ 1,721
Personal lines insurance 793 745 670
Total property casualty insurance 2,919 2,653 2,391
Life insurance 101 95 87
Total $ 3,020 $ 2,748 $ 2,478
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ScHebuLE Il (CoNTINUED)

Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Supplementary Insurance Information

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Investment income, net of expenses:
Commercial lines insurance 0 $ 0 $ 0
Personal lines insurance 0 0 0
Total property casualty insurance (3) 289 245 234
Life insurance 91 89 86
Total 380 $ 334 $ 320
Benefits, claims losses and settlement expenses:
Commercial lines insurance 1,154 $ 1,218 $ 1,210
Personal lines insurance 599 579 535
Total property casualty insurance 1,753 1,797 1,745
Life insurance 95 91 83
Total 1,848 $ 1,888 $ 1,828
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs:
Commercial lines insurance 448 $ 398 $ 363
Personal lines insurance 162 160 141
Total property casualty insurance 610 558 504
Life insurance 16 15 15
Total (2) 626 $ 573 $ 519
Other operating expenses:
Commercial lines insurance 187 $ 124 $ 87
Personal lines insurance 71 34 46
Total property casualty insurance 258 158 133
Life insurance 36 38 38
Total (2) 294 $ 196 $ 171
Written premiums:
Commercial lines insurance 2,186 $ 2,031 $ 1,905
Personal lines insurance 811 784 708
Total property casualty insurance 2,997 2,815 2,613
Accident health insurance 3 3 3
Total 3,000 $ 2,818 $ 2,616

Notes to Schedule lil:

(1) The sum of future policy benefits, losses, claims and expense losses, unearned premium and other policy claims and other policy claims
and benefits payable is equal to the sum of loss and loss expense, life policy reserves and unearned premiums reported in the company’s

consolidated balance sheets.

(2) The sum of amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and other operating expenses is equal to the sum of Commissions; Other

operating expenses; Taxes, licenses and fees; Increase in deferred acquisition costs; and Other expenses shown in the consolidated
statements of income, less other expenses not applicable to the above insurance segments.

(3) This segment information is not regularly allocated to segments and reviewed by company management in making decisions about

resources to be allocated to the segments or to assess their performance.
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ScHepuLE IV

Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Reinsurance

Years ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Gross premiums:
Life insurance in force $44,916 $38,486 $32,480
Earned premiums
Commercial lines insurance 2,246 $ 2,046 $ 1,969
Personal lines insurance 816 762 692
Total property casualty insurance 3,062 2,808 2,661
Life insurance 138 125 112
Total $ 3,200 $ 2,933 $ 2,773
Ceded to other companies:
Life insurance in force $28,196 $23,296 $18,529
Earned premiums
Commercial lines insurance $ 148 $ 193 $ 307
Personal lines insurance 27 18 23
Total property casualty insurance 175 211 330
Life insurance 37 30 24
Total $ 212 $ 241 $ 354
Assumed from other companies:
Life insurance in force $ 5 $ 6 $ 6
Earned premiums
Commercial lines insurance $ 28 $ 55 $ 59
Personal lines insurance 4 1 1
Total property casualty insurance 32 56 60
Life insurance 0 0 0
Total $ 32 $ 56 $ 60
Net premiums:
Life insurance in force $16,725 $15,196 $13,957
Earned premiums
Commercial lines insurance $ 2,126 $ 1,908 $ 1,721
Personal lines insurance 793 745 670
Total property casualty insurance 2,919 2,653 2,391
Life insurance 101 95 87
Total $ 3,020 $ 2,748 $ 2,478
Percentage of amount assumed to net:
Life insurance in force 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Earned premiums
Commercial lines insurance 1.3% 2.9% 3.4%
Personal lines insurance 0.5% 0.2% 0.2%
Total property casualty insurance 1.1% 2.1% 2.5%
Life insurance 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%
Total 1.1% 2.0% 2.4%
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ScHEDULE V

Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In millions)

2004

Years ended December 31,
2003

2002

Allowance for doubtful receivables:
Balance at beginning of period
Additions charged to costs and expenses
Other additions
Deductions

Balance at end of period
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ScHebpuLE VI
Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Supplementary Information Concerning Property Casualty Insurance Operations
Years ended December 31,
(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Deferred policy acquisition costs:
Commercial lines insurance $ 218 $ 207 180
Personal lines insurance 88 80 74
Total $ 306 $ 287 254
Reserves for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses:
Commercial lines insurance $ 3,016 $ 2,933 2,720
Personal lines insurance 498 453 430
Total $ 3,514 $ 3,386 3,150
Reserve discount deducted $ 0 $ 0 0
Unearned premiums:
Commercial lines insurance $ 1,112 $ 1,037 948
Personal lines insurance 425 407 369
Total $ 1,537 $ 1,444 1,317
Earned premiums:
Commercial lines insurance $ 2,126 $ 1,908 1,721
Personal lines insurance 793 745 670
Total $ 2,919 $ 2,653 2,391
Investment income:
Commercial lines insurance (1) $ 0 $ 0 0
Personal lines insurance (1) 0 0 0
Total $ 289 $ 245 234
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ScHebuLE VI (CoNTINUED)

Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Supplementary Information Concerning Property Casualty Insurance Operations

Years ended December 31,

(In millions) 2004 2003 2002
Loss and loss expenses incurred related to current accident year:
Commercial lines insurance (1) $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Personal lines insurance (1) 0 0 0
Total $ 1,949 $ 1,878 $ 1,790
Loss and loss expenses incurred related to prior accident years:
Commercial lines insurance (1) $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Personal lines insurance (1) 0 0 0
Total $ (196) $ (80 $ (45
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs:
Commercial lines insurance $ 448 $ 398 $ 363
Personal lines insurance 162 160 141
Total $ 610 $ 558 $ 504
Paid losses and loss expenses:
Commercial lines insurance $ 1,062 $ 1,003 $ 981
Personal lines insurance 559 558 508
Total $ 1,621 $ 1,561 $ 1,489
Written premiums:
Commercial lines insurance $ 2,186 $ 2,031 $ 1,905
Personal lines insurance 811 784 708
Total $ 2,997 $ 2,815 $ 2,613

Note to Schedule VI:

(1) This segment information is not regularly allocated to segments and not reviewed by company management in making decisions about

resources to be allocated to the segments or to assess their performance.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Cincinnati Financial Corporation

IS/ Kenneth W. Stecher

By: Kenneth W. Stecher

Title: Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Secretary

and Treasurer
Date: March 4, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been duly signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature
/S/ John J. Schiff, Jr.

John J. Schiff, Jr.
/S/ Kenneth W. Stecher

Kenneth W. Stecher
/S/ William F. Bahl

William F. Bahl
/S/ James E. Benoski

James E. Benoski
/S/ Michael Brown

Michael Brown
/S/ Dirk J. Debbink

Dirk J. Debbink
/S/ Kenneth C. Lichtendahl

Kenneth C. Lichtendahl
/S/' W. Rodney McMullen

W. Rodney McMullen
/S/ Gretchen W. Price

Gretchen W. Price
/S/ Thomas R. Schiff

Thomas R. Schiff
/S/ Frank J. Schultheis

Frank J. Schultheis
/S/ John M. Shepherd

John M. Shepherd
/S/ Douglas S. Skidmore

Douglas S. Skidmore
/S/ Larry R. Webb

Larry R. Webb
/S/ E. Anthony Woods

E. Anthony Woods

Title
Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Secretary

and Treasurer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Vice Chairman, Chief Insurance Officer and Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT 10.1
THE ASSOCIATED GENERAL CONTRACTORS OF AMERICA
[THE ASSOCIATED GENERAL CONTRACTORS OF AMERICA LOGO]
AGC DOCUMENT NO. 410

STANDARD FORM OF DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT AND
GENERAL CONDITIONS BETWEEN OWNER AND
DESIGN-BUILDER

(WHERE THE BASIS OF PAYMENT IS THE COST OF THE WORK PLUS A FEE WITH A
GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE)

This standard form agreement was developed with the advice and cooperation of
the AGC Private Industry Advisory Council, a number of Fortune 500 Owners'
design and construction managers who have been meeting with AGC contractors to
discuss issues of mutual concern. AGC gratefully acknowledges the contributions
of these owners' staff who participated in this effort to produce a basic
agreement for construction.

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1. AGREEMENT

2. GENERAL PROVISIONS

3. DESIGN-BUILDER'S RESPONSIBILITIES
4. OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

5. SUBCONTRACTS

6. TIME

7. COMPENSATION

8. COST OF THE WORK

9. CHANGES IN THE WORK

10. PAYMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES
11. INDEMNITY, INSURANCE, BONDS, AND WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

12. SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT AND OWNER'S RIGHT TO PERFORM
DESIGN-BUILDER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
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14. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
15. EXISTING CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
AMENDMENT NO. 1

This Agreement has important legal and insurance consequences. Consultation with
an attorney and an insurance adviser is encouraged with respect to its
completion or modification.

ARTICLE 1

AGREEMENT
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This Agreement is made as of the 6th day of January in the year two thousand
five, by and between the

OWNER
Cincinnati Financial Corporation
6200 South Gilmore Road
Fairfield, OH 45014
and the
DESIGN-BUILDER
Messer Construction Co.
5158 Fishwick Drive
for services in connection with the following PROJECT

CFC Tower Number 3 Expansion, includes construction and design of a
three-story underground garage and seven-story office building along with
campus site improvements at 6200 S. Gilmore Road, Fairfield, Ohio 45014.

Notice to the parties shall be given at the above addresses.

The parties intend that this Agreement govern the relationship between them for
work undertaken in furtherance of the project, whether such work occurred before
or after the effective date of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2
GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1 TEAM RELATIONSHIP Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Messer Construction
Co. agree to proceed with the Project on the basis of trust, good faith and fair
dealing and shall take all actions reasonably necessary to perform this
Agreement in an economical and timely manner, including consideration of design
modifications and alternative materials or equipment that will permit the Work
to be constructed within the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) and by the Dates of
Substantial Completion and Final Completion if they are established by Amendment
No. 1. Messer Construction Co. agrees to procure or furnish, as permitted by the
law of Ohio, the design phase services and construction phase services as set
forth below.

2.1.1 Messer Construction Co. represents that it is an independent
contractor and that it is familiar with the type of work it is
undertaking.

2.1.2 Neither Messer Construction Co. nor any of its agents or employees
shall act on behalf of or in the name of Cincinnati Financial Corporation
unless authorized in writing by Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
Representative.

2.2 ARCHITECT/ENGINEER Architectural and engineering services shall be performed
by licensed, and qualified independent design professionals selected and paid by
Messer Construction Co. or furnished by licensed employees of Messer
Construction Co. The standard of care for architectural and engineering services
performed under this Agreement shall be the care and skill ordinarily used by
members of the architectural and engineering professions practicing under
similar conditions at the same time and locality. Messer Construction Co. shall
be responsible to Cincinnati Financial Corporation for
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the acts and omissions of the parties in privity of contract with Messer
Construction Co., including, but not limited to, the architectural and
engineering services procured as referenced above. The architect/engineer for
the project is Roth Partnership, 212 E. 3rd Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202.

2.3 EXTENT OF AGREEMENT This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties,
represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties, and
supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written
or oral. The Agreement and each and every provision is for the exclusive benefit
of Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Messer Construction Co. and not for the
benefit of any third party nor any third party beneficiary, except to the extent
expressly provided in the Agreement.

2.4 DEFINITIONS
.1 The Contract Documents consist of:

a. Change Orders and written amendments to this Agreement including
exhibits and appendices, signed by both Cincinnati Financial
Corporation and Messer Construction Co., including Amendment No. 1
if executed;

b. this Agreement except for the existing Contract Documents set
forth in item e. below;

c. the most current documents approved by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation pursuant to Subparagraph 3.1.4, 3.1.6 or 3.1.7;

d. the information provided by Cincinnati Financial Corporation
pursuant to Clause 4.1.2.1;

e. the Contract Documents in existence at the time of execution of
this Agreement which are set forth in Article 15;

f. Cincinnati Financial Corporation's Program provided pursuant to
Subparagraph 4.1.1;

In case of any inconsistency, conflict or ambiguity among the
Contract Documents, the documents shall govern in the order in which
they are listed above.

.2 The term day shall mean calendar day, unless otherwise specifically
defined.

.3 Messer Construction Co.'s Fee means the compensation paid to Messer
Construction Co. for salaries and other mandatory or customary
compensation of Messer Construction Co.'s employees at its principal and
branch offices except employees listed in Subparagraph 8.2.2, general and
administrative expenses of Messer Construction Co.'s principal and branch
offices other than the field office, and Messer Construction Co.'s capital
expenses, including interest on Messer Construction Co.'s capital employed
for the Work, and profit.

.4 Defective Work is any portion of the Work not in conformance with the
Contract Documents as more fully described in Paragraph 3.8.

.5 The term Fast-track means accelerated scheduling which involves
commencing construction prior to the completion of drawings and
specifications and then using means such as bid packages and efficient
coordination to compress the overall schedule.

.6 Final Completion occurs on the date when Messer Construction Co.'s
obligations under this Agreement are complete and accepted by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and final payment becomes due and payable.

.7 A Material Supplier is a party or entity retained by the Messer
Construction Co. to provide material and equipment for the Work.
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.8 Others means all persons at the Work Site who are agents, employees,
contractors, or invitees of Cincinnati Financial Corporation, and who are
not otherwise Messer Construction Co., its agents, employees, contractors,
Subcontractors or Material Suppliers, or any of their subagents,
Subcontractors, and Material Suppliers.

.9 Cincinnati Financial Corporation is the person or entity identified as
such in this Agreement and includes Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
Representative.

.10 Cincinnati Financial Corporation's Program is an initial description
of Cincinnati Financial Corporation's objectives, that may include budget
and time criteria, space requirements and relationships, flexibility and
expandability requirements, special equipment and systems, and site
requirements.

.11 The Project, as identified in Article 1, is the building, facility
and/or other improvements for which Messer Construction Co. is to perform
the Work under this Agreement. It may also include improvements to be
undertaken by Cincinnati Financial Corporation or Others.

.12 A Subcontractor is a party or entity retained by Messer Construction
Co. as an independent contractor to provide the on-site labor, materials,
equipment and/or services necessary to complete a specific portion of the
Work. The term Subcontractor does not include Roth Partnership or any
separate contractor employed by Cincinnati Financial Corporation or any
separate contractors subcontractors.

.13 Substantial Completion of the Work, or of a designated portion, occurs
on the date when Messer Construction Co.'s obligations are sufficiently
complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that Cincinnati
Financial Corporation can or does occupy or utilize the Project, or a
designated portion, for the use for which it is intended, in accordance
with Paragraph 10.4. The issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy is not a
prerequisite for Substantial Completion if the Certificate of Occupancy
cannot be obtained due to factors beyond Messer Construction Co.'s
control. This date shall be confirmed by a Certificate of Substantial
Completion signed by Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Messer
Construction Co.. The Certificate shall state the respective
responsibilities of Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Messer
Construction Co. for security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the
Work, and insurance. The Certificate shall also list the items to be
completed or corrected, and establish the time for their completion and
correction, within the time frame, if any, established in Amendment No. 1
for the Date of Final Completion. Cincinnati Financial Corporation may
withhold retainage in an amount not to exceed 150% of the estimated cost
of the items to be completed or corrected, to be disbursed upon
completion.

.14 A Subsubcontractor is a party or entity who has an agreement with a
Subcontractor to perform any portion of the Subcontractor's work.

.15 The Work is the Design Phase Services procured or furnished in
accordance with Paragraph 3.1, the GMP Proposal provided in accordance
with Paragraph 3.2, the Construction Phase Services provided in accordance
with Paragraph 3.3, Additional Services that may be provided in accordance
with Paragraph 3.10, and other services which are necessary to complete
the Project in accordance with and reasonably inferable from the Contract
Documents.

.16 Worksite means the geographical area at the location mentioned in
Article 1 where the Work is to be performed.

ARTICLE 3

DESIGN-BUILDER'S RESPONSIBILITIES
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Messer Construction Co. shall be responsible for the design and for the
construction of the Work consistent with Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
Program, as such Program may be modified by Cincinnati Financial Corporation
during the course of the Work. Messer Construction Co. shall exercise reasonable
skill and judgment in the performance of its services consistent with the team
relationship described in Paragraph 2.1, but does not warrant nor guarantee
schedules and estimates other than those that are part of the GMP proposal.

Messer Construction Co. and Cincinnati Financial Corporation may establish a
Fast-track approach to the design and construction services necessary to
complete the Project. Such agreement establishing a Fast-track approach and the
Schedule of the Work shall be included as an exhibit to this Agreement. In the
absence of such agreement, the parties shall proceed in accordance with
Paragraphs 3.1 and 3.3 below.

3.1 DESIGN PHASE SERVICES

3.1.1 PRELIMINARY EVALUATION. Messer Construction Co. shall review
Cincinnati Financial Corporation's Program to ascertain the requirements
of the Project and shall verify such requirements with Cincinnati
Financial Corporation. Messer Construction Co.'s review shall also provide
to Cincinnati Financial Corporation a preliminary evaluation of the site
with regard to access, traffic, drainage, parking, building placement and
other considerations affecting the building, the environment and energy
use, as well as information regarding applicable governmental laws,
regulations and requirements. Messer Construction Co. shall also propose
alternative architectural, civil, structural, mechanical, electrical and
other systems for review by Cincinnati Financial Corporation, to determine
the most desirable approach on the basis of cost, technology, quality and
speed of delivery. Messer Construction Co. will also review existing test
reports but will not undertake any independent testing nor be required to
furnish types of information derived from such testing in its Preliminary
Evaluation. Based upon its review and verification of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's Program and other relevant information Messer Construction
Co. shall provide a Preliminary Evaluation of the Projects feasibility for
Cincinnati Financial Corporation's acceptance. Messer Construction Co.'s
Preliminary Evaluation shall specifically identify any deviations from
Cincinnati Financial Corporation's Program.

3.1.2 PRELIMINARY SCHEDULE. Messer Construction Co. shall prepare a
preliminary schedule of the Work. Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall
provide written approval of milestone dates established in the preliminary
schedule of the Work. The schedule shall show the activities of Cincinnati
Financial Corporation, Roth Partnership and Messer Construction Co.
necessary to meet Cincinnati Financial Corporation's completion
requirements. The schedule shall be updated periodically with the level of
detail for each schedule update reflecting the information then available.
If an update indicates that a previously approved schedule will not be
met, Messer Construction Co. shall recommend corrective action to
Cincinnati Financial Corporation in writing.

3.1.3 PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE. When sufficient Project information has been
identified, Messer Construction Co. shall prepare for Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's written acceptance a preliminary estimate utilizing area,
volume or similar conceptual estimating techniques. The estimate shall be
updated periodically with the level of detail for each estimate update
reflecting the information then available. If the preliminary estimate or
any update exceeds Cincinnati Financial Corporation's budget, Messer
Construction Co. shall make written recommendations to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation.

3.1.4 SCHEMATIC DESIGN DOCUMENTS. The Design-Builder shall submit for
Cincinnati Financial Corporation's written approval Schematic Design
Documents, based on the agreed upon Preliminary Evaluation. Schematic
Design Documents shall include drawings, outline specifications
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and other conceptual documents illustrating the Projects basic elements,
scale, and their relationship to the Worksite. One set of these documents
shall be furnished to Cincinnati Financial Corporation. When Messer
Construction Co. submits the Schematic Design Documents Messer
Construction Co. shall identify in writing all material changes and
deviations that have taken place from Messer Construction Co.'s
Preliminary Evaluation, schedule and estimate. Messer Construction Co.
shall update the preliminary schedule and estimate based on the Schematic
Design Documents.

3.1.5 PLANNING PERMITS. Messer Construction Co. shall obtain and
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall pay for all planning permits
necessary for the construction of the Project.

3.1.6 DESIGN DEVELOPMENT DOCUMENTS. Messer Construction Co. shall submit
for Cincinnati Financial Corporation's written approval Design Development
Documents based on the approved Schematic Design Documents. The Design
Development Documents shall further define the Project including drawings
and outline specifications fixing and describing the Project size and
character as to site utilization, and other appropriate elements
incorporating the structural, architectural, mechanical and electrical
systems. One set of these documents shall be furnished to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation. When Messer Construction Co. submits the Design
Development Documents, Messer Construction Co. shall identify in writing
all material changes and deviations that have taken place from the
Schematic Design Documents. Messer Construction Co. shall update the
schedule and estimate based on the Design Development Documents.

3.1.7 CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS. Messer Construction Co. shall submit for
Cincinnati Financial Corporation's written approval Construction Documents
based on the approved Design Development Documents. The Construction
Documents shall set forth in detail the requirements for construction of
the Work, and shall consist of drawings and specifications based upon
codes, laws and regulations enacted at the time of their preparation. When
Messer Construction Co. submits the Construction Documents, Messer
Construction Co. shall identify in writing all material changes and
deviations that have taken place from the Design Development Documents.
Construction shall be in accordance with these approved Construction
Documents. One set of these documents shall be furnished to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation prior to commencement of construction. If a GMP has
not been established, Messer Construction Co. shall prepare a further
update of the schedule and estimate based on the Construction Documents.

3.1.8 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS. Upon the making of payment pursuant to
Paragraph 10.5, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall receive ownership
of the property rights, except for copyrights, of all documents, drawings,
specifications, electronic data and information prepared, provided or
procured by Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership, Subcontractors and
consultants and distributed to Cincinnati Financial Corporation for this
Project. (Design-Build Documents)

.1 If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Paragraph 12.2,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall receive ownership of the
property rights, except for copyrights, of the Design-Build
Documents upon payment for all Work performed in accordance with
this Agreement, at which time Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall
have the right to use, reproduce and make derivative works from the
Design-Build Documents to complete the Work.

.2 If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Paragraph 12.3,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall receive ownership of the
property rights, except for copyrights, of the Design-Build
Documents upon payment of all sums provided in Paragraph 12.3, at
which time Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall have the right to
use, reproduce and make derivative works from the Design-Build
Documents to complete the Work.
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.3 Cincinnati Financial Corporation may use, reproduce and make
derivative works from the Design-Build Documents for subsequent
renovation and remodeling of the Work, but shall not use, reproduce
or make derivative works from the Design-Build Documents for other
projects without the written authorization of Messer Construction
Co., who shall not unreasonably withhold consent.

.4 Cincinnati Financial Corporation's use of the Design-Build
Documents without Messer Construction Co.'s involvement or on other
projects is at Cincinnati Financial Corporation's sole risk, except
for Messer Construction Co.'s indemnification obligation pursuant to
Paragraph 3.7, and Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless Messer Construction Co., Roth
Partnership, Subcontractors and consultants, and the agents,
officers, directors and employees of each of them from and against
any and all claims, damages, losses, costs and expenses, including
but not limited to attorney's fees, costs and expenses incurred in
connection with any dispute resolution process, arising out of or
resulting from Cincinnati Financial Corporation's use of the
Design-Build Documents. If Messer Construction Co. defaults in the
performance of this Agreement, Cincinnati Financial Corporation
shall receive ownership of the property rights, except for
copyrights, of the Design-Build Documents and shall have the right
to use, reproduce and make deerivative works from the Design-Build
Documents to complete the Work.

.5 Messer Construction Co. shall obtain from Roth Partnership,
Subcontractors and consultants property rights and rights of use
that correspond to the rights given by Messer Construction Co. to
Cincinnati Financial Corporation in this Agreement.

3.2 GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE (GMP)

3.2.1 GMP PROPOSAL. At such time as Cincinnati Financial Corporation and
Messer Construction Co. jointly agree, Messer Construction Co. shall
submit a GMP Proposal in a format acceptable to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation. Unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, the GMP shall be
the sum of the estimated Cost of the Work as defined in Article 8 and
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee as defined in Article 7. The GMP is subject
to modification as provided in Article 9.

3.2.1.1 If the Design-Build Documents are not complete at the time
the GMP Proposal is submitted to Cincinnati Financial Corporation,
Messer Construction Co. shall provide in the GMP for further
development of the Design-Build Documents consistent with Cincinnati
Financial Corporation's Program. Such further development does not
include changes in scope, systems, kinds and quality of materials,
finishes or equipment, all of which if required, shall be
incorporated by Change Order.

3.2.2 BASIS OF GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE. Messer Construction Co. shall
include with the GMP Proposal a written statement of its basis, which
shall include:

.1 a list of the drawings and specifications, including all addenda,
which were used in preparation of the GMP Proposal;

.2 a list of allowances and a statement of their basis;

.3 a list of the assumptions and clarifications made by Messer
Construction Co. in the preparation of the GMP Proposal to
supplement the information contained in the drawings and
specifications;

.4 the Date of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final
Completion upon which the proposed GMP is based, and the Schedule of
work upon which the Date of Substantial Completion and/or the Date
of Final Completion is based;
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.5 a schedule of applicable alternate prices;

.6 a schedule of applicable unit prices;

.7 a statement of Additional Services included, if any;
.8 the time limit for acceptance of the GMP proposal;

.9 Messer Construction Co.'s Contingency as provided in Subparagraph
3.2.7; and Owner Contingency if, so directed by Owner,

.10 a statement of any work to be self-performed by Messer
Construction Co.; and

.11 a statement identifying all patented or copyrighted materials,
methods or systems selected by Messer Construction Co. and
incorporated in the Work that are likely to require the payment of
royalties or license fees, and

.12 100% payment and performance bonds.

3.2.3 REVIEW AND ADJUSTMENT TO GMP PROPOSAL Messer Construction Co. shall
meet with Cincinnati Financial Corporation to review the GMP Proposal. In
the event that Cincinnati Financial Corporation has any comments relative
to the GMP Proposal, or finds any inconsistencies or inaccuracies in the
information presented, it shall give prompt written notice of such
comments or findings to Messer Construction Co., who shall make
appropriate adjustments to the GMP, its basis or both. Nothing contained
herein shall require Cincinnati Financial Corporation to discover any such
matter and Cincinnati Financial Corporation's failure to discover any such
matter shall not limit, excuse or diminish Messer Construction Co.'s
obligations hereunder in any way whatsoever.

3.2.4 ACCEPTANCE OF GMP PROPOSAL Upon acceptance by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation of the GMP Proposal, as may be amended by Messer Construction
Co. in accordance with Subparagraph 3.2.3, the GMP and its basis shall be
set forth in Amendment No. 1. The GMP and the Date of Substantial
Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion shall be subject to
modification as provided in Articles 6 and 9.

3.2.5 FAILURE TO ACCEPT THE GMP PROPOSAL Unless Cincinnati Financial
Corporation accepts the GMP Proposal in writing on or before the date
specified in the GMP Proposal for such acceptance and so notifies the
Messer Construction Co., the GMP Proposal shall not be effective. If
Cincinnati Financial Corporation fails to accept the GMP Proposal, or
rejects the GMP Proposal, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall have the
right to:

.1 Suggest modifications to the GMP Proposal. If such modifications
are accepted in writing by Messer Construction Co., the GMP Proposal
shall be deemed accepted in accordance with Subparagraph 3.2.4;

.2 Direct Messer Construction Co. to proceed on the basis of
reimbursement as provided in Articles 7 and 8 without a GMP, in
which case all references in this Agreement to the GMP shall not be
applicable; or

.3 Terminate the Agreement for convenience in accordance with
Paragraph 12.3.

In the absence of a GMP the parties may establish a Date of
Substantial Completion and/or a Date of Final Completion.

3.2.6 PRE-GMP WORK Prior to Cincinnati Financial Corporation's acceptance
of the GMP Proposal, Messer Construction Co. shall not incur any cost to
be reimbursed as part of the Cost of the Work, except as provided in this
Agreement or as Cincinnati Financial Corporation may
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specifically authorize in writing.

3.2.7 DESIGN-BUILDER'S CONTINGENCY The GMP Proposal will contain, as part
of the estimated Cost of the Work, Messer Construction Co.'s Contingency,
a sum mutually agreed upon and monitored by Messer Construction Co. and
Cincinnati Financial Corporation for use at Messer Construction Co.'s
discretion to cover costs which are properly reimbursable as a Cost of the
Work but are not the basis for a Change Order.

Design-Builder's Contingency is to cover such things as (but not limited to)
changes in market conditions, estimating variances or judgment errors in pricing
at the time of establishing the GMP, delay costs not otherwise compensated,
unanticipated changes in construction methods, default by a Subcontractor or
supplier, and acceleration costs required to meet the Contract Time. Any funds
remaining in the Design-Builder's Contingency upon the completion of the work
including any warranty work shall belong to Cincinnati Financial Corporation.
The Owner, in its discretion, may establish an Owner's Contingency, which is
entirely separate from the Design-Builder's Contingency. The Owner's
Contingency, if established, is for the Owner's exclusive use in its sole
discretion to add scope to the Project, to pay for unanticipated costs incurred
by the Design-Builder which are the Owner's responsibility, or for other
purposes that the Owner may designate. The Owner's Contingency is not part of
the Guaranteed Maximum Price. If requested by the Owner, the Design-Builder will
advise the Owner of the expenditures against the Owner's Contingency on a
monthly basis but will not guarantee the sufficiency of the Owner's Contingency
for any purpose.

3.3 CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES

3.3.1 The Construction Phase will commence upon the issuance by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation of a written notice to proceed with construction. If
construction commences prior to execution of Amendment No. 1, Messer
Construction Co. shall prepare for Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
written approval a list of the documents that are applicable to the part
of the Work which Cincinnati Financial Corporation has authorized, which
list shall be included in Cincinnati Financial Corporation's written
notice to proceed.

3.3.2 In order to complete the Work, Messer Construction Co. shall provide
all necessary construction supervision, inspection, construction
equipment, labor, materials, tools, and subcontracted items.

3.3.3 Messer Construction Co. shall give all notices and comply with all
laws and ordinances legally enacted at the date of execution of the
Agreement which govern the proper performance of the Work.

3.3.4 Messer Construction Co. shall obtain and shall pay for the building
permits necessary for the construction of the Project.

3.3.5 Messer Construction Co. shall keep such full and detailed accounts
as are necessary for proper financial management under this Agreement.
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall be afforded access to all Messer
Construction Co.'s records, books, correspondence, instructions, drawings,
receipts, vouchers, memoranda and similar data relating to this Agreement.
Messer Construction Co. shall preserve all such records for a period of
three years after the final payment or longer where required by law.

3.3.6 The Messer Construction Co. shall provide no less than monthly
written reports to Cincinnati Financial Corporation on the progress of the
Work in such detail as is required by Cincinnati Financial Corporation and
as agreed to by Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Messer
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Construction Co..

3.3.7 Messer Construction Co. shall develop a system of cost reporting for
the Work, including regular monitoring of actual costs for activities in
progress and estimates for uncompleted tasks and proposed changes in the
Work. The reports shall be presented to Cincinnati Financial Corporation
at mutually agreeable intervals, no less than monthly.

3.3.8 Messer Construction Co. shall regularly remove debris and waste
materials at the Worksite resulting from the Work. Prior to discontinuing
Work in an area, Messer Construction Co. shall clean the area and remove
all rubbish and its construction equipment, tools, machinery, waste and
surplus materials. Messer Construction Co. shall minimize and confine dust
and debris resulting from construction activities. At the completion of
the Work, Messer Construction Co. shall remove from the Worksite all
construction equipment, tools, surplus materials, waste materials and
debris. Messer Construction Co. acknowledges that Cincinnati Financial
Corporation and its affiliates and tenants are conducting business in the
existing office towers of which the Project will become a part, and Messer
Construction Co. agrees it will exercise its reasonable efforts to
minimize disruption to such activities that will be ongoing in the
existing office towers and at the Project site. Messer Construction Co.'s
operating hours and procedures will be specified in greater detail in the
GMP documents to be submitted for Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
approval. Messer Construction Co. will not be required to operate outside
normal working hours unless approved by Cincinnati Financial Corporation,
or unless Cincinnati Financial Corporation issues a Change Order to this
effect and agrees to be responsible for resulting cost and time impacts.

3.3.9 Messer Construction Co. shall prepare and submit to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation:

final marked up as-built drawings

in general documenting how the various elements of the Work including
changes were actually constructed or installed, or as defined by the
parties by attachment to this Agreement.

3.4 SCHEDULE OF THE WORK. Messer Construction Co. shall prepare and submit a
Schedule of Work for Cincinnati Financial Corporation's acceptance and written
approval. This schedule shall indicate the dates for the start and completion of
the various stages of the Work, including the dates when information and
approvals are required from Cincinnati Financial Corporation. The Schedule shall
be revised by Messer Construction Co. as required by the conditions of the Work,
subject to approval by Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

3.5 SAFETY OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

3.5.1 SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS. Messer Construction Co. shall have
overall responsibility for safety precautions and programs in the
performance of the Work. Messer Construction Co. shall take reasonable
steps to comply and cause all Subcontractors and Material Suppliers to
comply with all applicable provisions of Federal, State and Municipal
safety laws to prevent accidents or injuries to persons or damage to
property on, about or adjacent to the Work Site. While the provisions of
this Paragraph establish the responsibility for safety between Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and Messer Construction Co., they do not relieve
Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or
property in the performance of their work, nor for compliance with the
provisions of applicable laws and regulations.

3.5.2 Messer Construction Co. shall seek to avoid injury, loss or damage
to persons or property by taking reasonable steps to protect:
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.1 its employees and other persons at the Worksite;

.2 materials, supplies and equipment stored at the Worksite for use
in performance of the Work; and

.3 the Project and all property located at the Worksite and adjacent
to work areas, whether or not said property or structures are part
of the Project or involved in the Work.

3.5.3 DESIGN-BUILDER'S SAFETY REPRESENTATIVE. Messer Construction Co.
shall designate an individual at the Worksite in the employ of Messer
Construction Co. who shall act as Messer Construction Co.'s designated
safety representative with a duty to prevent accidents. Unless otherwise
identified by Messer Construction Co. in writing to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, the designated safety representative shall be Messer
Construction Co.'s project superintendent. Messer Construction Co. will
report immediately in writing all accidents and injuries occurring at the
Worksite to Cincinnati Financial Corporation. When Messer Construction Co.
is required to file an accident report with a public authority, Messer
Construction Co. shall furnish a copy of the report to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation.

3.5.4 Messer Construction Co. shall provide Cincinnati Financial
Corporation with copies of all notices required of Messer Construction Co.
by law or regulation. Messer Construction Co.'s safety program shall
comply with the requirements of governmental and quasi-governmental
authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.

3.5.5 Damage or loss not insured under property insurance which may arise
from the performance of the Work, to the extent of the negligence
attributed to such acts or omissions of Messer Construction Co., or anyone
for whose acts Messer Construction Co. may be liable, shall be promptly
remedied by Messer Construction Co.. Damage or loss attributable to the
acts or omissions of Cincinnati Financial Corporation or Others and not to
Messer Construction Co. shall be promptly remedied by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation.

3.5.6 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation deems any part of the Work or
wWorksite unsafe, Cincinnati Financial Corporation, without assuming
responsibility for Messer Construction Co.'s safety program, may require
Messer Construction Co. to stop performance of the Work or take corrective
measures satisfactory to Cincinnati Financial Corporation, or both. If
Messer Construction Co. does not adopt corrective measures, Cincinnati
Financial Corporation may perform them and reduce by the costs of the
corrective measures the amount of the GMP, or in the absence of a GMP, the
Cost of the Work as provided in Article 8. Messer Construction Co. agrees
to make no claim for damages, for an increase in the GMP, compensation for
Design Phase Services, Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and/or the Date of
Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion based on Messer
Construction Co.'s compliance with Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
reasonable request.

3.6 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

3.6.1 A Hazardous Material is any substance or material identified now or
in the future as hazardous under any federal, state or local law or
regulation, or any other substance or material which may be considered
hazardous or otherwise subject to statutory or regulatory requirements
governing handling, disposal and/or clean-up. Messer Construction Co.
shall not be obligated to commence or continue work until all Hazardous
Material discovered at the Worksite has been removed, rendered or
determined to be harmless by Cincinnati Financial Corporation as certified
by an independent testing laboratory approved by the appropriate
government agency.

3.6.2 If after the commencement of the Work, Hazardous Material is
discovered at the Work Site,
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Messer Construction Co. shall be entitled to immediately stop Work in the
affected area. Messer Construction Co. shall report the condition to
Cincinnati Financial Corporation and, if required, the government agency
with jurisdiction.

3.6.3 Messer Construction Co. shall not be required to perform any Work
relating to or in the area of Hazardous Material without written mutual
agreement.

3.6.4 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall be responsible for retaining
an independent testing laboratory to determine the nature of the material
encountered and whether it is a Hazardous Material requiring corrective
measures and/or remedial action. Such measures shall be the sole
responsibility of Cincinnati Financial Corporation, and shall be performed
in a manner minimizing any adverse effects upon the Work of Messer
Construction Co.. Messer Construction Co. shall resume Work in the area
affected by any Hazardous Material only upon written agreement between the
parties after the Hazardous Material has been removed or rendered harmless
and only after approval, if necessary, of the governmental agency or
agencies with jurisdiction.

3.6.5 If Messer Construction Co. incurs additional costs and/or is delayed
due to the presence or remediation of Hazardous Material, Messer
Construction Co. shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the GMP,
compensation for Design Phase Services, Messer Construction Co.'s Fee
and/or the Date of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final
Completion.

3.6.6 Provided Messer Construction Co., its Subcontractors, Material
Suppliers and Subsubcontractors, and the agents, officers, directors and
employees of each of them, have not, acting under their own authority,
knowingly entered upon any portion of the Work containing Hazardous
Materials, and to the extent not caused by the negligent acts or omissions
of the Messer Construction Co., its Subcontractors, Material Suppliers and
Subsubcontractors, and the agents, officers, directors and employees of
each of them, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall defend, indemnify and
hold harmless the Messer Construction Co., its Subcontractors and
Subsubcontractors, and the agents, officers, directors and employees of
each of them, from and against any and all direct claims, damages, losses,
costs and expenses, including but not limited to attorney's fees, costs
and expenses incurred in connection with any dispute resolution process,
arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work in any area
affected by Hazardous Material.

3.6.7 Material Safety Data (MSD) sheets as required by law and pertaining
to materials or substances used or consumed in the performance of the
wWork, whether obtained by Messer Construction Co., Subcontractors,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation or Others, shall be maintained at the
Project by Messer Construction Co. and made available to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and Subcontractors.

3.6.8 During Messer Construction Co.'s performance of the Work, Messer
Construction Co. shall be responsible for the proper handling of all
materials, including Hazardous Materials, brought to the Work Site by
Messer Construction Co., its Subcontractors, Material Suppliers,
Sub-Subcontractors, and the agents, officers, directors and employees of
each of them. Except for those Hazardous Materials improperly handled,
referenced in Section 3.6.6 hereof, Messer Construction Co. shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless Cincinnati Financial Corporation from and
against any and all direct claims, damages, losses, costs and expenses,
including but not limited to attorneys' fees, costs and expenses incurred
in connection with any dispute resolution process, arising out of or
relating to the performance of the Work in any area whether or not
affected by Hazardous Materials. Upon the issuance of the Certificate of
Substantial Completion, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall be
responsible under this paragraph for materials and substances brought to
the site by Messer Construction Co. if such materials or substances are
required by the Contract Documents.
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3.6.9 The terms of this Paragraph 3.6 shall survive the completion of the
Work under this Agreement and/or any termination of this Agreement.

3.7 ROYALTIES, PATENTS AND COPYRIGHTS. Messer Construction Co. shall pay all
royalties and license fees which may be due on the inclusion of any patented or
copyrighted materials, methods or systems selected by Messer Construction Co.
and incorporated in the Work. Messer Construction Co. shall defend, indemnify
and hold Cincinnati Financial Corporation harmless from all suits or claims for
infringement of any patent rights or copyrights arising out of such selection.
Cincinnati Financial Corporation agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Messer
Construction Co. harmless from all suits or claims of infringement of any patent
rights or copyrights arising out of any patented or copyrighted materials,
methods or systems specified by Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

3.8 WARRANTIES AND COMPLETION

3.8.1 Messer Construction Co. warrants that all materials and equipment
furnished under the Construction Phase of this Agreement will be new
unless otherwise specified, of good quality, in conformance with the
Contract Documents, and free from defective workmanship and materials.
Warranties shall commence on the Date of Substantial Completion of the
Work or of a designated portion. The Messer Construction Co. agrees to
correct all construction performed under this Agreement which is defective
in workmanship or materials within a period of one year from the Date of
Substantial Completion or for such longer periods of time as may be set
forth with respect to specific warranties required by the Contract
Documents.

3.8.2 To the extent products, equipment, systems or materials incorporated
in the Work are specified and purchased by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, they shall be covered exclusively by the warranty of the
manufacturer. There are no warranties which extend beyond the description
on the face of any such warranty. To the extent products, equipment,
systems or materials incorporated in the Work are specified by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation but purchased by the Messer Construction Co. and are
inconsistent with selection criteria that otherwise would have been
followed by the Messer Construction Co., the Messer Construction Co. shall
assist Cincinnati Financial Corporation in pursuing warranty claims. ALL
OTHER WARRANTIES EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED INCLUDING THE WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY AND THE WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE ARE
EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED.

3.8.3 The Messer Construction Co. shall secure required certificates of
inspection, testing or approval and deliver them to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation.

3.8.4 The Messer Construction Co. shall collect all written warranties and
equipment manuals and deliver them to Cincinnati Financial Corporation in
a format directed by Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

3.8.5 With the assistance of Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
maintenance personnel, the Messer Construction Co. shall direct the
checkout of utilities and start up operations, and adjusting and balancing
of systems and equipment for readiness.

3.9 CONFIDENTIALITY. The Messer Construction Co. shall treat as confidential and
not disclose to third persons, except Subcontractors, Subsubcontractors and Roth
Partnership as is necessary for the performance of the Work, or use for its own
benefit any of Cincinnati Financial Corporation's developments, confidential
information, know-how, discoveries, production methods and the like that may be
disclosed to the Messer Construction Co. or which the Messer Construction Co.
may acquire in connection with the Work. Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall
treat as confidential information all of the Messer Construction Co.'s
estimating systems and historical and parameter cost data that may be disclosed
to Cincinnati Financial Corporation in connection with the performance of this
Agreement.
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3.10 ADDITIONAL SERVICES. The Messer Construction Co. shall provide or procure
the following Additional Services upon the request of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation. A written agreement between Cincinnati Financial Corporation and
the Messer Construction Co. shall define the extent of such Additional Services
before they are performed by the Messer Construction Co.. If a GMP has been
established for the Work or any portion of the Work, such Additional Services
shall be considered a Change in the Work, unless they are specifically included
in the statement of the basis of the GMP as set forth in Amendment No. 1.

.1 Development of Cincinnati Financial Corporation's Program, establishing
the Project budget, investigating sources of financing, general business
planning and other information and documentation as may be required to
establish the feasibility of the Project.

.2 Consultations, negotiations, and documentation supporting the
procurement of Project financing.

.3 Site evaluations and legal descriptions.

.4 Appraisals of existing equipment, existing properties, new equipment
and developed properties.

.5 Soils, subsurface and environmental studies, reports and investigations
required for submission to governmental authorities or others having
jurisdiction over the Project.

.6 Consultations and representations before governmental authorities or
others having jurisdiction over the Project other than normal assistance
in securing building permits.

.7 Investigation or making measured drawings of existing conditions or the
reasonably required verification of Cincinnati Financial Corporation
-provided drawings and information.

.8 Artistic renderings, of the Project or any part of the Project or the
Work.

.9 Inventories of existing fixtures, furnishings and equipment which might
be under consideration for incorporation into the Work.

.10 Interior design and related services including procurement and
placement of furnishings, artwork and decorations.

.11 Making revisions to the Schematic Design, Design Development,
Construction Documents or documents forming the basis of the GMP after
they have been approved by Cincinnati Financial Corporation, and which are
due to causes beyond the control of the Messer Construction Co.. Causes
within the control of the Messer Construction Co. include but are not
necessarily limited to, acts or omissions on the part of Subcontractors,
Material Suppliers, Subsubcontractors or Roth Partnership.

.12 Design, coordination, management, expediting and other services
supporting the procurement of materials to be obtained, or work to be
performed, by Cincinnati Financial Corporation, including but not limited
to telephone systems, and other specialty systems which are not a part of
the Work as defined in the GMP document.

.13 Estimates, proposals, appraisals, consultations, negotiations and
services in connection with the repair or replacement of an insured loss,
provided such repair or replacement did not result from the negligence of
the Messer Construction Co..

.14 The premium portion of overtime work ordered by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, including productivity impact costs, other than that required
by the Messer Construction Co. to maintain the Schedule of Work.

.15 Out-of-town travel approved in advance by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation.
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.16 Obtaining service contractors and training maintenance personnel,
assisting and consulting in the use of systems and equipment after the
initial start up.

.17 Services for tenant or rental spaces not a part of this Agreement.

.18 Services requested by Cincinnati Financial Corporation or required by
the Work which are not specified in the Contract Documents and which are
not normally part of generally accepted design and construction practice.

.19 Serving or preparing to serve as an expert witness in connection with
any proceeding, legal or otherwise, regarding the Project.

.20 Document reproduction exceeding the limits provided for in this
Agreement.

3.11 DESIGN-BUILDER'S REPRESENTATIVE The Messer Construction Co. shall designate
a person who shall be the Messer Construction Co.'s authorized representative.
The Messer Construction Co.'s Representative is J. Steve Eder.

ARTICLE 4
OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES
4.1 INFORMATION AND SERVICES PROVIDED BY OWNER

4.1.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall provide full information in a
timely manner regarding requirements for the Project, including Cincinnati
Financial Corporation's Program and other relevant information.

4.1.2 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall provide:

.1 all available information describing the physical characteristics
of the site, including surveys, site evaluations, legal
descriptions, existing conditions, subsurface and environmental
studies, reports and investigations;

.2 unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, necessary
approvals, site plan review, rezoning, easements and assessments,
fees and charges required for the construction, use, occupancy or
renovation of permanent structures, including legal and other
required services.

4.1.3 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall provide reasonable evidence
satisfactory to the Messer Construction Co., prior to commencing the Work
and during the progress of the Work, that sufficient funds are available
and committed for the entire cost of the Project, including a reasonable
allowance for changes in the Work as may be approved in the course of the
wWork. Unless such reasonable evidence is provided, the Messer Construction
Co. shall not be required to commence or continue the Work. The Messer
Construction Co. may stop Work after seven (7) days' written notice to
Cincinnati Financial Corporation if such evidence is not presented within
a reasonable time. The failure of the Messer Construction Co. to insist
upon the providing of this evidence at any one time shall not be a waiver
of Cincinnati Financial Corporation's obligation to make payments pursuant
to this Agreement, nor shall it be a waiver of the Messer Construction
Co.'s right to require that such evidence be provided at a later date.

4.1.4 The Messer Construction Co. shall be entitled to rely on the
completeness and accuracy of the information and services required by this
Paragraph 4.1.
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4.2 RESPONSIBILITIES DURING DESIGN PHASE

4.2.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall provide Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's Program at the inception of the Design Phase and shall
review and timely approve in writing schedules, estimates, Preliminary
Estimate, Schematic Design Documents, Design Development Documents and
Construction Documents furnished during the Design Phase as set forth in
Paragraph 3.1, and the GMP Proposal as set forth in Paragraph 3.2.

4.3 RESPONSIBILITIES DURING CONSTRUCTION PHASE

4.3.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall review and timely approve the
Schedule of the Work as set forth in Paragraph 3.4.

4.3.2 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation becomes aware of any error,
omission or failure to meet the requirements of the Contract Documents or
any fault or defect in the Work, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall
give prompt written notice to the Messer Construction Co.. Nothing
contained herein shall require Cincinnati Financial Corporation to
discover any such matter and Cincinnati Financial Corporation's failure to
discover any such matter shall not limit, excuse or dimish Messer
Construction Co.'s obligations hereunder in any way whatsoever.

4.3.3 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall communicate with the Messer
Construction Co.'s Subcontractors, Material Suppliers and Roth Partnership
only through or in the presence of the Messer Construction Co.. unless
otherwise agreed by Messer Construction Co. and Cincinnati Financial
Corporation provided Messer shall not allow any Subcontractor, Material
Supplier or the Roth Partnership to take any action based on
communications with Cincinnati Financial Corporation unless also
authorized by Messer Construction Co. Cincinnati Financial Corporation
shall have no contractual obligations to Subcontractors, Material
Suppliers, or Roth Partnership.

4.3.4 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall provide insurance for the
Project as provided in Article 11.

4.4 OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. Cincinnati Financial Corporation's Representative is
Norm Settle. The Representative:

.1 shall be fully acquainted with the Project;

.2 agrees to furnish the information and services required of Cincinnati
Financial Corporation pursuant to Paragraph 4.1 so as not to delay the
Messer Construction Co.'s Work; and

.3 shall have authority to bind Cincinnati Financial Corporation in all
matters requiring Cincinnati Financial Corporation's approval,
authorization or written notice. If Cincinnati Financial Corporation
changes its representative or the representatives authority as listed
above, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall notify the Messer
Construction Co. in writing.

4.5 TAX EXEMPTION. If in accordance with Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
direction the Messer Construction Co. claims an exemption for taxes, Cincinnati
Financial Corporation shall defend, indemnify and hold the Messer Construction
Co. harmless for all liability, penalty, interest, fine, tax assessment,
attorney's fees or other expense or cost incurred by the Messer Construction Co.
as a result of any action taken by the Messer Construction Co. in accordance
with Cincinnati Financial Corporation's direction.

ARTICLE 5
SUBCONTRACTS

Work not performed by the Messer Construction Co. with its own forces shall be
performed by
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Subcontractors or Roth Partnership.

5.1 RETAINING SUBCONTRACTORS. The Messer Construction Co. shall not retain any
Subcontractor to whom Cincinnati Financial Corporation has a reasonable and
timely objection, provided that Cincinnati Financial Corporation agrees to
compensate the Messer Construction Co. for any additional costs incurred by the
Messer Construction Co. as a result of such objection. Cincinnati Financial
Corporation may propose Subcontractors to be considered by the Messer
Construction Co.. The Messer Construction Co. shall not be required to retain
any Subcontractor to whom the Messer Construction Co. has a reasonable
objection.

5.2 MANAGEMENT OF SUBCONTRACTORS. The Messer Construction Co. shall be
responsible for the management of the Subcontractors in the performance of their
work.

5.3 ASSIGNMENT OF SUBCONTRACT AGREEMENTS. The Messer Construction Co. shall
provide for assignment of subcontract agreements in the event that Cincinnati
Financial Corporation terminates this Agreement for cause as provided in
Paragraph 12.2. Following such termination, Cincinnati Financial Corporation
shall notify in writing those Subcontractors whose assignments will be accepted,
subject to the rights of sureties.

5.4 BINDING OF SUBCONTRACTORS AND MATERIAL SUPPLIERS. The Messer Construction
Co. agrees to bind every Subcontractor and Material Supplier (and require every
Subcontractor to so bind its Subsubcontractors and Material Suppliers) to all
the provisions of this Agreement and the Contract Documents as they apply to the
Subcontractors and Material Suppliers portions of the Work.

ARTICLE 6
TIME

6.1 DATE OF COMMENCEMENT. The Date of Commencement is the effective date of this
Agreement as first written in Article 1 unless otherwise set forth below:
(Insert here any special provisions concerning Notices to Proceed and the Date
of Commencement.)

Notice to Proceed issued 8/24/04 based on Design-Builder's submission -
Addendum A.

Construction start scheduled for 1/'05.

The Work shall proceed in general accordance with the Schedule of Work as
such schedule may be amended from time to time, subject, however, to other
provisions of this Agreement.

6.2 SUBSTANTIAL/FINAL COMPLETION. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the Date
of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion shall be
established in Amendment No. 1 to this Agreement subject to adjustments as
provided for in the Contract Documents. Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the
Messer Construction Co. may agree not to establish such dates, or in the
alternative, to establish one but not the other of the two dates. If such dates
are not established upon the execution of this Agreement, at such time as a GMP
is accepted a Date of Substantial Completion and/or Date of Final Completion of
the Work shall be established in Amendment No. 1. If a GMP is not established
and the parties desire to establish a Date of Substantial Completion and/or Date
of Final Completion, it shall
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be set forth in Amendment No. 1.
6.2.1 Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence.

6.2.2 Unless instructed by Cincinnati Financial Corporation in writing,
the Messer Construction Co. shall not knowingly commence the Work before
the effective date of insurance that is required to be provided by the
Messer Construction Co. or Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

6.3 DELAYS IN THE WORK

6.3.1 If causes beyond the Messer Construction Co.'s control delay the
progress of the Work, then the GMP, compensation for Design Phase
Services, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and/or the Date of Substantial
Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion shall be modified by Change
Order as appropriate. Such causes shall include but not be limited to:
changes ordered in the Work, acts or omissions of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation or Others, Cincinnati Financial Corporation preventing the
Messer Construction Co. from performing the Work pending dispute
resolution, Hazardous Materials or differing site conditions. Causes
beyond the control of the Messer Construction Co. do not include acts or
omissions on the part of the Messer Construction Co., Subcontractors,
Subsubcontractors, Material Suppliers or Roth Partnership.

6.3.2 To the extent a delay in the progress of the Work is caused by
adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, fire, unusual
transportation delays, general labor disputes impacting the Project but
not specifically related to the Worksite, governmental agencies, or
unavoidable accidents or circumstances, the Messer Construction Co. shall
only be entitled to its actual costs without fee and an extension of the
Date of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion.

6.3.3 In the event delays to the Project are encountered for any reason,
the parties agree to undertake reasonable steps to mitigate the effect of
such delays.

ARTICLE 7
COMPENSATION
7.1 DESIGN PHASE COMPENSATION

7.1.1 To the extent required by applicable law, the cost of services
performed directly by Roth Partnership is computed separately and is
independent from the Messer Construction Co.'s compensation for work or
services performed directly by the Messer Construction Co.; these costs
shall be shown as separate items on applications for payment. The payments
to Roth Partnership shall be as detailed in a separate agreement between
the Messer Construction Co. and Roth Partnership.

7.1.2 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall compensate the Messer
Construction Co. for services performed during the Design Phase as
described in Paragraph 3.1, including preparation of a GMP Proposal, if
applicable, as described in Paragraph 3.2, as follows:

Compensation to be the same as the Construction Phase compensation

7.1.3 Compensation for Design Phase Services, as part of the Work, shall
include the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee as established in Paragraph 7.3,
paid in proportion to the services performed, subject to adjustment as
provided in Paragraph 7.4.

7.1.4 Compensation for Design Phase Services shall be equitably adjusted
if such services extend beyond 18 months from the date of this Agreement
for reasons beyond the reasonable control of
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the Messer Construction Co. or as provided in Paragraph 9.1. For changes
in Design Phase services, compensation shall be adjusted as follows:

Actual designer changes plus Design Builder hourly rates for
administration plus 2.75% fee.

7.1.5 Within (5) five business days after receipt of each monthly
application for payment, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall give
written notice to the Messer Construction Co. of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's acceptance or rejection, in whole or in part, of such
application for payment. Within twenty(20) days after accepting such
application, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall pay directly to the
Messer Construction Co. the appropriate amount for which application for
payment is made, less amounts previously paid by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation. If such application is rejected in whole or in part,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall indicate the reasons for its
rejection. If Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction
Co. cannot agree on a revised amount then, within twenty (20) days after
its initial rejection in part of such application, Cincinnati Financial
Corporation shall pay directly to the Messer Construction Co. the
appropriate amount for those items not rejected by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation for which application for payment is made, less amounts
previously paid by Cincinnati Financial Corporation. Those items rejected
by Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall be due and payable when the
reasons for the rejection have been removed.

7.1.6 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation fails to pay the Messer
Construction Co. at the time payment of any amount becomes due, then the
Messer Construction Co. may, at any time thereafter, upon serving written
notice that the work will be stopped within seven (7) days after receipt
of the notice by Cincinnati Financial Corporation, and after such seven
(7) day period, stop the Work until payment of the amount owing has been
received.

7.1.7 Payments due pursuant to Subparagraph 7.1.5, may bear interest from
the date payment is due at the prime rate prevailing at the location of
Project.

7.2 CONSTRUCTION PHASE COMPENSATION

7.2.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall compensate the Messer
Construction Co. for Work performed following the commencement of the
Construction Phase on the following basis:

.1 the Cost of the Work as allowed in Article 8; and

.2 the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee paid in proportion to the
services performed subject to adjustment as provided in Paragraph
7.4.

7.2.2 The compensation to be paid under this Paragraph 7.2 shall be
limited to the GMP established in Amendment No. 1, as the GMP may be
adjusted under Article 9. In the event the Cost of Work plus Messer
Construction Co.'s Fee shall be less than the GMP as adjusted by change
orders, the resulting savings of the Cost of Work shall be attributed to
Cincinnati Financial Corporation. Messer fee compensation will remain
fixed at 2.75% of the GMP.

7.2.3 Payment for Construction Phase Services shall be as set forth in
Article 10. If Design Phase Services continue to be provided after
construction has commenced, the Messer Construction Co. shall continue to
be compensated as provided in Paragraph 7.1, or as mutually agreed.

7.3 DESIGN-BUILDER'S FEE. The Messer Construction Co.'s Fee shall be as follows,
subject to adjustment as provided in Paragraph 7.4:

2.75% of the Cost of the Work, to be converted to a fixed fee in the GMP
Amendment.

7.4 ADJUSTMENT IN THE DESIGN-BUILDER'S FEE Adjustment in the Messer Construction
Co.'s Fee
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shall be made as follows:

.1 for changes in the Work as provided in Article 9, the Messer
Construction Co.'s Fee shall be adjusted as follows:

The Fee shall be increased by 2.75% of any increase in the GMP for
additive changes in the Work; however, if changes are so extensive
that the Design-Builder's job site staffing must be increased or
committed for a longer time than originally proposed and the
foregoing percentage adjustment does not represent reasonable
compensation for the additional commitment of management resources,
then the Design-Builder shall be entitled to a reasonable Fee
adjustment as reasonably agreed to by Messer Construction Co. and
Cincinnati Financial Corporation. The fee shall be decreased by
2.75% of any decrease in the GMP involving a decrease of the
Design/Builder's staff.

.2 for delays in the Work not caused by the Messer Construction Co.,
except as provided in Subparagraph 6.3.2, there will be an equitable
adjustment in the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee to compensate the Messer
Construction Co. for increased expenses; and
.3 if the Messer Construction Co. is placed in charge of managing the
replacement of an insured or uninsured loss, the Messer Construction Co.
shall be paid an additional fee in the same proportion that the Messer
Construction Co.'s Fee bears to the estimated Cost of the Work for the
replacement.
ARTICLE 8
COST OF THE WORK
Cincinnati Financial Corporation agrees to pay the Messer Construction Co. for
the Cost of the Work as defined in this Article. This payment shall be in
addition to the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee stipulated in Paragraph 7.3.
8.1 COST ITEMS FOR DESIGN PHASE SERVICES
8.1.1 Compensation for Design Phase Services as provided in Paragraph 7.1.
8.2 COST ITEMS FOR CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES

8.2.1 Wages paid for labor in the direct employ of the Messer Construction
Co. in the performance of the Work.

8.2.2 Fixed hourly rates per Addendum B of the Messer Construction Co.'s
employees when stationed at the field office, in whatever capacity
employed, employees engaged on the road expediting the production or
transportation of material and equipment, and employees from the principal
or branch office performing the functions listed below:

Estimating

Safety

Engineering

Scheduling

Operations Managers

Clerical

Administration
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8.2.3 Cost of all employee benefits and taxes including but not limited to
workers compensation, unemployment compensation, Social Security, health,
welfare, retirement and other fringe benefits as required by law, labor
agreements, or paid under the Messer Construction Co.'s standard personnel
policy, insofar as such costs are paid to employees of the Messer
Construction Co. who are included in the Cost of the Work under
Subparagraphs 8.2.1.

51% of base rate through 9/30/05, subject to adjustment each 9/30.

8.2.4 Reasonable transportation, travel, hotel and moving expenses of the
Messer Construction Co.'s personnel incurred in connection with the Work.

8.2.5 Cost of all materials, supplies and equipment incorporated in the
Work, including costs of inspection and testing if not provided by
Cincinnati Financial Corporation, transportation, storage and handling.

8.2.6 Payments made by the Messer Construction Co. to Subcontractors for
work performed under this Agreement.

8.2.7 Fees and expenses for design services procured or furnished by the
Messer Construction Co.

8.2.8 Cost, including transportation and maintenance of all materials,
supplies, equipment, temporary facilities and hand tools not owned by the
workers that are used or consumed in the performance of the Work, less
salvage value and/or residual value; and cost less salvage value on such
items used, but not consumed that remain the property of the Messer
Construction Co..

8.2.9 Rental charges of all necessary machinery and equipment, exclusive
of hand tools owned by workers, used at the Worksite, whether rented from
the Messer Construction Co. or Others, including installation, repair and
replacement, dismantling, removal, maintenance, transportation and
delivery costs. Rental from unrelated third parties shall be reimbursed at
actual cost. Rentals from the Messer Construction Co. or its affiliates,
subsidiaries or related parties shall be reimbursed at the prevailing
rates in the locality of the Worksite.

8.2.10 Cost of the premiums for all insurance and surety bonds which the
Messer Construction Co. is required to procure or deems necessary, and
approved by Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

Insurance, including General Liability $100,000,000 excess liability,
Contractors Professional Liability, Employers Liability and Pollution
Liability is charged to the Project at a fixed rate of $4.60 per $1000 of
total billings to the Owner through 9/30/05, subject to adjustment on each
9/30 to reflect any increase in Design-Builder's costs.

8.2.11 Sales, use, gross receipts or other taxes, tariffs or duties
related to the Work for which the Messer Construction Co. is liable.

8.2.12 Permits, fees, licenses, tests, royalties, damages for infringement
of patents and/or copyrights, including costs of defending related suits
for which the Messer Construction Co. is not responsible as set forth in
Paragraph 3.7, and deposits lost for causes other than the Messer
Construction Co.'s negligence.

8.2.13 Losses, expenses or damages to the extent not compensated by
insurance or otherwise, and the cost of corrective work and/or redesign
during the Construction Phase and for a period of
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one year following the Date of Substantial Completion, provided that such
corrective work and/or redesign did not arise from the negligence of the
Messer Construction Co..

8.2.14 All costs associated with establishing, equipping, operating,
maintaining and demobilizing the field office.

8.2.15 Reproduction costs, photographs, cost of telegrams, facsimile
transmissions, long distance telephone calls, data processing services,
postage, express delivery charges, telephone service at the Worksite and
reasonable petty cash expenses at the field office.

8.2.16 All water, power and fuel costs necessary for the Work.

8.2.17 Cost of removal of all non-hazardous substances, debris and waste
materials.

8.2.18 Costs incurred due to an emergency affecting the safety of persons
and/or property.

8.2.19 Legal, mediation and arbitration fees and costs, other than those
arising from disputes between Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the
Messer Construction Co., reasonably and properly resulting from the Messer
Construction Co.'s performance of the Work.

8.2.20 All costs directly incurred in the performance of the Work or in
connection with the Project, and not included in the Messer Construction
Co.'s Fee as set forth in Article 7, which are reasonably inferable from
the Contract Documents as necessary to produce the intended results.

8.2.21 All Cost of the Work for self-performance of Work by
Design-Builder's own forces, and for materials and services procured
directly by Design-Builder rather than through Subcontractors, are subject
to a 3% carrying charge. However, this does not apply to fixed hourly
rates under Paragraph 8.2.2.

8.3 DISCOUNTS. All discounts for prompt payment shall accrue to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation to the extent such payments are made directly by
Cincinnati Financial Corporation. To the extent payments are made with funds of
the Messer Construction Co., all cash discounts shall accrue to the Messer
Construction Co.. All trade discounts, rebates and refunds, and all returns from
sale of surplus materials and equipment, shall be credited to the Cost of the
Work.

ARTICLE 9
CHANGES IN THE WORK

Changes in the Work which are within the general scope of this Agreement may be
accomplished, without invalidating this Agreement, by Change Order, Work Change
Directive, or a minor change in the work, subject to the limitations stated in
the Contract Documents.

9.1 CHANGE ORDER

9.1.1 The Messer Construction Co. may request and/or Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, without invalidating this Agreement, may by writing order
changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract Documents
consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions to the GMP or the
estimated cost of the work, compensation for Design Phase Services, the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and/or the Date of Substantial Completion
and/or the Date of Final Completion being adjusted accordingly. All such
changes in the Work shall be authorized by applicable written Change
Order, and shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the
Contract Documents.

9.1.2 Each adjustment in the GMP and/or estimated Cost of the Work
resulting from a Change Order shall clearly separate the amount
attributable to compensation for Design Phase Services,
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other Cost of the Work and the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, with the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee not to exceed the amount stated in Paragraph
7.4.

9.1.3 Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction Co.
shall negotiate in good faith an appropriate adjustment to the GMP or the
estimated Cost of the Work, compensation for Design Phase Services, the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and/or the Date of Substantial Completion
and/or the Date of Final Completion and shall conclude these negotiations
as expeditiously as possible. Acceptance of the Change Order and any
adjustment in the GMP, the estimated Cost of the Work, compensation for
Design Phase Services, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and/or the Date
of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

9.2 WORK CHANGE DIRECTIVES

9.2.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation may issue a written Work Change
Directive directing a change in the Work prior to reaching agreement with
the Messer Construction Co. on the adjustment, if any, in the GMP,
estimated Cost of the Work, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of
Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion, and if
appropriate, the compensation for Design Phase Services.

9.2.2 Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction Co.
shall negotiate expeditiously and in good faith for appropriate
adjustments, as applicable, to the GMP, estimated Cost of the Work, the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of Substantial Completion and/or
the Date of Final Completion, and if appropriate the compensation for
Design Phase Services, arising out of Work Change Directives. As the
changed work is completed, the Design Builder shall submit its costs for
such work with its application for payment beginning with the next
application for payment within thirty (30) days of the issuance of the
wWork Change Directive. Pending final determination of cost to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation, amounts not in dispute may be included in
applications for payment and shall be paid by Cincinnati Financial
Corporation.

9.2.3 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction Co.
agree upon the adjustments in the GMP, estimated Cost of the Work, the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of Substantial Completion and/or
the Date of Final Completion, and if appropriate the compensation for
Design Phase Services, for a change in the Work directed by a Work Change
Directive, such agreement shall be the subject of an appropriate Change
Order. The Change Order shall include all outstanding Change Directives
issued since the last Change Order.

9.3 MINOR CHANGES IN THE WORK

9.3.1 The Messer Construction Co. may make minor changes in the design and
construction of the Project consistent with the intent of the Contract
Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the GMP, estimated Cost of
the Work, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of Substantial
Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion, and do not materially and
adversely affect the design of the Project, the quality of any of the
materials or equipment specified in the Contract Documents, the
performance of any materials, equipment or systems specified in the
Contract Documents, or the quality of workmanship required by the Contract
Documents. Finish items that are specified in the Contract Documents shall
not be changed by Messer Construction Co. without first obtaining an
executed Change Order from Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

9.3.2 The Messer Construction Co. shall promptly inform Cincinnati
Financial Corporation in writing of any such changes and shall record such
changes on the Design-Build Documents maintained by the Messer
Construction Co..
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9.4 UNKNOWN CONDITIONS. If in the performance of the Work the Messer
Construction Co. finds latent, concealed or subsurface physical conditions which
materially differ from the conditions the Messer Construction Co. reasonably
anticipated, or if physical conditions are materially different from those
normally encountered and generally recognized as inherent in the kind of work
provided for in this Agreement, then the GMP, estimated Cost of the Work, the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of Substantial Completion and/or the
Date of Final Completion, and if appropriate the compensation for Design Phase
Services, shall be equitably adjusted by Change Order within a reasonable time
after the conditions are first observed. The Messer Construction Co. shall
provide Cincinnati Financial Corporation with written notice within the time
period set forth in Paragraph 9.6.

9.5 DETERMINATION OF COST

9.5.1 An increase or decrease in the GMP and/or estimated Cost of the Work
resulting from a change in the Work shall be determined by one or more of
the following methods:

.1 unit prices set forth in this Agreement or as subsequently
agreed;

.2 a mutually accepted, itemized lump sum;

.3 costs determined as defined in Paragraph 7.2 and Article 8 and a
mutually acceptable Messer Construction Co.'s Fee as determined in
Subparagraph 7.4.1; or

.4 if an increase or decrease cannot be agreed to as set forth in
Clauses 9.5.1.1 through 9.5.1.3 above, and Cincinnati Financial
Corporation issues a Work Change Directive, the cost of the change
in the Work shall be determined by the reasonable expense and
savings of the performance of the Work resulting from the change. If
there is a net increase in the GMP, the Messer Construction Co.'s
Fee shall be adjusted as set forth in Subparagraph 7.4.1. In case of
a net decrease in the GMP, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee shall
not be adjusted unless ten percent (10%) or more of the Project is
deleted. The Messer Construction Co. shall maintain a documented,
itemized accounting evidencing the expenses and savings.

9.5.2 If unit prices are indicated in the Contract Documents or are
subsequently agreed to by the parties, but the character or quantity of
such unit items as originally contemplated is so different in a proposed
Change Order that the original unit prices will cause substantial inequity
to Cincinnati Financial Corporation or the Messer Construction Co., such
unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.

9.5.3 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction Co.
disagree as to whether work required by Cincinnati Financial Corporation
is within the scope of the Work, the Messer Construction Co. shall furnish
Cincinnati Financial Corporation with an estimate of the costs to perform
the disputed work in accordance with Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
interpretations. If Cincinnati Financial Corporation issues a written
order for the Messer Construction Co. to proceed, the Messer Construction
Co. shall perform the disputed work and Cincinnati Financial Corporation
shall pay the Messer Construction Co. fifty percent (50%) of its estimated
cost to perform the work. In such event, both parties reserve their rights
as to whether the work was within the scope of the Work. Cincinnati
Financial Corporation's payment does not prejudice its right to be
reimbursed should it be determined that the disputed work was within the
scope of Work. The Messer Construction Co.'s receipt of payment for the
disputed work does not prejudice its right to receive full payment for the
disputed work should it be determined that the disputed work is not within
the scope of the Work.

9.6 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL COST OR TIME. For any claim for an increase in the
GMP, estimated Cost of the Work, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and the Date
of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion, and if
appropriate the compensation for Design Phase Services, the Messer
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Construction Co. shall give Cincinnati Financial Corporation written notice of
the claim within twenty-one (21) days after the occurrence giving rise to the
claim or within twenty-one (21) days after the Messer Construction Co. first
recognizes the condition giving rise to the claim, whichever is later. Except
in an emergency, notice shall be given before proceeding with the Work. Claims
for design and estimating costs incurred in connection with possible changes
requested by Cincinnati Financial Corporation, but which do not proceed, shall
be made within twenty-one (21) days after the decision is made not to proceed.
Any change in the GMP, estimated Cost of the Work, the Messer Construction
Co.'s Fee, the Date of Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final
Completion, and if appropriate the compensation for Design Phase Services,
resulting from such claim shall be authorized by Change Order.

9.7 EMERGENCIES. In any emergency affecting the safety of persons and/or
property, the Messer Construction Co. shall act, at its discretion, to prevent
threatened damage, injury or loss. Any change in the GMP, estimated Cost of the
Work, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of Substantial Completion
and/or the Date of Final Completion, and if appropriate the compensation for
Design Phase Services, on account of emergency work shall be determined as
provided in this Article.

9.8 CHANGES IN LAW. In the event any changes in laws or regulations affecting
the performance of the Work are enacted after either the date of this Agreement
or the date a GMP Proposal is accepted by Cincinnati Financial Corporation and
set forth in Amendment No. 1 to this Agreement, whichever occurs later, the GMP,
estimated Cost of the Work, the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, the Date of
Substantial Completion and/or the Date of Final Completion, and if appropriate
the compensation for Design Phase Services, shall be equitably adjusted by
Change Order.

ARTICLE 10
PAYMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES
10.1 PROGRESS PAYMENTS

10.1.1 On the 5th day of each month after the Construction Phase has
commenced, the Messer Construction Co. shall submit to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation an application for payment consisting of the Cost of
the Work performed up to the end of the preceding month, including the
cost of material suitably stored on the Worksite or at other locations
approved by Cincinnati Financial Corporation, along with a proportionate
share of the Messer Construction Co.'s Fee. Approval of payment
applications for such stored materials shall be conditioned upon
submission by the Messer Construction Co. of bills of sale and applicable
insurance or such other procedures satisfactory to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation to establish Cincinnati Financial Corporation's title to such
materials, or otherwise to protect Cincinnati Financial Corporation's
interest, including transportation to the site. Prior to submission of the
next application for payment, the Messer Construction Co. shall furnish to
Cincinnati Financial Corporation a statement accounting for the
disbursement of funds received under the previous application. The extent
of such statement shall be as agreed upon between Cincinnati Financial
Corporation and the Messer Construction Co.

Each Application for Payment shall include without limitation, an
affidavit of Messer Construction Co. listing all major Subcontractors and
Material Suppliers having contracts with Messer Construction Co. who
provided labor, supplies, equipment and/or materials for the Project
during the applicable pay period. "Major" means that the Subcontractor or
Material Supplier is entitled to bill at least $25,000 for the applicable
pay period.

Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall be responsible for preparing and
recording a Notice of Commencement as defined in Chapter 1311 of the Ohio
Revised Code. Messer Construction Co. shall be responsible for
continuously, throughout the entire term of construction, maintaining and
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posting at the job site, in a conspicuous place, a copy of the Notice of
Commencement. Messer Construction Co. shall deliver to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation (Or Messer Construction Co.'s designee or the title
insurance company for Cincinnati Financial Corporation or Cincinnati
Financial Corporation's Construction Lender, if so designated in a written
notice to Messer Construction Co.) copies of any Notice of Furnishing as
that term is defined in Chapter 1311 of the Ohio Revised Code within ten
(10) days of receipt by Messer Construction Co..

Upon request, Messer Construction Co. shall provide Cincinnati Financial
Corporation with evidence reasonably satisfactory to it that all payrolls,
materials, bills and other indebtedness of Messer Construction Co. to any
major Subcontractor or material supplier relating to the Work have been
paid or otherwise satisfied within thirty (30) days after receipt of the
corresponding payment from Cincinnati Financial Corporation. If any notice
of lien is filed against the project by any person or entity working under
Messer Construction Co. and such lien does not result from Cincinnati
Financial Corporation failing to make payment when due, and if Messer
Construction Co. is unable to resolve such lien by negotiation within
thirty (30) days after it is filed, then Messer Construction Co. shall
promptly have such lien discharged of record with the County Recorder's
office by payment or bonding. As long as the payment and performance bonds
required by the Construction Contract are in force, Cincinnati Financial
Corporation shall not be permitted to withhold from any progress payment
otherwise due to Messer Construction Co. any amount based on the existence
of any such liens (or claims which may result in liens) unless Cincinnati
Financial Corporation reasonably determines that the magnitude of such
liens or claims, together with any other failure of performance by Messer
Construction Co., is such that Cincinnati Financial Corporation is not
reasonably protected by such bonds. Notwithstanding anything therein to
the contrary, such withholding, made in accordance with this provision,
shall not be grounds for Messer Construction Co. to stop the Work or to
terminate the Contract, but such withholding shall be reduced or
eliminated as soon as Messer Construction Co. removes the grounds
therefor.

The submission of an Application for Payment to the Cincinnati Financial
Corporation will constitute a representation by the Messer Construction
Co. to Cincinnati Financial Corporation that the Work has progressed to
the point indicated; that to, to the best of its knowledge, information
and belief, the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract
Documents except as otherwise disclosed in writing, and that Messer
Construction Co. is entitled to payment in the amount certified.

10.1.2 Within five (5) business days after receipt of each monthly
application for payment, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall give
written notice to the Messer Construction Co. of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's acceptance or rejection, in whole or in part, of such
application for payment. Not later than 20 days after giving such notice,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall pay directly to the Messer
Construction Co. the appropriate amount for which application for payment
is made, less amounts previously paid by Cincinnati Financial Corporation.
If such application is rejected in whole or in part, Cincinnati Financial
Corporation shall indicate the reasons for its rejection. If Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction Co. cannot agree on a
revised amount then, within twenty (20) days after its initial rejection
in part of such application, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall pay
directly to the Messer Construction Co. the appropriate amount for those
items not rejected by Cincinnati Financial Corporation for which
application for payment is made, less amounts previously paid by
Cincinnati Financial Corporation. Those items rejected by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation shall be due and payable when the reasons for the
rejection have been removed.

10.1.3 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation fails to pay the Messer
Construction Co. at the time
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payment of any amount becomes due, then the Messer Construction Co. may,
at any time thereafter, upon serving written notice that the Work will be
stopped within seven (7) days after receipt of the notice by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation, and after such seven day period, stop the Work
until payment of the amount owing has been received.

10.1.4 Payments due but unpaid pursuant to Subparagraph 10.1.2, less any
amount retained pursuant to Paragraphs 10.2 and 10.3 may bear interest
from the date payment is due at the prime rate prevailing at the place of
the Project or the rate Owner is paying on its construction loan,
whichever is higher.

10.1.5 The Messer Construction Co. warrants and guarantees that title to
all work, materials and equipment covered by an application for payment,
whether incorporated in the Project or not, will pass to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation upon receipt of such payment by the Messer
Construction Co., free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests
or encumbrances, hereinafter referred to as liens, except for unpaid
retainage.

10.1.6 Cincinnati Financial Corporation's progress payment, occupancy or
use of the Project, whether in whole or in part, shall not be deemed an
acceptance of any Work not conforming to the requirements of the Contract
Documents.

10.1.7 Upon Substantial Completion of the Work, Cincinnati Financial
Corporation shall pay the Messer Construction Co. the unpaid balance of
the Cost of the Work, compensation for Design Phase Services and the
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee, less one-hundred-fifty percent (150%) of
the cost of completing any unfinished items as agreed to between
Cincinnati Financial Corporation and the Messer Construction Co. as to
extent and time for completion. Cincinnati Financial Corporation
thereafter shall pay the Messer Construction Co. monthly the amount
retained for unfinished items as each item is completed.

10.2 RETAINAGE. From each progress payment made prior to the time Substantial
Completion of the Work has been reached, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall
retain five percent (5%), if required, of the amount otherwise due for
subcontractor cost only after deduction of any amounts as provided in Paragraph
10.3 of this Agreement. If Cincinnati Financial Corporation chooses to use this
retainage provision:

.1 at the time the Work is fifty percent (50%) complete and thereafter,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation may choose to withhold no more retainage
and pay the Messer Construction Co. the full amount of what is due on
account of subsequent progress payments;

.2 once each early finishing trade Subcontractor has completed its work
and that work has been accepted by Cincinnati Financial Corporation,
Cincinnati Financial Corporation may release final retention on such work;

.3 in lieu of retainage, the Messer Construction Co. may furnish
securities, acceptable to Cincinnati Financial Corporation, to be held by
Cincinnati Financial Corporation. The interest on such securities shall
accrue to the Messer Construction Co.;

.4 Cincinnati Financial Corporation may, in its sole discretion, reduce
the amount to be retained at any time.

10.3 ADJUSTMENT OF DESIGN-BUILDER'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT Cincinnati Financial
Corporation may adjust or reject an application for payment or nullify a
previously approved Messer Construction Co. application for payment, in whole or
in part, as may reasonably be necessary to protect Cincinnati Financial
Corporation from loss or damage based upon the following, to the extent that the
Messer Construction Co. is responsible under this Agreement:
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10.

10.

.1 the Messer Construction Co.'s repeated failure to perform the Work as
required by the Contract Documents;

.2 loss or damage arising out of or relating to this Agreement and caused
by the Messer Construction Co. to Cincinnati Financial Corporation or
Others to whom Cincinnati Financial Corporation may be liable;

.3 the Messer Construction Co.'s failure to properly pay Roth Partnership,
Subcontractors or Material Suppliers for labor, materials, equipment or
supplies furnished in connection with the Work, provided that Cincinnati
Financial Corporation is making payments to the Messer Construction Co. in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement;

.4 Defective Work not corrected in a timely fashion;

.5 reasonable evidence of delay in performance of the Work such that the
Work will not be completed by the Date of Substantial Completion and/or
the Date of Final Completion, and that the unpaid balance of the GMP is
not sufficient to offset any direct damages that may be sustained by
Cincinnati Financial Corporation as a result of the anticipated delay
caused by the Messer Construction Co.; and

.6 reasonable evidence demonstrating that the unpaid balance of the GMP is
insufficient to fund the cost to complete the Work.

Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall give written notice to the Messer
Construction Co. at the time of disapproving or nullifying all or part of
an application for payment of the specific reasons. When the above reasons
for disapproving or nullifying an application for payment are removed,
payment will be made for the amount previously withheld.

OWNER OCCUPANCY OR USE OF COMPLETED OR PARTIALLY COMPLETED WORK

10.4.1 Portions of the Work that are completed or partially completed may
be used or occupied by Cincinnati Financial Corporation when (a) the
portion of the Work is designated in a Certificate of Substantial
Completion, (b) appropriate insurer(s) and/or sureties consent to the
occupancy or use, and (c) appropriate public authorities authorize the
occupancy or use. Such partial occupancy or use shall constitute
Substantial Completion of that portion of the Work. The Messer
Construction Co. shall not unreasonably withhold consent to partial
occupancy or use. Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall not unreasonably
refuse to accept partial occupancy or use, provided such partial occupancy
or use is of value to Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

FINAL PAYMENT

10.5.1 Final Payment, consisting of the unpaid balance of the Cost of the
Work, compensation for Design Phase Services and the Messer Construction
Co.'s Fee, shall be due and payable when the work is fully completed.
Before issuance of final payment, Cincinnati Financial Corporation may
request satisfactory evidence that all payrolls, material bills and other
indebtedness connected with the Work have been paid or otherwise
satisfied.

10.5.2 In making final payment Cincinnati Financial Corporation waives all
claims except for:

.1 outstanding liens;

.2 improper workmanship or defective materials appearing within one
year after the Date of Substantial Completion;

.3 work not in conformance with the Contract Documents; and
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.4 terms of any special warranties required by the Contract
Documents.

.5 any claims previously made in writing which are specifically
listed in writing again at the time of final payment and which
remain unsettled; and

.6 those claims, potential claims or rights of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation set forth in Article 11 or elsewhere in this Agreement
which are specifically listed in writing at the time of final
payment.

10.5.3 In accepting final payment, the Messer Construction Co. waives all
claims except those previously made in writing and which remain unsettled.

10.5.4 At the time of Final Payment, Messer Construction Co. shall provide
Cincinnati Financial Corporation with, within the GMP, one full set of
record drawings, consisting of the approved construction drawings for the
Project, with modifications to show all significant changes made during
construction and the locations of all concealed facilities which are
customarily shown on such drawings.

ARTICLE 11
INDEMNITY, INSURANCE, BONDS, AND WAIVER OF SUBROGATION
11.1 INDEMNITY

11.1.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Messer Construction Co.
shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, Cincinnati Financial Corporation's officers, directors,
members, consultants, agents and employees from all claims for bodily
injury and property damage (other than to the Work itself and other
property required to be insured under Paragraph 11.5 owned by or in the
custody of Cincinnati Financial Corporation), that may arise from the
performance of the Work, to the extent of the negligence attributed to
such acts or omissions by the Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership,
Subcontractors or anyone employed directly or indirectly by any of them or
by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. The Messer
Construction Co. shall not be required to defend, indemnify or hold
harmless Cincinnati Financial Corporation, Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's officers, directors, members, consultants, agents and
employees for any acts, omissions or negligence of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, Cincinnati Financial Corporation's officers, directors,
members, consultants, employees, agents or separate contractors.

11.1.2 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall cause any other contractor
who fits the definition of "Others" agree to indemnify Messer Construction
Co., its subcontractors, or any one employed directly or indirectly by any
of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable and hold them
harmless from all claims for bodily injury and property damage, other than
property insured under Section 11.5, that may arise from that person or
entities acts or omissions.

11.2 DESIGN-BUILDER'S LIABILITY INSURANCE

11.2.1 The Messer Construction Co. shall obtain and maintain insurance
coverage for the following claims which may arise out of the performance
of this Agreement, whether resulting from the Messer Construction Co.'s
operations or from the operations of any Subcontractor, anyone in the
employ of any of them, or by an individual or entity for whose acts they
may be liable:

.1 workers compensation, disability and other employee benefit
claims under acts applicable to the Work;

.2 under applicable employers liability law, bodily injury,
occupational sickness, disease or
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death claims of the Messer Construction Co.'s employees;

.3 bodily injury, sickness, disease or death claims for damages to
persons not employed by the Messer Construction Co.;

.4 personal injury liability claims for damages directly or
indirectly related to the person's employment by the Messer
Construction Co. or for damages to any other person;

.5 claims for physical injury to tangible property, including all
resulting loss of use of that property, and to property other than
the Work itself and property insured under Paragraph 11.5;

.6 bodily injury, death or property damage claims resulting from
motor vehicle liability in the use, maintenance or ownership of any
motor vehicle; and

.7 contractual liability claims involving the Messer Construction
Co.'s obligations under Subparagraph 11.1.1.

11.2.2 The Messer Construction Co.'s Commercial General and Automobile
Liability Insurance as required by Subparagraph 11.2.1 shall be written
for not less than the following limits of liability:
.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance
a. Each Occurrence Limit $50, 000,000
b. General Aggregate $50,000, 000
c. Products/Completed Operations Aggregate $50,000,000
d. Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $50, 000, 000
.2 Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance
a. Combined Single Limit Bodily Injury and Property Damage
$10, 000,000 Each Occurrence
b. Bodily Injury
$N/A Each Person
$N/A Each Occurrence
c. Property Damage
$N/A Each Occurrence
.3 Pollution Liability $10,000,000
11.2.3 Commercial General Liability Insurance may be arranged under a
single policy for the full limits required or by a combination of
underlying policies and an Excess or Umbrella Liability policy.
11.2.4 The policies shall contain a provision that coverage will not be
canceled or not renewed until at least thirty (30) days prior written
notice has been given to Cincinnati Financial Corporation. Certificates of
insurance showing required coverage to be in force shall be filed with

Cincinnati Financial Corporation prior to commencement of the Work.

11.2.5 Products and Completed Operations insurance shall be maintained for
a minimum period of
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at least two year(s) after either Substantial Completion or final payment.

11.3 PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE. Messer Construction Co. shall obtain,
either itself or through Roth Partnership, professional liability insurance for
claims arising from the negligent performance of professional services under
this Agreement, which must be upon terms acceptable to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation and as follows:

Project Specific Professional Liability Insurance

written for not less than $5,000,000 per claim and in the aggregate with a
deductible not to exceed $100,000. The Professional Liability Insurance shall
include prior acts coverage sufficient to cover all services rendered by Roth
Partnership and consultants. This coverage shall be continued in effect for five
year(s) after the Date of Substantial Completion.

The first $25,000 of the deductible is the responsibility of Messer Construction
Co. if negligence of Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership or any of their
design consultants is established; all remaining deductible is to be paid by
Cincinnati Financial Corporation. Regardless of any other provisions of this
Agreement making Messer Construction Co. responsible for acts or omissions of
Roth & their consultants, the liability of Messer Construction Co., Roth
Partnership and its consultants to Cincinnati Financial Corporation or any
person or entity claiming through or under the Cincinnati Financial Corporation
for errors or omissions in the provision of professional design services for the
Project shall be limited, in the aggregate, to the proceeds available from the
foregoing Professional Liability Insurance and Cincinnati Financial Corporation
hereby releases Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership and its consultants,
and their respective employees, agents, officers and directors from all existing
or future claims and liabilities related to errors or omissions in any
professional architectural or engineering services related to the Project,
except to the extent that such claims and liabilities can be satisfied from the
proceeds of the Professional Liability Insurance. This limitation of liability
is not intended to extend to Messer Construction Co. normal liability for bodily
injury and property damage that arises out of construction services other than
professional architectural and engineering services.

11.4 OWNER'S LIABILITY INSURANCE Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall be
responsible for obtaining and maintaining its own liability insurance. Insurance
for claims arising out of the performance of this Agreement may be purchased and
maintained at Cincinnati Financial Corporation's discretion. Cincinnati
Financial Corporation shall provide Messer Construction Co. with a certificate
of insurance at the request of Messer Construction Co..

11.5 INSURANCE TO PROTECT PROJECT

11.5.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall obtain and maintain All Risk
Builders Risk insurance in a form acceptable to Messer Construction Co.
upon the entire Project for the full cost of replacement at the time of
any loss. This insurance shall include as named insureds Cincinnati
Financial Corporation, Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership,
Subcontractors, Material Suppliers and Subsubcontractors. This insurance
shall include all risk insurance for physical loss or damage including
without duplication of coverage at least: theft, vandalism, malicious
mischief, transit, materials stored off site, collapse, falsework,
temporary buildings, debris removal, flood, earthquake, testing, and
damage resulting from defective design, workmanship or material.
Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall increase limits of coverage, if
necessary, to reflect estimated replacement cost. The insurance policy
shall be written without a co-insurance clause. Cincinnati Financial
Corporation shall be solely responsible for any deductible amounts.
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6

11.5.2 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation occupies or uses a portion of
the Project prior to its Substantial Completion, such occupancy or use
shall not commence prior to a time mutually agreed to by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and Messer Construction Co.. Permission for partial
occupancy from the insurance company shall be included as standard in the
property insurance policy, to ensure that this insurance shall not be
canceled or lapsed on account of partial occupancy. Consent of Messer
Construction Co. to such early occupancy or use shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

11.5.3 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall obtain and maintain boiler
and machinery insurance as necessary. The interests of Cincinnati
Financial Corporation, Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership,
Subcontractors, Material Suppliers and Subsubcontractors shall be
protected under this coverage.

11.5.4 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall purchase and maintain
insurance to protect Cincinnati Financial Corporation, Messer Construction
Co., Roth Partnership, Subcontractors, Material Suppliers and
Subsubcontractors against loss of use of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation's property due to those perils insured pursuant to Paragraph
11.5. Such policy will provide coverage for expediting expenses of
materials, continuing overhead of Cincinnati Financial Corporation and
Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership, Subcontractors, Material
Suppliers and Subsubcontractors, necessary labor expense including
overtime, loss of income by Cincinnati Financial Corporation and other
determined exposures. Exposures of Cincinnati Financial Corporation,
Messer Construction Co., Roth Partnership, Subcontractors and
Subsubcontractors, shall be determined by mutual agreement with separate
limits of coverage fixed for each item.

11.5.5 Upon Messer Construction Co.'s written request, Cincinnati
Financial Corporation shall provide Messer Construction Co. with a copy of
all property insurance policies before an exposure to loss may occur.
Copies of any subsequent endorsements shall be furnished to Messer
Construction Co.. Messer Construction Co. shall be given thirty (30) days
notice of cancellation, non-renewal, or any endorsements restricting or
reducing coverage. Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall give written
notice to Messer Construction Co. before commencement of the Work if
Cincinnati Financial Corporation will not be obtaining property insurance.
In that case, Messer Construction Co. may obtain insurance in order to
protect its interest in the Work as well as the interest of Roth
Partnership, Subcontractors, Material Suppliers and Subsubcontractors in
the Work. The cost of this insurance shall be a Cost of the Work pursuant
to Article 8, and the GMP shall be increased by Change Order. If Messer
Construction Co. is damaged by the failure of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation to purchase or maintain property insurance or to so notify
Messer Construction Co., Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall bear all
reasonable costs incurred by Messer Construction Co. arising from the
damage.

11.5.6 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall have the right to
self-insure against the risks covered in Subparagraphs 11.5.1 and 11.5.4
upon providing evidence satisfactory to Messer Construction Co. of the
ability to so self-insure.

PROPERTY INSURANCE LOSS ADJUSTMENT

11.6.1 Any insured loss shall be adjusted with Cincinnati Financial
Corporation and Messer Construction Co. and made payable to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and Messer Construction Co. as trustees for the
insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to any applicable
mortgagee clause.

11.6.2 Upon the occurrence of an insured loss, monies received will be

deposited in a separate account and the trustees shall make distribution
in accordance with the agreement of the parties in
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interest, or in the absence of such agreement, in accordance with a
dispute resolution award pursuant to Article 13. If the trustees are
unable to agree between themselves on the settlement of the loss, such
dispute shall also be submitted for resolution pursuant to Article 13.

11.7 WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

11.7.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation and Messer Construction Co. waive
all rights against each other, Roth Partnership, and any of their
respective employees, agents, consultants, Subcontractors, Material
Suppliers and Subsubcontractors for damages covered by the insurance
provided pursuant to Paragraph 11.5 or any other insurance maintained by a
party to the extent they are covered by that insurance, except such rights
as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance held by Cincinnati
Financial Corporation and Messer Construction Co. as trustees. Messer
Construction Co. shall require similar waivers from Roth Partnership and
all Subcontractors, and shall require each of them to include similar
waivers in their subsubcontracts and consulting agreements.

11.7.2 Cincinnati Financial Corporation waives subrogation against Messer
Construction Co., Roth Partnership, its consultants, Subcontractors,
Material Suppliers and Subsubcontractors on all property and consequential
loss policies carried by Cincinnati Financial Corporation on adjacent
properties and under property and consequential loss policies purchased
for the Project after its completion.

11.7.3 The policies shall also be endorsed to state that the carrier
waives any right of subrogation against Messer Construction Co., Roth
Partnership, Subcontractors, Material Suppliers, or Subsubcontractors. If
the policy of insurance referred to in this Section require an endorsement
to provide for continued coverage where there is a waiver of subrogation,
the owners of such policies will cause them to be so endorsed.

11.8 MUTUAL WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES Cincinnati Financial Corporation and
Messer Construction Co. agree to waive all claims against the other for all
consequential damages that may arise out of or relate to this Agreement.
Cincinnati Financial Corporation agrees to waive damages including but not
limited to Cincinnati Financial Corporation's loss of use of the Property, all
rental expenses incurred, loss of services of employees, or loss of reputation.
Messer Construction Co. agrees to waive damages including but not limited to the
loss of business, loss of financing, principal office overhead and profits, loss
of profits not related to this Project, or loss of reputation. This paragraph
shall not be construed to preclude contractual provisions for liquidated damages
when such provisions relate to direct damages only. The provisions of this
paragraph shall govern the termination of this Agreement and shall survive such
termination. This waiver takes precedence over any other provision of this
Agreement which might otherwise crease a consequential damage liability.

11.9 BONDING
11.9.1 Performance and Payment Bonds
are

required of Messer Construction Co.. Such bonds shall be issued by a
surety licensed in the state of the location of the Project and must be
acceptable to Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

11.9.2 Such Performance Bond shall be issued in the penal sum equal to
one-hundred percent (100%) of the

GMP (If there is no GMP, then the agreed estimated cost of the
Project, including design and
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construction).
Such Performance Bond shall cover the cost to complete the Work

11.9.3 The penal sum of the Payment Bond shall equal the penal sum of the
Performance Bond.

ARTICLE 12

SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT AND OWNER'S RIGHT
TO PERFORM DESIGN-BUILDER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

12.1 SUSPENSION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE

12.1.1 Cincinnati Financial Corporation may order Messer Construction Co.
in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt all or any part of the Work
without cause for such period of time as Cincinnati Financial Corporation
may determine to be appropriate for its convenience.

12.1.2 Adjustments caused by suspension, delay or interruption shall be
made for increases in the GMP, compensation for Design Phase Services,
Messer Construction Co.'s Fee and/or the Date of Substantial Completion
and/or the Date of Final Completion. No adjustment shall be made if Messer
Construction Co. is or otherwise would have been responsible for the
suspension, delay or interruption of the Work, or if another provision of
this Agreement is applied to render an equitable adjustment.

12.2 OWNER'S RIGHT TO PERFORM DESIGN-BUILDER'S OBLIGATIONS AND TERMINATION BY
THE OWNER FOR CAUSE

12.2.1 If Messer Construction Co. persistently fails to perform any of its
obligations under this Agreement, Cincinnati Financial Corporation may,
after seven (7) days' written notice, during which period Messer
Construction Co. fails to perform such obligation, undertake to perform
such obligations. The GMP shall be reduced by the cost to Cincinnati
Financial Corporation of performing such obligations.

12.2.2 Upon an additional seven (7) days' written notice to Messer
Construction Co. and Messer Construction Co.'s surety, if any, Cincinnati
Financial Corporation may terminate this Agreement for any of the
following reasons:

.1 if Messer Construction Co. materially utilizes improper materials
and/or inadequately skilled workers;

.2 if Messer Construction Co. does not make proper payment to
laborers, Material Suppliers or Subcontractors, provided that
Cincinnati Financial Corporation is making payments to Messer
Construction Co. in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;

.3 if Messer Construction Co. materially fails to abide by the
orders, regulations, rules, ordinances or laws of governmental
authorities having jurisdiction; or

.4 if Messer Construction Co. otherwise materially breaches this
Agreement.

If Messer Construction Co. fails to cure or commence and continue to
cure within the five (5) days, Cincinnati Financial Corporation,
without prejudice to any other right or remedy, may take possession
of the Worksite and complete the Work utilizing any reasonable
means. In this event, Messer Construction Co. shall not have a right
to further payment until the Work is completed.
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12.2.3 If Messer Construction Co. files a petition under the Bankruptcy
Code, this Agreement shall terminate if Messer Construction Co. or Messer
Construction Co.'s trustee rejects the Agreement or, if there has been a
default, Messer Construction Co. is unable to give adequate assurance
acceptable to Cincinnati Financial Corporation that Messer Construction
Co. will perform as required by this Agreement or otherwise is unable to
comply with the requirements for assuming this Agreement under the
applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

12.2.4 In the event Cincinnati Financial Corporation exercises its rights
under Subparagraph 12.2.1 or 12.2.2, upon the request of Messer
Construction Co. Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall provide a detailed
accounting of the cost incurred by Cincinnati Financial Corporation.

12.3 TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE If Cincinnati Financial Corporation
terminates this Agreement other than as set forth in Paragraph 12.2, Cincinnati
Financial Corporation shall pay Messer Construction Co. for all Work executed
and for all proven loss, cost or expense in connection with the Work, plus all
demobilization costs. In addition, Messer Construction Co. shall be paid an
amount calculated as set forth below:

.1 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation terminates this Agreement prior to
commencement of the Construction Phase, Messer Construction Co. shall be
paid for Messer Construction Co.'s Design Phase services provided to date
as set forth in Subparagraph 7.1.2 and 7.1.3

, including Design-Builder's Fee earned to date

.2 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation terminates this Agreement after
commencement of the Construction Phase, Messer Construction Co. shall be
paid for the Construction Phase Services provided to date pursuant to
Subparagraph 7.2.1

including Design-Builder's Fee earned to date

.3 Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall also pay to Messer Construction
Co. fair compensation, either by purchase or rental at the election of
Cincinnati Financial Corporation, for all equipment retained. Cincinnati
Financial Corporation shall assume and become liable for obligations,
commitments and unsettled claims that Messer Construction Co. has
previously undertaken or incurred in good faith in connection with the
Work or as a result of the termination of this Agreement. As a condition
of receiving the payments provided under this Article 12, Messer
Construction Co. shall cooperate with Cincinnati Financial Corporation by
taking all steps necessary to accomplish the legal assignment of Messer
Construction Co.'s rights and benefits to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, including the execution and delivery of required papers.

12.4 TERMINATION BY THE DESIGN-BUILDER

12.4.1 Upon seven (7) days' written notice to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, Messer Construction Co. may terminate this Agreement for any
of the following reasons:

.1 if the Work has been stopped for a sixty (60) day period

a. under court order or order of other governmental
authorities having jurisdiction; or

b. as a result of the declaration of a national emergency or
other governmental act during which, through no act or fault
of Messer Construction Co., materials are not available;

.2 if the Work is suspended by Cincinnati Financial Corporation for
sixty (60) consecutive days;
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.3 if Cincinnati Financial Corporation fails to furnish reasonable
evidence that sufficient funds are available and committed for the
entire cost of the Project in accordance with Article 12 of this
Agreement .

12.4.2 If Cincinnati Financial Corporation has for thirty (30) days failed
to pay Messer Construction Co. pursuant to Subparagraph 10.1.2, Messer
Construction Co. may give written notice of its intent to terminate this
Agreement. If Messer Construction Co. does not receive payment within five
(5) days of giving written notice to Cincinnati Financial Corporation,
then upon five (5) days' additional written notice to Cincinnati Financial
Corporation, Messer Construction Co. may terminate this Agreement.

12.4.3 Upon termination by Messer Construction Co. in accordance with this
Subparagraph, Messer Construction Co. shall be entitled to recover from
Cincinnati Financial Corporation payment for all Work executed and for all
proven loss, cost or expense in connection with the Work, plus all
demobilization costs and reasonable damages. In addition, Messer
Construction Co. shall be paid an amount calculated as set forth either in
Subparagraph 12.3.1 or 12.3.2, depending on when the termination occurs,
and Subparagraph 12.3.3.

ARTICLE 13
DISPUTE RESOLUTION

13.1 WORK CONTINUANCE AND PAYMENT. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, Messer
Construction Co. shall continue the Work and maintain the approved schedules
during all dispute resolution proceedings. If Messer Construction Co. continues
to perform, Cincinnati Financial Corporation shall continue to make payments in
accordance with the Agreement.

13.2 INITIAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION. If a dispute arises out of or relates to this
Agreement or its breach, the parties shall endeavor to settle the dispute first
through direct discussions. If the dispute cannot be settled through direct
discussions, the parties shall endeavor to settle the dispute by mediation under
the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration
Association before recourse to the dispute resolution procedures contained in
this Agreement. The location of the mediation shall be the location of the
Project. Once one party files a request for mediation with the other contracting
party and with the American Arbitration Association, the parties agree to
conclude such mediation within sixty (60) days of filing of the request. Either
party may terminate the mediation at any time after the first session, but the
decision to terminate must be delivered in person by the party's representative
to the other party's representative and the mediator.

13.3 EXHIBIT NO. 1. If the dispute cannot be settled by mediation within sixty
(60) days, the parties shall submit the dispute to any dispute resolution
process set forth in Exhibit No. 1 to this Agreement.

13.4 MULTIPARTY PROCEEDING. The parties agree that all parties necessary to
resolve a claim shall be parties to the same dispute resolution proceeding.
Appropriate provisions shall be included in all other contracts relating to the
Work to provide for the consolidation of such dispute resolution proceedings.

13.5 COST OF DISPUTE RESOLUTION. The prevailing party in any dispute arising out
of or relating to this Agreement or its breach that is resolved by the dispute
resolution process set forth in Exhibit No. 1 to this Agreement shall be
entitled to recover from the other party those reasonable attorneys' fees, costs
and expenses incurred by the prevailing party in connection with such dispute
resolution process after direct discussions and mediation.

13.6 LIEN RIGHTS. Nothing in this Article shall limit any rights or remedies not
expressly waived by Messer Construction Co. which Messer Construction Co. may
have under lien laws.
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ARTICLE 14
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

14.1 ASSIGNMENT Neither Cincinnati Financial Corporation nor Messer Construction
Co. shall assign its interest in this Agreement without the written consent of
the other except as to the assignment of proceeds. The terms and conditions of
this Agreement shall be binding upon both parties, their partners, successors,
assigns and legal representatives. Neither party to this Agreement shall assign
the Agreement as a whole without written consent of the other except that
Cincinnati Financial Corporation may assign the Agreement to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Cincinnati Financial Corporation when Cincinnati Financial
Corporation has fully indemnified Messer Construction Co. or to an institutional
lender providing construction financing for the Project as long as the
assignment is no less favorable to Messer Construction Co. than this Agreement.
In the event of such assignment, Messer Construction Co. shall execute all
consents reasonably required. In such event, the wholly-owned subsidiary or
lender shall assume Cincinnati Financial Corporation's rights and obligations
under the Contract Documents. If either party attempts to make such an
assignment, that party shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all
obligations under the Agreement, unless otherwise agreed by the other party.

14.2 GOVERNING LAW This Agreement shall be governed by the law in effect at the
location of the Project.

14.3 SEVERABILITY The partial or complete invalidity of any one or more
provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or continuing force
and effect of any other provision.

14.4 NO WAIVER OF PERFORMANCE The failure of either party to insist, in any one
or more instances, on the performance of any of the terms, covenants, or
conditions of this Agreement, or to exercise any of its rights, shall not be
construed as a waiver or relinquishment of such term, covenant, condition or
right with respect to further performance.

14.5 TITLES AND GROUPINGS The titles given to the articles of this Agreement are
for ease of reference only and shall not be relied upon or cited for any other
purpose. The grouping of the articles in this Agreement and of Cincinnati
Financial Corporation's specifications under the various headings is solely for
the purpose of convenient organization and in no event shall the grouping of
provisions, the use of paragraphs or the use of headings be construed to limit
or alter the meaning of any provisions.

14.6 JOINT DRAFTING The parties to this Agreement expressly agree that both had
opportunity to negotiate the terms of this Agreement and to obtain the
assistance of counsel in reviewing its terms prior to execution. Therefore, this
Agreement shall be construed neither against nor in favor of either party, but
shall be construed in a neutral manner.

14.7 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES The parties rights, liabilities, responsibilities and
remedies with respect to this Agreement, whether in contract, tort, negligence
or otherwise, shall be exclusively those expressly set forth in this Agreement.

14.8 OTHER PROVISIONS

The Contractor intends to perform the structural excavation, concrete,
carpentry and general conditions Work with its own forces. The Contractor
may elect to do so at its discretion, but not without informing the Owner
in writing of such intent. Reasons for self-performing other Work include,
but not limited to, in order to take over a defaulted Subcontractor, to
protect GMP if bids exceed estimates, or in other cases where
self-performance is deemed by the Contractor to be necessary to maintain
schedule, cost or safety. The Contractor will inform the Owner which items
it will self perform and obtain written consent from the Owner prior to
proceeding with
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self-performance work. Acceptance will not unreasonably be withheld.
ARTICLE 15
EXISTING CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

The Contract Documents in existence at the time of execution of this Agreement
are as follows:

See Addendum A for description of scope and estimated cost and schedule
Addendum B also attached

As defined in Subparagraph 2.4.1, the following Exhibits are a part of this
Agreement :

EXHIBIT NO. 1 Dispute Resolution Menu, one page.
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This Agreement is entered into as of the date entered in Article 1.

ATTEST:

OWNER: Cincinnati Financial Corporation

BY:

PRINT NAME: James E. Benoski

PRINT TITLE: Vice Chairman, Chief Insurance Officer,
Director

ATTEST:

Sr.

Vice President,

DESIGN-BUILDER: Messer Construction Co.

BY:

PRINT NAME: Peter S. Strange

PRINT TITLE: Chief Executive Officer
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ADDENDUM A
Messer Construction
Conceptual Estimate of Cost
8/24/2004
Garage and Expansion Program 8-24-04

Maximum employee count = 4250

Total Required Employee Parking on Campus
3825 SPACES

Total Building Addition
487,500 SQUARE FEET - 1500 EMPLOYEES

Atrium Extension

4800 SQUARE FEET

Conceptual

Description Estimate
GARAGE UNDER TOWER 3, SURFACE LOT AND SITE IMPROVEMENTS

700 Car Garage Phase 1 $ 20,000,000

400 space surf. Pkg and site improvements $ 425,000

Concrete deck above pkg. $ 421,000
GARAGE, SURFACE PARKING AND SITE IMPROV. $ 20,846,000
OFFICE TOWER $ 56,790,000
Atrium $ 960, 000
Design Build Costs $ 9,225,000
wWorkspace Furnishings $ 2,200,000
Dock Renovation $ 1,400,000
Renovation Allowance $ 2,000,000
Design/Build Contingency $ 3,725,000
OFFICE TOWER SUBTOTAL $ 76,300,000
DESIGN/BUILD BOND $ 595, 000
TOTAL COMBINED CONCEPTUAL ESTIMATE $ 97,741,000
RECOMMENDED OWNER CONTINGENCY $ 5,000, 000
TOTAL RECOMMENDED PROJECT BUDGET $ 102,741,000
Start Construction December 2004
Complete Garage Sept. 2008
Start Tower Design Aug. 2004

Complete Tower Construction Sept. 2008



ADDENDUM A
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION
Campus Expansion
Project Scope
August 23, 2004
I. REASONS FOR BUILDING TOWER AND GARAGE
A. PROJECTED EMPLOYEE GROWTH

- Population Growth average 5-8% per year (aprox. 200 employees)
presently 2,750 on campus.

B. FUTURE TOWER EXPANSION
- By 2008 Employees reach 3,550 employees. Tower #3 will
accommodate 1,500 additional employees. Tower 4 could do the
same.

C. SITE CONSTRAINTS

- Assuming 0.9 spaces per employee there is need for 1,350
spaces for Tower #3 as well as another 1,350 for Tower #4.

- Height of building limited to 7 Stories plus penthouse above
grade

- Flow of vehicles to site limited by Fairfield's streets.

- Present site has ample "flat" land for parking for this phase
if some parked under Tower #3.

- Fairfield's present infrastructure can support Tower #3 needs.
D. BENEFITS

- Facility size to handle company growth for at least 7-8 years.

- Convenient parking for employees.

- Maintain safe employee access during construction of garage
and tower.

- Provides approximately 700 covered spaces.
- Secure Parking.
- Leaves options open for future Towers and parking.
II. PROGRAM ASSUMPTIONS
- New Tower built behind and east of present South Tower.
- Tower to have population of approximately 1,500 employees.
- Parking needs are to be determined by practical method, i.e.
number of employees bringing cars vs. number of employees. (9

out of 10 employees drive cars to work).

- Garage is to be located directly below tower. It to have
capacity of at least 700 cars.

- Entrances to Garage to be located on south side of facility.
- Garage is only three stories.
- New Tower is similar existing towers design and materials.

- Existing Cafeteria is big enough for new Towers additional
population. To be studied.

- The file room will be eventually turned into additional
storage for the Towers



- Dock area of existing building is to be enlarged.

- Garage and site to have just enough parking spaces FEC and the
three Towers.

- When Tower #4 is built, additional parking will be needed to
support facility. Tower #3 anticipates Tower #4's
construction.

[MESSER CONSTRUCTION CO. LOGO] [ROTH PARTNERSHIP LOGO]
[HEAPY ENGINEERING LLC LOGO] [THP LOGO]



ADDENDUM A

Cincinnati Financial Corporation Project Scope
Campus Expansion Page 2

August 23, 2004
ITI. PROGRAM GOALS

A. EMPLOYEE
- Parking below tower and surface parking.
- Easy access to employee drop off area.
- Convenient to towers from East parking.
- Safe facility due to limited entry points.
- Garage security 24 hours/day.
- Safe and secure business campus during and after construction.
- Ease of access to Towers during Construction.

B. FUNCTIONAL
- Aesthetically pleasing; blends into business campus.
- Underground garage will not dominate campus aesthetics.
- Efficient and effective traffic flow.
- Current parking remains operational during construction.
- Low maintenance.
- Provide parking during construction for displaced spots.
- Opportunity to improve campus traffic flow.
- Employee access to existing towers during construction.
- Expansion of dock, and mechanical space

C. EXPANSION PLANNING
- Cost effective design and construction of Tower # 3.

- Provide parking for existing buildings and Tower # 3 only,
calculated using the practical method.

- Central Plant upgrade opportunities.
- Larger Tower #3 will delay need for a 4th office tower.
IV. PARKING NEEDS
- Existing parking needs - 2,475 spaces.
- Existing parking spaces - 3,007 spaces.
- Required Campus parking w/ Tower #3 -3,825 spaces.
- Parking spaces in Garage below Tower #3-700 spaces.
- Loss of 280 spaces in footprint of new tower and garage
- Required Additional Parking Spaces - 400 spaces. To be
located adjacent to North FEC parking lot and east of
existing main parking lots.

- It is anticipated that for Tower #4 an additional 1,350 spaces
will be needed.

[MESSER CONSTRUCTION CO. LOGO] [ROTH PARTNERSHIP LOGO]
[HEAPY ENGINEERING LLC LOGO] [THP LOGO]






ADDENDUM A

Cincinnati Financial Corporation
Campus Expansion

Project Scope
Page 3

August 23, 2004

V. STRUCTURAL AND PHYSICAL COMPONENTS OF PROPOSED PLAN
A. CAMPUS EXPANSION AREAS
Area Height Dimensions Area per Floor Total Area
Garage 3 Stories 305'x305" 93, 025 279,075
New Tower 7 Stories 51,686 361,800
Connector 7 Stories 7,900 55,300
Mechanical 2 Story- Below 12,700 25,400
area Atrium and
Connector
Penthouse 1 1/2 Story 45,000 45,000
TOTAL 487,500
Atrium 2 Story Volume 60'x80"' 4,800 4,800
Car Canopy 4,800 4,800
B. GARAGE

- Underground garage with approximately 700 parking spaces.

- 3 levels of parking at approximate elevations of 827,817 and
807.

- 2 entry/exit points on south side.

- 2 ramps within garage - very efficient for traffic flow within
garage.

- Concrete structure with columns on a 30' x 30' grid.

- wWall at perimeter with waterproofing membrane.

- wWaterproofing membrane under slab on grade.

- Structure on drilled pier foundations.

- Ventilation and sprinkler systems.

- Lighting and security.

- Conditioned Elevator Lobby.

- Improvement to overall traffic flow on site will be needed

[MESSER CONSTRUCTION CO. LOGO] [ROTH PARTNERSHIP LOGO]
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ADDENDUM A

Cincinnati Financial Corporation Project Scope
Campus Expansion Page 4

August 23, 2004

C. SURFACE PARKING ADDITION
- East Parking as well as FEC lot expansion to add 400 spaces.
- Additional storm water detention for these new hard surfaces.
- Lot lighting expanded accordingly.
- Walking Path to be modified.
- Reroute tower #1 internal storm to south

D. NEW TOWER
- 7 story tower and 7 floor connection to Tower # 1.
- New tower and connection to be office space.
- Tower to have penthouse(s) for mechanical equipment on top.

- Mechanical space in lower two levels under connection area and
atrium extension.

- Open office similar to other towers.
- Second employee entry planned at east side of Tower.
- Finishes similar to existing towers.
- Access floor systems throughout.
E. ATRIUM EXPANSION
- Atrium expanded 4800 square feet over mechanical space.
- wWill be main employee drop off point.
- Canopy will be included for covered drop off area.
- Finishes similar to existing Atrium.
- 2 story space.
- Smoke evacuation system.
F. DOCK RENOVATION
- Allowance has been included to expand the dock area.

- Concept is to add some dock space and renovate existing area
in South Tower to storage/holding area for the dock.

G. RENOVATION ALLOWANCE
- Renovation will be necessary at each floor tie in point.
- Convert existing file room to storage.
- Re-route North and South Tower Storm piping.

H. WORKSPACE FURNISHINGS

- Estimate for workspace furnishings has been included based on
historical information.

- Furnishings planned to be similar to other towers.
I. SITE IMPROVEMENTS ALLOWANCE

- Improvement to overall traffic flow on site will be needed.



VI. DRAWINGS
VII. COST ESTIMATE
VIII. DESIGN BUILD SCHEDULE
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ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - NEW TOWER AND PARKING GARAGE DRAWING

[FLOOR PLAN]



ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - LEVEL P-1 FLOOR PLAN

[FLOOR PLAN]



ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - LEVEL P-2 FLOOR PLAN

[FLOOR PLAN]



ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - LEVEL P-3 FLOOR PLAN

[FLOOR PLAN]



ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - LOBBY FLOOR PLAN

[FLOOR PLAN]



ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - FOURTH FLOOR PLAN

[FLOOR PLAN]



ADDENDUM A
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ADDENDUM A
GRAPHIC - SEVENTH FLOOR PLAN
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MESSER CONSTRUCTION CO.
CFC TOWER NO. 3 EXPANSION

Administrative Billing Rates

ADDENDUM B

2004

TITLE RATE
Operations Vice-President** $92.00
Senior Project Executive** $84.00
Principal Engr./Est./Dept. Head** $76.00
General Superintendent* $75.00
Project Executive** $69.00
Pre-Construction Executive** $66.00
Senior Project Manager* $61.00
Senior Superintendent* $60.50
Senior Engineer/Estimator* $58.00
Labor Coordinator* $55.00
Project Manager $48.90
IT Support $46.00
Superintendent* $44.00
Safety Coordinator* $42.00
Project Engineer (Operations/Est./M-E) $38.00
Project 0Office Manager/Project Accountant $27.75
Co-op Engineer $21.75
Project Administrative Assistant $21.50
NOTES:
1) Rates with ** include vehicle expenses and cell phone
2) Rates with * include vehicle expenses
3) Rates include base wages, fringe benefits, taxes, and insurance
4) Rates are fixed for calendar year 2004. Rates are subject to

adjustment on a yearly basis beginning January 1,

adjustment per year

not to exceed 5%

Revised 10/8/2004



AMENDMENT NO. 1
TO

AGC DOCUMENT NO. 410
STANDARD FORM OF DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT AND
GENERAL CONDITIONS BETWEEN OWNER AND DESIGN-BUILDER
(WHERE THE BASIS OF PAYMENT IS THE COST OF THE WORK
PLUS A FEE WITH A GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE)

Pursuant to Paragraph 3.2 of the Agreement dated -
between the Owner, -
and the Design-Builder, -
for (the Project), -
the Owner and the Design-Builder desire to establish a Guaranteed Maximum Price
("GMP") for the Work. Therefore, the Owner and the Design-Builder agree as
follows:

ARTICLE 1
GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE

The Design-Builder's GMP for the Work, including the Cost of the Work as defined
in Article 8 and the Design-Builder's Fee as set forth in Paragraph 7.3,

is -
Dollars ($ )-

The GMP is for the performance of the Work in accordance with the documents
listed below, which are part of the Agreement.

APPENDIX___ Drawings and Specifications, including Addenda, if any, dated

’ pages. -
APPENDIX___  Allowance Items, dated , pages. -
APPENDIX___ Assumptions and Clarifications, dated , pages. -
APPENDIX___  Schedule of Work, dated , pages. -
APPENDIX___  Alternate Prices, dated , pages. -
APPENDIX____  Unit Prices, dated , pages. -
APPENDIX__  Additional Services included, dated , pages. -

AGC DOCUMENT NO. 410 - STANDARD FORM OF DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT AND GENERAL
CONDITIONS BETWEEN OWNER AND DESIGN-BUILDER (Where the Basis of Payment is the
Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price)

(C) 1999, The Associated General Contractors of America



ARTICLE 2
DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

The Date of Substantial Completion of the Work is

ARTICLE 3
DATE OF FINAL COMPLETION

The Date of Final Completion of the Work is:

or within ( ) days after the Date of Substantial Completion,
subject to adjustments as provided for in the Contract Documents.

This Amendment is entered into as of

OWNER:

ATTEST: - BY:

PRINT NAME:

PRINT TITLE:

DESIGN-BUILDER:

ATTEST: - BY:

PRINT NAME:

PRINT TITLE:

AGC DOCUMENT NO. 410 - STANDARD FORM OF DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT AND GENERAL
CONDITIONS BETWEEN OWNER AND DESIGN-BUILDER (Where the Basis of Payment is the
Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price)

(C) 1999, The Associated General Contractors of America



EXHIBIT NO. 1, DATED -

AGC DOCUMENT NO. 410
STANDARD FORM OF DESIGN-BUILD
AGREEMENT AND GENERAL CONDITIONS
BETWEEN OWNER AND DESIGN-BUILDER
(WHERE THE BASIS OF PAYMENT IS THE COST OF THE WORK
PLUS A FEE WITH A GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE)

DISPUTE RESOLUTION MENU

Pursuant to Paragraph 13.3, if neither direct discussions nor mediation
successfully resolve the dispute, the parties agree that the following shall be
used to resolve the dispute.

(Check the appropriate selection(s). These procedures can be used singularly, or
progressively, as agreed to by the parties.)

[ 1 DISPUTE REVIEW BOARD The Dispute Review Board is composed of one member
selected by the Owner, one selected by the Design-Builder, and a third
member selected by the Owner and Design-Builder selected members. This
Board shall be selected by the time construction commences, shall meet
periodically, and shall make advisory decisions which may be introduced
into evidence at any subsequent dispute resolution process. If a Dispute
Review Board is selected, it is understood its review will precede
mediation.

[ 1 ADVISORY ARBITRATION Advisory Arbitration shall be pursuant to the
Construction Industry Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

[ 1 MINI TRIAL Each party, in the presence of senior management, shall submit
its position to a mutually selected individual who shall make a
non-binding recommendation to the parties. Such advisory decision may be
introduced into evidence at any subsequent dispute resolution process.

[X] BINDING ARBITRATION Binding Arbitration shall be pursuant to the
Construction Industry Rules of the American Arbitration Association
unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. A written demand for
arbitration shall be filed with the American Arbitration Association and
the other party to the Agreement within a reasonable time after the
dispute or claim has arisen, but in no event after the applicable statute
of limitations for a legal or equitable proceeding would have run. The
location of the arbitration proceedings shall be at the office of the
American Arbitration Association nearest the Project, unless the parties
agree otherwise. The arbitration award shall be final. Notwithstanding
Paragraph 14.2, this agreement to arbitrate shall be governed by the
Federal Arbitration Act and judgment upon the award may be confirmed in
any court having jurisdiction.

[ 1] LITIGATION Action may be filed in the appropriate state or federal court
located in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located.

AGC DOCUMENT NO. 410 - STANDARD FORM OF DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT AND GENERAL
CONDITIONS BETWEEN OWNER AND DESIGN-BUILDER (Where the Basis of Payment is the
Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price)

(C) 1999, The Associated General Contractors of America



EXHIBIT 10.3
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated November 12, 2004,
is by and between Cincinnati Financial Corporation, an Ohio corporation
("Cincinnati Financial"), and Robert C. Schiff, Trustee, Robert C. Schiff
Revocable Trust originally dated November 21, 2001 (the "Trust").

WHEREAS, the Trust currently owns and desires to sell 1,000,000 shares
(the "Stock") of Cincinnati Financial's common stock, par value $2.00 per share
(the "Common Stock"); and

WHEREAS, the Trust desires to sell to Cincinnati Financial and Cincinnati
Financial desires to purchase from the Trust the Stock upon the terms and
conditions hereinafter provided.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, in reliance upon
representations and warranties contained herein, and subject to the conditions
contained herein, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby,
agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES

Section 1.1 Purchase and Sale of Common Stock. Subject to the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Trust hereby agrees to sell,
transfer, convey and assign to Cincinnati Financial, and Cincinnati Financial
hereby agrees to purchase from the Trust, the Stock at a cash purchase price
determined in accordance with Section 1.2 below.

Section 1.2 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price (the "Purchase
Price") which Cincinnati Financial shall pay to the Trust for the Stock on the
Closing Date in accordance with Section 1.4 below, shall be equal to 99% of the
product of (a) 1,000,000 multiplied by (b) the last reported sale price per
share of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market at the close of trading
on November 12, 2004.

Section 1.3 Closing. The closing of the purchase and sale of the Stock
(the "Closing"), shall be at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time at the offices of
Cincinnati Financial, 6200 S. Gilmore Road, Fairfield, Ohio 45014-5141 on the
15th day of November, 2004 (the "Closing Date"); provided, that the conditions
set forth in Article 3 of this Agreement have been satisfied or waived; and
provided, further, that the Closing may occur on such other date or at such
other time or place as the parties may mutually agree in writing.



Section 1.4 Closing Deliveries. At the Closing, the Trust shall deliver to
Cincinnati Financial one or more stock certificates representing the Stock, duly
endorsed for transfer or accompanied by stock powers duly executed in blank; and
Cincinnati Financial shall pay to the Trust the Purchase Price by direct deposit
of the Purchase Price directly into one or more accounts designated by the Trust
in writing to Cincinnati Financial.

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1 Representations of Cincinnati Financial. Cincinnati Financial
hereby represents and warrants to the Trust as follows:

(a) Cincinnati Financial is a Ohio corporation validly
subsisting and in good standing under the laws of the State of Ohio and has all
requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) Upon execution of this Agreement by Cincinnati Financial,
this Agreement will be duly authorized, executed and delivered by Cincinnati
Financial, and will constitute a valid and binding obligation of Cincinnati
Financial, enforceable against Cincinnati Financial in accordance with its
terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium
or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and general principles of
equity.

(c) No authorization, consent or approval of or with any third
person, any court, any public body or any regulatory or other authority is
necessary for the consummation by Cincinnati Financial of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, except for those which if not obtained would not
materially adversely affect Cincinnati Financial's ability to perform its
obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement
by Cincinnati Financial will not constitute a breach, violation or default (or
an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, will constitute a default)
under, or result in the termination or acceleration under, or result in a
creation of any lien or encumbrance upon any of the properties or assets of
Cincinnati Financial under, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust,
license, lease, agreement or other instrument as to which Cincinnati Financial
is a party and by which its properties or assets are bound, except any of such
which would not materially adversely affect Cincinnati Financial's ability to
perform its obligations hereunder.

Section 2.2 Representations of the Trust. The Trust hereby represents and
warrants to Cincinnati Financial as follows:

(a) The Trust has the power and authority to enter into this
Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) The Trust has good and valid title to the Stock free and
clear of any lien, claim, pledge, security interest or other encumbrance
whatsoever.

-2-



(c) Upon execution of this Agreement by the Trust, this
Agreement will have been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Trust,
and will constitute a valid and binding obligation of the Trust, enforceable
against the Trust in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable
bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting
creditors' rights generally and general principles of equity.

(d) No authorization, consent or approval of or with any third
person, any court, any public body or any authority is necessary for the
consummation by the Trust of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
except for those which if not obtained would not materially adversely affect the
Trust's ability to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement by the Trust will not constitute a breach,
violation or default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both,
will constitute a default) under, or result in the termination of, accelerate
the performance required by, result in the right of termination or acceleration
under, or result in a creation of any lien or encumbrance upon any of the
properties or assets of the Trust under, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture,
deed of trust, license, lease, agreement or other instrument as to which the
Trust is a party and by which its properties or assets are bound, except for any
of such which would not materially adversely affect the Trust's ability to
perform his obligations hereunder.

(e) The Trust has entered into this Agreement, and the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, freely and without any pressure
from Cincinnati Financial to sell the Stock to Cincinnati Financial.

ARTICLE III
CONDITION PRECEDENT

Cincinnati Financial's and the Trust's obligation to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment on or
prior to the Closing Date of the following condition, unless waived by
Cincinnati Financial or the Trust, as applicable.

Section 3.1 Injunction and Litigation. There shall be pending or in effect
no injunction, writ, preliminary restraining order, statute, law, rule,
regulation, executive order or any other order of any nature directing that the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement not be consummated as herein
provided or otherwise seeking to restrain or prohibit the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, or which have the effect of so restraining or
prohibiting, and none of such shall be threatened, and there shall not be any
suit, action, investigation, inquiry or other proceeding instituted, pending or
threatened by any governmental entity challenging or seeking to make illegal or
otherwise directly or indirectly restrain or prohibit or make materially more
costly to Cincinnati Financial or the Trust the consummation of the transaction
contemplated hereby or seeking to obtain material damages in connection with
such transaction.

-3-



Section 3.2 Deliveries. The deliveries contemplated by Section 1.4 shall
have been made.

ARTICLE IV
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 4.1 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed under and
governed by the laws of the State of Ohio, without regard to the conflicts of
laws rules of such state.

Section 4.2 Further Instruments and Actions. Each party agrees to deliver
any further instruments and to take any further actions that may be responsibly
requested by the other, or counsel to the other, in order to carry out the
provisions and purposes of this Agreement.

Section 4.3 Notices. All notices, requests or other communications to be
given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally, sent by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, by overnight courier with written
confirmation of delivery or by facsimile transmission with written confirmation
of error-free transmission:

If to Cincinnati Financial:

Cincinnati Financial Corporation
6200 S. Gilmore Road

Fairfield, Ohio 45014-5141

Attn: Lisa A. Love, Esq.
Telephone No.: (513) 870-2000
Facsimile No.: (513) 870-2066

wWith a copy to:

Dewey Ballantine LLP

1301 Avenue of the Americas

New York, New York 10019

Attn: Jonathan L. Freedman, Esq.
Telephone No.: (212) 259-8000
Facsimile No.: (212) 259-6333

If to the Trust:

c/o0 Taft, Stettinius & Hollister,
Suite 1800

425 Walnut Street

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

Attn: Susan E. Wheatley
Telephone No.: (513) 357-9337

-4-



Facsimile No.: (513) 381-0205

Section 4.4 Headings. The descriptive article and section headings herein
are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be part
of or to affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 4.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement between the parties with respect to the sale and transfer of the
Stock, and there are no agreements, conditions or understandings, either oral or
written, between Cincinnati Financial and the Trust relating to these matters
other than those which are contained in this Agreement. This Agreement may be
altered or amended only by a written agreement signed by both Cincinnati
Financial and the Trust.

Section 4.6 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

-5-



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and
year first above written.

CINCINNATI FINANCIAL
CORPORATION

By: Kenneth W. Stecher

Name: Kenneth W. Stecher
Title: Treasurer

ROBERT C. SCHIFF, TRUSTEE,
ROBERT C. SCHIFF REVOCABLE
TRUST

By: /s/ Robert C. Schiff

Trustee: Robert C. Schiff



EXHIBIT 10.9--DIRECTOR AND NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION SUMMARY
Named Executive Officer Compensation

All of the named executive officers are employees at-will. Compensation for each
is established or reviewed by the compensation committee of the board of
directors. The committee seeks input from the company's chief executive officer
in setting compensation for executive officers other than the chief executive
officer. In November each year, annual salary rates for the upcoming year are
established and bonuses for the current year are awarded. In November of 2004,
the committee established the salaries and awarded cash bonuses for the named
executive officers as set forth in the following table:

ANNUAL SALARY

RATE CASH BONUS
ESTABLISHED AWARDED FOR
NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR 2005 2004
John J. Schiff, Jr., CPCU $699, 643 $325, 438
President and Chief Executive Officer
Cincinnati Financial Corporation
James E. Benoski $385, 000 $297,938
Chief Insurance Officer and Senior Vice President
Cincinnati Financial Corporation
Kenneth W. Stecher $364, 323 $200,143
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Secretary,
Treasurer

Cincinnati Financial Corporation
Jacob F. Scherer, Jr. $322,632 $259,832
Senior Vice President
The Cincinnati Insurance Company
Thomas A. Joseph, CPCU $306, 752 $185, 620

Senior Vice President
The Cincinnati Insurance Company

Director Compensation

Cincinnati Financial Corporation directors are compensated solely for their
attendance at meetings; there is no retainer. Non-employee directors of the
company are paid a fee of $4,500 for attendance at each board meeting and $1,500
for attendance at each committee meeting and subsidiary board and committee
meetings, with fees for all meetings in any one day not to exceed $6,000. They
also are reimbursed for actual travel expenses incurred in attending meetings.
In 2004, one of the board meetings was scheduled to coincide with the company's
incentive meeting for the company's highest performing agencies. The company
invited directors' spouses to attend this meeting and paid for associated
transportation expenses and meals. In 2004, the average travel and meal expense
for a director's spouse was $2,911. The company also provides directors with
personal umbrella liability and life insurance policies written through the
company's insurance subsidiaries. Premiums for the personal umbrella liability
policies provided to directors in 2004 range from $766 to $2,991. Premiums for
the life insurance policies provided to directors in 2004 ranged from $165 to
$275.

In 2003, the company's board of directors adopted the 2003 Non-Employee
Directors' Stock Plan. The purpose of the plan is to enable Cincinnati Financial
Corporation to attract and retain the services of experienced and knowledgeable
non-employee directors and to strengthen the alignment of interests between
non-employee directors and the shareholders of the company through the increased
ownership of shares of the company's common stock. This is accomplished by
granting directors shares of common stock as a part of their annual
compensation. Under the plan, directors receive shares with a fair market value
on the date of grant equal to the cash director's fees received by such
directors during the prior calendar year. The plan limits the annual value of
any grant to an individual director to a maximum of $60,000. Since the stock
plan was adopted by the board of directors, a total of 43,492 shares, or less
than one-tenth of one percent of the outstanding shares of common stock, have
been issued to non-employee directors under the plan. Disclosure relevant to the
2003 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Plan and its submission to shareholders for
approval in 2005 to satisfy certain Nasdagq listing rules is contained in the
company's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with respect to its 2005 Annual



Meeting of Shareholders, which is incorporated herein by reference.



EXHIBIT 10.10
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

P.0. BOX 145496
CINCINNATI, OH 45250-5496
(513) 870-2000

STOCK OPTION PLAN NO. V

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
FOR NON-QUALIFIED OPTIONS

THIS AGREEMENT, made this [DATE] day of [MONTH], [YEAR], by and between
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION, an Ohio Corporation, 6200 South Gilmore Road,
Fairfield, Ohio 45014 (hereafter called "CFC") and [OPTIONEE NAME], an employee
of CFC or one of its affiliates (hereinafter called the "Employee") residing at:
[OPTIONEE_ADDRESS], [OPTIONEE_CITY ], [OPTIONEE_STATE] [OPTIONEE_ZIP]

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC is of the opinion that the interests of
CFC will be advanced by enabling key employees of CFC and its affiliates, upon
whose judgement, initiative and efforts CFC is largely dependent for the
successful conduct of its business, to acquire shares or additional shares of
CFC's Stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC has established Stock Option Plan Number
V for employees of CFC and its affiliated companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and of the mutual covenants
hereinafter set forth, and other good and valuable considerations the parties
hereto herby enter into this Stock Option Agreement (hereinafter called the
"Option") as follows:

1. CFC hereby grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase
up to [OPTIONS_GRANTED] shares of the presently authorized but
unissued Common Stock of CFC at the purchase price of
$[OPTION_PRICE] per share. This is a Non-Qualified option grant and
subject to applicable payroll taxes at the time of exercise. No
partial exercise of this Option may be for less than 25 whole shares
or the number of shares remaining subject to the Option, whichever
is smaller.

2. Except in cases of retirement or death of Employee, this Option
shall be exercisable only in accordance with the following schedule.

(1) After the expiration of one year of continuous employment with
CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date of
grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
one-third of the number of shares originally subject hereto;

(2) After the expiration of two years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date
of grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
two-thirds of the number of shares originally subject hereto,
less the number of shares previously purchased pursuant
hereto; and

(3) After the expiration of three years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC following the date of grant,
this Option shall be exercisable in full.

Upon termination of employment of the Employee prior to the effective date of
exercise of this Option, the unexercised portion hereof shall terminate unless
such termination of employment is due to (i) retirement with the approval of the
Board of Directors of CFC for disability or (ii) retirement due to attainment of
retirement age (in either of which events the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors shall have discretion to permit any unmatured installments to
be accelerated and the Option shall thereupon be exercisable in full). The time
within which CFC must receive the notice of exercise and payment shall be 90
days after the date of termination of employment (except at the sole option of
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, the last day for receipt
of notice of exercise may be delayed until the original expiration date of this
Option); or (iii) death of the employee (in which event the unmatured
installments of this Option shall be accelerated and exercisable and the time
within which CFC must receive the notice of exercise and payment shall be six
months after the date of death).



Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 2 hereof, this Option can be
exercised only if the Employee is in the employment of CFC or one of its
affiliates on the effective date of exercise.



In order to exercise this Option or any part thereof, the Employee or
other person having the right to exercise this Option shall give written
notice to CFC at its principal place of business, which notice shall
indicate the number of whole shares purchased, and shall be accompanied by
payment in full for the number of shares to be purchased. The payment may
be cash or through transfer of free and clear shares of CFC valued at the
current market value on the date of transfer or by combination of both
cash and shares. Exercise of the Non-Qualified Option shall be effective
on the date of receipt by CFC of the written notice and payment (the
"effective date of exercise"). The effective date of the exercise of this
Option must be within ten (10) years from the date hereof.

Neither the Employee nor his legal representative, legatee or distributee,
shall be, or deemed to be, the holder of any shares subject to this
Option, unless and until the exercise of the Option has become effective
and a certificate has been issued by the company for the shares so
purchased.

The rights and privileges conferred by this Option shall not be
transferred except by Will or by the laws of descent and distribution, in
which event the notice of the exercise required under Section 4 must be
properly executed by the deceased Employee's legal representative or by
person who acquired the right to exercise the Option by reason of the
death of the Employee. During the lifetime of the Employee, the Option may
be exercised only by the Employee.

In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
stock dividend, or other change in corporate structure or capitalization
affecting CFC's stock, such appropriate adjustment shall be made in the
number of shares to which this Option applies and also in the Option price
of said shares as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors.

This option shall not be exercisable except for shares the sale of which
by the Company complies with applicable securities laws at the time of
sale.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and any successors to the business of CFC, but neither this
Option nor any rights hereunder shall be assignable by the Employee. The
Employee agrees by acceptance of this option to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of the Stock Option Plan V.

Dated at Fairfield, Ohio CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Chairman, President

ATTEST:

Chief Financial Officer
Secretary & Treasurer

ACCEPTED:




CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

P.0. BOX 145496
CINCINNATI, OH 45250-5496
(513) 870-2000

STOCK OPTION PLAN NO. V

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
FOR INCENTIVE OPTIONS

THIS AGREEMENT, made this [DATE] day of [MONTH], [YEAR], by and between
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION, an Ohio Corporation, 6200 South Gilmore Road,
Fairfield, Ohio 45014 (hereafter called "CFC") and [OPTIONEE NAME], an employee
of CFC or one of its affiliates (hereinafter called the "Employee") residing at:
[OPTIONEE_ADDRESS], [OPTIONEE_CITY ], [OPTIONEE_STATE] [OPTIONEE_ZIP]

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC is of the opinion that the interests of
CFC will be advanced by enabling key employees of CFC and its affiliates, upon
whose judgement, initiative and efforts CFC is largely dependent for the
successful conduct of its business, to acquire shares or additional shares of
CFC's Stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC has established Stock Option Plan Number
V for employees of CFC and its affiliated companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and of the mutual covenants
hereinafter set forth, and other good and valuable considerations the parties
hereto herby enter into this Stock Option Agreement (hereinafter called the
"Option") as follows:

1. CFC hereby grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase
up to [OPTIONS_GRANTED] shares of the presently authorized but
unissued Common Stock of CFC at the purchase price of
$[OPTION_PRICE] per share. No partial exercise of this Option may
be for less than 25 whole shares or the number of shares remaining
subject to the Option, whichever is smaller.

2. Except in cases of retirement or death of Employee, this Option
shall be exercisable only in accordance with the following schedule.

(1) After the expiration of one year of continuous employment with
CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date of
grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
one-third of the number of shares originally subject hereto;

(2) After the expiration of two years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date
of grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
two-thirds of the number of shares originally subject hereto,
less the number of shares previously purchased pursuant
hereto; and

(3) After the expiration of three years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC following the date of grant,
this Option shall be exercisable in full.

Upon termination of employment of the Employee prior to the effective date of
exercise of this Option, the unexercised portion hereof shall terminate unless
such termination of employment is due to (i) retirement with the approval of the
Board of Directors of CFC for disability or (ii) retirement due to attainment of
age 65 or 35 years of service, whichever occurs first, or (iii) death of the
Employee. In each of these events, any unmatured installments shall be
accelerated and the Option shall be exercisable in full. In the cases of
retirement due to disability, attainment of age 65 or having completed 35 years
of service, CFC must receive notice of exercise and payment within ninety (90)
days after the date of termination of employment. In the event of death, CFC
must receive the notice of exercise and payment within six (6) months after the
date of death.

3. Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 2 hereof, this Option can be
exercised only if the Employee is in the employment of CFC or one of its
affiliates on the effective date of exercise.



In order to exercise all or any part of this Option, the Employee or
other person having the right to exercise this Option shall give written
notice to CFC at its principal place of business. The notice shall
indicate the number of whole shares to be purchased and shall be
accompanied by payment in full in cash. The exercise of this Option shall
be effective upon the 30th day after receipt by CFC of such written notice
and payment ("effective date of exercise"), at which time the Employee or
the person entitled to receive share issuable upon exercise, shall be
issued a certificate of stock representing the number of shares purchased.
If for any reason (such as termination of employment during the 30-day
waiting period for reasons other than those referred to in Paragraph 2
above), the exercise of the Option does not become effective, CFC shall
refund only the amount paid for the shares. In any event, the effective
date of the exercise of this Option must be within 10 years from the date
of this Option.

In order to receive the tax benefits of an Incentive Stock Option, the
Option must be exercised during employment or within three (3) months
after termination of employment (for the reason referred to in paragraph 2
above) as an employee by CFC or one of its subsidiaries. The stock
purchased pursuant to this Option must be held for a minimum of one (1)
year from the date of purchase and two (2) years from the date of this
Option Agreement.

The rights and privileges conferred by this Option shall not be
transferred except by Will or by the laws of descent and distribution, in
which event the notice of the exercise required under Section 4 must be
properly executed by the deceased Employee's legal representative or by
person who acquired the right to exercise the Option by reason of the
death of the Employee. During the lifetime of the Employee, the Option may
be exercised only by the Employee.

In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
stock dividend, or other change in corporate structure or capitalization
affecting CFC's stock, such appropriate adjustment shall be made in the
number of shares to which this Option applies and also in the Option price
of said shares as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors.

This option shall not be exercisable except for shares the sale of which
by the Company complies with applicable securities laws at the time of
sale.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and any successors to the business of CFC, but neither this
Option nor any rights hereunder shall be assignable by the Employee. The
Employee agrees by acceptance of this option to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of the Stock Option Plan V.

Dated at Fairfield, Ohio CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Chairman, President

ATTEST:

Chief Financial Officer
Secretary & Treasurer

ACCEPTED:




EXHIBIT 10.11
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

P.0. BOX 145496
CINCINNATI, OH 45250-5496
(513) 870-2000

STOCK OPTION PLAN NO. VI

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
FOR NON-QUALIFIED OPTIONS

THIS AGREEMENT, made this [DATE] day of [MONTH], [YEAR], by and between
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION, an Ohio Corporation, 6200 South Gilmore Road,
Fairfield, Ohio 45014 (hereafter called "CFC") and [OPTIONEE NAME], an employee
of CFC or one of its affiliates (hereinafter called the "Employee") residing at:
[OPTIONEE_ADDRESS], [OPTIONEE_CITY], [OPTIONEE_STATE] [OPTIONEE_ZIP]

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC is of the opinion that the interests of
CFC will be advanced by enabling key employees of CFC and its affiliates, upon
whose judgement, initiative and efforts CFC is largely dependent for the
successful conduct of its business, to acquire shares or additional shares of
CFC's Stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC has established Stock Option Plan Number
VI for employees of CFC and its affiliated companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and of the mutual covenants
hereinafter set forth, and other good and valuable considerations the parties
hereto herby enter into this Stock Option Agreement (hereinafter called the
"Option") as follows:

1. CFC hereby grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase
up to [OPTIONS_GRANTED] shares of the presently authorized but
unissued Common Stock of CFC at the purchase price of
$[OPTION_PRICE] per share. This is a Non-Qualified option grant and
subject to applicable payroll taxes at the time of exercise. No
partial exercise of this Option may be for less than 25 whole shares
or the number of shares remaining subject to the Option, whichever
is smaller.

2. Except in cases of retirement or death of Employee, this Option
shall be exercisable only in accordance with the following schedule.

(1) After the expiration of one year of continuous employment with
CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date of
grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
one-third of the number of shares originally subject hereto;

(2) After the expiration of two years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date
of grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
two-thirds of the number of shares originally subject hereto,
less the number of shares previously purchased pursuant
hereto; and

(3) After the expiration of three years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC following the date of grant,
this Option shall be exercisable in full.

Upon termination of employment of the Employee prior to the effective date of
exercise of this Option, the unexercised portion hereof shall terminate unless
such termination of employment is due to (i) retirement with the approval of the
Board of Directors of CFC for disability or (ii) retirement due to attainment of
retirement age (in either of which events the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors shall have discretion to permit any unmatured installments to
be accelerated and the Option shall thereupon be exercisable in full). The time
within which CFC must receive the notice of exercise and payment shall be 90
days after the date of termination of employment (except at the sole option of
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, the last day for receipt
of notice of exercise may be delayed until the original expiration date of this
Option); or (iii) death of the employee (in which event the unmatured
installments of this Option shall be accelerated and exercisable and the time
within which CFC must receive the notice of exercise and payment shall be six
months after the date of death).



Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 2 hereof, this Option can be
exercised only if the Employee is in the employment of CFC or one of its
affiliates on the effective date of exercise.



4. In order to exercise this Option or any part thereof, the Employee or
other person having the right to exercise this Option shall give written
notice to CFC at its principal place of business, which notice shall
indicate the number of whole shares purchased, and shall be accompanied by
payment in full for the number of shares to be purchased. The payment may
be cash or through transfer of free and clear shares of CFC valued at the
current market value on the date of transfer or by combination of both
cash and shares. Exercise of the Non-Qualified Option shall be effective
on the date of receipt by CFC of the written notice and payment (the
"effective date of exercise"). The effective date of the exercise of this
Option must be within ten (10) years from the date hereof.

5. Neither the Employee nor his legal representative, legatee or distributee,
shall be, or deemed to be, the holder of any shares subject to this
Option, unless and until the exercise of the Option has become effective
and a certificate has been issued by the company for the shares so
purchased.

6. The rights and privileges conferred by this Option shall not be
transferred except by Will or by the laws of descent and distribution, in
which event the notice of the exercise required under Section 4 must be
properly executed by the deceased Employee's legal representative or by
person who acquired the right to exercise the Option by reason of the
death of the Employee. During the lifetime of the Employee, the Option may
be exercised only by the Employee.

7. In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
stock dividend, or other change in corporate structure or capitalization
affecting CFC's stock, such appropriate adjustment shall be made in the
number of shares to which this Option applies and also in the Option price
of said shares as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors.

8. This option shall not be exercisable except for shares the sale of which
by the Company complies with applicable securities laws at the time of
sale.

9. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the

parties hereto and any successors to the business of CFC, but neither this
Option nor any rights hereunder shall be assignable by the Employee. The
Employee agrees by acceptance of this option to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of the Stock Option Plan VI.

Dated at Fairfield, Ohio CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION
By:

Chairman, President
ATTEST:

Chief Financial Officer
Secretary & Treasurer ACCEPTED:




CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

P.0. BOX 145496
CINCINNATI, OH 45250-5496
(513) 870-2000

STOCK OPTION PLAN NO. VI

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
FOR INCENTIVE OPTIONS

THIS AGREEMENT, made this [DATE] day of [MONTH], [YEAR], by and between
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION, an Ohio Corporation, 6200 South Gilmore Road,
Fairfield, Ohio 45014 (hereafter called "CFC") and [OPTIONEE NAME], an employee
of CFC or one of its affiliates (hereinafter called the "Employee") residing at:
[OPTIONEE_ADDRESS], [OPTIONEE_CITY], [OPTIONEE_STATE] [OPTIONEE_ZIP]

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC is of the opinion that the interests of
CFC will be advanced by enabling key employees of CFC and its affiliates, upon
whose judgement, initiative and efforts CFC is largely dependent for the
successful conduct of its business, to acquire shares or additional shares of
CFC's Stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC has established Stock Option Plan Number
VI for employees of CFC and its affiliated companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and of the mutual covenants
hereinafter set forth, and other good and valuable considerations the parties
hereto herby enter into this Stock Option Agreement (hereinafter called the
"Option") as follows:

1. CFC hereby grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase
up to [OPTIONS_GRANTED] shares of the presently authorized but
unissued Common Stock of CFC at the purchase price of
$[OPTION_PRICE] per share. No partial exercise of this Option may be
for less than 25 whole shares or the number of shares remaining
subject to the Option, whichever is smaller.

2. Except in cases of retirement or death of Employee, this Option
shall be exercisable only in accordance with the following schedule.

(1) After the expiration of one year of continuous employment with
CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date of
grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
one-third of the number of shares originally subject hereto;

(2) After the expiration of two years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date
of grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
two-thirds of the number of shares originally subject hereto,
less the number of shares previously purchased pursuant
hereto; and

(3) After the expiration of three years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC following the date of grant,
this Option shall be exercisable in full.

Upon termination of employment of the Employee prior to the effective date of
exercise of this Option, the unexercised portion hereof shall terminate unless
such termination of employment is due to (i) retirement with the approval of the
Board of Directors of CFC for disability or (ii) retirement on the attainment of
age 65 or 35 years of service, whichever occurs first or (iii) death of the
Employee. In each of these events, any unmatured installments shall be
accelerated and the Option shall be exercisable in full. In the cases of
retirement due to disability, attainment of age 65 or having completed 35 years
of service, CFC must receive notice of exercise and payment within ninety (90)
days after the date of termination of employment. In the event of death, CFC
must receive the notice of exercise and payment within six (6) months after the
date of death.

3. Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 2 hereof, this Option can be
exercised only if the Employee is in the employment of CFC or one of its
affiliates on the effective date of exercise.



In order to exercise all or any part of this Option, the Employee or
other person having the right to exercise this Option shall give written
notice to CFC at its principal place of business. The notice shall
indicate the number of whole shares to be purchased and shall be
accompanied by payment in full in cash. The exercise of this Option shall
be effective upon the 30th day after receipt by CFC of such written
notice and payment ("effective date of exercise"), at which time the
Employee or the person entitled to receive shares issuable upon exercise,
shall be issued a certificate of stock representing the number of

shares purchased. If for any reason (such as termination of employment
during the 30-day waiting period for reasons other that those referred to
in Paragraph 2 above), the exercise of the Option does not become
effective, CFC shall refund only the amount paid for the shares. In any
event, the effective date of the exercise of this Option must be within
10 years from the date of this Option.

In order to receive tax benefits of an Incentive Stock Option, the Option
must be exercised during employment or within three (3) months after
termination of employment (for the reason referred to in paragraph 2
above) as an employee by CFC or one of its subsidiaries. The stock
purchased pursuant to this Option must be held for a minimum of one (1)
year from the date of purchase and two (2) years form the date of this
Option Agreement.

The rights and privileges conferred by this Option shall not be
transferred except by Will or by the laws of descent and distribution, in
which event the notice of the exercise required under Section 4 must be
properly executed by the deceased Employee's legal representative or by
person who acquired the right to exercise the Option by reason of the
death of the Employee. During the lifetime of the Employee, the Option may
be exercised only by the Employee.

In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
stock dividend, or other change in corporate structure or capitalization
affecting CFC's stock, such appropriate adjustment shall be made in the
number of shares to which this Option applies and also in the Option price
of said shares as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors.

This option shall not be exercisable except for shares the sale of which
by the Company complies with applicable securities laws at the time of
sale.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and any successors to the business of CFC, but neither this
Option nor any rights hereunder shall be assignable by the Employee. The
Employee agrees by acceptance of this option to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of the Stock Option Plan VI.

Dated at Fairfield, Ohio CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Chairman, President

ATTEST:

Chief Financial Officer
Secretary & Treasurer ACCEPTED:




EXHIBIT 10.12
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION
P.0. BOX 145496

CINCINNATI, OH 45250-5496
(513) 870-2000
STOCK OPTION PLAN NO. VII

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
FOR NON-QUALIFIED OPTIONS

THIS AGREEMENT, made this [DATE] day of [MONTH], [YEAR], by and between
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION, an Ohio Corporation, 6200 South Gilmore Road,
Fairfield, Ohio 45014 (hereafter called "CFC") and [Optionee_Name], an employee
of CFC or one of its affiliates (hereinafter called the "Employee") residing at:
[OPTIONEE_ADDRESS], [OPTIONEE_CITY], [OPTIONEE_STATE] [OPTIONEE_ZIP]

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC is of the opinion that the interests of
CFC will be advanced by enabling key employees of CFC and its affiliates, upon
whose judgment, initiative and efforts CFC is largely dependent for the
successful conduct of its business, to acquire shares or additional shares of
CFC's stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC has established Stock Option Plan Number
VII for employees of CFC and its affiliated companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and of the mutual covenants
hereinafter set forth, and of other good and valuable consideration, CFC and
Employee enter into this Stock Option Agreement (hereinafter called the
"Option") as follows:

1. CFC hereby grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase
up to [OPTIONS_GRANTED] shares of the presently authorized but
unissued common stock of CFC at the purchase price of
$[OPTION_PRICE] per share. This is a Non-Qualified option grant and
subject to applicable payroll taxes at the time of exercise. No
partial exercise of this Option may be for less than 25 whole shares
or the number of shares remaining subject to the Option, whichever
is smaller.

2. Except in cases of retirement or death of Employee, this Option
shall be exercisable only in accordance with the following schedule.

(1) After the expiration of one year of continuous employment with
CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date of
grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
one-third of the number of shares originally subject hereto;

(2) After the expiration of two years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date
of grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
two-thirds of the number of shares originally subject hereto,
less the number of shares previously purchased pursuant
hereto; and

(3) After the expiration of three years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC following the date of grant,
this Option shall be exercisable in full.

Upon termination of employment of the Employee prior to the effective date of
exercise of this Option, the unexercised portion hereof shall terminate unless
such termination of employment is due to (i) retirement with the approval of the
Board of Directors of CFC for disability, (ii) retirement on the attainment of
age 65 or 35 years of service, whichever occurs first, or (iii) death of the
employee. In each of those events, any unmatured installments shall be
accelerated and the Option shall be exercisable in full. In the cases of
retirement due to disability, attainment of age 65 or having completed 35 years
of service, the period within which CFC must receive the notice of exercise and
payment shall be extended to whichever date occurs earlier, five (5) years after
the date of retirement of the employee or ten (10) years from the date of this
Option. In the case of the death of the Employee, whether before or after
retirement, the time within which CFC must receive the notice of exercise and
payment shall be six (6) months after the date of death, but in no case later
than the earlier to occur of five (5) years after the date of retirement or ten



(10) years from the date of this Option.



10.

Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 2 hereof, this Option can be
exercised only if the Employee is in the employment of CFC or one of its
affiliates on the effective date of exercise.

In order to exercise all or any part of this Option, the Employee or other
person having the right to exercise this Option shall give written notice
to CFC at its principal place of business. The notice shall indicate the
number of whole shares purchased and shall be accompanied by payment in
full for the number of shares to be purchased. The payment may be cash or
through transfer of free and clear shares of CFC stock, previously
acquired by the Employee, valued at the current market value on the date
of transfer, or by a combination of both cash and such shares. Exercise of
the Non-Qualified Option shall be effective on the date of receipt by CFC
of the written notice and payment (the "effective date of exercise"). The
effective date of the exercise of this Option must be within ten (10)
years from the date hereof.

In order to pay all federal and state taxes to be withheld or collected
upon exercise of this Option, the Employee or other person having the
right to exercise this Option may satisfy all or any portion of such tax
obligation by delivering to CFC, free and clear shares of CFC which are
acquired through exercise of this Option, valued at the current market
value on the date of transfer, but only to the extent of the minimum
amount required to be withheld under applicable laws or regulations. This
election, if any, must be made on or before the date that the amount of
tax to be withheld is determined.

Neither the Employee nor the legal representative, legatee or distributee
of the Employee shall be or be deemed the holder of any shares subject to
this Option, unless and until the exercise of the Option has become
effective and a certificate has been issued by CFC for the shares so
purchased.

The rights and privileges conferred by this Option shall not be
transferred except by Will or by the laws of descent and distribution, in
which event the notice of the exercise required under Section 4 must be
properly executed by the deceased Employee's legal representative or by
the person who acquired the right to exercise the Option by reason of the
death of the Employee. During the lifetime of the Employee, the Option may
be exercised only by the Employee.

In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
stock dividend, or other change in corporate structure or capitalization
affecting CFC's stock, such appropriate adjustment shall be made in the
number of shares to which this Option applies and also in the Option price
of said shares as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors.

This option shall not be exercisable except for shares the sell of which
by CFC complies with applicable securities laws at the time of sale.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and any successors to the business of CFC, but neither this
Option nor any rights hereunder shall be assignable by the Employee. The
Employee agrees by acceptance of this option to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of the Stock Option Plan VII.

Dated at Fairfield, Ohio CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Chairman, President

ATTEST:

Chief Financial Officer
Secretary & Treasurer ACCEPTED:




CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION
P.0. BOX 145496

CINCINNATI, OH 45250-5496
(513) 870-2000
STOCK OPTION PLAN NO. VII

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
FOR INCENTIVE OPTIONS

THIS AGREEMENT, made this [DATE] day of [MONTH], [YEAR], by and between
CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION, an Ohio Corporation, 6200 South Gilmore Road,
Fairfield, Ohio 45014 (hereafter called "CFC") and [Optionee_Name], an employee
of CFC or one of its affiliates (hereinafter called the "Employee") residing at:
[OPTIONEE_ADDRESS], [OPTIONEE_CITY], [OPTIONEE_STATE] [OPTIONEE_ZIP]

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC is of the opinion that the interests of
CFC will be advanced by enabling key employees of CFC and its affiliates, upon
whose judgment, initiative and efforts CFC is largely dependent for the
successful conduct of its business, to acquire shares or additional shares of
CFC's stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CFC has established Stock Option Plan Number
VII for employees of CFC and its affiliated companies;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and of the mutual covenants
hereinafter set forth, and of other good and valuable consideration, CFC and
Employee enter into this Stock Option Agreement (hereinafter called the
"Option") as follows:

1. CFC hereby grants to the Employee the right and option to purchase
up to [OPTIONS_GRANTED] shares of the presently authorized but
unissued common stock of CFC at the purchase price of
$[OPTION_PRICE] per share. No partial exercise of this Option may
be for less than 25 whole shares or the number of shares remaining
subject to the Option, whichever is smaller.

2. Except in cases of retirement or death of Employee, this Option
shall be exercisable only in accordance with the following schedule.

(1) After the expiration of one year of continuous employment with
CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date of
grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
one-third of the number of shares originally subject hereto;

(2) After the expiration of two years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC immediately following the date
of grant, this Option shall be exercisable to the extent of
two-thirds of the number of shares originally subject hereto,
less the number of shares previously purchased pursuant
hereto; and

(3) After the expiration of three years of continuous employment
with CFC or an affiliate of CFC following the date of grant,
this Option shall be exercisable in full.

Upon termination of employment of the Employee prior to the effective date of
exercise of this Option, the unexercised portion hereof shall terminate unless
such termination of employment is due to (i) retirement with the approval of the
Board of Directors of CFC for disability, (ii) retirement on the attainment of
age 65 or 35 years of service, whichever occurs first, or (iii) death of the
employee. In each of those events, any unmatured installments shall be
accelerated and the Option shall be exercisable in full. In the cases of
retirement due to disability, attainment of age 65 or having completed 35 years
of service, CFC must receive notice of exercise and payment within ninety (90)
days after the date of termination of employment. In the event of death, CFC
must receive the notice of exercise and payment within six (6) months after the
date of death.



10.

Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 2 hereof, this Option can be
exercised only if the Employee is in the employment of CFC or one of its
affiliates on the effective date of exercise.

In order to exercise all or any part of this Option, the Employee or other
person having the right to exercise this Option shall give written notice
to CFC at its principal place of business. The notice shall indicate the
number of whole shares to be purchased and shall be accompanied by payment
in full in cash. The exercise of this Option shall be effective upon the
30th day after receipt by CFC of such written notice and payment
("effective date of exercise"), at which time the Employee or the person
entitled to receive shares issuable upon exercise, shall be issued a
certificate of stock representing the number of shares purchased. If for
any reason (such as termination of employment during the 30-day waiting
period for reasons other than those referred to in Paragraph 2 above), the
exercise of the Option does not become effective, CFC shall refund only
the amount paid for the shares. In any event, the effective date of the
exercise of this Option must be within 10 years from the date of this
Option.

In order to receive the tax benefits of an Incentive Stock Option, the
Option must be exercised during employment or within three (3) months
after termination of employment (for the reason referred to in paragraph
2 above) as an employee by CFC or one of its subsidiaries. The stock
purchased pursuant to this Option must be held for a minimum of one (1)
year from the date of purchase and two (2) years from the date of this
Option Agreement.

Neither the Employee nor the legal representative, legatee or distributee
of the Employee shall be or be deemed the holder of any shares subject to
this Option, unless and until the exercise of the Option has become
effective and a certificate has been issued by CFC for the shares so
purchased.

The rights and privileges conferred by this Option shall not be
transferred except by Will or by the laws of descent and distribution, in
which event the notice of the exercise required under Section 4 must be
properly executed by the deceased Employee's legal representative or by
the person who acquired the right to exercise the Option by reason of the
death of the Employee. During the lifetime of the Employee, the Option may
be exercised only by the Employee.

In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
stock dividend, or other change in corporate structure or capitalization
affecting CFC's stock, such appropriate adjustment shall be made in the
number of shares to which this Option applies and also in the Option price
of said shares as may be determined by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors.

This option shall not be exercisable except for shares the sell of which
by CFC complies with applicable securities laws at the time of sale.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and any successors to the business of CFC, but neither this
Option nor any rights hereunder shall be assignable by the Employee. The
Employee agrees by acceptance of this option to be bound by the terms and
restrictions of the Stock Option Plan VII.

Dated at Fairfield, Ohio CINCINNATI FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

Chairman, President

ATTEST:

Chief Financial Officer
Secretary & Treasurer ACCEPTED:




EXHIBIT 23
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements No.
333-85953 (on Form S-8), No. 333-24815 (on Form S-8), No. 333-24817 (on Form
S-8), No. 333-49981 (on Form S-8), No. 333-103509 (on Form S-8), No. 333-103511
(on Form S-8) and No. 33-48970 (on Form S-4) of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation of our report dated March 4, 2005 relating to the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedules of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation and management's report of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Cincinnati Financial Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2004.

/S/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio
March 11, 2005



EXHIBIT 31A

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John J. Schiff, Jr., certify that:

1.

Date:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting , or caused
such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principals;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on
our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design
or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

March 4, 2005

/S/ John J. Schiff, Jr.

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31B

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kenneth W. Stecher, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cincinnati Financial
Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting , or caused
such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principals;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on
our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design
or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting

Date: March 4, 2005

/S/ Kenneth W. Stecher

Kenneth W. Stecher
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with this
report on Form 10-K for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule
15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code.

John J. Schiff, Jr., the chief executive officer, and Kenneth W. Stecher, the
chief financial officer, of Cincinnati Financial Corporation each certifies
that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Cincinnati
Financial Corporation.

Date: March 4, 2005

/S/ John J. Schiff, Jr.

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
/S/ Kenneth W. Stecher
Kenneth W. Stecher

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)



